
emawn
Text Box
(3-19)

emawn
Text Box
(20-162)



emawn
Text Box

emawn
Text Box
(163-170)

emawn
Text Box
(171-183)

emawn
Text Box
(184-198)

emawn
Text Box
(199-216)

emawn
Text Box
(217-221)

emawn
Text Box
(222-379)

emawn
Text Box
(380-435)

emawn
Text Box
(436-484)

emawn
Text Box
(163)



3 Center Plaza, Suite 610 Boston, MA 02108
617-426-7272 • 800-882-1498 • fax 617-695-1314

www.mma.org

December 20, 2023

Conor Kenny
2198 Main St.
Brewster, MA 02631

Dear Kenny,

Congratulations! Brewster is the Category 4 (population 5,000 - 12,000) winner of the MMA
Municipal Website Award. The website scored among the highest in categories that evaluated
navigation and organization of material, convenience of information, functionality, and overall
experience of the website. The MMA applauds your efforts in making this website an effective
tool for your community.

This year, we will recognize the award winners during the Opening Session of the MMA’s 2023
Annual Meeting and Trade Show, which will take place at 9:30 a.m. on Friday, January 19th, on
the 3rd Floor of the Hynes Convention Center. We look forward to seeing you there.

Please note that the physical awards will not be handed out during the event. You can pick up
your award at the MMA booth at any time following the Opening Session. If you are unable to
attend, we will mail them to your preferred address. Please contact Daniel Yi at dyi@mma.org to
confirm attendance and who from your community will be there to pick up the award. We would
also ask that your community not share the results of the contest until after Annual Meeting.

Again, we congratulate you on an outstanding website and look forward to seeing you at the
Annual Meeting and Trade Show. If you have any questions or ever need assistance, please do
not hesitate to call us at any time.

Best wishes for a happy and healthy holiday.

Sincerely,

Adam Chapdelaine
Executive Director & CEO

mailto:dyi@mma.org


3 Center Plaza, Suite 610 Boston, MA 02108
617-426-7272 • 800-882-1498 • fax 617-695-1314

www.mma.org

December 20, 2023

Conor Kenny
2198 Main St.
Brewster, MA 02631

Dear Mr. Kenny,

Congratulations! The town of Brewster is being recognized with an award for 3rd place in
Category 3 (population 5,000 - 15,000) of the MMA’s Annual Town Report contest. Town
Reports serve to communicate important information to town residents, and promote an
understanding of and involvement in local government. The MMA applauds your efforts in
making this publication an effective tool for your community.

We will recognize the award winners during the Opening Session of the MMA’s 2024 Annual
Meeting and Trade Show, which will take place at 9:30 a.m. on Friday, January 19th, on the 3rd
Floor of the Hynes Convention Center. We look forward to seeing you there.

Please note that the physical awards will not be handed out during the event. You can pick up
your award at the MMA booth at any time following the Opening Session. If you are unable to
attend, we will mail them to your preferred address. Please contact Daniel Yi at dyi@mma.org to
confirm attendance and who from your community will be there to pick up the award.

Again, we congratulate you on an outstanding town report and look forward to seeing you at the
Annual Meeting and Trade Show. If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to call us.

Best wishes for a happy and healthy holiday.

Sincerely,

Adam Chapdelaine
Executive Director & CEO

mailto:dyi@mma.org


3 Center Plaza, Suite 610 Boston, MA 02108
617-426-7272 • 800-882-1498 • fax 617-695-1314

www.mma.org

December 20, 2023

Peter Lombardi
2198 Main St.
Brewster, MA 02631

Dear Mr. Lombardi,

Congratulations! The Town of Brewster is a recipient of the Kenneth E. Pickard Municipal
Innovation Award. Your submission, Reducing Disposable Plastic Bottle Use with Municipal
Hydration Stations, has demonstrated your dedication, commitment and ability to increase the
effectiveness of local government by successfully implementing a unique and creative program.

This year, we will recognize the award winners during the Opening Session of the MMA’s 2024
Annual Meeting and Trade Show, which will take place at 9:30 a.m. on Friday, January 19th, on
the 3rd Floor of the Hynes Convention Center. We look forward to seeing you there.

Please note that the physical awards will not be handed out during the event. You can pick up
your award at the MMA booth at any time following the Opening Session. If you are unable to
attend, we will mail them to your preferred address. Please contact Daniel Yi at dyi@mma.org to
confirm attendance and who from your community will be there to pick up the award.

Again, we congratulate you on an outstanding innovative project and look forward to seeing you
at the Annual Meeting and Trade Show. If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to call
us.

Best wishes for a happy and healthy holiday.

Sincerely,

Adam Chapdelaine
Executive Director & CEO

mailto:dyi@mma.org


Archived: Friday, January 19, 2024 8:26:17 AM
From: Cerny, Danielle (A&F) 
Sent: Thursday, January 18, 2024 5:06:07 PM
To: Cerny, Danielle (A&F) 
Subject: Thanks to Your Input: Announcing the Municipal Empowerment Act
Importance: Normal
Sensitivity: None

Dear Local Leader,
 
Thank you, again, for participating in the Healey-Driscoll Administration’s municipal leaders’ listening sessions
this fall. We are excited to share that tomorrow, at the Massachusetts Municipal Association’s Annual Meeting,
Governor Healey will be rolling out a municipal relief package – the Municipal Empowerment Act – that
is a direct outgrowth of the ideas and suggestions we received from all of you.
 
During the Fall listening sessions, we heard from over 130 managers and administrators from 112 different
municipalities and solicited input from professional associations representing local leaders and employees –
receiving feedback from more than 20 such groups. What emerged from these sessions were concrete
suggestions for how the state can better partner with our cities and towns – from solutions to acute workforce
challenges, to relief from specific administrative burdens, to new tools to make local management more efficient
and effective.
 
Reflecting your on-the-ground perspective and suggestions, the Municipal Empowerment Act contains local
option revenue raisers, including a new Motor Vehicle Excise surcharge local option that can benefit every
city and town in the Commonwealth; provides relief from numerous administrative burdens, including reforms to
procurement rules that raise thresholds for competitive bids and remove onerous publishing requirements;
improves the efficiency of local operations by, for example, updating borrowing rules for school projects
and establishing enforcement mechanisms for double pole prohibitions; and provides new tools for
addressing critical local workforce challenges, such as allowing the creation of Regional Boards of
Assessors, centralizing valuation of telecom and utility property at the state level and creating additional
flexibilities in post-retirement employment exemptions.
 
Tomorrow, Governor Healey will share more details about the bill, but we also would like to invite this group to a
virtual town hall on Monday, January 29, from 12-1pm where members of our team will walk through major
components of the Municipal Empowerment Act and answer your questions. Details below.
 
We are so grateful for your engagement through this process, and for all the of vital work you do every day to
build communities where people want to live, work, play, and stay. We look forward to seeing many of you at the
MMA Annual Meeting and on the virtual town hall.
 
Sincerely,
Danielle
 

Municipal Empowerment Act Town Hall details
Join on your computer, mobile app or room device
Click here to join the meeting
Meeting ID: 260 305 429 074 
Passcode: iYv9az

mailto:Danielle.Cerny@mass.gov
mailto:Danielle.Cerny@mass.gov
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3Ameeting_NzMxMTZlZmItYzBmYy00MTdlLThiNTktNGFlNTFhOGI1NDQy%40thread.v2/0?context=%7B%22Tid%22%3A%223e861d16-48b7-4a0e-9806-8c04d81b7b2a%22%2C%22Oid%22%3A%223c580a4d-1b26-47dc-b6bf-f2c057515a2d%22%7D


Download Teams | Join on the web
Learn More | Meeting options
 
 
Danielle Cerny
Chief of Staff
Executive Office for Administration and Finance
Commonwealth of Massachusetts
State House, Room 373
24 Beacon Street
Boston, MA  02133

802-302-9374 (Cell)
Danielle.Cerny@mass.gov
https://www.mass.gov/orgs/executive-office-for-administration-and-finance

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: Please be advised that this email is a public record unless the content of the email falls within one of the stated
exemptions under the Massachusetts Public Records Law. The contents of this transmission are intended only for use by the original
addressee(s) and may contain confidential information that is intended for governmental-policy development and deliberation or is otherwise
exempted from public disclosure under Massachusetts law.  If you are not the intended recipient of this transmittal, or received this transmittal
in error, please immediately notify the original sender and completely and permanently eliminate the original and all electronic and printed
copies.

Please consider the environment before printing this email.
 

https://www.microsoft.com/en-us/microsoft-teams/download-app
https://www.microsoft.com/microsoft-teams/join-a-meeting
https://aka.ms/JoinTeamsMeeting
https://teams.microsoft.com/meetingOptions/?organizerId=3c580a4d-1b26-47dc-b6bf-f2c057515a2d&tenantId=3e861d16-48b7-4a0e-9806-8c04d81b7b2a&threadId=19_meeting_NzMxMTZlZmItYzBmYy00MTdlLThiNTktNGFlNTFhOGI1NDQy@thread.v2&messageId=0&language=en-US
mailto:Danielle.Cerny@mass.gov
https://www.mass.gov/orgs/executive-office-for-administration-and-finance


 

 

January 12, 2024 

Chairs of the Joint Committee on Environment and Natural Resources 
Cape Cod and Islands Legislative Delegation 
24 Beacon Street 
Boston, MA 02133 
 
Dear Chairs of the Joint Committee on Environment and Natural Resources and Cape Cod and 
Islands Legislative Delegation, 

On behalf of the Cape Cod and Islands Water Protection Fund (“Fund”) Management Board, 
enclosed, please find the 2023 Cape Cod and Islands Water Protection Fund Annual Report, prepared in 
accordance with M.G.L. Chapter 29C, Section 20, which includes information on Fund revenue and 
expenses to date and provides a 5-year revenue projection. 

A cash flow model developed in 2021 by PFM Financial Advisors LLC to support administration of the 
Fund projects the Fund’s cash flow based on certain assumptions, including annual tax collections 
and annual State Revolving Fund (SRF) eligible Clean Water Intended Use Plan (IUP) projects. Initial 
assumptions to create the model included eligible annual project costs of approximately $60 million 
and annual tax collections of approximately $20 million. The results of the model were supportive of 
providing a 25% subsidy to eligible projects while maintaining a Fund balance of at least 50% of 
annual collections. 

Since creation of the Fund, revenue has been largely consistent with projections; however, local 
commitment to project implementation and eligible project costs have exceeded expectations. The 
2023 IUP presented over $167 million in projects, more than $100 million above the assumed 
project costs and the greatest amount that we had seen for Cape Cod in a single year. On June 30, 
2023, the Management Board sent a letter to Governor Healey (attached) articulating the critical 
need for additional revenue to the Fund to maintain a 25% subsidy. In December 2023, the 
Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection issued the draft 2024 IUP with over $248 
million in Cape projects, which once again far exceeds assumed project costs and places additional 
pressures on the Fund beyond those identified in the letter to the Governor.   



The 25% subsidy provided by the Fund has been a primary driver of long overdue progress on local 
wastewater projects. The certainty of the subsidy has helped garner community support for water 
quality project implementation and has resulted in significant action. Without significant additional 
revenues to the Fund, the Management Board will be forced to limit subsidies for critically needed 
wastewater and water quality projects on Cape Cod. 

The Management Board and Cape Cod Commission appreciate the Legislature’s support of the Fund 
and looks forward to working collaboratively to develop a solution to this important funding 
challenge. Should you have any questions, please do not hesitate to reach out.  

Sincerely, 

  

Kristy Senatori 
Executive Director 
 

cc:  Kevin Galligan, Chair, Cape Cod and Islands Water Protection Fund Management Board 

Enclosure 

 



   

2 0 2 3  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  

 
CAPE COD AND ISLANDS 
WATER PROTECTION FUND 



 

P R E P A R E D  F O R :  
 

Chairs of the Joint Committee on Environment 
and Natural Resources 

Senator Rebecca L. Rausch 
24 Beacon Street, Room 215 
Boston, MA 02133 
 
Representative Daniel Cahill 
24 Beacon Street, Room 527A 
Boston, MA 02133 
 

Cape Cod and Islands Legislative Delegation 

Senator Julian Cyr 
24 Beacon Street, Room 111 
Boston, MA 02133 
 
Senator Susan L. Moran 
24 Beacon Street, Room 312-D 
Boston, MA 02133 
 
Representative David T. Vieira 
24 Beacon Street, Room 167 
Boston, MA 02133 
 
Representative Kip A. Diggs 
24 Beacon Street Room 472 
Boston, MA 02133 
 
Representative Sarah K. Peake 
24 Beacon Street, Room 7 
Boston, MA 02133 
 
Representative Christopher R. Flanagan 
24 Beacon Street, Room 26 
Boston, MA 02133 
 
Representative Dylan A. Fernandes 
24 Beacon Street, Room 167 
Boston, MA 02133 
 
Representative Steven G. Xiarhos 
24 Beacon Street Room 542 
Boston, MA 02133 

P R E P A R E D  B Y :  
 

Cape Cod Commission, on behalf of the  
Cape Cod and Islands Water Protection Fund 
Management Board 

3225 Main Street 
P.O. Box 226 
Barnstable, MA 02630 
 
January 2024 



CAPE  COD AND ISLANDS WATER PROTECTION FUND  2023 ANNUAL REPO RT 

3 

 
The Cape Cod and Islands Water Protection Fund (CCIWPF) was established by the Massachusetts 
Legislature in 2018 (M.G.L. Chapter 29C, Section 19) to help Cape Cod and Islands towns pay for 
necessary wastewater infrastructure and water quality remediation projects. Creation of the CCIWPF 
was the result of efforts by a diverse set of stakeholders, including the Cape Cod and Islands 
Legislative Delegation, local officials, environmental groups, business leaders, and the Cape Cod 
Chamber of Commerce, who recognized the need for new financial tools to address the region’s 
degrading water quality and lack of wastewater infrastructure. 

The CCIWPF is a dedicated fund within the Massachusetts Clean Water Trust set up to solely benefit 
communities within the counties of Barnstable, Dukes, and Nantucket. Its source of revenue is a 
2.75% excise tax on traditional lodging and short-term rentals. The fund is administered by the 
Clean Water Trust and overseen by a management board comprised of representatives from every 
member town from the region. Currently, the 15 Cape Cod communities are members of the 
CCIWPF.  

The Cape Cod and Islands Water Protection Fund Management Board (Board) was established by 
M.G.L. Chapter 29C, Section 20. The Board is responsible for determining the method for allocating 
subsidies from the fund, including, but not limited to, an equitable distribution among participating 
municipalities consistent with revenue deposited from each municipality into the fund. The Board Is 
also responsible for ensuring that the Water Protection Fund is spent only for the purposes set forth 
in M.G.L. Chapter 29C, Section 19. 

This report has been prepared pursuant to M.G.L. Chapter 29C, Section 20, Cape Cod and Islands 
Water Protection Fund Management Board. 

  



CAPE  COD AND ISLANDS WATER PROTECTION FUND  2023 ANNUAL REPO RT 

4 

CCIWPF Revenue 
As received from the Department of Revenue through the Clean Water Trust, fund revenue to date 
(July 2019 through November 2023) totals $81,873,218.21. Income generated by the fund for this 
period totals $2,790,795.23. 

Subsidies for projects listed on Intended Use Plans for the Clean Water State Revolving Fund dating 
back to the creation of the CCIWPF (2018) will be paid over 4 years, while subsidies for eligible pre-
existing debt incurred for clean water projects that pre-date the CCIWPF will be paid over 10 years. 
Transfers from the fund for Years 1 through 3 are presented below. The balance of the Fund at the 
end of the calendar year 2023 is $30,087,881.00. 

CCIWPF Amounts 

Revenue to Date $81,873,218.21 

Fund Income to Date $2,790,795.23 

Administrative Expenses to 
Date 

$226,777.01 

Year 1 (2021) Transfer $13,708,673.00 

Year 1 (2022) Pre-Existing 
Debt Payments 

$1,302,628.00 

Year 2 (2022) Transfer $15,112,577.00 

Year 2 (2023) Pre-Existing 
Debt Payments 

$1,302,628.00 

Year 3 (2023) Transfer $22,597,849.43 

2023 Monitoring Transfer $325,000.00 

Balance $30,087,881.00 

Expenses and Project Summaries 
On June 13, 2023 the Board voted to award subsidies to qualified and eligible water quality projects 
in several Cape Cod towns. Per the regulations established by the Board in 2020, projects in excess 
of $1 million received subsidies equal to 25% of the project costs. Projects of $1 million or less 
received 50% subsidies. 

Projects eligible for funding include, but are not limited to, innovative strategies and alternative 
septic system technologies, water quality and wastewater management planning, the construction 
of sewer collection systems and wastewater treatment plants, and the implementation of drainage 
improvements and water treatment programs to improve water quality in freshwater ponds and 
marine resources. Member communities must go through the Clean Water State Revolving Fund 
program, or SRF, and be listed on the Clean Water SRF Intended Use Plan (IUP) to receive funds. 



CAPE  COD AND ISLANDS WATER PROTECTION FUND  2023 ANNUAL REPO RT 

5 

Contingent commitments are made upon release of the annual IUP. Final commitments are made 
following execution of a Project Regulatory Agreement (PRA).  

Subsidies from the Water Protection Fund have been reduced for 2021 and 2022 IUP projects from 
25% to 10%, to reflect an additional 15% subsidy from the Clean Water Trust using American Rescue 
Plan Act funds. The original commitment to the Towns for a 25% subsidy for these projects remains 
unchanged despite the sourcing of the funds to provide that 25% subsidy. 

Modified Final Commitments for 2021 Intended Use Plan Projects 

Town Description PRA Cost 
Subsidy Based on 

PRA at 25% 

Subsidy with 
Remaining Payouts 

Reduced to 10% 

Barnstable 
Route 28 East Sewer 
Expansion Project 

$19,926,176 $4,981,544 $3,134,558.80 

Barnstable 
Wastewater Pump 
Station Improvements 
Projects 

$2,761,225 $690,306.25 $483,214.38 

Chatham 
Chatham Queen Anne 
Pumping Station 
Upgrade 2021 PE 

$2,818,173 $704,543.25 $448,908.65 

Chatham 
Chatham Stormwater 
Improvement Projects 
- 2021 

$3,598,348 $899,587 $629,710.90 

Mashpee 
Mashpee WRRF and 
Collection System - 
Phase 1 

$53,958,000 $13,489,500 $9,097,900 

  Totals $83,061,922 $20,765,480.50 $13,794,292.73 

 

Modified Contingent Commitments for 2022 Intended Use Plan Projects 

Town Description IUP Cost 
Contingent 

Subsidy at 25% 

Subsidy with 
Remaining Payouts 

Reduced to 10% 

Barnstable 
Wastewater Pump Station 
Replacement Project 

$5,540,000 $1,385,000 $761,750 

Chatham 
Chatham Stage Harbor (1C-
5/1E-2) Sewer Extension 

$11,010,500 $2,752,625 $1,513,943.75 

Chatham 
Chatham Mill Pond Pumping 
Station Upgrade 2022 

$2,268,000 $567,000 $311,850 

Falmouth 
Falmouth WWTF TASA 
Improvements 

$20,000,000 $5,000,000 $2,750,000 

Orleans 
Meetinghouse Pond Area 
Collection System and PS 

$32,906,000 $8,226,500 $4,524,575 

  Totals $71,724,000 $17,931,125 $9,862,118.75 

 



CAPE  COD AND ISLANDS WATER PROTECTION FUND  2023 ANNUAL REPO RT 

6 

Contingent Commitments for 2023 Intended Use Plan Projects 

Town Description IUP Cost 
Contingent 

Subsidy 

Barnstable Sewer Extension and Vacuum Sewer Removal $1,120,000 $280,000 

Barnstable 2023 Wastewater Pump Station improvements $3,320,000 $830,000 

Barnstable Park City Wind Route Sewer Expansion $30,900,000 $7,725,000 

Barnstable FY24-25 BWPCF Improvements $6,121,800 $1,530,450 

Chatham WPCF Sludge Processing Upgrades $5,000,000 $1,250,000 

Harwich Harwich Rt 28 Sewer Construction Project $8,099,590 $2,024,897.50 

Harwich Harwich Phase 3 Sewer Extension $41,900,410 $10,475,102.50 

Mashpee Phase 1 Mashpee Treatment and Collection System $12,000,000 $3,000,000 

Wellfleet Enhanced I&A Septic System Program $3,000,000 $750,000 

Wellfleet 
95 Lawrence Wastewater Treatment and Collection 
System 

$6,309,000 $1,577,250 

Yarmouth Phase I – WRRF and Collection System $50,000,000 $12,500,000 

  Totals $167,770,800 $41,942,700 

 

Pre-Existing Debt 

Consistent with the provision in M.G.L. Chapter 29C, Section 19, certain Cape Cod and Islands 
communities are eligible for subsidies for debt incurred for water pollution abatement projects 
apart from the Clean Water Trust prior to the establishment of the CCIWPF.  

At their meeting on January 11, 2022, the CCIWPF Board voted to approve final subsidies to qualified 
and eligible town projects for verified pre-existing debt in the towns of Barnstable, Chatham, 
Falmouth, and Provincetown in the amounts of:   
 

Town Eligible Pre-Existing Debt Total Subsidy 

Provincetown $11,729,661  $2,932,415  

Barnstable $4,842,300  $1,210,575  

Chatham $21,391,410 $5,347,853 

Falmouth $7,675,200 $1,918,800 

Totals $45,638,571 $11,409,643 



CAPE  COD AND ISLANDS WATER PROTECTION FUND  2023 ANNUAL REPO RT 

7 

 
The CCIWPF Board also voted to approve additional subsidies for authorized debt and debt that 
was not issued as of April 14, 2021 in the amounts of $1,478,010 for Provincetown, pending loan 
issuance and closure, and $803,750 for Chatham, as show below:  
 

Town Amount Status Total Subsidy 

Provincetown 

$1,651,000 Pending Loan Closure 

$1,478,010 $2,486,000 Pending Loan Closure 

$1,775,041 Pending Issuance 

Chatham 

$1,850,000 Closed 5/27/2021 

$803,750 $235,000 Closed 5/27/2021 

$1,130,000 Closed 5/27/2021 

 
Consistent with the CCIWPF Board votes referenced above, the Commission requested that Year 2 
(2023) payments be made to communities awarded subsidies for pre-existing debt on June 15, 2023. 

Water Quality Monitoring 

Pursuant to M.G.L. c. 29C §§ 19-20, the Management Board may use up to 10% of annual CCIWPF 
revenue to monitor the water quality and watersheds of areas in the coastal waterways of 
Barnstable, Dukes, and Nantucket counties, including to evaluate and report on the efficacy of 
adaptive management measures to reduce nitrogen pollution undertaken pursuant to an area wide 
wastewater management plan (or equivalent plan), and to support further assessment of water 
quality monitoring to further refine an area wide wastewater management plan, subject to a 
memorandum of understanding with the Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection 
(MassDEP).   

Under its authority, on September 6, 2023, the Management Board executed a Memorandum of 
Agreement (MOA) with MassDEP regarding funding in support of water quality evaluation, 
monitoring, or assessment in the waters surrounding Cape Cod and the Islands. The MOA includes a 
project funding payment of $325,000 from the Fund to MassDEP to support this work.  

A contract with the Center for Coastal Studies (CCS) was executed on October 11, 2023 in the 
amount of $324,810 to provide water quality monitoring through July 31, 2024. Of the 284 total 
stations monitored in the region, 150 of those are monitored by CCS or their partners at the 
Buzzards Bay Coalition under contract with CCS, and 29 sentinel stations are monitored under that 
effort. 

Administrative Expenses 
The Cape Cod Commission is charged with providing administrative and technical support to the 
Board. On behalf of the Management Board, the Commission contracts with consultants to provide 



CAPE  COD AND ISLANDS WATER PROTECTION FUND  2023 ANNUAL REPO RT 

8 

additional financial and legal support, as necessary and requested by the Board. Costs associated 
with this support from January 2023 through December 2023 total $69,802.15, as detailed below. At 
their August 15, 2023 and January 10, 2024 meetings, the Board voted to reimburse the Commission 
for these expenses.  

Expenditures Amount 

Cape Cod Commission Personnel   

   Salaries, including fringe benefits and indirect costs $37,659.65 

Contractual Services  

   Pierce Atwood – legal $3,805.00 

   PFM Financial Advisors $28,337.50 

Total Expenditures $69,802.15 

 

5-Year Revenue Projections 
The Board, through Barnstable County through the Cape Cod Commission, contracted with PFM 
Financial Advisors to provide advisory services relative to subsidy allocations and revenue 
projections. In consultation with the Board and based on their expertise in forecasting and financial 
modeling, PFM Financial Advisors developed the following 5-year revenue projections.  

 2023 
Actual 

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 

Revenue $20,617,183 $21,551,270 $22,101,820 $22,598,463 $23,182,533 $23,749,462 

Revenue 
Growth 

3.8% 4.5% 2.6% 2.2% 2.6% 2.4% 

 

In summary, the Cape Cod and Islands Water Protection Fund receipts through November 2023 
totaled $81,873,218.21. In 2023, the CCIWPF Board voted to award subsidies for 11 projects, the 
total cost of which equals $167,770,800. The amount transferred from the CCIWPF in 2023 for 
project subsidies totaled $22,597,849.43. With the addition of fund investment income totaling 
$2,790,795.23, the balance of the fund at the end of the calendar year 2023 was $30,087,881.00. 

In June 2023, the Cape Cod and Islands Water Protection Fund Management Board sent a letter to 
Governor Healey articulating the critical need for additional revenue to the Fund to maintain the 
25% subsidy (attached). While revenues have been largely consistent with projections, local 
commitments to project implementation and eligible project costs have exceeded expectations.  
While the 2024 IUP has not yet been finalized, the draft includes more than $248 million in Cape 
projects. Given the trajectory of project costs and projects anticipated to advance in the coming 
years, it is expected that annual project costs will continue to exceed assumptions, compromising 
the ability of the Management Board to provide a 25% subsidy moving forward. 



Town of Brewster 
Cape Cod Sea Camps Planning 

Join us for our Fourth Community Forum!

Community Forum #4 will be a virtual community meeting that shares the final plans for the Bay and Pond 
properties. These plans have been informed by community feedback received through our previous Community 
Forums, surveys, and emailed feedback, as well as the Town’s Vision Plan and long-term goals.

The majority of the virtual forum will be a presentation by the Design Team and Town Staff to explain the final 
plans for both Properties and the strategy for their phased implementation. The final 30 minutes of the forum 
will be a question and answer session, where residents will be invited to ask questions about the plans.

Zoom link and more information can also be found on the Town’s website: https://www.brewster-ma.gov

Date: Thursday, February 15th 2024
Time: 6-8 pm 
 
Location: Virtual on Zoom
Zoom Link: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87558718803?pwd=ZElGRmVNNjRoa2VYZkxPYjFMdGQvQT09



Where we are in the process:

This forum will be followed by additional informational sessions hosted by Town Staff, leading up to the final 
vote to approve the comprehensive plans at Town Meeting in May, 2024.

For more details about the long-term planning process, information on Bay Property and Pond Property 
Planning Committee meetings and interim activities at both properties, please visit the project page, 
https://www.brewster-ma.gov/cape-cod-sea-camps-properties. To provide feedback to one of the committees, 
please email us at bppc@brewster-ma.gov (Bay property) or pppc@brewster-ma.gov (Pond property).

Community 
Forum

Committee 
Meetings

Town 
Vote

Identify your 
priorities with the 

planning team

 Tune in to public meetings where 
community representatives workshop 

ideas with the planning team

Vote to approve the 
comprehensive plans at the 
Spring 2024 Town Meeting

Comprehensive 
Planning Document

See the vision for the future of 
the Sea Camp Properties

BEACH AT POND PROPERTY MAIN DRIVE AT BAY PROPERTY



1 

Consent Agenda Cover Page 

a. Approval of Meeting Minutes: January 8, 2024 
Draft minutes from the Select Board meeting on January 8, 2024, have been submitted 
for review and approval. 

Administrative Recommendation: 
We recommend the Select Board approve the meeting minutes as presented.  

b. Facility Use Applications and Fee Waiver Requests: Brewster Department of Natural 
Resources and AARP Foundation Tax Aide Program  
The Brewster Natural Resources Department requests use of Drummer Boy Park fields to 
host the annual Brewster Conservation Day on Saturday July 13, 2024, with set up on 
Friday July 12.  The event will be from 7:30am until 3pm, with educational exhibits and 
demonstrations for the expected 800-1,000 guests throughout the day and up to 300 at 
one time.  Additionally, the request is to waive the fees associated with this application, 
which totals $750 ($300 for the Friday set up, $400 for Saturday’s event and $50 for 
electrical use). Department Heads have had the opportunity to review the application, 
feedback includes: 

 Health Department – if food is involved, the applicant will need to follow-up with 
them for pertinent food permitting.  

 Police Department – a detail officer was hired last year for this event, DNR should 
contact the department at least two weeks prior to the event.  

 Building Department- any single tent exceeding 400 sq ft. requires a tent permit 
application, this includes smaller tents conjoined to create a larger unit exceeding 
400 sq ft.  

 Fire Department: 
o All tents shall have a permanently affixed label indicating appropriate fire-

retardant ratings.  
o Multiple tents placed side by side shall have a 12 ft. fire break clearance on all 

sides for every 700 square feet of tent (Ex. When seven 10’ x 10’ (or greater) 
tents are placed side by side there shall be a 12’ break every 700’ or less 
dependent on size of tent. 

o Parked vehicles or internal combustion engines such as generators shall not be 
located closer than 20 feet to any tent or membrane structure 400 sq ft or 
more and/or multiple tents placed side by side with an aggregate area of 700 
sq ft. For the purpose of determining required distance, support ropes and guy 
wires shall be considered as part of the temporary membrane structure or 
tents. 

o Access to field vendors by fire department vehicles shall not be blocked. All 
lanes in between tents shall be no less than 12' in width.   

o No parking on interior roads shall be permitted. 

 Town Administration:  
o A Police detail should be scheduled; please consult with Police Department. 
o They will need to provide port-a-johns for the event.  
o They should ask their vendors to be responsible for their own trash removal.  



2 

o Any serving of food/food vendors needs to be permitted through the Board of 
Health. They may also need a Hawker and Peddlers through the Select Board. 

o No vehicles are to transverse across the paved walking paths.  
o They need to work with facilities regarding water and electric usage.  
o The sale of single use plastic bottled water is prohibited on town property. 

The AARP Foundation would like to use Room C at Town Hall for tax return preparation 

for residents. This program will run on Wednesdays from February 7, 2024, until April 10, 

2024, from 8:30am until 4pm. The program expects to have up to 15 people in the room 

at one time and will assist 150 people during the length of the program.  This 

organization is also requesting a waiver of rental fees for meeting room C, the total 

requested waiver amount is $500.  There are no concerns from Department Heads about 

this application.  

Administrative Recommendation: 
We recommend that the Select Board approve both applications and fee waiver 
requests. 

c. One Day Entertainment License: Crosby Mansion 
A wedding has been scheduled at Crosby Mansion on Saturday September 7, 2024, and 
Alexandria Paine is requesting a One Day Entertainment License for both outside and 
indoor music from 4pm until 9pm.  The outdoor music will consist of a harpist for 
ceremony music which will be acoustic.  Indoor music will consist of a harpist for cocktail 
hour and a live band from 7pm – 9pm.  Indoor music will be amplified. They expect up to 
120 guests for the wedding. Crosby Mansion Property Manager Richard Archer is 
organizing the wedding at Crosby Mansion. Department Heads had the opportunity to 
review the application, there are no concerns, however the Health Department 
commented that if food is involved, the applicant will need to follow-up with them for 
pertinent food permitting.  

Administrative Recommendation: 
We recommend that the Select Board approve the One Day Entertainment License. 

d. One Day Liquor License Applications: Brewster Sportsman’s Club and Maplewood at 
Brewster 
The Brewster Sportsman’s Club is requesting a One Day Liquor License for their property 
at 280 Tubman Road on Saturday January 27 from 12pm – 6pm to host a family birthday 
party.  They expect approximately 30 people to attend and would like to serve beer and 
wine.  The only concern from the Department Head review was from the Health 
Department.  Currently the Brewster Sportsman’s Club has not renewed their 2024 Food 
Service Permit, food must be provided if liquor will be served.  The applicant has been 
made aware and has contacted the Health Department.  

Maplewood at Brewster is requesting to serve wine at their location of 820 Harwich Road 
for a private professional head shot event on Wednesday January 31, 2024, from 4:30pm 
– 6:30pm. They expect 25 guests and would like to serve wine.  They will also be serving 
appetizers and desserts.  There are no concerns from Department Heads.  



3 

Administrative Recommendation: 
We recommend that the Select Board conditionally approves the One Day Liquor License 
for the Brewster Sportsman’s Club pending they have obtained their 2024 Food Service 
Permit.  We recommend the Select Board approve the One Day Liquor License for 
Maplewood at Brewster.  

e. Change of Annual Liquor License Manager: Bow to Stern, LTD., Sean Sullivan 
Bow to Stern, LTD. d/b/a Freeman’s Grill received their Annual Liquor License in April 
2018, at the time both Sean Sullivan and Zachary Duff held interest in the license as equal 
partners.  Zachary Duff at the time was named Manager and is currently recognized by 
the Alcoholic Beverages Control Commission (ABCC) as the Manager of Record.  Sean 
Sullivan is requesting to change the manager to himself and is currently the owner of 
Bow to Stern LTD.  If approved the application will be submitted to the ABCC for final 
approval. The Chief of Police reviewed and there are no concerns.  

Administrative Recommendation:
We recommend that the Select Board approve the Change of Manager request.  

f. Pass Through Town Permission: Second Summer Cycle, Inc. 
The Second Summer Cycle, Inc. will be hosting a cycling event on September 15, 2024.  They have 
requested the use of Brewster Town roads between the hours of 9am and 1pm. The anticipated 

maximum number of riders is 400, with an estimated 50 bicycles at one time.  Department 
Heads have had the opportunity to review the application, feedback includes:

 Police Department- reminder that the group will need to follow all bicycling rules 
of the road to include stopping at all stop signs.  If they are requesting police 
details for any portion of their route in Brewster, they should contact the 
department at least two weeks prior to the event.  

 The Fire Department has reviewed the medical resources that will be provided 
and has no concerns with the plan.  

Administrative Recommendation: 
We recommend that the Select Board approve the Pass-Through Town Event. 

g. Department of Public Works Cemetery Plot Resale Request 
The DPW has received a request to repurchase two plots in Brewster Memorial 
Cemetery.  The plots were originally purchased in September 2000 in the amount of 
$375.  The resale process requires Select Board approval and signature.  

Administrative Recommendation: 
We recommend the Select Board approve the plot resale request.  

h. Annual Owner Certification of Deed Restricted Units (Serenity Apartments at Brewster)  
Serenity at Brewster is an age 55+ community comprised of 132 studio and one-bedroom 

apartments. 27 units, 20% of the apartments, are affordable apartments governed by a 

2022 Regulatory Agreement between the Town of Brewster, Executive Office of Housing 

and Livable Communities (EOHLC) and Elevation Financial Group. The Regulatory 

Agreement states that, annually, the Brewster Select Board shall certify in writing to 

EOHLC that each of the Low- and Moderate-Income Units continues to be a Low- and 



4 

Moderate-Income Unit and that the Low and Moderate Income Units have been 

maintained in a manner consistent with the Regulatory Agreement regulations and 

guidelines.  

Administrative Recommendation: 
The Housing Office recommends that the Select Board authorize the Chair to sign the 
enclosed draft letter to EOHLC certifying that the Town has received the Developer 
Annual Certification Compliance Report and that the Low and Moderate Income Units 
continue to be Low to Moderate Units as required in the Regulatory Agreement and have 
been maintained in a manner consistent with the Regulations and Guidelines of the 
Regulatory Agreement. 

i. Brewster Historical Society Request for Approval of Cobb House Exterior Improvements 
Per Historic Preservation Restriction Agreement 
The Cobb House has a historic preservation restriction that is held by the Select Board 

which requires that the Brewster Historical Society obtain approval for certain 

maintenance and alterations. The Brewster Historical Society will be replacing the 

clapboards and some of the trim at the Cobb House at an estimated cost of $20,000 per 

side. They will also be replacing the shutters with new period correct shutters. 

Administrative Recommendation: 
We recommend that the Select Board approves the proposed work at the Cobb House.  

j. Items Declared as Surplus for Transfer: Brewster Government Television 
Suzanne Bryan, Media Services Coordinator, is requesting to declare four Freedom Par 

Quad-4 lights as surplus for transfer to the Crosby Mansion.  There is no need for them in 

her work requirements.   

Administrative Recommendation: 
We recommend that the Select Board approves the transfer request.  



Town of Brewster
2198 Main Street 

Brewster, MA 02631-1898 
Phone: (508) 896-3701 
www.brewster-ma.gov 

Select Board 1.8.2024                                      www.brewster-ma.gov       ` Page 1 of 10 

Office of: 
Select Board 

Town Manager 

MINUTES OF THE SELECT BOARD MEETING              REGULAR SESSION 
DATE:  January 8, 2024 
TIME:  5:30 PM 
PLACE:  2198 Main Street, Room A 

Participants: Chair Chatelain, Selectperson Chaffee, Selectperson Whitney, Selectperson Bingham, Town 
Manager Peter Lombardi, and Assistant Town Manager Donna Kalinick; Council on Aging Board: Sharon 
Tennstedt, Andrea Nevins, Jay Green, Honey Pivirotto, Jan Crocker; Catilin Coyle (Univ. of Massachusetts 
Boston), COA Director Elton Cutler, Matt Griffin (Cape Cod Grow Labs) 
Remote Participation: Selectperson Hoffmann, Council on Aging member Eva Orman; Chris Taloumis 
(Haven Center) 
Absent: Council on Aging members- Penny Holeman, Laura Usher, and Jill Beardsley 

Call to Order and Declaration of a Quorum 
Chair Chatelain called the meeting to order at 5:30pm and declared a quorum.  

Selectperson Bingham moved to enter executive session.  Selectperson Chaffee seconded the motion. A roll 
call vote was taken. Selectperson Bingham-yes, Selectperson Chaffee-yes, Selectperson Whitney-yes, 
Selectperson Hoffmann-yes, Chair Chatelain-yes. The vote was 5-Yes, 0-No.  

The Select Board returned to open session at 6:00pm.  

Meeting Participation Statement and Recording Statement  
Chair Chatelain read both the meeting participation and recording statement.   

Presentation of 2023 Council on Aging Needs Assessment and FY24-28 Age-Friendly Community Action 
Plan (Select Board FY24-25 Strategic Plan Goal CC-2) – Joint Meeting with Council on Aging 
Council on Aging Chair Sharon Tennstedt called the meeting to order and declared a quorum of members 
present.  

Dr. Caitlin Coyle, University of Massachusetts Boston Gerontology Institute, shared a PowerPoint on Aging 
in Brewster: A Community Needs Assessment, this project was commissioned by the Town to identify and 
plan for the needs, interests, and preferences of older residents of Brewster.  The report is meant to 
support the Council on Aging in planning in the near future.  To provide recommendations to support the 
Town and the COA in responding to the changing demographics and community concerns. Highlights of the 
presentation included: 

 Review of the components of the project which included a demographic profile, interviews, focus 
groups and a community survey. 

 In 2020 about 47% of the population was identified as an older American (aged 60 and older) and is 
expected to increase to 58% in 2030.  

http://www.brewster-ma.gov/


Town of Brewster
2198 Main Street 

Brewster, MA 02631-1898 
Phone: (508) 896-3701 
www.brewster-ma.gov 

Select Board 1.8.2024                                      www.brewster-ma.gov       ` Page 2 of 10 

Office of: 
Select Board 

Town Manager 

 The respondents to the survey were skewed towards the 60+ population, only 6% of the survey 
respondents were in their 50s.  26% have been in Brewster for less than 10 years.  An even 
distribution of long-term residents and relative newcomers in terms of respondents. An important 
feature to consider is the respondents indicated it was very important for them to stay in Brewster.  

 Top five concerns of the ability to remain in Brewster are: 
o Affordability and cost of living 
o Proximity to amenities 
o Future transportation concerns 
o Need for in-home supports 
o Maintaining health and independence  

 Review of type of housing preferred if the resident had to move from their current residence; 
smaller single-family homes, condominiums, living with family, apartment, ADUs and home sharing.  

 Transportation and driving status review, 21% drive with some limitations, 5% do not drive at all 
(14% of respondents were 80+). 

 Mobility and dementia are top concerns for caregiving and accessibility.  

 A big aspect for the Town to consider is the importance of physical accessibility when thinking about 
older adults. Snow removal and yard work were the highest in terms of having help at home.  

 Review of the Risk of isolation, about a third responded that they would not know who to contact 
for help with social services, health services or other municipal services.  The frequency of social 
contact in various ways was asked in the survey. Social communication was prevalent, but actual 
getting together, only 13% of the sample get together less than 12 times per year. Heard about 
limited activities in the winter for socializing.   

 When asked about Senior Center participation, 61% responded never using the Senior Center. There 
was a review of what limits people from participation at the Senior Center among non-users. 

 Review of what programs that respondents would like to see at the Brewster COA by age group, 
physical activity was top across the board and there was a trend of intellectual stimulation of lifelong 
learning.  

 Review of the types of services that should be prioritized at the COA, transportation and 
information/referral of local resources were the top two.   

The Brewster Senior Center is a vital resource to the community. There has been documentation overtime 
that it is not adequate and lacks accessibility, these limitations will continue to restrict the COA’s ability to 
provide impactful programs.  Multiple town studies have documented needs related to Brewster’s large and 
growing population of older adults that reinforces that the COA is doing wonderful things and people 
benefit from them.  

In the survey there was a round of questions regarding the Sea Camps property, including how likely it 
would be that the respondent or someone in their household would use a multigenerational community 
center. For those under age 80, about half would be very likely and an additional 20-30% would be 
somewhat likely.  Overall people are saying they are very likely to participate.  Across age groups only 11-
13% say they would be somewhat or very unlikely to use the community center.  There was more support 
for a multigenerational community center with fully integrated space and programming for residents of all 

http://www.brewster-ma.gov/


Town of Brewster
2198 Main Street 

Brewster, MA 02631-1898 
Phone: (508) 896-3701 
www.brewster-ma.gov 

Select Board 1.8.2024                                      www.brewster-ma.gov       ` Page 3 of 10 

Office of: 
Select Board 

Town Manager 

ages.  The survey inquired about what specifically older adults are looking to use the space for, with the top 
response being passive recreation (66%), entertainment programming (64%) and active recreation or sprots 
(63%).   

Dr. Coyle presented the recommendations for the Town of Brewster consider and shared that the final 
report will be delivered to the Council on Aging in mid- January.  

 Build engagement across age groups, if the COA currently is not able to meet the needs, how to 
engage additional participants, and how to expand space and engage a broader range of residents 
and connect those who are homebound. 

 Obtain supplementary and accessible transportation. 

 Find ways to provide financial support to residents including property tax relief programs and other 
incentives for volunteers to help offset costs.  

 Research housing solutions that address affordability and downsizing needs.  Connect residents with 
local handyperson or home repair services. 

 Support caregivers by providing better access to information and offer dementia friendly features.  

Selectperson Chaffee thanked Dr. Coyle for giving an important glimpse into the largest segment of 
Brewster’s population. Noting that the Town has significant needs in the largest population in Town and a 
Senior Center building that is inadequate.  Selectperson Bingham said that the COA does a tremendous job 
with what they have to work with, and we may need to do more advertising for the services we provide. 
Selectperson Hoffmann added that more work on outreach, marketing and program design should be 
considered, and the COA does an incredible job.  

The Council on Aging Board Chair Tennstedt stated that once the full report is received, the Board will 
gather their questions and schedule a time to meet with Dr. Coyle. Adding that she believes the COA does a 
terrific job with limited funds. Ms. Tennstedt hopes that COA Director Elton Cutler will begin to identify 
areas where the COA is underfunded in order to meet the increasing need of the growing population. Ms. 
Tennstedt added that Elder Services of the Cape and Islands is an agency that the Board works with to help 
provide in home services to our residents. Noting that there is currently a worker shortage that is impeding 
them, with a waitlist of over 700 people.  The COA Board will plan a retreat to work on the next strategic 
plan, they would like to have this completed in June for the start of fiscal year 2025.  

Council on Aging member Andrea Nevins motioned to adjourn.  Member Crocker seconded the motion. A 
roll call vote was taken; member Nevins-yes, member Pivirotto-yes, member Green-yes, member Crocker-
yes, member Orman-yes, Chair-Tennstedt-yes. The vote was 6-Yes, 0-No.   

Update on Status of Local Marijuana Facilities- Cape Cod Grow Lab 
Mr. Lombardi noted that Brewster has two local businesses who are permitted to operate and have been 
open for several months.  State legislation regarding marijuana passed about a year ago, since then the 
Cannabis Control Commission issued new regulations to put more detail on the legislation and the impact to 
the industry. The new regulations look at the host community agreements that Towns have negotiated with 
local marijuana companies. Starting in March the Commission will be reviewing the host community 

http://www.brewster-ma.gov/


Town of Brewster
2198 Main Street 

Brewster, MA 02631-1898 
Phone: (508) 896-3701 
www.brewster-ma.gov 

Select Board 1.8.2024                                      www.brewster-ma.gov       ` Page 4 of 10 

Office of: 
Select Board 

Town Manager 

agreements to see if they are in compliance with the new legislation and regulations. Regulations would 
apply retro actively, with Brewster since the summer of 2018. Mr. Lombardi noted that the commission was 
responsible for developing model language that showed what municipalities would want in the agreements 
but has not been completed yet. Once drafted the agreement will go through the review process with the 
State, we expect feedback for provisions negotiated around community impact fees and the extent to which 
they are enforceable.  Mr. Lombardi pointed out a new section in the regulations that looks at equity within 
the industry. Any requirements that the Town will have to meet will take effect in May. Brewster adopted 
the 3% local excise tax on marijuana sales, this is not impacted by these regulations. The State has been 
collecting the tax and recently disbursed the second quarter records to the Town, this information is in the 
packet.  With almost six months’ worth of revenues the Haven Center comes in at a little $30K, Brewster will 
at least receive the tax revenues moving forward. 

Matt Griffin, Head of Cultivation and General Manager of Cape Cod Grow Lab joined the meeting.  They 
received final Commission approval in September and have begun growing crops.  Mr. Griffing shared that 
they are hoping for first crop at the end of February and will be submitting for their Commence operations 
this month, which will allow them to sell their product to retailers statewide. He shared that everything is 
working well, the equipment, the facility, and local staff.  Cape Cod Grow Labs is planning a job fair in the 
next couple of months, as they would like to have 10-12 employees. Mr. Griffin invited Board members back 
to the facility for a visit.  Mr. Griffin noted that they would like to offer tours of the facility to the public in 
the future and will have to plan for this properly.  

Public Announcements and Comment 
No announcements or comments 

Select Board Announcements and Liaison Reports 
None 

Town Manager’s Report 
Mr. Lombardi provided the following information: 

 The Fair Share amendment was approved by Massachusetts voters in 2022.  This imposes a new 4% 
State tax on incomes over $1M to be specifically used for education and transportation.  Last month 
the State announced the release of the first distribution of transportation funding to cities/towns, 
Brewster is receiving an additional $172K in funding through this program. This is an annual 
allocation that Brewster will receive, this is supplemental to the States Chapter 90 funding, which we 
received a little over $300K.  This brings our new annual total of State funding for transportation to 
almost $500K. The pavement management plan’s goal to maintain level services across Town public 
ways was a minimum of $750K per year. We have been incrementally increasing our local 
contribution to road maintenance and drainage by $25-$50K over the past several years.  Between 
the two we are almost at the breakeven point, which is important as we have been focused on the 
Millstone Road Project but need to make sure we are maintaining the rest of the infrastructure.  

 The Town identified remediation of the former shooting range on the Bay property which went out 
to bid twice this Fall.  Brighter Horizons Environmental was awarded the contract at little under 

http://www.brewster-ma.gov/


Town of Brewster
2198 Main Street 

Brewster, MA 02631-1898 
Phone: (508) 896-3701 
www.brewster-ma.gov 

Select Board 1.8.2024                                      www.brewster-ma.gov       ` Page 5 of 10 

Office of: 
Select Board 

Town Manager 

$350K. The project is fully funded with American Rescue Plan Act funds, no taxpayer funds. The work 
is set to begin in early February and will take about two weeks to complete. Included in the scope of 
work are the two buildings and the contaminated soil which will be removed, and the site will be 
returned to its natural condition. This site, in the current draft of the comprehensive plan for the Bay 
property is to be used as a new Nature Center for Mass Audubon.  

 Access to the Pond Property has been a challenge for the past couple of years. This winter the 
Department of Public Works will be looking to create a small parking area about halfway down the 
access drive, with parking for at least four cars and up to six. The work is expected to be completed 
by early Spring, the Town plans on hosting two open house events on the Pond property, Saturday 
April 6th, and Wednesday April 10th. More information to come.  

 The Drummer Boy Park Advisory Committee have been meeting since September reviewing the 2021 
Master plan and are working on developing a report for May Town Meeting.  In a couple of weeks a 
survey to solicit community input will be released asking for feedback about suggested uses and 
improvements to the park.  

Consent Agenda 
a. Approval of Meeting Minutes: December 18, 2023 
b. Fee Waiver Request: Department of Public Works 
c. Grant Application: Herring River Watershed Buildout Analysis (DEP Natural Resource Nitrogen 

Sensitive Area Grant) 

Selectperson Hoffmann moved to approve the January 8 Consent Agenda as presented in the packet. 
Selectperson Bingham seconded the motion.  A roll call vote was taken. Selectperson Bingham-yes, 
Selectperson Chaffee-yes, Selectperson Whitney-yes, Selectperson Hoffmann-yes, Chair Chatelain-yes. The 
Board vote was 5-Yes, 0-No. 

Discuss and Vote on SEIU Side Letter Agreement 
Mr. Lombardi noted that for the past several months the Town has identified areas that an interim 
agreement would make sense for the Town and employees in this bargaining unit.  This side letter 
agreement is specifically targeted to Department of Public Works employees, a path has been proposed for 
advancing within the department by obtaining additional licenses and certifications. Also proposed are 
stipends for the Maintenance Mechanic and Master Mechanic, as they have taken on more in-house 
services of our fleet, especially the hybrid and electric vehicles. An agreement has been reached on 
supplemental compensation for these employees to perform these services.  

Selectperson Chaffee moved to approve the memorandum agreement between the Town of Brewster and 
the SEIU Local 888. Selectperson Bingham seconded the motion. A roll call vote was taken. Selectperson 
Bingham-yes, Selectperson Chaffee-yes, Selectperson Whitney-yes, Selectperson Hoffmann-yes, Chair 
Chatelain-yes. The Board vote was 5-Yes, 0-No. 

http://www.brewster-ma.gov/


Town of Brewster
2198 Main Street 

Brewster, MA 02631-1898 
Phone: (508) 896-3701 
www.brewster-ma.gov 

Select Board 1.8.2024                                      www.brewster-ma.gov       ` Page 6 of 10 

Office of: 
Select Board 

Town Manager 

Discuss and Vote on Proposed Updates to Select Board Policy #10 
Mr. Lombardi noted that the goal is to bring Select Board policies into compliance with how operations have 
worked for a number of years, memorialize what we do and provide clarification.  For this policy, which was 
light on details, the Department of Public Works does a great job of maintaining the road shoulder on public 
ways, and we needed to clarify what they do, how frequently, and the extent to which this applies to 
private ways or not. The proposed policy was reviewed by Town Administration, the DPW, Planning and 
public safety.   

Selectperson Chaffee moved to approve the policy as recommended. Selectperson Bingham seconded the 
motion. A roll call vote was taken. Selectperson Hoffmann-yes, Selectperson Bingham-yes, Selectperson 
Chaffee-yes, Selectperson Whitney-yes, Chair Chatelain-yes. The Board vote was 5-Yes, 0-No. 

Discuss Suggested Changes to Nauset Regional School Agreement 
The Select Board received a status report at their December 18, 2023, meeting from the Nauset Regional 
School Committee and Superintendent Clenchy, the goal now is to identify specific changes they would like 
to see in the new agreement and the process they would like to see the district take regarding the 
agreement. This topic will also be placed on the January 22, 2024, meeting in which the Board will have 
received feedback from the Finance Committee.  The districts counsel had completed extensive work in 
redlining the original document and putting forward a series of policy questions, this is included in the 
packet.  

Selectperson Chaffee shared that the most significant concern with the process is that it is very clear that 
the public have an opportunity to understand the changes or lack of changes and have the opportunity to 
weigh in.  This is a very complex process with financial implications, noting that the burden is on the school 
committee to make this understandable and clear to residents of all four communities.  

Mr. Lombardi noted that the subcommittee who has been working on changes to the agreement had 
posted a meeting with an agenda item to finalize their recommendations and report back to the full School 
Committee.  This meeting was ultimately cancelled, however there is concern that the process has not been 
made public as the Select Board had requested.  

Selectperson Hoffmann stated that it seems as though the School Committee’s counsel has been making 
changes to align the agreement with the standards of the Department of Elementary and Secondary 
Education (DESE).  Adding that the Board has been very clear that the public needs the opportunity to 
understand the agreement before it is presented at Town Meeting. As the liaison to the school committee, 
Selectperson Hoffmann will mention this at the next meeting and would like to give them the benefit of the 
doubt that they will listen and educate the public before it goes to Town meeting.  

Selectperson Bingham stated that she would like to see a percentage limit on the number of school choice 
students that the school takes in, at around 3%, which is what the State recommends. Mr. Lombardi will 
check with Town counsel if this can be added into the draft.  

http://www.brewster-ma.gov/


Town of Brewster
2198 Main Street 

Brewster, MA 02631-1898 
Phone: (508) 896-3701 
www.brewster-ma.gov 

Select Board 1.8.2024                                      www.brewster-ma.gov       ` Page 7 of 10 

Office of: 
Select Board 

Town Manager 

Selectperson Chaffee suggested that language be included that the chairpersonship of the committee rotate 
regularly among the four member towns. Mr. Lombardi noted that the school committee’s counsel has not 
introduced policy questions outside the DESE regulation parameters as part of the discussion. 
There was discussion on how the breakdown of the member towns voting will be distributed, the 
subcommittee will presumably develop a recommendation and ultimately the school committee will decide. 
The suggestion from counsel indicates that because of the number of representatives and the weight of 
their votes is proposed it is required to be adjusted every 5 to 10 years to make sure that voting 
representation is proportional.  There was also a review of the suggestions on how to appoint school 
committee members, including being appointed instead of being elected and members to be picked from 
one pool of applicants.  

Chair Chatelain expressed his appreciation of the school committee’s work on a complicated issue, noting 
that the process is extremely important and should have been public from the beginning. Chair Chatelain 
would like to specifically ask for at least one public hearing advertised solely for this purpose and that the 
final draft be sent to all the districts Select Boards for review prior to final approval by the subcommittee for 
comment.  Additionally, Chair Chatelain would like to see stronger budget controls recommended in the 
agreement, specifically the 5-year Capital and 5-year budget forecast developed and advertised to the 
Towns as part of the annual budget process. He believes that there should be stronger language that 
compels the opening of the agreement on a regular basis. Chair Chatelain stated his concern of the 
immediate budgetary impact of school choice students.  Regarding the tuition agreement, the Board had 
requested that the Superintendent provide counsel opinion if capital can be allocated to tuition students. 
Mr. Lombardi will request a copy of the written opinion.   

Selectperson Hoffmann requested clarifications from the original letter submitted by the Board back in 
May: 

 Asked for a 3-year rolling average, this is in the draft agreement. 

 Understanding the transportation cost and how it is apportioned for member towns and are they 
transporting charter and choices students? Are we paying for transportation for students who choice 
in, where the State tells us we don’t have to. 

 Proportional representation, currently based on student enrollment not by Town population.  

Mr. Lombardi noted that for transportation costs, the current agreement apportions this differently than 
most other regional school districts. We treat apportioning it as an operating cost, which Mr. Lombardi 
thinks leads Brewster to cover costs associated with transportation of choice students. There needs 
clarification on this, if it is happening, what is another option in terms of structuring the transportation 
funding formula.   

Mr. Lombardi hopes to have a draft letter for review at the January 22, 2024, Select Board meeting.   

Discuss and Vote on Spring 2024 Town Meeting Date 
The Stony Brook School is available on both Monday May 6 and Saturday May 11, 2024, to hold the Town 
Meeting.  If the Board elects to have the meeting on Saturday, the Recreation Department requests for it be 

http://www.brewster-ma.gov/


Town of Brewster
2198 Main Street 

Brewster, MA 02631-1898 
Phone: (508) 896-3701 
www.brewster-ma.gov 

Select Board 1.8.2024                                      www.brewster-ma.gov       ` Page 8 of 10 

Office of: 
Select Board 

Town Manager 

in early afternoon to avoid scheduling conflict with programming. The comprehensive plans for the Sea 
Camps will be on the warrant and expect it to generate a lot of interest. The average turnout is around 400 
voters, if we plan on a Monday night, we should schedule both Monday and Tuesday to be safe for this 
Town Meeting.   

Selectperson Chaffee moved to hold Spring Town Meeting on Saturday May 11, 2024, in the afternoon. 
Selectperson Whitney seconded the motion. Selectperson Hoffmann inquired about Nauset Youth Alliance 
providing childcare on a Saturday.  Mr. Lombardi noted that we have worked with the YMCA for past Town 
Meetings but have not had the discussion with them at this time. A roll call vote was taken. Selectperson 
Bingham-yes, Selectperson Chaffee-yes, Selectperson Whitney-yes, Selectperson Hoffmann-yes, Chair 
Chatelain-yes. The Board vote was 5-Yes, 0-No. 

Vote to Open Spring 2024 Town Meeting Warrant 
Selectperson Hoffmann moved to open Spring 2024 Town Meeting Warrant. Selectperson Bingham 
seconded the motion. A roll call vote was taken. Selectperson Bingham-yes, Selectperson Chaffee-yes, 
Selectperson Whitney-yes, Selectperson Hoffmann-yes, Chair Chatelain-yes. The Board vote was 5-Yes, 0-
No. 

Review FY24-25 Select Board Strategic Plan & Discuss Key Policy Issues to Prep for Spring 2024 Town 
Meeting 
Mr. Lombardi pointed out that when dealing with a particular issue that ties back to goals on the Strategic 
Plan, it is highlighted on the agenda and referenced in discussion.  This is a helpful process to inform and 
guide policy for the Select Board. Of the high-level building blocks, a lot of work is currently spent on Sea 
Camps Planning process and interim uses. Mr. Lombardi noted that the Board has tried to be cognizant of 
being realistic in terms of organizational capacity and of our residents’ interest in all the initiatives and 
projects.  

In the current plan there are two goals that are FY25 specific, the first is developing a guide to doing 
business in Brewster, something we have been talking about for a couple of years. The other is under 
Community Character, evaluating the impacts of short-term rentals on the community. Even with 
everything else going on, this timeline is still realistic, recognizing it is complicated with a lot of different 
interests and perspectives from our residents and stakeholders.  

Chair Chatelain acknowledged that anything that is brough forward to Town Meeting will be competing for 
space with the biggest project in most of our resident’s minds. We need to be careful to set up whatever we 
are bringing forward for success.  

Selectperson Chaffee commented that the process to create the plan was thoughtful and methodical, there 
is always competing priorities and a lot of policy issues that circulate in the community, nothing that the 
Town can’t address every policy problem every single year. Sea Camps has taken up so much energy and 
time because it is a huge opportunity for the Town, we need to get the plans right. Selectperson Chaffee is 

http://www.brewster-ma.gov/


Town of Brewster
2198 Main Street 

Brewster, MA 02631-1898 
Phone: (508) 896-3701 
www.brewster-ma.gov 

Select Board 1.8.2024                                      www.brewster-ma.gov       ` Page 9 of 10 

Office of: 
Select Board 

Town Manager 

comfortable with the current timeline.  There is a great deal of professional work that needs to be done on 
short-term rentals to see if there are policy solutions that would help to achieve specific policy problems.  

Selectperson Bingham inquired about Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DEI) under the Community Character 
building block. Mr. Lombardi noted that the Town has secured state funding for this that needs to be spent 
in a specific time frame. One the communications plan project is completed, the Board will pivot to the DEI 
audit, nothing that this will probably be a two fiscal year project.  

Selectperson Hoffmann shared that the current timeline makes sense and though there is urgency around 
short term rentals, she wants the process to be thoughtful and inclusive.   

In response to Selectperson Whitney’s inquiry about additional positions being added to the budget, Mr. 
Lombardi shared that there may be some personnel requests in the budget, but it is too early in the process 
to say for sure.  Additionally, there will be information shared at the next Select Board meeting regarding 
childcare subsidy, which is planned for the upcoming Town Meeting. Mr. Lombardi commented that we 
have a funding plan that is sustainable and doesn’t impact the tax rate.  There will be a lot of interest and 
discussion from residents on this program.  As the Board works through the warrant process, information 
will be shared with voters.   

Mr. Lombardi noted that under Open Space, there is a FY24 goal to develop criteria and a process to 
evaluate potential land acquisitions and consider establishing a municipal land acquisition committee.  This 
may not be a realistic goal for FY24 only and will be taken up in earnest after Town Meeting.  

Update on Status of Local Marijuana Facilities- Haven Center 
Chris Taloumis shared that he received approval from the Cannabis Control Commission in early July and 
opened a few days later. They have been operational to date with not traffic issues and things have been 
building up business wise.  Mr. Taloumis noted a bit of a learning curve, as the store is busier than expected, 
but not as busy as we thought originally back in 2019. Mr. Taloumis will schedule a tour of the facility with 
the Select Board.  

FYIs 
None 

Matters Not Reasonably Anticipated by the Chair 
None

Questions from the Media 
No questions.

Next Meetings 
January 22, January 23 (joint with the Bay Property Planning Committee and the Pond Property Planning 
Committee), and January 31, 2024 

http://www.brewster-ma.gov/


Town of Brewster
2198 Main Street 

Brewster, MA 02631-1898 
Phone: (508) 896-3701 
www.brewster-ma.gov 

Select Board 1.8.2024                                      www.brewster-ma.gov       ` Page 10 of 10 

Office of: 
Select Board 

Town Manager 

Adjournment
Selectperson Chaffee moved to adjourn at 8:24pm. Selectperson Bingham seconded the motion. A roll call 
vote was taken. Selectperson Bingham-yes, Selectperson Chaffee-yes, Selectperson Whitney-yes, 
Selectperson Hoffman-yes, Chair Chatelain-yes. The Board vote was 5-Yes, 0-No. 

Respectfully submitted by Erika Mawn,  
Executive Assistant 

Approved: __________________ Signed: _________________________________________ 
      Date                       Selectperson Hoffmann, Clerk of the Select Board

Accompanying Documents in Packet: Agenda, TM Report, Consent Agenda items, COA Needs Assessment Presentation, Local Marijuana 
facilities update, SEUI Side letter agreement, SB Policy 10, Nauset Regional School Agreement, Spring 2024 Town Meeting Date, SB FY24-
25 Strategic Plan, FYIs

http://www.brewster-ma.gov/


Town of Brewster

Department of Natural Resources

Drummer Boy Park

July 12-13

7:30 3:00

Brewster Conservation Day

Environmental Education Fair

X

800-1,000

No

Ryan Burch

1657 Main Street Brewster, MA 02631

508-896-4546

508-896-4546

300



Restrooms

Restrooms

Hot Dogs

Police Search
& Rescue

IFAW

Millsite & Alewives
Committees

Brewster
Natural

Resources

Goat Green
Cape Cod

Friends of
Pleasant Bay

Cape Cod
Anti-litter
Coalition

Old Ladies
Against
Garbage

Protect Our
CC Aquifer
(POCCA)

Brewster
Fire Dept.

Atlantic
White Shark
Conservancy

Mass. Audubon
WBWS

Get Outside
Cape Cod

Brewster
Water Dept.

Orenda
Wildlife

Land Trust

CARE for
the Cape
& Islands

Brewster Natural
Resources

Advisory Comm.
Brewster

Ponds
Coalition

C. C. Mosquito
& Tick Control

Americorps
Puppet Show

Welcome
Tent

Brewster
Conservation

Trust

Dennis
Conservation

Land Trust

Harwich
Conservation

Trust

Chatham
Conservation
Foundation

BPC 
BIG FLUSH

Brewster
Oysters

Weed
Harvester

Cape Cod
Extension Marine

Program

Center for
Coastal Studies

N. E. Coastal
Wildlife
Alliance

Brewster Health
& Board of Health

Terra Firma

Mass. Alternative
Septic Systems

Test Center

Brewster
Historical Society

Brewster Bike
& Pedestrian
Committee

Cape Light
Compact

WINDMILL

BLACKSMITH
SHOP

HARRIS BLACK HOUSE

▼

Brewster
Recycling
Comm.

Brewster
Cultural

Council/Green
?? Refill

Master of
Ceremonies

??

Resilient
RootsCC Extension

Horticultural
& Master
Gardeners

Brewster
Garden Club

APCC

Volunteer
Tent

Speakers’ Tent
“Native Plants,

Healthy Habitats”

Orleans Pond
Coalition

P
A

TH
TO

TE
N

TPATH TO WINDMILL VILLAGE

Trevor
the Juggler

www.brewsterconservationtrust.org
www.town.brewster.ma.us

         





TOWN OF BREWSTER

DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES
1657 MAIN STREET

BREWSTER, MA 02631 
PHONE: (508) 896-4546 

SHELLFISH@BREWSTER-MA.GOV

WWW.BREWSTER-MA.GOV

December 27, 2023 

Town of Brewster Select Board 
2198 Main Street 
Brewster, MA  
02631 

Dear Brewster Select Board, 

The Town of Brewster’s Department of Natural Resources would like to request the usage fee for 
Drummer Boy park be waived for the 13th annual Brewster Conservation Day event being held on July 
13, 2024.  The Department of Natural Resources has been a co-organizer for this event with Brewster 
Conservation Trust since day one.  This is a free event that focuses on environmental education for all 
ages.  Over 45 exhibitors set up interactive stations to help inform visitors about Cape Cod’s fragile 
natural resources.  This is become a huge success and we would appreciate your continued support. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Ryan Burch 





  
Brewster MA 02631  
December 6, 2023 

Ms. Donna Kalineck 
Assistant Town Administrator 
Town of Brewster 
1298 Main Street 

Brewster MA 02631 

Dear Ms. Kalineck 

On behalf of AARP Tax Aide, the organization which I volunteer for, I would 
like to request a waiver of fees for our usage of Meeting Room C to do Income Tax  
Preparation services for residents of Brewster and other neighboring towns. Our days of  
Operation are every Wednesday, beginning February 7 and ending April 10th of this year from 
8:30 AM to 3:30 PM.  Last year in Brewster we prepared and efiled over 120 tax returns. 

AARP Tax Aide provides this free service using IRS trained volunteers to anyone who requires 
it, within our scope of service.  These services are also offered at Senior and town centers  in 
Provincetown, Wellfleet, Eastham, Orleans, and Chatham/Harwich on the lower and outer 
Cape, as well as many other centers throughout the rest of the Cape.  Although anyone is 
welcome, we primarily serve Senior citizens and low to middle income taxpayers.  Many 
Brewster residents have come to rely on our services. 

Thank you in advance for your consideration 

Sharon Marotti 
Administrative Coordinator  
AARP Tax Aide District 18 

























 

 

 

EVENT NOTIFICATION FORM 

Application must be submitted at least four (4) weeks prior to the date of the event. 

 

APPLICANT INFORMATION 
 

Applicant Name: ________________________________________   Phone #: ____________________________ 

Applicant Address: ___________________________________________________________________________ 

Business Name: __________________________________________ Email: ______________________________ 

 

EVENT INFORMATION 
 

Type of Event: _______________________________________________________________________________ 

Location of Event: ____________________________________________________________________________ 

Date and Hours requested of proposed event:  Date(s): ___________________   Times: ____________________ 

Maximum # of guests anticipated: ____________ Estimated # of vehicles/bicycles at one time: ______________ 

Is this event open to the public:  Yes_____    No ______ 

ADDITIONAL DETAILS 
 

Will food be offered/provided at the event?               Yes _____   No______  
If yes, applicant must obtain a food service permit from the Health Dept. 
 
Will any road closures be required for the event?                       Yes _____   No______ 
 
Please provide a summary of the event: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Town of Brewster 
2198 Main Street 

Brewster, MA 02631 
Phone: (508) 896-3701 

Website: www.brewster-ma.gov 

Office of: 
Select Board 

Town Administration 
 

 



 

Event Requirements: 

 Submit with application a traffic management plan when the roadway is occupied and for all detours 
associated with event. 

 Notify the local and/or State Police to set up a detour of the roadways with appropriate signs and 
barricades. 

 Notify the Brewster Fire Department of the detour to ensure that measures will be taken to minimize 
disruption to the Fire Department’s emergency services during the event.  

 Notify local media (newspapers, radio, etc.) of the proposed event. 

 The Select Board has full authority to condition the proposed event. 
 Application and supporting documents will be distributed to municipal departments including (but not limited 

to) Health, Building, Fire, Police, Conservation, Natural Resources and Planning for feedback/comments.  

 
 

Applicant Signature: ___________________________________      Date: _____________________________ 
 

Signature on the application attest that the application understands and accepts procedural conditions and 
permits the Town to conduct site visits to the property.  
 
 
 

Additional Signatures that may be required: 
 
Brewster Police Department:   Brewster Fire Department: 
 
Signature: _______________________   Signature: _______________________ 

Title:____________________________   Title:____________________________ 

Date: ___________________________   Date: ___________________________ 

 

Brewster Select Board:   State Police Department: 

 

Signature: _______________________   Signature: _______________________ 

Title: ____________________________   Title: ____________________________ 

Date: ___________________________   Date: ___________________________ 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Select Board will provide both the Police Department and the Fire Department at least 48 hours advance notice before 
the commencement of the proposed work or event.  
 
 
Office Use Only: 

Notices Sent: ______________             Meeting Date: ________________                  Date Approved: __________________ 



Second Summer Cycle

A Charity Ride

What:

An exciting new event. A ride covering 10 of the 15 towns on Cape Cod benefitting more than 
20 non-profits on Cape Cod. Three distances in the event. A Century, A Metric Century Plus, 
and a 30 mile Plus.  With a major celebration at Motta Field. As part of your registration fee you 
will receive $30 in tickets to be used at least at 4 different food trucks (your choice). Barnstable 
Brewing will be there for those that want a cool beverage after, with Second Summer Cycle Cans 
as memorabilia. 

You don't want to miss it!!!

When:  September 17, 2023 

Where:

The Century starts in Mashpee, The Metric Century in Sandwich and the 30 Mile Plus in 
Orleans. All of the rides end in Provincetown at Motta Field.  With a major celebration at Motta 
Field. As part of your registration fee you will receive $30 in tickets to be used at least 4 
different food trucks. Barnstable Brewing will be there for those that want a cool beverage after, 
with Second Cycle Cans as memorabilia.

Links for the ride’s maps are as follows:

 Century: https://ridewithgps.com/routes/41630782
 Metric Century: https://ridewithgps.com/routes/41630632
 30 Mile Plus: https://ridewithgps.com/routes/41645332

The Century and the Metric Century offer a version that allows you to take the Rail Trail for part 
of the ride. 

 Century with Rail Trail option: https://ridewithgps.com/routes/41630820
 Metric Century with Rail Trail option: https://ridewithgps.com/routes/41630905

There is also going to be a fast group of up to 50 riders who can average 20 miles per hour that 
will do the Century. They Will start 10 minutes before the main group of riders for the Century.

By Whom: 

Put on by the Cape Cod Chamber of Commerce, it is to become their signature event, with 
We Can and Golden Summer Enterprises.

The goal is to provide the safest most enjoyable ride on Cape Cod.



Benefits: All monies raised by the riders will be paid directly to the beneficiaries. Riders are 
expected to raise $250.00 each, each team is expected to raise $5,000.00. 

Teams: We Can, Youth Athletic Foundation (YAF), Cotuit Center for the Arts, YMCA 

Pricing:

 Century Fast Group: $170.00 until April 1, then $180.00
 Century: $120.00 until April 1, then $130.00
 Metric Century: $90.00 until April 1, then $100.00
 30 Mile Ride: $60.00 until April 1, then $70.00

Return to the starts:

Bus transportation will be provided back to the starts along with trailers for your bikes. If you 
wish you can have someone meet you at the finish and they can buy tickets to be used at the 
Motta Field and join you in the celebration. 

Water and food stops:

There will be water and food stops every fifteen miles or so. 

Marshalls:

We will have Marshalls at every turn. 

Support services:

We will have bicycle shops providing Sag services along the whole course. 

Motorcycle Patrol:

We will have motor cyclists patrolling the whole course. 

Medical Support:

We will have medical support at all water stops. 

Come join us for a great ride, a great day and great fun. A good friend 
of mine says it is worth training for, beautiful scenery, a great route, 
a great after party and benefits a lot of great non-profits. A must do.



Griffin Ryder, Superintendent 

James Jones, Foreman 

Memo   

To: Brewster Select Board 

From: Department of Public Works  

Date: January 17, 2024 

RE: Cemetery Resale of (2) plots in Pine Grove Cemetery; Plots 83 A & B 

Department of Public Works has received a request from Ms. Joan Conant requesting the Town of Brewster 
repurchase (2) plot in Brewster Memorial Cemetery. These plots were originally purchased September 11, 2000 
in the amount of $375.00  

The Cemetery Commission along with the Town Administrator authorized on their May 23, 2013 meeting that 
all cemetery re-sales with an original purchase date prior to April 11, 2011 would not be assessed an 
administration fee.  

Please find enclosed a copy of the original deed and resale document that requires Select Board signatures, and 
letter and documentation on behalf of plot owner. 

Department of Public Works

201 Run Hill Road 
Brewster, Massachusetts 02631-1898 

Tel (508) 896-3212 



RESALE TO THE TOWN OF BREWSTER 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS that;  
Ms. Joan Conant of 421 Squire Pope Road, Apt. 329, Hilton Head, SC 29926, in 
consideration of Three Hundred Seventy Five Dollars ($375.00), paid by THE TOWN 
OF BREWSTER the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged hereby grants and conveys 
to the said THE TOWN OF BREWSTER the sole and exclusive right of burial in, and of 
erecting tombs and other monuments or flush markers, on a certain lot of land in the 
Brewster Town Cemetery; so called Pine Grove Cemetery, situated in said Town of 
Brewster,  off Foster Road and being known as Plots 83 A & B on a Plan of said 
cemetery entitled:  

“Plan of Town Owned Cemetery, Brewster, Mass., Scale 1”=20’, 
 Dec. 1967, Nickerson & Berger, Civil Engineers, Eastham & Chatham, Mass., 
Being Land shown on Land Court Plan Plan 16887-A.” 

To have and to hold the above granted easements unto the said Town of Brewster, his 
heirs and assigns forever subject to all laws and ordinances and to the By-Laws and the Rules 
and Regulations of the Grantor, now or hereafter in force, and to such conditions and restrictions 
as the Cemetery Commissioners may impose on the said lots, and for any breach thereof the 
grantor may enter upon said lot and, at the expense of the grantee, may remove any structure, 
plant or thing in violation thereof, and do whatever else may be necessary or reasonable. 

For further consideration of the sum of Three Hundred Dollars ($300.00) to it paid, the 
grantor through the Cemetery Commissioners, agrees to forever keep the said lot in suitable 
condition and preservation, and to otherwise keep the said lot in good condition, so far as the 
income from its Perpetual Care Trust Fund will permit having regard to the total requirements 
upon the income of said fund and unless otherwise prevented by an act of God or other forces of 
cause its control. 

In witness whereof the Town of Brewster has caused its corporate seal to be hereto 
affixed and these presents signed in its name and behalf by its Board of Selectmen. 
This, the 22nd day of January 2024. 

___________________________________        _____________________________________ 
Town Clerk  

      _____________________________________ 

      _____________________________________ 

      _____________________________________ 

     ______________________________________ 

      Town of Brewster Select Board 



January 4, 2024 

Town Of Brester 

Department of Public Works 

201 Run Hill Road 

Brewster, Massachusetts, 02631 

By email 

Dear Emily, 

As we discussed on the phone yesterday, A. Robert Conant passed away in August of 2023. His 

spouse, Joan Conant, has decided she wants to sell Pine Grove Cemetery Plots 83 A and B back 

to the Town of Brewster. We, the undersigned, have Power of Attorney for Mrs. Conant as 

evidenced by the POA documents attached to this email. I have also included a Certified Copy 

of the Death Certificate for Mr. Conant. 

Please reply to us by email to confirm the documents attached meet your needs to move this 

process forward. Proceeds should be sent to Mrs. Conant's home address which is: 

 

 

 

  

Ma y than r your help with this 

" ,,,, .._..,,~~ ~ I) 
y 

CJt ~ <-{~ (f~A-) 

Charlotte Kulkin POA for Joan Conant 

Email attachments: 

Death Certificate for A Robert Conant 

POA Documents 



I 
STATEOF~~\IVlQ 

-~\ 2--b~ COUNTY 

Durable Power of Attorney of Joan E. Conant 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that I, JOAN E. CONANT, have made, 

constituted and appointed, and by these presents do make, constitute and appoint my daughter, 

CHARLOTTE VIRGINIA KULKIN, and my son-in-law, JAY MARTIN KULKIN, to act 

jointly, or the survivor of them alone, as my true and lawful attorneys-in-fact (my "Agent"). 

A. Revocation of Prior Powers of Attorney. By execution of this power of attorney, I 

hereby revoke any power of attorney which I have previously given covering the authority and 

powers granted in this instrument, without prejudice, however, to anything lawfully done or 

caused to be done under any power of attorney previously given. 

B. Successor Agents. If both CHARLOTTE VIRGINIA KULKIN and JAY 

MARTIN KULK.IN shall fail or cease to act as my Agent by reason of death, incapacity or 

resignation, then I appoint my daughter, JANE RUTH WEINSTEIN, to act as my true and lawful 

Agent If JANE RUTH WEINSTEIN shall fail or cease to act as my Agent by reason of death, 

incapacity or resignation, then I appoint my son, ROGER WAYLAND CONANT, to act as my 

true and lawful Agent. If ROGER WAYLAND CONANT shall fail or cease to act as my Agent 

by reason of death, incapacity or resignation, then I appoint my son, WILLIAM ROBERT 

CONANT, to act as my true and lawful Agent. The resignation of an Agent may be evidenced 

by an instrument in writing delivered to any then serving or successor Agent above named. The 

incapacity of an Agent may be detennined by a written statement of a licensed physician 

delivered to any then serving or successor Agent above named. 

C. Authority. My Agent shall have the authority to do and perfonn each and every 

act, deed, matter and thing whatsoever in and about my estate, property and affairs as fully and 

effectually to all intents and purposes as I might or could do in my own proper person, if 

personally present, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the following 

specifically enumerated powers which are granted in aid and exemplification of the full, 

complete and general power herein granted and not in limitation or definition thereof: 

I. To buy, seJJ, exchange, pledge, lease, deal in, or by any other means 

whatsoever acquire or dispose of any or all tangible and intangible personal property, which I 

now or may hereafter own. · 

. . 2. To assign and transfer upon the books of any government, corporation, 

assoc1at1on or company any stocks, bonds or other securities which are now or may hereafter be 

registered in my name. 

Page I 



3. To vote in person or by proxy at corporate or other meetings and to effect, 
participate in or consent to any reorganization, merger, dissolution, voting trust or other action 
affecting any securities which I now or may hereafter own, or the issuers thereof, and to make 
payments in connection therewith; to conduct or participate in any lawful business of whatsoever 
nature for me and in my name; to execute partnership or operating agreements and amendments 
thereto; to elect or employ officers, directors and agents; and to carry out any provisions of any 
agreement for the sale of any business interest or stock therein; and to execute any and all 
documents in furtherance of any of the foregoing, whether or not such documents include 
representations, warranties, and covenants binding upon me. 

4. To enter into, perfonn, modify, extend, cancel, compromise, or otherwise 
act with respect to any contract of any sort whatsoever. 

5. To procure insurance against any and all risks affecting property and 
persons, and against liability, damage or claim of any sort; to alter, amend, extend or cancel any 
contract of insurance. 

6. To borrow money in such amounts, for such periods and upon such terms 
as my Agent shall deem proper and to secure any loan by the mortgage or pledge of any 
property. 

7. To pay any amount that may be owing at any time by me upon any 
contract, instrument or claim, to deliver or convey any tangible personal property, instrument or 
security that I may be required to deliver or convey by any contract or in performance of any 
obligation. 

8. To make, execute and deliver, cancel, modify, buy, sell, exchange, pledge, 
endorse or otherwise acquire or dispose of any instrument. 

9. With respect to any account in my name or in any other name for my 
benefit with any broker, bank, banker, or trust company, to make deposits therein and 
withdrawals therefrom whether by check or otherwise, and to open, to continue and to close such 
account or any similar account. 

1 O. To receive payment of any debt, instrument, or sum of money, to receive 
payment of dividends, interest and principal, and to give receipt, release and acquittance therefor. 

11 . To buy, sell, exchange, mortgage, encumber, lease, or by any other means 
whatsoever to acquire or dispose of real property; to execute and deliver any deed with or 
without covenants or warranties; to partition real property; to manage real property, and to repair, 
alter, renovate, improve, remodel, erect, or tear down any building or other structure or part 

thereof. 

12. To file plans for the erection of any new building on any real property or 
for the alteration, renovation, improvement or remodeling of any building thereon, and in 
connection therewith to file such applications, certificates or other documents, and do such other 
acts as may be requested or required by any government or other authority having or purporting 
to have jurisdiction. 

Page2 



13. To make, execute and deliver, or to receive or obtain, any lease, indenture 
of lease or contract for lease of any real property and any assignment of lease or indenture of 
lease and consent to the assignment thereof, for such periods of time and with such provision for 
renewals, conditions, agreements, and covenants as my Agent shall deem proper; and to amend, 
extend, modify or cancel any of the terms, covenants or conditions, including covenants to pay 
rent, of any lease, indenture of lease and contract to lease, whether heretofore or hereafter made, 
and to cancel, surrender and accept the surrender of any lease, indenture of lease, and contract to 
lease. 

14. To purchase or otherwise acquire any bond or mortgage; to assign, 
transfer, modify, extend or satisfy any bond or mortgage now or hereafter held by me or in which 
I have any interest, upon such terms as my Agent shall deem proper and whether said bond or 
mortgage shall have matured or not; to release and discharge from the lien of any mortgage now 
or hereafter held by me all or any part of any mortgaged premises; to foreclose any mortgage, 
pledge, or other lien, secured either by real property or by tangible or intangible personal 
property, and to bid in or purchase in my Agent's or my name or that of a nominee any property 
so foreclosed. 

15. To take any and all proceedings at law or otherwise to dispossess tenants 

of any real property for nonpayment of rent or other cause, and to re-enter any such property; to 
protect or enforce any right or claim with respect to any real property. 

16. To invest and from time to time to change the investment of any money or 
other property, without any restriction whatsoever as to the kind of the investment. 

17. To receive any legacy, bequest, devise, gift or transfer of real property or 
of tangible or intangible personal property and to give full receipt and acquittance therefor; to 
approve accounts of any business, estate, trust, partnership or other transaction whatsoever in 
which I may have any interest of any nature whatsoever, and to enter into any compromise and 
release in regard thereto. 

18. To employ accountants, attorneys-at-law, clerks, workmen, domestic 
servants, agents, and others, and to remove them and to appoint others in their place, and to pay 
and allow to them such salaries, wages or other remuneration as my Agent shall deem proper. 

19. To apply for and obtain patents, copyrights, trademarks and any other sort 
of protection for rights in property from any government; to purchase or otherwise acquire, to 
sell, assign and transfer or otherwise dispose of the same, to grant or acquire licenses and royalty 
rights or contracts for the use of the same, and to make or receive payments in connection 
therewith. 

20. To assert, defend, compromise, acquire or dispose of or otherwise deal 
with any claim, either alone or in conjunction with other persons, relating to me or any property 
of mine or any other person, or any government, or any estate of a deceased or an incompetent 
person, or any trust whether created by Will of a deceased person or instrwnent of a living 
person,_ or _property of whatsoever nature; to institute, prosecute, defend, compromise, or 
otherwISe dispose of, and to appear for me in, any proceedings at law or in equity or otherwise 

Page3 



before any tribunal for the enforcement or for the defense of any such claim, and to retain, 
discharge and substitute counsel and authorize appearance of such counsel to be entered for me 
in any such action or proceeding. 

21. To arbitrate any claim in which I may be in any manner interested, and for 
that purpose to enter into agreements to arbitrate, and either through counsel or otherwise to 
carry on such arbitration and perform or enforce any award entered therein. 

22. To have access, either alone or in conjunction with any other person, to 
any safe deposit boxes or vaults now or hereafter rented in my name, and to remove the contents 
thereof and place property therein; to rent and surrender any safe deposit boxes or vaults now or 
hereafter in my name. 

23. To execute and file ownership certificates or other statements or reports 
required by any government in regard to bond coupons, interest or other income. 

24. To prepare, execute, verify and file in my name and on my behalf any 
return, amended return, report, protest, declaration of estimated tax, application for correction of 
assessed valuation of real or other property, appeal, brief, claim for refund, application for 
revision, or petition, including petition to The United States Tax Court, in connection with any 
tax for any year, and to pay any tax and to obtain any extension of time for any of the foregoing; 
to receive confidential information; to execute consents extending the statutory period for 
assessment or collection of any tax; to execute waivers (including offers of waivers) of 
restrictions on assessment or collection of deficiencies in any tax and waivers of notice of 
disallowance of a claim for credit or refund; to execute closing agreements under Section 7121 
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as now or hereafter amended (the "Codej or otherwise 
and all other documents, instruments and papers relating to any tax liability of mine of any sort; 
to institute and carry on either through counsel or otherwise any proceeding in connection with 
contesting any such tax or to recover any tax paid, or to resist any claim for additional tax or any 
proposed assessment or levy thereof; and to enter into any agreements or stipulations for 
compromise or other adjustments or disposition of any tax. 

25. To exercise the powers and authority granted hereunder to provide for my 
health and maintenance in comfort, including without limiting the generality of the foregoing, 
making expenditures from my funds and property to provide for private medical and nursing care 
in, and for the maintenance of, any house or apartment owned or rented by me or such other 
private or public home, other dwelling place or facility as may be selected by my Agent in my 
Agent's sole discretion, and to obtain the use of medical or other equipment and devices deemed 
by my Agent necessary for my proper care, custody and control, and to do so without any 
liability for any neglect or omission with respect to such care, treatment or use of such 
equipment or devices. 

26. To apply for, elect, receive, deposit and utilize for my benefit all benefits 
payable ~y any governmental body or agency, state, federal, county, city or other and to obtain, 
make claim upon, collect or dispose of insurance and insurance proceeds for my care, custody 
and control. 

Page4 

- 1 



27. To disclaim and/or renounce all or any part of my interest in property 
passing to me or for my benefit in accordance with Section 2518 of the Code and applicable 
provisions of South Carolina law and any other applicable State or local law. 

28. To make any gifts of property to any persons (including my Agent, but 
subject to the following proviso) on my behalf within the limits of the gift tax annual exclusion 
provided by Section 2503(b) of the Code ( or twice that amount if my spouse consents to having 
any such gift considered as made one-half by my said spouse under Code Section 2513), as my 
Agent may detennine to be in my best interest or in the best interest of my estate; provided, 
however, with respect to any gift made to my Agent, such gift shall not exceed in any particular 
calendar year: (a) the maximum value of property with respect to which a power of appointment 
may lapse during such calendar year without such lapse constituting a release of such power 
within the meaning of Section 2514(e) of the Code, minus (b) the cumulative value of property 
over which one or more powers of appointment held by such Agent during such calendar year 
have actually lapsed prior to the time of such gift. 

29. To make any gifts of property to one or more charitable organizations the 
contributions to which are deductible under Code Sections t 70(c), 642(c) and 2522(a), in an 
amount not to exceed fifty percent (50%) of my federal adjusted gross income in the year of such 
charitable gift (it being my intention that no such charitable gift shall exceed the amount that 
would provide me with the maximum income tax benefit during the calendar year in which the 
gift is made), as my Agent may detennine to be in my best interest or in the best interest of my 
estate. 

30. To make any reports of infonnation of any sort whatsoever to any 
government as required by law or regulation. 

31 . To transfer any or all of my assets or any partial interest therein, wherever 
situated (a) to any revocable trust at any time created by me primarily for my benefit or (b) to a 
corporate trustee to hold under the terms of its standard "standby" or "combination" trust, 

provided that such trust is solely for my benefit, may be amended or revoked either by me or by 
my Agent at any time, and shall provide that at my death all assets then held in such trust shall be 
delivered to my estate. 

32. To establish one or more "individual retirement accounts" or other 
retirement plans or arrangements in my name. 

33. In connection with any pension, profit sharing or stock bonus plan, 
individual retirement arrangement, Roth IRA, §403(b) annuity or account, §457 plan, or any 
other retirement plan, arrangement or annuity in which I am a participant or of which I am a 
beneficiary (whether established by my Agent or otherwise) (each of which is hereinafter 
referred to as "such Plan"), my Agent shall have the following powers, in addition to all other 
applicable powers granted by this instrument: 

a) To make contributions (including "rollover" contributions) or 
cause contributions to be made to such Plan with my funds or otherwise on my behalf. 

Page 5 



b) To receive and endorse checks or other distributions to me from 
such Plan, or to arrange for the direct deposit of the same in any account in my name or in the 
name of my revocable living trust. 

c) To elect a fonn of payment of benefits from such Plan, to 
withdraw benefits from such Plan, to make contributions to such Plan and to make, exercise, 
waive or consent to any and all elections and/or options that I may have regarding the 
contributions to, investment or administration, of, or distribution or fonn of benefits under, such 
Plan. 

d) To designate one or more beneficiaries or contingent beneficiaries 
for any benefits payable under such Plan on account of my death, and to change any such prior 
designation of beneficiary made by me or by my Agent; provided, however, that my Agent shall 
have no power to designate my Agent directly or indirectly as a beneficiary or contingent 
beneficiary to receive a greater share or proportion of any such benefits than my Agent would 
have otherwise received unless such change is consented to by all other beneficiaries who would 
have received the benefits but for the proposed change. This limitation shall not apply to any 
designation of my Agent as beneficiary in a fiduciary capacity, with no beneficial interest. 

e) To receive infonnation pertaining to such Plan. 

34. To represent me before the Department of Motor Vehicle Safety, and to 
apply for original or replacement certificates of title, to transfer title to any motor vehicle and to 
perform on my behalf any act or thing whatsoever concerning any such motor vehicle in every 
respect as I could do were I personally present. 

35. To access, modify, control, archive, transfer, and delete my digital assets, 
including, without limitation, my sent and received emails, email accounts, digital music, digital 
photographs, digital videos, gaming accounts, software licenses, social-network accounts, file
sharing accounts, financial accounts, domain registrations, Domain Name System (DNS) service 
accounts, biogs, listservs, web-hosting accounts, tax-preparation service accounts, online stores 
and auction sites, online accounts, and any similar digital asset that currently exists or may be 
developed as technology advances. My digital assets may be stored on the cloud or on my own 
digital devices. My Agent may access, use, and control my digital devices in order to access, 
modify, control, archive, transfer, and delete my digital assets. This power is essential for access 
to my digital assets that are only accessible through my digital devices. Digital devices include 
desktops, laptops, tablets, peripherals, storage devices, mobile telephones, smartphones, and any 
similar hardware that currently exists or may be developed as technology advances. 

And genera11y to transact all my business, and to manage all my property, affairs 
and interests, as fu]]y and completely as I myself might do if personally present; and to do any 
and all acts and things which my Agent sha11 deem useful, necessary, or proper in order to do any 
of the foregoing acts or to carry out any of the foregoing powers. 

D. Writings. AH conveyances, papers, instruments, documents or writings executed 
in my name and behalf by my Agent shall be in such form and contain such provisions as shall 
be satisfactory to my Agent. The execution and delivery by my Agent of any conveyance, paper, 

Page6 



instrwnent or document in my name and behalf shall be conclusive evidence of my Agent's 
approval of the consideration therefor, and of the form and contents thereof, and that my Agent 
deems the execution thereof in my behalf necessary or desirable. 

E. Third Party Reliance. Third parties may rely upon the representation of my Agent 
as to all matters relating to any power granted to my Agent, and no person who may act in 
reliance upon the representation of my Agent or the authority granted to my Agent shall incur 
any liability to me or my estate as a result of permitting my Agent to exercise any power. Any 
person, firm or corporation dealing with my Agent under the authority of this instrument is 
authoriz.ed to deliver to my Agent all considerations of every kind or character with respect to 
any transactions so entered into by my Agent and shall be under no duty or obligation to see to or 
examine into the disposition thereof. 

F. Expenses: Compensation. My Agent shall be entitled to reimbursement for all 
reasonable costs and expenses incurred and paid by my Agent on my behalf pursuant to any 
provision of this power of attorney. My Agent shall receive no compensation for his or her 
service rendered hereunder. 

G. Limitations on Authority. Notwithstanding any provisions herein to the contrary, 
my Agent shall not satisfy any legal obligation of my Agent out of any property subject to this 
power of attorney, and my Agent shall not exercise this power in favor of my Agent ( except as 
provided in the Paragraph hereof captioned "Authority"), my Agent's estate, my Agent's 
creditors or the creditors of my Agent's estate. Notwithstanding any provision herein to the 
contrary, my Agent shall have no power or authority whatever pursuant to this power of attorney 
with respect to any trust created by said agent as to which I am a trustee. 

H. Multiple Originals: Recording. This power of attorney may be executed in 
multiple copies, each of which is an original and any of which may be recorded in the real or 
personal property records of the county of my principal residence or any other county, state or 
governmental body within the United States. 

I. Revocation. This power of attorney may be revoked by me only by an instrument 
in writing executed by me revoking this power and delivered to my Agent. Such revocation shall 
be recorded in all places in which this power of attorney has been recorded pursuant to the next 
pl'CN'ding sentence. 

J. 
incapacity. 

Durability. This power of attorney ex1;>ressly shall not be revoked by my 

K. Definitions. The following terms used in this power of attorney shall be defined 
as follows, and I intend that the same be construed in the broadest possible manner: 

I. "Real property" shall include real estate and any easement or other right of 
whatsoever nature in connection therewith, including any real property and improvements owned 
or used by me as my principal residence and including mineral and sub-soil rights, riparian rights 
and rights to land under water, and shall also include any building or other structure on, under or 
above the land, or which is in any manner a part thereof. 

Page 7 



2. "Tangible personal property" shall include all chattels of whatsoever kind 
and aJI personal property which is not intangible. 

3. "Intangible personal property" shall include all rights, choses in action and 
~bligations, whether in, relating to, or arising out of contract or property of whatsoever nature, or 
m connection with a trust as grantor, beneficiary or remaindennan, or arising under any statute or 
at common law, or of any other nature whatsoever which are personal property and not tangible; 
and shall also include securities, instruments and contracts as hereinafter defined. 

4. 
personal property. 

"Property" shall include real property, and tangible and intangible 

5. "Security" or "securities" shall include shares of stock and certificates 
thereof, voting trust certificates, scrip, warrants, rights, certificates of deposit with any 
committee or trustee, or in any reorganization, bonds, debentures, notes or other documents or 
papers of whatsoever kind or nature evidencing rights to receive payment of money or any right, 
title or interest of whatsoever nature either in property of any kind or in corporations, companies 
or associations; including all documents or papers which are commonly referred to as securities. 

6. "Contract" shall include any agreement, written or oral, sealed or 
unsealed, and whether calling for the payment of money, the delivery of property of whatsoever 
nature, or the perfonnance or refraining from perfonnance of any act whatsoever. 

7. "Instrument" shall include notes, debentures, bonds, bills of exchange, 
checks, and every written contract, option, direction or authorization for the payment of money 
or the delivery of property, every paper or document operating as a conveyance, assignment or 
transfer of property, and certificates of deposit or receipts, whether negotiable or not, for any sort 
of property. 

8. "Claim" shall include any right under any contract, security or instrument 
to receive payment of money, transfer of property or perfonnance or refraining from 
perfonnance of any other act of whatsoever nature; and any right arising in tort or by statute or at 
common Jaw or otherwise either in connection with property of any sort, its use or protection, or 
any damage thereto or infringement thereof, or for any personal injury or for any injury to 
personal rights of any sort or for wrongful death; and any right arising under any statute or at 
common law or otherwise, either to do any act, or to be free from being required to do any act, 
by any person or government. 

9. "Person" shall include a corporation, company, association, partnership, 
limited liability company, and individual, and shall also include any of the foregoing when acting 
in any official, representative or fiduciary capacity. 

10. "Tax" shall include any levy, due, imposition, penalty, tax or sum of 
money required or proposed to be paid to any government whatsoever whether in the nature of 
income tax, estate, transfer, or inheritance tax, gift tax, tax or assessment on property, social 
security, unemployment or old age tax, sales tax, consumption tax, withholding tax, business or 
gross or net receipts tax, or of any other nature whatsoever, and whether heretofore or hereafter 
claimed, imposed, proposed, assessed, due, or payable. 

Page 8 



11 . 0 Oovemment" shall include the Government of the United States or of any state, county, city or other subdivision of the United States, or of any of its states or territories, and the government of any foreign state or country or of any subdivision thereof, and also any board, authority or agency, either within the United States or within any foreign country, which is either a part of the governmental organization thereof or which now or hereafter exists as a separate corporation or unit to exercise powers delegated to it by any such government. 

12. "Tribunal" shall include any court of law, equity or admiralty, any court 
having jurisdiction of decedents' estates, and any court of any other nature whatsoever, and any administrative board, taxing board or authority, or other organization exercising any powers 
delegated to it by any government with respect to finding facts and entering orders, judgment, 
decisions, awards or decrees thereon. 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

Page9 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and seal this ~day 
~~~.1__ ,2023 

Sworn to, signed, s~~t1ivered 
on this~ day of , 2023, 
in the presence of: 

~ y 
1tness 

~~ 
STATE oRA v+\,J ~ m\ \ V\ Cl 

COUNTY~&Rt 

. CONANT 

( 1 - ~ 
I, ~ d--2--U)(!)~ , , a Notary Public, do hereby certify that JOAN E. 
CON rsonally appeared before me this date and acknowledged the due execution of the 
foregoing instrument. ., } 

Wimess my hand and official seal this the l'J{JI.__ day of t 25 V '.)±, · , 2ml 

J ·' 

111 H .-I; / ), . Cberyllzworakl 
I J : NOTARY PUBLIC 

. , . ~ of South Olrollna 
,p • 11 ; 1 fMC9"1mlsalon Expires 7/14/2030 

,,,,, ( I I 

'·, I , I' I I 

'
1

' 111 1 

Page 10 



 

 

Town of Brewster 
2198 Main Street 

Brewster, MA 02631-1898 
Phone: (508) 896-3701, ext. 1169 

Fax: (508) 896-8089 
 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Brewster Select Board 
FROM: Donna Kalinick, Assistant Town Manager  

Jill Scalise, Housing Coordinator 
Marissa Consolantis, Housing Program Assistant 

RE: Certification of the   
DATE: January 19, 2024 

  
Background: 
Serenity at Brewster is an age 55+ community comprised of 132 studio and one-
bedroom apartments. 27 units, 20% of the apartments, are affordable apartments 
governed by a 2022 Regulatory Agreement between the Town of Brewster, Executive 
Office of Housing and Livable Communities (EOHLC) and Elevation Financial Group. 
These 27 affordable units are on Brewster’s Subsidized Housing Inventory (SHI) and the 
initial leases for the affordable units began in September 2022. 
 
Section 2 (Affordability) of the Regulatory Agreement states that, annually, the 
Brewster Select Board shall certify in writing to EOHLC that each of the Low and 
Moderate Income Units continues to be a Low and Moderate Income Unit and that the 
Low and Moderate Income Units have been maintained in a manner consistent with the 
Regulatory Agreement regulations and guidelines.  
 
In October 2023, the Select Board approved Elevation Financial Group’s request to 
increase the affordable rental rates at Serenity. At that time, Elevation Financial Group 
stated the Developer’s Certification Request and Compliance Report would be sent in 
January, after Serenity Apartments at Brewster had recertified and renewed the Low 
and Moderate Income unit leases. Attached is the Developer Annual Certification 
Compliance Report. 
 
Process for Certification: 
Housing Coordinator, Jill Scalise, and Housing Program Assistant, Marissa Consolantis, 
have checked the Serenity Apartment Income/Rent Compliance Analysis provided by 
Elevation Financial Group. Because of the confidential information on this document 
referenced as Exhibit A in the Annual Certification Compliance Report, Exhibit A is not 
included with this memo. Ms. Scalise and Ms. Consolantis met with Serentiy manager, 
Brenda King, examined files, and are confident that the Low and Moderate Income 

Office of: 
 

Housing 
 
 
 



 

 

Units continue to be Low to Moderate Units as required in the Regulatory Agreement 
and have been maintained in a manner consistent with the Regulations and Guidelines 
of the Regulatory Agreement. 
 
Recommendation: The Select Board authorize the Chair to sign the enclosed draft 
letter to EOHLC certifying that the Town has received the Developer Annual Certification 
Compliance Report and that the Low and Moderate Income Units continue to be Low to 
Moderate Units as required in the Regulatory Agreement and have been maintained in a 
manner consistent with the Regulations and Guidelines of the Regulatory Agreement. 
 
Attachments: 

1. Serenity at Brewster Regulatory Agreement  
2. Developer Annual Certification- 2023 Affordable Housing Continuing Compliance 

Report pursuant to Affordable Rent Regulations of the Regulatory Agreement 
and Declarations of Restrictive Covenants for Rental Project (the “Regulatory 
Agreement”)- The Elevation at Brewster, LLC dba Serenity Apartments at 
Brewster, 873 Harwich Road, Brewster, MA 02631 (the “Project”) 

3. Draft Select Board Certification Letter for EOHLC 
 







































1 
 

Town of Brewster 
2198 Main Street 

Brewster, MA 02631-1898 

Phone: (508) 896-3701 

Fax: (508) 896-8089 

   

 

January 22, 2024 

Rieko Hayashi 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts EOHLC 
100 Cambridge Street, Suite 300 
Boston, MA 02114 
 
RE: Serenity Apartments at Brewster Annual Compliance Certification 2023 

Dear Ms. Hayashi, 

The Brewster Select Board certifies that Elevation at Brewster, LLC dba Serenity Apartments at Brewster 
has provided the Town with the attached Developer Annual Compliance Report. The twenty-seven Low 
and Moderate Income Units at Serenity Apartments at Brewster continue to be Low to Moderate Units as 
required in the Regulatory Agreement and have been maintained in a manner consistent with the 
Regulations and Guidelines of the Regulatory Agreement. 

Regards, 

 

Ned Chatelain 
Chair, Brewster Select Board 
 
 
Attachments: 

1. Developer Annual Certification 
 
 
cc: Peter Lombardi, Brewster Town Manager 
 Donna Kalinick, Assistant Town Manager 

Jill Scalise, Brewster Housing Coordinator  
Stuart Heaton, Elevation Financial Group 

  

Office of: 

Select Board 

 

 



www.brewsterhistoricalsociety.org 

BREWSTER HISTORICAL SOCIETY
Post Office Box 1146, Brewster Massachusetts 02631 

508 896-9521    brewsterhistoricalsociety@comcast.net

The

January 4, 2024 

To the Select Board: 

During a scheduled evaluation of our properties, our Building & Grounds Committee concluded that it 
is time to replace the clapboards and some of the trim at Cobb House rather than just repaint this year 
as we have been doing every two years.  

Therefore, per the Historic Preservation Restriction requirements, we submit this proposal for your 
review under Section 3.2 and request your approval to proceed.  

We’ve attached some photos that make the case for replacement rather than painting now. The same 
condition is apparent on all four sides.  Our contractor has provided an estimate of $20,000 per side, 
which would include the clapboard and trim replacement (materials and labor), the painting of all four 
sides, and any “surprises” we might discover as we open this Cobb House envelope. We are applying 
for a matching grant for this project with Mass. Cultural Facilities Fund and have already received the 
matching funds from the Jennison Family Foundation.  

We will also be replacing the shutters with new period correct shutters. These will be custom made, 
using wood to match the existing materials, and all exterior paint colors remain the same. The Eddy 
Foundation has offered funds for this part of the project.  

We do believe, based on the evaluation of the exterior condition, that it is imperative that we proceed 
with this work as expeditiously as possible.  As we will be replacing materials with the same materials, 
cedar clapboards and real wood replacement as needed,  and in the same configuration and painting the 
same colors, we believe that we are in compliance with the Historic  Preservation Restriction 
requirements.   We would be ready to meet with you at your earliest convenience if you believe that 
necessary.  We are anxious to give our contractor the go ahead to start the project.  We understand that 
we also have stops with the building department and the Historic District Committee before we can 
proceed. 

Sally Gunning, President 
The Brewster Historical Society 



 

1 
 

PRESERVATION RESTRICTION AGREEMENT 
between the TOWN OF BREWSTER 
by and through its SELECT BOARD 

and THE BREWSTER HISTORICAL SOCIETY, INC. 
 
This Preservation Restriction Agreement (“Agreement” or “Restriction”) made this _______ day of 
___________, 2023, between The Brewster Historical Society, Inc., 739 Lower Road, P.O. Box 1146, 
Brewster, MA 02631  (hereinafter referred to as the “Grantor”) and the Town of Brewster (hereinafter 
referred to as the “Grantee” or “Town”), a municipal corporation acting by and through its duly 
authorized Select Board (hereinafter referred to as the “Select Board”), having its place of business at 
Brewster Town Hall, 2198 Main St, Brewster, MA 02631. 
 

WITNESSETH 
 
WHEREAS, the Grantor is the owner in fee simple of certain real property with improvements thereon 
known as the Captain Elijah Cobb House, 739 Lower Road, Brewster, Barnstable County, Massachusetts, 
(hereinafter referred to as the “Property”), as more fully described in Grantor’s deed dated January 13, 
2015, and recorded with the Barnstable County Registry of Deeds in Book 28684, Page 227, and in 
Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein, and as depicted and described as Lot 1 on a plan 
titled “Plan of Division of Land in Brewster, Mass. as surveyed and prepared for Katherine Gibbs 
Lafleur”, Scale: 1 IN = 100 FT, dated March 4, 1981, prepared by Schofield Brothers, Inc., recorded with 
the Barnstable County Registry of Deeds in Plan Book 352, Page 89, a copy of which is attached hereto 
and incorporated herein as Exhibit B; said Property consisting of a lot of 1.458 acres identified in Town 
of Brewster assessor’s records as Parcel 57-4-0, as shown on a Town of Brewster GIS Map attached 
hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit C; said Property including a two-story, wood-frame house, 
known as the Captain Elijah Cobb House, dating to ca. 1799 (hereinafter the “Building”) and a large, one-
story outbuilding (hereinafter the “Outbuilding”); 
 
WHEREAS, the Building has been determined to represent an architectural resource of considerable 
importance to the Town, being an important example of transitional Georgian to Federal-style domestic 
architecture, featuring notable exterior and interior details;  
 
WHEREAS, the Building and Property are located within the Old King’s Highway Regional Historic 
District established by Special Act of the Massachusetts General Court and adopted by the Town of 
Brewster on May 1, 1973, were listed in the National Register of Historic Places as contributing to the 
Brewster Old King’s Highway Historic District on February 23, 1996, and as a result of the foregoing are 
listed in the State Register of Historic Places.  The Building and Property are historically significant for 
their architecture, associations, and/or archaeology, and qualify for the protections of perpetual 
preservation restrictions under Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 184, sections 31, 32 and 33 
(hereinafter referred to as the “Act”); 
 
WHEREAS, the preservation values of the Building and the Property are documented as Exhibits A, B, 
C, D, E, F, G and H (hereinafter together the “Baseline Documentation”), which Exhibits are attached 
hereto and incorporated herein by reference, which, the parties agree, provides an accurate description of 
the Property, Building and Outbuilding as of the date of this Restriction Agreement. The Baseline 
Documentation shall be used for purposes of reference in design and construction and for assistance in 
review. The Baseline Documentation consists of the following:  
 

1. Legal Property Description (Exhibit A) 
2. Recorded 1981 Plan of Division of Land (Exhibit B) 
3. Town of Brewster GIS Parcel Map (Exhibit C) 



 

2 
 

4. Architectural Description (Exhibit D) 
5. History of the Elijah Cobb House (Exhibit E) 
6. Fifty-four (54) Photographs of the Building and Property taken May 2015 (Exhibit F) 
7. Six (6) Historic Photographs of the Building and Property (Exhibit G) 
8. Cobb House Floor Plans (Exhibit H) 
 

WHEREAS, the Grantor wishes to impose certain restrictions, obligations and duties upon it as the owner 
of the Property and on its heirs, successors and assigns, to its right, title and interest therein, with respect 
to maintenance, protection, and preservation of the Property in order to protect the architectural, 
archaeological and historical heritage of the Property, including but not limited to the obligation to 
preserve the Property, Building and Outbuilding in accordance with the Secretary of the Interior's 
Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties (36 CFR 67 and 68), as these may be amended from 
time to time (hereinafter the “Secretary’s Standards”), and in accordance with the “Restriction Guidelines 
and Procedures for Maintenance and Improvements” (hereinafter the “Guidelines”) attached hereto and 
incorporated herein as Exhibit I; 
 
WHEREAS said restrictions, obligations and duties shall serve the public interest in a manner consistent 
with the purposes of the Act;  
 
WHEREAS, the Town is a government body organized under the laws of the Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts, and its Select Board is authorized to accept preservation restrictions under the Act and 
pursuant to the Votes on Article 10 of the Special Town Meeting held on May 5, 2014, Article 7 of the 
Special Town Meeting held on May 4, 2015, and Article 9 of the May 7, 2018 Annual Town Meeting, 
copies of which are attached hereto as Exhibit J; and  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of Five Hundred and Sixty Thousand, One Hundred and Six and 
32/100 ($560,106.32) Dollars paid by the Town of Brewster from Community Preservation Act funds, 
Grantor does hereby irrevocably grant and convey unto the Town this Restriction, which shall apply in 
perpetuity to the Property, Building and Outbuilding (hereinafter collectively referred to as, “the 
Property”). 
 
1. PURPOSE 
 
It is the purpose of this Restriction to protect the public investment in the purchase and 
restoration/rehabilitation of the historically, architecturally, and culturally significant Building and 
Outbuilding by ensuring that exterior and certain interior features of the Building and Outbuilding will be 
retained and maintained forever substantially in their original or restored and rehabilitated condition, and 
to prevent any use or change to the Property, the exterior and certain interior features of the Building and 
Outbuilding that will significantly interfere with the Property’s preservation values, which include but are 
not limited to the artifacts, features, materials, appearance and workmanship of the Property, including 
those characteristics and values which originally qualified the Property for listing in the National Register 
of Historic Places. 
  
2. GRANTOR’S COVENANTS 
 
2.1 Grant of Covenant:  For and in consideration of the mutual agreements and promises herein and 
for other good and valuable consideration paid, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, and pursuant to the Act, Grantor does hereby voluntarily grant and convey unto the Town 
of Brewster this historic preservation restriction (the “Restriction”) in perpetuity, over the Property. 
 



 

3 
 

2.2 Covenant to Maintain:  Grantor agrees at all times to maintain the Building and Outbuilding in 
sound structural condition and good state of repair, including the exteriors, all interior structural elements, 
and the following interior spaces as shown on Exhibit H (Southwest Parlor, Southeast Parlor, Lower 
Hall, Stair, Upper Hall, Southwest Bedroom, Southeast Bedroom, and Kitchen Fireplace), in accordance 
with the Secretary’s Standards and in accordance with the Guidelines.  
 
The Grantor also agrees to maintain the Property’s landscaping in good appearance and in accordance 
with the Guidelines. The Grantor agrees to assume the cost of continued maintenance, repair and 
administration of the Property so as to preserve the characteristics that contribute to the architectural, 
archaeological and historical integrity of the Property in a manner satisfactory to the Select Board 
according to the Secretary’s Standards. The Grantor may seek financial assistance from any source 
available to them. The Select Board does not assume any obligation for maintaining, repairing or 
administering the Property. 
 
Subject to the casualty provisions of Paragraphs 7 and 8 hereof, the Grantor’s obligation to maintain the 
Property shall require replacement, rebuilding, repair and reconstruction of the exterior of the Property, 
including interior structural elements, and the following interior spaces as shown on Exhibit H 
(Southwest Parlor, Southeast Parlor, Lower Hall, Stair, Upper Hall, Southwest Bedroom, Southeast 
Bedroom, and Kitchen Fireplace), whenever necessary in accordance with the Secretary’s Standards and 
in accordance with the Guidelines. 
 
2.3 Prohibited Activities:  The following acts or uses are expressly forbidden on, over, or under the 
Property, except as otherwise permitted in this Paragraph: 
 

a. No alteration, repair, maintenance or construction of the Property is permitted except in 
accordance with the Secretary’s Standards and the Guidelines; 

b. The Property shall not be demolished, removed or razed except in accordance with 
Paragraphs 7 and 8. 

c. Nothing shall be erected or allowed to grow on the Property that would impair the visibility 
of the Building from Lower Road (hereinafter the “Street”). 

d. No other buildings or structures shall be erected or placed on the Property hereafter except for 
temporary structures required for the maintenance or repair of the Property, such as 
construction trailers, and as may be permitted under the Guidelines. 

e. The dumping of ashes, trash, rubbish or any other unsightly or offensive material is 
prohibited. 

f. No above-ground utility transmission lines, except those reasonably necessary for service to 
the existing Property may be installed on the Property, with the exception of those utility 
lines installed in accordance with easements recorded prior to the date hereof. 

g. The Property shall not be subdivided, converted into a condominium or cooperative, or 
otherwise divided or conveyed and must remain under single ownership (nothing herein shall 
be construed to prohibit more than one person or entity owning the entire Property).    
 

3. GRANTOR’S CONDITIONAL RIGHTS 
 
3.1 Conditional Rights Requiring Prior Approval by Grantee:  Without the prior express written 
approval of the Select Board, which approval may be reasonably withheld or conditioned in the discretion 
of the Select Board, the Grantor shall not undertake any of the following actions: 
 

a. Increase or decrease the height of, make additions to, change the exterior construction 
materials or colors, or move, improve, alter, reconstruct or change the facades (including 



 

4 
 

fenestration) and roofs of the Building. With regard to house color, the goal of the Select 
Board is to insure that an historically appropriate color is used. 

b. Make permanent substantial topographical changes, such as, for example, excavation for the 
construction of roads and recreational facilities. 

c. Change the use of the Property to a use other than those allowed under existing planning and 
zoning regulations applicable to the Property and only in accordance with all state, local and 
federally required approvals and/or permits. 

d. Restore, replace, or alter in any way (including color change) the appearance, materials, 
workmanship or structural stability of any interior structural elements, or of the following 
interior spaces and their features as shown on Exhibit H (Southwest Parlor, Southeast Parlor, 
Lower Hall, Stair, Upper Hall, Southwest Bedroom, Southeast Bedroom, and Kitchen 
Fireplace) in accordance with the Secretary’s Standards and in accordance with the 
Guidelines. 

 
3.2 Review of Grantor’s Requests for Approval.  Whenever approval of the Town is required under 
this Restriction, Grantor shall request specific approval by the Select Board not less than sixty (60) days 
prior to the date Grantor intends to undertake the activity in question. A request by the Grantor for such 
approval shall be sufficiently detailed that it may form the basis for the Select Board to approve or 
disapprove the request and to make an informed judgment as to its consistency with the Purpose of the 
Restriction. Grantor shall submit to the Select Board for its approval two (2) copies of information 
(including plans, specifications and designs where appropriate) describing the nature, scope, design, 
location, timetable and any other material aspect of the proposed activity. Within sixty (60) days of 
receipt of Grantor’s request for said approval, the Select Board shall, in writing, grant or withhold its 
approval, or request additional information relevant to the request and necessary to provide a basis for its 
decision. However, should the Select Board determine that additional time is necessary in order to make 
its decision, the Select Board shall notify the Grantor. The Select Board’s approval may, in the Select 
Board’s discretion, be granted upon a reasonable showing that the proposed activity shall not materially 
impair the Purpose of this Restriction. 
 
4. STANDARDS FOR REVIEW   
Grantee shall apply the Secretary's Standards as well as the Guidelines in exercising any authority created 
by this Restriction to inspect the Property; to review any construction, alteration, repair or maintenance; 
to review casualty damage or to reconstruct or approve reconstruction of the Property following casualty 
damage.  
 
5. PUBLIC ACCESS 
Grantor shall not be required to provide public access to the Property other than that specified in 
Paragraph 14. 
 
6. GRANTOR'S RESERVED RIGHTS 
Grantor’s Reserved Rights Not Requiring Further Approval by Grantee.  Subject to the provisions of 
Paragraphs 2.3, and 3.1, the following rights, uses, and activities of or by Grantor on, over, or under the 
Property are permitted by this Restriction without further approval by the Select Board: 
 

a. the right to engage in all those acts and uses that:  (i) are permitted by governmental statute or 
regulation; (ii) do not substantially impair the conservation and preservation values of the 
Property; and (iii) are not inconsistent with the Purpose of this Restriction; 

b. pursuant to the provisions of Paragraph 2.2, the right to maintain and repair the Property 
strictly according to the Secretary's Standards and the Guidelines. As used in this 
subparagraph, the right to maintain and repair shall mean the use by Grantor of in-kind 
materials and colors, applied with workmanship comparable to that which was used in the 



 

5 
 

construction or application of those materials being repaired or maintained, for the purpose of 
retaining in good condition the appearance and construction of the Property. The right to 
maintain and repair as used in this subparagraph shall not include the right to make changes 
in appearance, materials, colors, and workmanship from that existing prior to the maintenance 
and repair without the prior approval of the Select Board in accordance with the provisions of 
Paragraphs 3.1 and 3.2; 

c. the right to continue all manner of existing residential use, or to pursue other allowable uses  
allowed under current applicable zoning regulations, and enjoyment of the Property and 
gardens, including but not limited to the right to maintain existing driveways; the right to 
maintain existing utility lines; the right to cut, remove, and clear grass or other vegetation and 
to perform routine maintenance, landscaping, horticultural activities, and upkeep, consistent 
with the Purpose of this Restriction and with the Secretary’s Standards and the Guidelines. 

 
7. CASUALTY DAMAGE OR DESTRUCTION; INSURANCE 
In the event that the Property or any part thereof shall be damaged or destroyed by fire, flood, windstorm, 
hurricane, earth movement or other casualty, Grantor shall notify the Select Board in writing within 
fourteen (14) days of the damage or destruction, such notification including what, if any, emergency work 
has already been completed. No repairs or reconstruction of any type, other than temporary emergency 
work to prevent further damage to the Property and to protect public safety, shall be undertaken by 
Grantor without the Select Board’s prior written approval of the work. Within thirty (30) days of the date 
of damage or destruction, if required by the Select Board, Grantor at its expense shall submit to the Select 
Board a written report prepared by a qualified restoration architect and an engineer who are acceptable to 
the Select Board, which report shall include the following: 
 

a. an assessment of the nature and extent of the damage; 
b. a determination of the feasibility of the restoration of the Property and/or reconstruction of 

damaged or destroyed portions of the Property; and 
c. a report of such restoration/reconstruction work necessary to return the Property to the 

condition existing at the date hereof. 
 

8. REVIEW AFTER CASUALTY DAMAGE OR DESTRUCTION  
If, after reviewing the report provided in accordance with Paragraph 7 and assessing the availability of 
insurance proceeds after satisfaction of any mortgagee's/lender's claims under Paragraph 9, Grantor and 
the Select Board agree that the Purpose of the Restriction will be served by such 
restoration/reconstruction, Grantor and the Select Board shall establish a schedule under which Grantor 
shall complete the restoration/reconstruction of the Property in accordance with the plans and 
specifications consented to by the parties up to at least the total of the casualty insurance proceeds 
available to Grantor.   
 
If, after reviewing the report and assessing the availability of insurance proceeds after satisfaction of any 
mortgagee's/lender's claims under Paragraph 9, Grantor and the Select Board agree that 
restoration/reconstruction of the residence at the Property is impractical or impossible, or agree that the 
Purpose of the Restriction would not be served by such restoration/reconstruction, Grantor may, with the 
prior written consent of the Select Board, alter, demolish, remove or raze the residence, and/or construct 
new improvements on the Property. Grantor and the Select Board may agree to seek to extinguish this 
Restriction in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and Paragraph 23.2 
hereof. 
 
If, after reviewing the report and assessing the availability of insurance proceeds after satisfaction of any 
mortgagee's lender's claims under Paragraph 9, Grantor and the Select Board are unable to agree that the 



 

6 
 

Purpose of the Restriction will or will not be served by such restoration/reconstruction, the matter may be 
referred by either party to mediation in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 27 hereof. 
 
9. INSURANCE   
Grantor shall keep the Property insured by an insurance company rated "A" or better by Best's for the full 
replacement value against loss from the perils commonly insured under standard fire and extended 
coverage policies and comprehensive general liability insurance against claims for personal injury, death 
and property damage. Property damage insurance shall include change in condition and building 
ordinance coverage, in form and amount sufficient to replace fully the damaged Property and the 
residence located thereon without cost or expense to Grantor or contribution or coinsurance from Grantor. 
Such insurance shall include the Town's interest and name the Town of Brewster as an additional insured. 
Grantor shall deliver to the Select Board, within ten (10) business days of the Select Board’s written 
request therefore, certificates of such insurance coverage. Provided, however, that whenever the Property 
is encumbered with a mortgage nothing contained in this Paragraph shall jeopardize the prior claim, if 
any, of the mortgagee/lender to the insurance proceeds. 
 
10. INDEMNIFICATION 
Grantor hereby agrees to pay, protect, indemnify, hold harmless and defend at its own cost and expense, 
the Town, the Select Board, their agents, representatives, employees, and independent contractors from 
and against any and all claims, liabilities, expenses, costs, damages, losses and expenditures (including 
reasonable attorneys' fees and disbursements hereafter incurred) arising out of or in connection with 
injury to or death of any person; physical damage to the Property; the presence or release in, on, or about 
the Property, at any time, of any substance now or hereafter defined, listed, or otherwise classified 
pursuant to any law, ordinance or regulation as a hazardous, toxic, polluting or contaminating substance; 
or other injury or other damage occurring on or about the Property, unless such injury or damage is 
caused by the reckless conduct of the Select Board or the Town or any agent, trustee, employee or 
contractor of the Select Board or the Town. In the event that Grantor is required to indemnify the Town 
pursuant to the terms of this Paragraph, the amount of such indemnity, until discharged, shall constitute a 
lien on the Property with the same effect and priority as a mechanic's lien. Provided, however, that 
nothing contained herein shall jeopardize the priority of any recorded lien of mortgage given in 
connection with a promissory note secured by the Property. 
 
11. TAXES   
Grantor shall pay, when due, all general taxes, special taxes, special assessments, water charges, sewer 
service charges, and other charges which may become a lien on the Property. 
 
12. ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT; NOTICE 
Any notice which either Grantor or the Select Board may desire or be required to give to the other party 
shall be in writing and shall be mailed postage prepaid by overnight courier, registered or certified mail 
with return receipt requested, or hand delivered, at the address specified for each party below:  
 

Select Board of the Town of Brewster 
Brewster Town Offices 
2198 Main Street 
Brewster MA 02631 
 
Brewster Historical Society, Inc. 
739 Lower Road 
PO Box 1146 
Brewster MA 02631 

 



 

7 
 

Each party may change its address set forth herein by a notice to such effect to the other party. 
 
13. EVIDENCE OF COMPLIANCE  
Upon request by Grantor, the Select Board shall promptly furnish Grantor with certification that, to the 
best of the Select Board's knowledge, Grantor is in compliance with the obligations of Grantor contained 
herein, or that otherwise evidences the status of this Restriction to the extent of the Select Board's 
knowledge thereof. 
 
14. INSPECTION 
With the prior consent of the Grantor, representatives of the Select Board shall be permitted at all 
reasonable times to inspect the exterior of the Property and the Building, including interior spaces subject 
to this Restriction, to determine whether the Grantor is in compliance with the terms of this Agreement. 
Grantor covenants not to withhold unreasonably their consent in determining dates and times for such 
inspection.  
 
15. GRANTEE’S REMEDIES   
The Town may institute suit(s) to enjoin any violation of the terms of this Restriction by ex parte, 
temporary, preliminary and/or permanent injunction, including prohibitory and/or mandatory injunctive 
relief, and to require the restoration of the Property to the condition and appearance required under this 
Restriction. The Town shall also have available all legal and other equitable remedies to enforce 
Grantor’s obligations hereunder. 
 
In the event Grantor is found to have violated any of its obligations, Grantor shall reimburse Grantee for 
any costs or expenses incurred in connection with the Town's enforcement of the terms of this Restriction, 
including all reasonable court costs, and attorney, architectural, engineering and expert witness fees. 
 
Exercise by the Town of one remedy hereunder shall not have the effect of waiving or limiting any other 
remedy, and the failure to exercise any remedy shall not have the effect of waiving or limiting the use of 
any other remedy or the use of such remedy at any other time. 
 
16. NOTICE FROM GOVERNMENT AUTHORITIES   
Grantor shall deliver to the Select Board copies of any notice of violation or lien relating to the Property 
received by Grantor from any government authority within five (5) days of receipt by Grantor. Upon 
request by the Select Board, Grantor shall promptly furnish the Select Board with evidence of Grantor’s 
compliance with such notice or lien where compliance is required by law. 
 
17. NOTICE OF PROPOSED SALE/LEASE   
Grantor shall promptly notify the Select Board in writing of any proposed sale or rental of a portion of the 
Property and provide the opportunity for the Select Board to explain the terms of the Restriction to 
potential new owners/tenants prior to the closing of the sale/commencement of the lease. 
 
18. LIENS   
Any lien on the Property created pursuant to any Paragraph of this Restriction may be confirmed by 
judgment and foreclosed by the Town, as permitted by law, in the same manner as a mechanic's lien. 
Provided, however, that no lien created pursuant to this Restriction shall jeopardize the priority of any 
recorded lien of mortgage given in connection with a promissory note secured by the Property. 
 
19. PLAQUE 
Grantor agrees that the Select Board may provide and maintain a plaque on the Property, which plaque 
shall be in accordance with the Brewster Sign Bylaw, giving notice of the significance of the Property and 
the existence of this Restriction. 



 

8 
 

20. BINDING EFFECT; ASSIGNMENT 
Run with the Land.  Except as provided in Paragraphs 8 and 23.2, the obligations imposed by this 
Restriction shall be effective in perpetuity and shall be deemed to run as a binding servitude with the 
Property. This Restriction shall extend to and be binding upon Grantor and the Town/Grantee, their 
respective heirs, successors and assignees, and all persons hereafter claiming under or through Grantor 
and the Town/Grantee, and the words "Grantor" and "Town/Grantee" when used herein shall include all 
such persons. Any right, title or interest herein granted to the Town through its agent the Select Board 
also shall be deemed granted to each successor and assign of the Select Board and each such following 
successor and assign thereof, and the word "Select Board" shall include all such successors and assigns. 
 
Anything contained herein to the contrary notwithstanding, an owner of the Property shall have no 
obligation pursuant to this instrument where such owner shall cease to have any ownership interest in the 
Property by reason of a bona fide transfer, except as to any matter resulting from acts or omissions 
preceding transfer of the Property to such third party. The restrictions, stipulations and covenants 
contained in this Restriction shall be inserted by Grantor, verbatim or by express reference, in any 
subsequent deed or other legal instrument, including, but not limited to a lease, by which Grantor divests 
itself of either the fee simple title to or any lesser estate in the Property or any part thereof, including by 
way of example and not limitation, a lease of all or a portion of the Property. 
 
21. ASSIGNMENT 
The Select Board may, with the approval of Town Meeting, convey, assign or transfer this Restriction to a 
unit of federal, state or local government or to a similar local, state or national organization that is a 
charitable corporation or trust qualified under the Act, whose purposes include preservation of buildings 
and/or sites of historical significance, provided that any such conveyance, assignment or transfer requires 
that the Purpose for which the Restriction was granted will continue to be carried out. 
 
22. RECORDING AND EFFECTIVE DATE  
The Select Board shall do and perform at its own cost all acts necessary to the prompt recording of this 
instrument with Barnstable County Registry of Deeds. Grantor and the Town intend that this Restriction 
shall take effect upon the day and year this instrument is recorded with said Deeds. 
 
23. PERCENTAGE INTERESTS; EXTINGUISHMENT 
23.1 Percentage Interests.  For purposes of allocating proceeds pursuant to Paragraphs 23.2 and 23.3, 
Grantor and the Town stipulate that as of the signed date of this Restriction, Grantor and the Town are 
each vested with real property interests in the Property and that such interests have a stipulated percentage 
interest in the fair market value of the Property, said percentage interest being 58% to the Grantor and 
42% to the Town (based on the following figures utilized in the calculation: acquisition cost of $620,000; 
rehabilitation budget of $443,800 (Building) + $256,667 (Outbuilding); total of $1,320,467; and Town 
contribution of $560,106.32). The parties shall include these percentage interests with the Baseline 
Documentation (on file with Grantor and the Town). In the event future capital improvements are made to 
the Property by the Grantor without Town contribution, and/or the Grantor has repaid all or a portion of 
the mortgage held by the Town, acting through its Community Preservation Committee (“CPC”) (which 
mortgage is recorded with the Barnstable County Registry of Deeds in Book 29335, Page 314, and which 
secured the Grantees’ obligation under its Grant Agreement with the CPC to repay the grant funding 
should the Grantee ever sell or transfer the Property to any entity except a nonprofit entity previously 
approved by the CPC, in writing), the parties shall amend such percentage interests to reflect the 
Grantor’s attendant increase in value of its property interests.   
 
23.2 Extinguishment.  Grantor and the Town hereby recognize that an unexpected change in the 
conditions surrounding the Property may make impossible the continued ownership or use of the Property 
for the Purpose of this Restriction and necessitate extinguishment of the Restriction. Such a change in 



 

9 
 

conditions may include, but is not limited to, partial or total destruction of the Property resulting from 
casualty. Such an extinguishment must meet all the requirements of the Act for extinguishment, including 
approval following public hearings by the Select Board and the Massachusetts Historical Commission to 
determine such extinguishment is in the public interest, must be the result of a judicial proceeding and 
shall entitle the Town to share in any net proceeds resulting from the extinguishment in an amount that 
reflects its percentage interest in the fair market value of the Property, as such interest is determined under 
the provisions of Paragraph 23.1, adjusted, if necessary, to reflect a partial termination or extinguishment 
of this Restriction.  All such proceeds received by the Town shall be returned to the historic preservation 
funds of the town. 
 
Net proceeds shall include, without limitation, net insurance proceeds, and proceeds from the sale or 
exchange by Grantor of any portion of the Property after the extinguishment. 
 
In the event of extinguishment, the provisions of this Paragraph shall survive extinguishment and shall 
constitute a lien on the Property with the same effect and priority as a mechanic's lien. Provided, however, 
that nothing contained herein shall jeopardize the priority of any recorded lien of mortgage or deed of 
trust given in connection with a promissory note secured by the Property. 
 
23.3 Condemnation.  If all or any part of the Property is taken under the power of eminent domain by 
public, corporate, or other authority, or otherwise acquired by such authority through a purchase in lieu of 
a taking, Grantor and the Town shall join in appropriate proceedings at the time of such taking to recover 
the full value of those interests in the Property that are subject to the taking and all incidental and direct 
damages resulting from the taking. All expenses reasonably incurred by Grantor and the Town in 
connection with such taking shall be paid out of the recovered proceeds. Grantor and the Town shall be 
respectively entitled to compensation from the balance of the recovered proceeds in conformity with the 
provisions of Paragraphs 23.1 and 23.2 unless otherwise provided by law. Provided, however, that if the 
Property is encumbered by a third-party mortgage at the time of such condemnation, Grantor and the 
Town shall be entitled to their respective percentage interests in any proceeds remaining after satisfaction 
of said mortgages. 
 
24. INTERPRETATION 
Interpretation.  The following provisions shall govern the effectiveness, interpretation, and duration of the 
Restriction: 

a. Any rule of strict construction designed to limit the breadth of restrictions on alienation 
or use of Property shall not apply in the construction or interpretation of this Restriction 
and with respect to preservation of the Property thereunder, this instrument shall be 
interpreted broadly to affect its Purpose and the transfer of rights and the restrictions on 
use herein contained. 

b. This instrument is executed in two counterparts, one of which is to be retained by Grantor 
and the other, after recording, to be retained by the Select Board. In the event of any 
disparity between the counterparts produced, the counterpart retained by the Select Board 
shall in all cases govern. Except as provided in the preceding sentence, each counterpart 
shall constitute the agreement of the parties. 

c. This instrument is made pursuant to the Act, but the invalidity of such Act or any part 
thereof shall not affect the validity and enforceability of this Restriction according to its 
terms, it being the intent of the parties to agree and to bind themselves, their heirs, 
successors and their assigns in perpetuity to each term of this instrument whether this 
instrument be enforceable by reason of any statute, common law or private agreement 
either in existence now or at any time subsequent hereto. 

d. Nothing contained herein shall be interpreted to authorize or permit Grantor to violate 
any by-law or regulation relating to building materials, construction methods or use. In 



 

10 
 

the event of any conflict between any such by-law or regulation and the terms hereof, 
Grantor promptly shall notify the Select Board of such conflict and shall co-operate with 
the Select Board and the applicable governmental entity to accommodate the purposes of 
both this Restriction and such by-law or regulation. 

 
25. AMENDMENT 
Amendment.  If circumstances arise under which an amendment to or modification of this Restriction 
would be appropriate, Grantor and the Town may by mutual written agreement jointly amend this 
Restriction, provided that no amendment shall be made that will adversely affect the qualification of this 
Restriction or the rights of the Town under any applicable laws, including the Act and the laws of the 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts. Any such amendment shall be consistent with the protection of the 
preservation values of the Property and the Purpose of this Restriction; shall be approved as required 
under the Act; shall not affect its perpetual duration; shall not permit additional residential development 
on the Property; shall not permit any private inurement to any person or entity; and shall not adversely 
impact the overall architectural, historic, and archaeological values protected by this Agreement. Any 
such amendment shall be recorded with Barnstable County Registry of Deeds.  Nothing in this Paragraph 
shall require Grantor or the Town to agree to any amendment or to consult or negotiate regarding any 
amendment.  
 
26.   ARCHAEOLOGICAL ACTIVITIES 
Archaeological Activities.  The conduct of archaeological activities on the Property, including without 
limitation, survey, excavation and artifact retrieval, may occur only following the submission of an 
archaeological field investigation plan prepared by the Grantor and approved in writing by the State 
Archaeologist of the Massachusetts Historical Commission (M.G.L. Ch.9. Section 27C, 950 CMR 70.00). 
 
27.   DISPUTE RESOLUTION  
A dispute arising under or with respect to this Agreement between the Grantor and the Select Board shall 
in the first instance be the subject of informal negotiations. The dispute shall be considered to have arisen 
when one party sends the other party a written notice of dispute, (which notice shall be delivered by hand 
or by certified mail or registered mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid). The period for informal 
negotiations shall be thirty (30) days from receipt of the written notice of dispute unless such time period 
is modified by written agreement of the Grantor and the Select Board. In the event that the parties cannot 
resolve a dispute by informal negotiations, the parties may mutually agree to submit the dispute to 
mediation. If the parties so mutually agree, within twenty (20) days following the expiration of the time 
period for informal negotiations, the parties shall propose and agree upon a neutral and otherwise 
qualified mediator with experience in historic preservation matters, to the extent possible. In the event 
that the parties fail to agree upon a mediator, they shall request that the American Arbitration Association, 
Boston, Massachusetts, appoint a mediator. The period for mediation shall commence upon the 
appointment of the mediator and shall not exceed sixty (60) days, unless such time period is modified by 
written agreement of the parties. The decision to continue mediation shall be in the sole discretion of each 
party involved in the dispute. The parties will bear their own costs of the mediation. The mediator’s fees 
shall be shared equally by both the Grantor and the Select Board. In the event that the parties cannot 
resolve a dispute by informal negotiations or mediation, they may pursue judicial relief in a court of 
competent jurisdiction.   
 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, injunctive relief from such court may be sought by the Select Board, in its 
sole discretion, without resorting to the dispute resolution process outlined above to prevent irreparable 
harm that would be caused by a breach of this Restriction. Nothing herein shall be construed to restrict or 
impair either party’s ability to exercise any remedies available to it at law or in equity, or in any way 
extend any cure periods set forth in this Restriction.     
 



 

11 
 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD, the said Restriction, unto the said Town of Brewster and its successors and 
permitted assigns forever. This Restriction may be executed in several counterparts and by each party on 
a separate counterpart, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be an original, but all of 
which together shall constitute one instrument. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Grantors and the Town of Brewster have set their hands under seal on the 

days and year set forth below.  

 

      GRANTOR: The Brewster Historical Society, Inc. 

 
      ____________________________________ 
      Sally Gunning, President 

 
      ____________________________________ 
      Stephen B. Jones, Treasurer 
 
 

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS 
 
Barnstable, ss.          
      
 On this _______ day of __________________, 2023, before me, the undersigned Notary Public, 
personally appeared Sally Gunning as aforesaid, who proved to me through satisfactory evidence of 
identification, which was _________________________, to be the person whose name is signed on the 
preceding or attached document, and acknowledged to me that they signed it voluntarily for its stated 
purpose. 
 
      ________________________________ 
      Notary Public 

My Commission Expires: 
 
 

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS 
 
Barnstable, ss.          
      
 On this _______ day of __________________, 2023, before me, the undersigned Notary Public, 
personally appeared Stephen B. Jones as aforesaid, who proved to me through satisfactory evidence of 
identification, which was _________________________, to be the person whose name is signed on the 
preceding or attached document, and acknowledged to me that they signed it voluntarily for its stated 
purpose. 
 
      ________________________________ 
      Notary Public 

My Commission Expires: 
 



 

12 
 

ACCEPTANCE OF PRESERVATION RESTRICTION 
 
 The Town of Brewster, acting by and through its Select Board, pursuant to the vote under Article 
10 of the Special Town Meeting held on May 5, 2014, Article 7 of the Special Town Meeting held on 
May 4, 2015, and Article 9 of the May 7, 2018 Annual Town Meeting (Exhibit D), hereby accepts the 
foregoing Preservation Restriction, pursuant to a vote of acceptance taken on _________, _____, 2023, a 
certified copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit K.  
 
      The Town of Brewster acting by and through its  
      Select Board: 
 
 
             
      David Whitney, Chair 
 
             
      Ned Chatelain, Vice-Chair 
 
             
      Kari Hoffmann, Clerk 
 
             
      Mary Chaffee 
 
      _______________________________________ 
      Cynthia Binghan 

 

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS 

 
Barnstable, ss.          
      
 On this _______ day of __________________, 2023, before me, the undersigned Notary Public, 
personally appeared David Whitney, Chair of the Brewster Select Board, as aforesaid, who proved to me 
through satisfactory evidence of identification, which was _________________________, to be the 
person whose name is signed on the preceding or attached document, and acknowledged to me that she 
signed it voluntarily for its stated purpose on behalf of the Select Board. 
 
 
      ________________________________ 
      Notary Public 

My Commission Expires: 
 

 

 

 

 



 

13 
 

APPROVAL BY THE MASSACHUSETTS HISTORICAL COMMISSION 
 

 The undersigned Executive Director and Clerk of the Massachusetts Historical Commission, 
hereby certifies that the foregoing Preservation Restriction to the Town of Brewster, acting by and 
through its Select Board, has been approved by the Massachusetts Historical Commission in the public 
interest pursuant to G.L.c. 184, §32. 
 

     MASSACHUSETTS HISTORICAL COMMISSION 
 
 
 
      By: _________________________________  
                                  Brona Simon 
                        Executive Director and Clerk 
 
 
 
 

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS 
 
Suffolk, ss.          
      
 On this _______ day of __________________, 2023, before me, the undersigned Notary Public, 
personally appeared Brona Simon, who proved to me through satisfactory evidence of identification, 
which was _________________________, to be the person whose name is signed on the preceding or 
attached document, and acknowledged to me that she signed it voluntarily for its stated purpose, as 
Executive Director and Clerk of the Massachusetts Historical Commission. 
 
 
       
      ________________________________ 
      Notary Public 
      My Commission Expires: 
 
  



 

14 
 

Exhibit A 
Legal Property Description 

 

The land in Brewster, Barnstable County, Massachusetts, together with the buildings thereon, 
bounded and described as follows: 

SOUTHERLY by Lower Road, a Town Way, as shown on a plan hereinafter 
mentioned, by two different courses in an arc, a total distance of 
Two Hundred Sixty- Three and 12/100 (263.12) feet; 

WESTERLY by land now or formerly of the Estate of George Thornton, as 
shown on said plan, One Hundred Sixty and 00/100 (160.00) feet; 

NORTHERLY  by Lot 2, as shown on said plan, Two Hundred Ninety-Five and  
    00/100 (295.00) feet; 

EASTERLY AND 
SOUTHEASTERLY 
AGAIN   by Lot 2, as shown on said plan, by two different courses, a total  
    distance of Three Hundred Twenty-Five and 22/100 (325.22) feet. 
 
Being Lot 1 as shown on a plan entitled “Plan of Division of Land in Brewster, Mass. as 
surveyed and prepared for Katherine Gibbs Lafleur, Scale: 1 IN = 100 FT, March 4, 1981 
Schofield Brothers, Inc. Registered Professional Engineers & Land Surveyors, Route 6A – P.O. 
Box 101 – Orleans, Mass. 02653” which plan is recorded in Barnstable County Registry of 
Deeds in Plan Book 352, Page 89. 

Source: Barnstable County Registry of Deeds, Book 28684, Page 227. 
  



 

15 
 

 

Exhibit B 
1981 Subdivision, Plan Book 352, Page 89  

 



 

16 
 

Exhibit C 
Town of Brewster GIS Map, Parcel 57-4-0 

 
 

 
 

  



 

17 
 

Exhibit D 
Architectural Description 

 
Exterior 
This parcel is located on the north side of Lower Road. The property originally stretched north to the bay 
(see Exhibit B) but is now on a 1.46 acre parcel surrounded by modern subdivisions. The Cobb House 
(hereinafter the “house” or “building”) is set back at a slight angle from the street on a slight rise (Exhibit 
F, Photo 1). The house is surrounded by lawn with mature trees, and there are no foundation plantings. A 
gravel driveway extends along the right (east) side of the property to a parking area and outbuilding 
behind the building.  
 
This former single-family residence consists of a five-bay, two-story building (Exhibit F, Photo 2) which 
can be classified as late-Georgian in style (meaning the influence of the subsequent Federal style can be 
seen in some exterior and interior elements). The building rests on a brick foundation which has been 
rebuilt with a concrete base on the right (east) half and is partially parged on the left (west) half. The 
building is clad in painted wood clapboard of varying reveal widths (presumably indicating different ages 
for the clapboards). Between the clapboards and the foundation is a skirtboard with an ogee profile which 
was partially replaced-in-kind in 2015. There are wood quoins on all four building corners (a Georgian-
style detail), with exception that the quoin detail does not extend across the rear elevation of the NW and 
NE corners. Some quoins have gone through at least two periods of restoration and/or replacement, 
including in 2015. The hipped roof is clad in wood cedar shingles, replaced in 2015, and is surmounted by 
a modern version of a widow’s walk (early photographs indicate that there was a widow’s walk, possibly 
from the date of construction). Matching corbelled brick chimneys, which have been partially rebuilt at 
least twice, including 2015, rise from either side of the widow’s walk. Based on surviving historic photos, 
the chimneys were originally taller (Exhibit G, Photos 1 and 2). The roof has a molded box cornice with 
dentils (Exhibit F, Photo 3).  
 
Front (south) elevation 
The front elevation (Exhibit F, Photo 4) has a centered main entrance which consists of a wood 8-
panelled door with feathered recessed panels with ovolo and fillet molding (Exhibit F, Photo 5). The 
door is flanked by tapered, fluted pilasters and surmounted by a semi-elliptical fanlight (the fanlight 
shows the influence of the emerging Adam or Federal style). Above the fanlight is an open-pedimented 
cornice with modillion blocks and dentils. Below the dentils are carved (possibly applied) ornamentation 
consisting of interlocking circles. This door is accessed by a small rebuilt brick stoop; the original stoop 
material and design is unknown. Sets of two windows are aligned vertically on the first and second story 
on each side of the entrance and a window on the second story is centered above the entrance. All of the 
windows have wood 6/6 double-hung sash with projecting surrounds that have ogee and fillet edge 
molding, and projecting sills (Exhibit F, Photo 6). The muntins on these and the rest of the historic 
windows are 5/8” to 3/4" wide with a quarter-round-and-fillet pattern – a popular Federal muntin profile 
that was a narrower version of a popular Georgian-style muntin.  A broad open porch, either original to 
the house or added sometime in the 19th century (Exhibit G, Photo 1) was removed by the early 20th 
century as was a centered gable dormer on the front roof slope (Exhibit G, Photo 2). 

 
Side elevations 
Both the right (east) elevation (Exhibit F, Photo 7) and left (west) elevation (Exhibit F, Photo 8) have 
two widely-spaced 6/6 wood double-hung sash with projecting molded surrounds and projecting sills 
vertically aligned on each story similar in design to the front elevation windows. The left elevation also 
has a modern door opening onto the rear deck. 

 
 



 

18 
 

Rear (north) elevation 
On the rear elevation (Exhibit F, Photo 9), the second story has three widely-spaced 9/9 wood windows 
(Exhibit F, Photo 10). These windows have the same projecting frames and molding profile as the 6/6 
windows on the front and side elevations. A rear ell had been added in the 19th century, or was perhaps 
original to the house, and a second connected addition and barn was located to the west of the main house 
(Exhibit G, Photo 3 and 4). In 1994, the ells/additions were removed and a rear porch and new openings 
were added. The only extant element on the first story that was in place ca. 1900 is an off-centered, 9/9 
wood window that is narrower but similar to the second story windows (Exhibit F, Photo 11). To the left 
of this window is a smaller wood 6/6 window added sometime in the 20th century. To the right of the 9/9 
window is a window and door system installed when the porch was added in 1994. The open porch 
extends across the east half of the rear elevation and wraps partially across the rear portion of the west 
elevation. As noted above, the quoining detail on the building corners is not carried across the rear 
corners on this elevation. The clapboards on this elevation display a variety of reveal widths which 
suggests clapboards of varying ages (Exhibit F, Photo 12). 
 
Interior 
The interior floor plan consists of a symmetrical "double pile" with a central stair hall. The front two 
rooms on the first and second floor, the central stair hall, and the rear two rooms on the second floor 
remain intact (Note: only those spaces subject to this Preservation Restriction will be described in depth). 
The floors themselves consist of random-width pine boards and are all currently painted. The walls are 
finished with plaster, except a portion of the wall between the two front elevation windows in the 
Southwest Parlor which was replaced with some form of fiberboard. All the walls are currently painted, 
but there is photographic evidence that some rooms were previously wallpapered.  
 
As will be noted below, there are subtle variations in the trim details in each of the front rooms on the first 
and second floor, likely reflecting their original roles as spaces used for public receptions vs. family 
gatherings, and in the case of the upstairs bedrooms, reflecting which room was likely used by Elijah and 
Mary Cobb.  
 
First Story - Southwest Parlor (Exhibit B-3, Photos 13, 14, 15 and 16) 
This room is (slightly) more elaborately ornamented than the Southeast Parlor. This room has the most 
extensive use of ornamentation. The walls of this room have wainscoting which consists (from bottom to 
top) of baseboards or bottom rails capped with molding, a flat panel, and a reeded or fluted panel below 
the molded chair rail (or cap molding) (Exhibit F, Photo 17). Above the wainscoting the plaster walls are 
painted, except as noted above. The ceiling has a narrow cornice with cove molding and dentils below. 
The windows are set in deeply-recessed bays (likely created by double-studding the walls). The windows 
have a two-tiered casing with molded edges. The interior soffit of the recessed windows, and the window 
shutters all have flat recessed panels with ovolo (1/4 round) and fillet molding (Exhibit F, Photo 18). 
There is a door on either side of the fireplace, both hung with HL hinges. The door knob and hardware 
have been removed on the door to the left of the fireplace; the door to the right has a ceramic knob and 
mortised latch. The door panels facing into the rooms have a similar flat recessed panel with modest 
ovolo and fillet molding profile as the window shutters. The doors have two-tiered casing framed by 
raised cove molding (Exhibit F, Photo 19), similar to the Southeast Parlor. There was likely a door that 
opened into the front hall that has since been removed. Ornamentation of the fireplace mantelpiece 
includes pilasters with recessed panels that have the same ovolo and fillet molding as the doors and 
shutters, the same reeding as the wainscoting and an applied lattice molding below the molded mantel 
shelf. The hearth is composed of sandstone. (Exhibit F, Photo 20). 

 
First Story - Southeast Parlor (Exhibit F, Photos 21, 22, 23 and 24) 
The walls of this room have wainscoting with the same detailing as the Southwest Parlor, but without the 
reeded molding (Exhibit F, Photos 25). Above the wainscoting the plaster walls are painted. The ceiling 



 

19 
 

has a narrow cornice with cove molding and dentils below, similar to the Southwest Parlor. The windows 
are set in deeply-recessed bays, also similar to the Southwest Parlor. The windows have a two-tiered 
casing with molded edges. Unlike the Southwest Parlor, the interior surfaces of the recessed windows, 
and the window shutters, have raised (rather than recessed) panels, and the interior soffits of the recessed 
windows are flat with no molded panels (Exhibit F, Photo 26).  
 
There was a door on either side of the fireplace, but the door to the left has been removed and shelving 
has been added. There are also two doors on the left (west) wall, although the door on the right side of 
this wall is now fixed in place. The doors are all hung with HL hinges. Door knobs are wood or glass and 
all have mortised latches. The door casings have the same two-tiered casing framed by raised cove 
molding as the Southwest Parlor. The door panels facing into the rooms have a recessed panel with 
modest ovolo and fillet molding profile similar to those in the Southwest Parlor, except the door to the 
right of the fireplace which may have been reversed, exposing the feather-edged raised panels found on 
the inside face of the other doors (Exhibit F, Photo 27). Ornamentation of the mantelpiece is identical to 
that in the Southwest Parlor, with the addition of two molded caps on the mantel shelf. The hearth is 
composed of sandstone. A cast iron insert was added to the firebox, date unknown (Exhibit F, Photo 28).  

 
Second Story - Southwest Bedroom (Exhibit F, Photos 29, 30, 31 and 32) 
This is the more elaborately ornamented of the two front bedrooms. The walls of this room have 
wainscoting which consists of baseboards or bottom rails capped with molding, a flat panel, and a molded 
chair rail (or cap molding) but, like the Southeast Parlor, no reeded molding (Exhibit F, Photo 33). 
Above the wainscoting, the plaster walls are painted. Encased, exterior structural beams are visible on the 
southeast and southwest corners of the room (Exhibit F, Photo 34). The ceiling has a narrow molded 
cornice with dentils below similar to the first floor parlors (Exhibit F, Photo 35). The windows are not as 
deeply recessed on the second story and do not have (or have room for) interior shutters. The windows 
have a two-tiered casing with molded edges, similar to the windows in the parlors below. The reveals and 
soffit of the windows are flat with no molded panels (see also Exhibit F, Photo 35).   
 
There is a door on either side of the fireplace and a door leading into the stair hall. The doors are hung 
with HL hinges. The doors all have mortised latches and the door knobs appear to be marbled glass or 
ceramic. The door panels facing into the rooms have recessed flat panels with no molding. The outside of 
the doors have raised panels with ovolo and fillet molding. The door casings have the same two-tiered 
detail as the doors in the parlors below on the first floor, except they are framed by raised ogee molding 
on the outside instead of cove molding (Exhibit F, Photo 36). The doors in this room are painted with 
faux graining. A fireplace is on the north wall. The mantelpiece includes raised molding which surrounds 
the firebox and extends out slightly at the top corners. Two broad brackets sit atop this molding and 
support the mantel shelf. The hearth is composed of square red ceramic tiles (Exhibit F, Photo 37).  

 
Second Story - Southeast Bedroom (Exhibit F, Photos 38, 39, 40 and 41) 
This room has the simplest degree of ornamentation of the front four rooms. The walls of this room have 
no wainscoting – they are articulated simply with a baseboard capped with ogee molding (similar to the 
other front rooms) and a narrow molded ceiling cornice with ogee molding (Exhibit F, Photo 42). The 
plaster walls are painted. Encased, exterior structural beams are visible on the southeast and southwest 
corners of the room, similar to the Southwest Bedroom. The ceiling has a narrow cornice with cove 
molding and no dentils (see also Exhibit F, Photo 42). As with the Southwest Bedroom, the windows are 
not as deeply recessed as those on the first floor and have no interior shutters. Unlike the other three front 
rooms, however, these windows have simple narrow casings (Exhibit F, Photo 43).  
 
There is a door on either side of the fireplace and a door leading into the stair hall. The doors are hung 
with HL hinges. Door knobs are wood or glass and all have mortised latches (the mortised latch has been 
removed on the door in the northeast corner). The doors are painted with faux graining and have door 



 

20 
 

panels facing into the rooms with feathered raised panels with ¼ molding and fillet. The door casings 
have narrow flat panels with raised molded borders on the inside and outside edges.  
 
A fireplace is on the north wall. The fireplace mantelpiece is a more simplified version of the mantelpiece 
in the Southwest Bedroom. It has the same raised molding which surrounds the firebox but without the 
slight extension at the top corners, and there are no brackets supporting the mantel shelf. The hearth is 
composed of square red ceramic tiles (Exhibit F, Photo 44).  
 
Lower and Upper Hall and Stair (Exhibit F, Photos 45, 46, 47 and 48) 
The walls of the stair hall on the first and second floor, as well as the stair, have the same wainscoting as 
the Southwest Parlor; namely, baseboards or bottom rails capped with molding, a flat panel, and a reeded 
or fluted top rail below the cap molding. The interior of the front door to the house has a molded casing 
and a rim lock (Exhibit F, Photo 49). 
 
The stair has a relatively narrow columnar newel post set on square pedestal at the bottom of the stair, and 
simple square balusters (Exhibit F, Photo 50). Narrower columnar newel posts at the corners at the top of 
the stair on the second story rest on low square posts and extend down through the stair to the ceiling of 
the first story where they are ornamented with drip molding. The handrails have a modest ovolo molded 
profile. The open-stringer stair has scrolled tread ends and the outer ends of the treads have a simple 
nosing with ½ round profile.  
  
The second floor stair hall has a centered window on the south wall similar in detail to the other windows 
on this floor. A large opening on the north wall of the stair on this floor was made sometime in the 20th 
century.   
 
Kitchen 
The rear rooms on the first floor have been significantly altered to accommodate a modern kitchen and 
bathrooms, as can be seen on the plans attached as Exhibit H, but a surviving element is the original 
fireplace (Exhibit F, Photos 51 and 52). 
 
The two rear bedrooms on the second story remain relatively intact with some accommodation made for a 
modern bathroom. 
 
Outbuilding 
To the northeast of the main house is a large one-story outbuilding. It is clad in painted wood shingles and 
the roof is clad in asphalt shingles. The oldest section is the front block which has a low-pitched, side-
gable roof. This part of the outbuilding has a field stone and mortar foundation. The front (south) 
elevation of this block has two doors and two windows of different sizes (Exhibit F, Photo 53). The roof 
extends forward on this elevation creating a full-width open porch supported by square posts. Two ells 
extend from right (east) side of the rear elevation of this block, giving the overall outbuilding an “L” 
shape. The corner formed by the main block and rear ells is completely infilled with an open parking area 
with low-pitched roof supported by large square posts with simple braces (Exhibit F, Photo 54). Until 
sometime in the 20th century, the outbuilding consisted only of the front (south) portion (Exhibit G, 
Photo 5).    
  



 

21 
 

Exhibit E 
History of the Elijah Cobb House 

 
Elijah Cobb (1768-1848) was born on a small Brewster farm, and was forced to leave home at age 6 when 
his father died at sea. Cobb lived and worked with another family until 1783, when he went to Boston and 
booked passage on a vessel, working as a cook and cabin boy. Cobb then worked for 6 ½ years on a 
Boston-based coaster which ran between Boston and Philadelphia. After leaving the company, he made a 
trip to Europe as a mate, then earned a promotion to captain. He went on to command the Monsoon, 
Paragon and Ten Brothers among other ships. He periodically retuned to Brewster, including in 1793 
when he married Mary Pinkham (1770-1835). In 1794, Captain Cobb gained fame as the first American 
sea captain to successfully negotiate a fair price for cargo that had been seized by the French during the 
revolution. His efforts included direct contact with and assistance from Robespierre himself shortly before 
the Jacobin leader was guillotined, which Cobb witnessed. When Cobb returned home, he became the 
most sought after commander to conduct trade and collect debts in Europe.  
 
Cobb was in Brewster for most of 1799, during which time the house on Lower Road was built. Cobb 
bought the farm from Thankful Freeman, widow of David Freeman. The existing house on the property 
was apparently torn down or moved. The Cobb family moved in on New Year's Day, 1800. The property 
stretched north to the bay and included all the land currently known as Cobbs Pond Condominium and 
portions of Sears Point Condominium. Cobb returned to his maritime activities until the War of 1812 
when the British blockade curtailed American voyages. Cobb himself was captured that year by the 
British after returning from a successful voyage to Cadiz. He was sent to St. Johns where he found 27 
other American ships held as prizes. They were soon returned to America, after which Cobb stayed in 
Brewster until the war ended in 1815.  
 
Cobb then became involved in the African trade, although he avoided direct involvement in slaving. 
Cobb’s last voyage was in 1819. It was his second trip to Prince’s Island on the Gulf of Guinea, the first 
in 1818 having been very profitable. Cobb was captain of the Ten Brothers and was accompanied by 
Captain Isaac Clark, Captain David Nickerson and Captain Joseph Mayo, a youth of 29. During the 
voyage, Cobb's three friends died of fever while in Africa, and the pestilent Ten Brothers was sunk upon 
its arrival in Boston. Cobb never went to sea again, devoting the rest of his life to town affairs. He served 
as Town Clerk, Treasurer, Inspector General, Representative and Senator, as well as Justice of the Peace. 
He died in 1848 with the honorary military rank of Brigadier General, and is buried in the Brewster 
Cemetery on Lower Road. 
 
The house remained in the Cobb family, passing to Elijah Cobb’s son Elijah Jr. (1799-1861), and then to 
Elijah Jr.’s daughter Helen Cobb (1829-1896), who was married to James Atherton Dugan (1827-1860). 
Their daughter, Caroline Atherton Dugan (1853-1941), known as Caro, lived in the house most of her life. 
During this time, the property still stretched to the bay and the family had built a beach house on the bluff, 
as well as a guest cottage and numerous additions to the main house. Caro trained as a kindergarten 
teacher but did not continue in that field. After the death of her mother in 1896, Caro left Cape Cod. The 
1900 census records list her as living in Brookline, Massachusetts, serving as governess to the five 
children of Henry and Margaret Whitney. Josephine Whitney Duveneck, Caro’s former charge, wrote in 
her autobiography, Life at Two Levels, that “Miss Dugan” was with the Whitney family for twenty-five 
years, excluding two months each summer when she returned to Cape Cod, presumably to Cobb House. 
Josephine Duveneck stated that Caro was the most important person in her life during her formative 
years, “as teacher, companion and friend.” That closeness is evidenced by the fact that Caro deeded the 
property to Duveneck in 1938 (Book 543/Page 75). Duveneck was living in Los Altos, CA, and Caro 
continued to live in the house until her death in 1941 on her 88th birthday.  
 



 

22 
 

In 1945, Frank B. and Josephine Duveneck, still living in Los Altos, CA, conveyed the property to 
Howard M. Gibbs, Jr. of North Dartmouth, MA (Book 631/Page 241). The house remained in the Gibbs 
family until 1984. In 1981, Katherine Gibbs LaFleur recorded a subdivision plan, at which time the Cobb 
house property was reduced to its current size (see Exhibit B). In 1984, Katherine Gibbs LaFleur and Lee 
R. La Fleur conveyed the entire subdivision to Bay Colony Property Co, Inc. The company continued to 
own the Cobb house until 1993 when it conveyed Lot 1 which included the house to Frances Chapin 
(Book 8643/Page 185). By that time, the house had fallen into disrepair. Chapin removed the ells and 
additions, added the rear porch, and otherwise restored the house to its early 1800s condition. By 2013, 
the house had again fallen into disrepair following the illness and subsequent death of Ms. Chapin. The 
Brewster Historical Society purchased the Cobb house from Chapin’s estate in 2015 (See Legal Property 
Description, Exhibit A). The Historical Society is currently restoring and rehabilitating the property to be 
used as their headquarters and museum house.     
  



 

23 
 

Exhibit F 
Current photographs of the Property and Building, including interior photographs of 

rooms and spaces subject to this Restriction 

List of Photographic Views (taken May 2015) 

Exhibit F, Photo 1 - Cobb House, view of property, looking north. 

Exhibit F, Photo 2 - Cobb House, view looking northwest. 

Exhibit F, Photo 3 - Cobb House, detail of cornice and quoining, front elevation, southwest corner. 

Exhibit F, Photo 4 - Cobb House, front elevation. 

Exhibit F, Photo 5 - Cobb House, detail of front door. 

Exhibit F, Photo 6 - Cobb House, detail of window, front elevation. 

Exhibit F, Photo 7 - Cobb House, east elevation. 

Exhibit F, Photo 8 - Cobb House, west elevation. 

Exhibit F, Photo 9 - Cobb House, rear elevation. 

Exhibit F, Photo 10 - Cobb House, rear elevation, detail of second story window and cornerboard. 

Exhibit F, Photo 11 - Cobb House, rear elevation, off-center first story window. 

Exhibit F, Photo 12 - Cobb House, rear elevation, detail of varying-width clapboard. 

Exhibit F, Photo 13 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Parlor, looking south. 

Exhibit F, Photo 14 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Parlor, looking west. 

Exhibit F, Photo 15 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Parlor, looking north. 

Exhibit F, Photo 16 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Parlor, looking east. 

Exhibit F, Photo 17 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Parlor, detail of wainscoting. 

Exhibit F, Photo 18, Cobb House, Southwest Parlor, detail of window. 

Exhibit F, Photo 19 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Parlor, detail of northwest door and trim. 

Exhibit F, Photo 20 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Parlor, detail of fireplace. 

Exhibit F, Photo 21 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Parlor, looking south. 

Exhibit F, Photo 22 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Parlor, looking west. 

Exhibit F, Photo 23 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Parlor, looking north. 



 

24 
 

Exhibit F, Photo 24 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Parlor, looking east. 

Exhibit F, Photo 25 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Parlor, detail of wainscoting, southwest corner. 

Exhibit F, Photo 26 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Parlor, detail of window, looking south. 

Exhibit F, Photo 27 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Parlor, detail of northeast door. 

Exhibit F, Photo 28 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Parlor, detail of fireplace. 

Exhibit F, Photo 29 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Bedroom, looking south. 

Exhibit F, Photo 30 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Bedroom, looking west. 

Exhibit F, Photo 31 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Bedroom, looking north. 

Exhibit F, Photo 32 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Bedroom, looking east. 

Exhibit F, Photo 33 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Bedroom, detail of wainscoting, southwest corner. 

Exhibit F, Photo 34 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Bedroom, detail of southwest corner post. 

Exhibit F, Photo 35 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Bedroom, cornice and window detail. 

Exhibit F, Photo 36 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Bedroom, detail of door in southeast corner. 

Exhibit F, Photo 37 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Bedroom, detail of fireplace. 

Exhibit F, Photo 38 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Bedroom, looking south. 

Exhibit F, Photo 39 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Bedroom, looking west. 

Exhibit F, Photo 40 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Bedroom, looking north. 

Exhibit F, Photo 41 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Bedroom, looking east. 

Exhibit F, Photo 42 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Bedroom, detail of door surround, post, cornice. 

Exhibit F, Photo 43 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Bedroom, detail of window. 

Exhibit F, Photo 44 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Bedroom, detail of fireplace. 

Exhibit F, Photo 45 - Cobb House interior, Lower Hall, looking south. 

Exhibit F, Photo 46 - Cobb House interior, Lower Hall, looking north. 

Exhibit F, Photo 47 - Cobb House interior, Upper Hall, looking south. 

Exhibit F, Photo 48 - Cobb House interior, Upper Hall, looking north. 

Exhibit F, Photo 49 - Cobb House interior, Lower Hall, detail of front door. 

Exhibit F, Photo 50 - Cobb House interior, detail of stair, looking northeast. 



 

25 
 

Exhibit F, Photo 51 - Cobb House interior, Kitchen Fireplace, looking south. 

Exhibit F, Photo 52 - Cobb House interior, Kitchen Fireplace, detail of bake door. 

Exhibit F, Photo 53 - Cobb House outbuilding, looking north. 

Exhibit F, Photo 54 - Cobb House outbuilding, looking east. 

 
  



 

26 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 1 - Cobb House, view of property, looking north. 
 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 2 - Cobb House, view looking northwest. 



 

27 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 3 - Cobb House, detail of cornice and quoining, front elevation, south- 
west corner. 
 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 4 - Cobb House, front elevation. 
  



 

28 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 5 - Cobb House, detail of front door. 
  



 

29 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 6 - Cobb House, detail of window, front elevation. 
  



 

30 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 7 - Cobb House, east elevation. 
 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 8 - Cobb House, west elevation. 
  



 

31 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 9 - Cobb House, rear elevation. 
 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 10 - Cobb House, rear elevation, detail of second story window and  
cornerboard. 
  



 

32 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 11 - Cobb House, rear elevation, off-center first story window. 
  



 

33 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 12 - Cobb House, rear elevation, detail of varying-width clapboard. 
 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 13 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Parlor, looking south. 
  



 

34 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 14 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Parlor, looking west. 
 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 15 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Parlor, looking north. 
  



 

35 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 16 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Parlor, looking east. 
 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 17 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Parlor, detail of wainscoting. 
  



 

36 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 18, Cobb House, Southwest Parlor, detail of window. 
 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 19 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Parlor, detail of northwest door  
and trim. 
  



 

37 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 20 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Parlor, detail of fireplace. 
 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 21 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Parlor, looking south. 
  



 

38 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 22 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Parlor, looking west. 
 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 23 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Parlor, looking north. 
  



 

39 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 24 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Parlor, looking east. 
 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 25 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Parlor, detail of wainscoting,  
southwest corner. 
  



 

40 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 26 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Parlor, detail of window, looking  
south. 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 27 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Parlor, detail of northeast door. 
  



 

41 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 28 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Parlor, detail of fireplace. 
 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 29 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Bedroom, looking south. 
  



 

42 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 30 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Bedroom, looking west. 
 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 31 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Bedroom, looking north. 
  



 

43 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 32 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Bedroom, looking east. 
 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 33 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Bedroom, detail of wainscoting,  
southwest corner. 
 



 

44 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 34 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Bedroom, detail of southwest corner post. 
  



 

45 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 35 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Bedroom, cornice and window  
detail. 
 



 

46 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 36 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Bedroom, detail of door in southeast  
corner. 
  



 

47 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 37 - Cobb House interior, Southwest Bedroom, detail of fireplace. 
 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 38 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Bedroom, looking south. 
  



 

48 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 39 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Bedroom, looking west. 
 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 40 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Bedroom, looking north. 
  



 

49 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 41 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Bedroom, looking east. 
 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 42 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Bedroom, detail of door  
surround, post, cornice. 
  



 

50 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 43 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Bedroom, detail of window. 
 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 44 - Cobb House interior, Southeast Bedroom, detail of fireplace. 
  



 

51 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 45 - Cobb House interior, Lower Hall, looking south. 
 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 46 - Cobb House interior, Lower Hall, looking north. 
  



 

52 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 47 - Cobb House interior, Upper Hall, looking south. 
 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 48 - Cobb House interior, Upper Hall, looking north. 
  



 

53 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 49 - Cobb House interior, Lower Hall, detail of front door. 
 
 
 
  



 

54 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 50 - Cobb House interior, detail of stair, looking northeast. 
  



 

55 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 51 - Cobb House interior, Kitchen Fireplace, looking south. 
 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 52 - Cobb House interior, Kitchen Fireplace, detail of bake door. 
  



 

56 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 53 - Cobb House outbuilding, looking north. 
 
 

 
Exhibit F, Photo 54 - Cobb House outbuilding, looking east. 
  



 

57 
 

Exhibit G 
Historic photographs 

 

Exhibit G, Photo 1 - Cobb House, ca. 1893. 

Exhibit G, Photo 2 - Cobb House, front elevation, ca. 1901. 

Exhibit G, Photo 3 - Cobb House, rear elevation, ca. 1901. 

Exhibit G, Photo 4, rear elevation, ca. 1902. 

Exhibit G, Photo 5 - Outbuilding, The Den, ca. 1901. 

Exhibit G, Photo 6 - Cobb House, HABS, 1959. 
 
 
  



 

58 
 

 
Exhibit G, Photo 1 - Cobb House, ca. 1893. 
 
 

 
Exhibit G, Photo 2 - Cobb House, front elevation, ca. 1901. 
  



 

59 
 

 
Exhibit G, Photo 3 - Cobb House, rear elevation, ca. 1901. 
 
 

Exhibit G, Photo 4, rear elevation, ca. 1902. 
 
 
 
 



 

60 
 

 
Exhibit G, Photo 5 - Outbuilding, The Den, ca. 1901. 
 
 

 
Exhibit G, Photo 6 - Cobb House, HABS, 1959. 
 



 

61 
 

Exhibit H 
Cobb House floor plans, Brown Lindquist Fenuccio & Raber Architects, Inc. 

Interior spaces subject to the Preservation Restriction indicated in red. 

 



 

62 
 

Exhibit I 

Restriction Guidelines and  
Procedures for Maintenance and Improvements 

 
1. PREAMBLE 
The purpose of these Guidelines is to assist the Property Owner (the Owner) and the Town of Brewster 
(the Town) and its designated agent, the Brewster Select Board (the Select Board) in retaining the 
substance and character of the historic structures and land including the 1799 Capt. Elijah Cobb House 
(the Building) located at 739 Lower Road, Brewster, Barnstable County, Massachusetts (the Property), by 
establishing standards and procedures for maintenance and improvements in accordance with the 
principles established in the Preservation Restriction to which this is appended.  
 
2. GENERAL PROVISIONS 
In view of the importance to the Town of preserving the Property's character and integrity, both with 
respect to the Building and in context with its surroundings, the following general guidelines shall apply: 
 

  2.1 The exterior of the south, east, and west elevations of the house and the second story of 
the north elevation shall be maintained and not altered. The first story of the north elevation has 
been altered in the past, including the removal of an ell and addition, the addition of French doors 
and the addition of a porch. Alterations are permitted on the first story of the north elevation 
provided they conform in scale, materials and design to the overall architectural character of the 
Building, subject to Select Board review and approval.  

  2.2 The interior (including floors, walls, ceilings, doors and door surrounds, windows and 
window surrounds, fireplaces and mantelpieces, and ornamental trim) in the Southwest Parlor, 
Southeast Parlor, Lower Hall, Stair, Upper Hall, Southwest Bedroom and Southeast Bedroom (as 
shown on a plan attached as Exhibit H) shall be maintained and not altered, except as provided 
below. 

 
  2.3 Necessary reconstruction or replacement of any portion of the house shall reproduce the 

existing exterior features and components, except as specifically indicated in these Guidelines. 
The house may not be elevated from its original foundation height, or have its roofline raised.  

 
2.4 The Outbuilding may not be altered after the date of this Restriction without Select Board 
and Old King’s Highway Regional Historic District approval.  New freestanding outbuildings are 
allowable provided they not adversely impact the view of the Building from the street. The 
addition of any new outbuildings, or the relocation of existing outbuildings, must be reviewed and 
approved by the Select Board.  

 
  2.5 Modifications of landscaping and site features shall be in keeping with the character of 

the neighborhood and 19th century landscape traditions. Any new hardscape features (driveways, 
walkways) and fences are subject to approval by the Select Board. Any new landscape features 
(trees, planting beds) which might impact the view of the Building from the street must be 
reviewed and approved by the Select Board. 

  
 
3. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS AND REVIEW PROCEDURES 
 
3.1 Work Subject to Review 



 

63 
 

  3.1.1    Approval by the Select Board is not required for ordinary maintenance and repair of 
existing fabric in accordance with the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for the Treatment of 
Historic Properties with Guidelines for Preserving, Rehabilitating, Restoring, and Reconstructing 
Historic Buildings (36 CFR 67 and 68), hereinafter the “Secretary’s Standards” and these 
Guidelines. The right to maintain and repair shall mean the use by the Owner of in-kind materials 
and colors, applied with workmanship comparable to that which was used in the construction or 
application of those materials being repaired or maintained, for the purpose of retaining in good 
condition the appearance and construction of the Building. The right to maintain and repair shall 
not include the right to make changes in appearance, materials, material colors and workmanship 
from that existing prior to the maintenance and repair without the prior approval of the Select 
Board. 

  
  3.1.2    All other non-maintenance changes and additions are subject to review by the Select 

Board. Approval of any proposed work must be granted in writing by the Select Board in advance 
of the commencement of construction. 

   
3.2 Review Standards and Procedures 
  3.2.1    Review procedures, including those conducted for emergency repair and replacement, 

shall generally be conducted in accordance with applicable provisions of the following: 
    
  3.2.2    The Secretary’s Standards. 
 
  3.2.3    Determinations by the Select Board relating to work subject to review shall be based on 

the primary objective of retaining the substance and character of the Property, in accordance with 
the provisions of Paragraph 2 of these Guidelines. 

 
3.3  Submittal and Documentation Requirements 

Material required for review may include such documentation as scale drawings, renderings, 
specifications, and product descriptions and samples.  

  
3.4 Qualifications of Consultants and Contractors 
  3.4.1    All design work shall be performed by an architect currently licensed in Massachusetts, 

preferably with historical renovation and reconstruction experience. 
 
  3.4.2    All construction, except simple maintenance projects, shall be performed by contractors 

currently licensed in Massachusetts, preferably with a minimum of five years’ experience in 
historical renovation and reconstruction. 

 
 
4. BUILDING RENOVATION AND CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS 
 
4.1 General Standards 
  4.1.1  All products, components, and materials shall be of the best quality.  
 
  4.1.2    Reconstruction of existing portions of the Building shall reproduce existing construction 

exactly. 
 
  4.1.3    New construction shall maintain the scale, proportions, detailing and general character of 

the existing Building. 
   
 



 

64 
 

4.2   Specific Standards for the Exterior of Building  
 The following standards are included to establish a general level of quality for all work, and are 

considered essential to achieve the Town's primary objective for the Property.  
   
  4.2.1    Paint: Changes in exterior paint colors are allowed.  Colors must be historically 

appropriate and must be approved by the Select Board.  
 
4.2.2    Siding: Maintain all original or historically significant siding on Building, as determined 
by the Select Board. Replacement siding, if needed, must be wood and match the existing 
clapboard in width and profile, including the variable widths found on the rear elevation. 
 
4.2.3    Roof material: New roofing must utilize red cedar shingles similar in size to existing.  

   
  4.2.4    Chimneys: Maintain all chimneys. If repointing is needed, the mortar must match the 

joint profile and color of existing mortar, and be of a composition that is similar or compatible to 
the existing mortar. If replacement brick is required, it must match the existing in color and size.    

   
  4.2.5    Foundation: Maintain brick foundation. If repointing is needed, the mortar must match 

the joint profile and color of existing mortar, and be of a composition that is similar or compatible 
to the existing mortar. It is encouraged, but not required, that those portions of the foundation that 
are parged be restored to the original exposed brick and the parging removed. If replacement 
brick is required, it must match the existing in color and size.    

   
  4.2.6    Dormers and Skylights: New dormers and skylights are not permitted.  
   
  4.2.7    Trim and Decoration: Maintain original trim as possible, replace-in-kind if necessary.  
   
  4.2.8    Windows: All of the windows on the south, east, and west elevation, all windows on the 

second story of the north elevation, and the off-centered 9/9 window on the first story of the north 
elevation are either original or historically significant, and must be properly maintained and 
restored as needed. These windows may not be replaced. Remaining windows on the north 
elevation may be replaced or changed. All replacement window designs and specifications are to 
be approved by the Select Board. New windows used on the north elevation first story must be 
good quality, historically appropriate single-glazed true-divided wood windows that maintain the 
6/6 muntin pattern of other modern replacement windows in order to distinguish them from 
historically significant windows. Location of new windows must conform to the overall pattern of 
window spacing on the Building. 

   
  4.2.9    Storm windows: Storm windows are allowed with review by Select Board. Storm 

windows must match the color of the underlying window surround and the meeting rails must 
align with the meeting rails of the window sash. 

   
  4.2.10    Shutters: Existing wood louvered shutters may be reinstalled or replaced-in-kind, 

including use of appropriate hardware (including shutter dogs and pintles). Design and color of 
the shutters must be reviewed and approved by the Select Board. 

   
  4.2.11  Doors and storm doors:  Original doors must be restored if possible and if not, must be 

replaced-in-kind; design to be approved by the Select Board. Replacement of non-original doors 
must be wood, and be compatible in design, color, and finish of existing historic doors, as 
approved by the Select Board. Storm doors are not permitted on the front (south) elevation, but 



 

65 
 

are otherwise allowed provided they are as visually minimal as possible, including use of full-
light panels to maximize visibility of the underlying doors, as approved by the Select Board.  

   
  4.2.12   Building-Attached Lighting Fixtures:  Light fixtures may be used but must be minimal 

in appearance, appropriate to the Building, and must be approved by the Select Board. 
   
  4.2.132   Equipment: Window mounted HVAC or other ventilation equipment are not permitted. 

Openings made for HVAC or other equipment on the exterior of the Building must be located in a 
manner that does not detract from the Building, and must be reviewed and approved by the Select 
Board.  

 
4.3   Specific Standards for the Interior spaces subject to this Restriction 
   4.3.1    All flooring, baseboards, wainscoting, plaster walls, cornices, plaster ceilings, doors 

(including hardware) and door surrounds, window surrounds including interior shutters, fireplaces 
including mantelpieces, and stairs including treads, newel posts, balusters and handrail, in the 
spaces shown in Exhibit H and described in Exhibit D must be retained and restored. If 
replacement is required, the replacement must match the existing in materials and design.  

 
   4.3.2    The kitchen fireplace must be retained. If repointing of the brick is necessary, the mortar 

must match the joint profile and color of existing mortar, and be of a composition that is similar 
or compatible to the existing mortar. If replacement brick is required, it must match the existing 
in color and size. 

 
   4.3.3    Color changes of the floors, walls and ceilings must be reviewed by the Select Board and 

must be based on evidence that the replacement color had been used in the specific location 
and/or is an appropriate color treatment for the period of the house. Those doors that are painted 
with faux graining must retain that detail.  

 
4.3.4    The following interior alterations are permitted with Select Board approval to ensure appropriate 
design and materials: Restoration of plaster walls in the Southwest Parlor between the south windows, 
infilling of the modern opening in the upper north wall of the stair, restoration of missing doors, including 
appropriate hardware, and removal of fire insert in the Southeast Parlor. 
   
    
5. LANDSCAPING AND SITE STANDARDS 
  
5.1 General goals 

The principal landscaping goals are maintenance of the view of the house from the street and the 
retention or addition of landscape features that are compatible with the 19th century period of the 
house. 

 
5.2 Planting 

5.2.1    The front (south) yard shall remain sufficiently open to preserve views of the Property 
from Lower Road.  

      
   5.2.2    No large new plantings are allowed in front of the Building; smaller plantings should not 

obscure the view of the Building and must be approved by the Select Board.  
 

  5.2.3    Large areas of wood chips and colored mulch are prohibited in the front of the house, or 
anywhere visible from the street. Mulch under shrubs and flower beds are acceptable. 

 



 

66 
 

  5.2.4    Plant species appropriate for a 19th century home should be researched, and a qualified 
professional with knowledge of historic gardens from this period is recommended. 

    
5.3 Lighting   
  5.3.1    Exterior lighting is allowed but should be kept to a minimum and reflect the character of 

the Property. 
  5.3.2    Accent lighting of the Building or other outbuildings, walkways, trees, and landscape 

features is not allowed. 
 
5.4 Driveways and Walkways    
 5.4.1    The existing driveway, including location and paving materials, may be modified and new 

parking areas may be added subject to review and approval by the Select Board. 
 5.4.2    Suggested materials for new walkways include flagstone or red brick set in sand or stone 

dust. Use of asphalt or concrete for walkways or site stairs is not appropriate.   
 
 
 

  



 

67 
 

Exhibit J 

Town Meeting Articles 
 

 
 

Article 10 on May 5, 2014 Special Town Meeting Warrant  

  



 

68 
 

Article 7 on May 4, 2015 Special Town Meeting Warrant

 

 

  



 

69 
 

Article 9 on May 7, 2018 Special Town Meeting Warrant  

  

  



 

70 
 

  



 

71 
 

 

  



 

72 
 

Exhibit K 

Certified Select Board Vote 
 

(To Be Added Once Vote Occurs After MHP Pre-Approval When the Certification of the Select 
Board Vote is Available) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
5754347.1 
5930146.1 



To: Brewster Select Board

From: Suzanne Bryan, Brewster Government Television

Re: Declare Items as Surplus for Transfer

I am requesfing that four Freedom Par Quad-4 lights be considered as surplus for transfer to the 

Crosby Mansion.  These lights were purchased about a year ago by the previous BGTV 

consultant, however BGTV does not have a need for them.  The approximate value of all four 

lights is $1200.  The Crosby Mansion Manager, Richard Archer, has indicated a need for the 

lights for events held at the mansion. 

Thank you for your considerafion.



 
 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
To:  Brewster Select Board 
  Peter Lombardi, Town Manager 
  Donna Kalinick, Assistant Town Manager 
  Jill Scalise, Housing Coordinator  
From:  Cassie Boyd Marsh, Bailey Boyd Associates, Inc. 
Subject: FY24 Brewster Regional CDBG Grant Application 
Date:  December 20, 2024 
 
The Massachusetts Executive Office of Housing & Livable Communities has recently announced its Community 
Development Block Grant (CDBG ) round and application deadline. The town of Brewster has an opportunity 
to apply for up to $1,375,000 as the lead community for a regional grant.  We are proposing to submit the 
grant for the same three towns (Brewster, Dennis & Wellfleet) to continue the popular housing rehabilitation 
and childcare subsidy programs.  
 
The Housing Rehab Program would fund 20 households with a 0% interest deferred-payment forgivable loan, 
making repairs of up to $50,000 to keep low and moderate-income residents in their homes. Code repairs, 
weatherization and health & safety violations will continue to be the priority. All applicants are accepted on a 
first-come/first-served basis. 
 
The Childcare Subsidy Program would provide up to $7,000 per eligible child to subsidize care while parents 
work, go to school or seek employment. The funds go directly to the participating certified childcare provider 
based on the child’s attendance. These funds subsidize the parent’s payments on a sliding scale basis. 
 
These two programs are well-regarded by residents and continue to have a long waitlist. As always there is no 
cost to the town and an enormous benefit to residents. 
 
The following motion may be useful as you consider this vote: 
 
Proposed Motion: Move to submit an FY24 CDBG grant for housing rehabilitation and childcare subsidies and 
to authorize the Town Manager or Designee to sign the grant application and associated forms. 
 



PUBLIC HEARING 
FY24 BREWSTER REGIONAL CDBG GRANT 

The Brewster Select Board will hold a Public Hearing on Monday, January 22, 2024, at 6:15 pm, 
at Brewster Town Hall, 2198 Main Street, Brewster, MA to discuss the town’s FY24 regional 
CDBG application including housing rehabilitation and childcare subsidies serving eligible 
residents of Brewster, Dennis & Wellfleet. Residents from all three towns are invited to 
participate and any person wishing to be heard will be afforded the opportunity. Written 
comments will also be accepted and considered and must be submitted to the Select Board by 
January 22, 2024, at 9:00 am. 

Residents of the three towns may join the Zoom webinar by computer, tablet or phone at:  

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89092910526?pwd=WHM2V3hrVklhSTloWWhVU09kanUzQT09 
Passcode: 509224 
To request to speak tap Zoom “Raise hand”, then wait to be recognized 

Phone: (312) 626 6799 or (301) 715-8592 
Webinar ID: 890 9291 0526 
Passcode: 509224 
To request to speak: Press *9 and wait to be recognized 

For additional information or questions please contact Cassie Boyd Marsh, grant administrator, 
at 508-430-4499 x1.

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89092910526?pwd=WHM2V3hrVklhSTloWWhVU09kanUzQT09


FY	21	BREWSTER	REGIONAL	CDBG	GRANT	
QUARTERLY	REPORT	FOR	THE	PERIOD	ENDING	12/31/23	

	
	
Administration	&	Management	
The	administration	of	the	FY21	Brewster	Regional	CDBG	grant	is	progressing	well	with	no	issues	or	concerns.	
During	this	quarter	the	Grant	Administrator	worked	closely	with	the	housing	rehab	sub-grantee	to	deal	with	
construction	issues,	cost	overruns,	and	single	case	waiver	requests.	We	are	also	dealing	with	numerous	residents	
who	have	been	mandated	to	replace	their	septic	systems,	so	demand	remains	high.		The	town	of	Brewster	does	a	
terrific	job	providing	information	on	the	CDBG	grant	and	supporting	the	programs.	The	towns	and	community-at-
large	holds	these	programs	in	very	high	regard.		
	
Housing	Rehab	Program	
We	have	20	projects	in	total	for	the	FY21	Grant:	All	20	are	under	contract	of	which:	17	are	completed	and	closed	
out,	2	in	active	construction	nearing	completion	by	the	end	of	the	month	(one	waiting	for	SCW	approval	and	one	
waiting	for	a	door	delivery)	and	1	waiting	for	building	permit	and	materials.		The	last	project	should	be	easy	–	mostly	
siding	and	a	few	exterior	components.		The	breakouts	are	Brewster	6	projects,	Dennis	9	projects	and	Wellfleet	5	
projects.		Twelve	households	are	elderly	(8	single	females	and	4	couples)	and	3	are	families,	two	with	children	under	
6.		Lead	and	septic	are	the	big	money	items	this	grant	cycle;	$122,353	and	$85,781	respectively.		We	had	3	single	
case	waivers	–	2	due	to	change	orders	involving	varying	degrees	of	rot	mid-construction	and	one	whopper	due	to	
extensive	lead	paint	hazards.		At	the	end	of	the	last	project,	100%	of	the	grant	funding	will	have	been	spent.			
	
Operations	
We	have	5	GC’s	participating,	2	smaller	operations	that	join	in	as	their	schedule	allows,	one	GC	has	yet	to	submit	a	
bid	–	still	 feeling	out	 the	program	and	2	GC’s	who	consistently	bid.	 	We	have	one	new	GC	who	 is	 interested	and	
pending	application	approval.		It	seems	construction	is	slowing	a	bit	on	Cape	and	GCs	are	eager	to	bid.			
	
Marketing	in	the	Community		
Marketing	efforts	had	been	redirected	in	the	last	quarter	toward	the	new	grant,	FY22/23.	 	We	currently	have	14	
applications	submitted	for	evaluation.			Word	of	mouth	which	is	by	far	the	most	effective	and	widespread.		The	COAs	
are	featuring	a	blurb	about	the	Housing	Rehab	Program	in	each	newsletter.	
	
FY21	Program	~	Labor	Shortages	&	Inflation.	
We	are	noticing	a	bit	of	a	slowdown	in	the	Cape	construction	world	though	costs	remain	high	as	GCs	finally	take	a	
breather	to	fully	assess	their	cost	margins.	High	costs	remain	on	Cape	Cod	and	a	shortage	of	labor	due	to	the	lack	of	
affordable	 housing	 for	 workers.	 	 Everything	 is	 still	 taking	 longer	 to	 schedule,	 i.e.,	 permitting,	 septic	 designs	 &	
installations,	plumbers,	electricians,	and	our	high	risk	deleader	is	coming	from	off	Cape	and	we	are	using	him	more	
and	more	due	to	the	increased	presence	of	lead	in	these	projects.			
	
PERFORMANCE	MEASURES	-	HOUSING	REHABILITAION:	
#	of	homeowner	units	occupied	by	elderly:	13	
#	of	homeowner	units	moved	from	substandard	to	standard:		13	
#	of	homeowner	units	made	accessible:	3	
#	of	homeowner	units	brought	into	compliance	with	lead	safety	rules:	5	
	
LEAD PAINT REPORTING 
        *Applicable Lead Paint Requirement:   *Lead Hazard Remediation Action 

Housing constructed before 1978  13  Lead safe Work Practices ~ (Hard costs <$5k) 9 
Exempt: housing constructed 1978 or later  7  Interim Control or Std Practices ~ (Hard costs $5K -$25K) 2 

Otherwise exempt    Abatement ~ (Hard costs > $25,000) 2 
Exempt: Hard costs <= $5,000      

Total  20  Total  13 
***as projects come under contract, the performance measures & the lead hazard remediation action will be filled in. 



	

 

Real	Life	in	Wellfleet:		Brewster	Housing	Rehab	Program	assists	Cape	Legend:		
Capt’n	Rick	(as	even	the	construction	and	heat	installation	crew	call	him),	is	a	legendary	fisherman,	charter	
boat	captain	 forced	 into	retirement	after	suffering	a	stroke	a	 few	years	ago.	 	That	was	more	salt	 in	the	
wound	 after	 losing	 the	 beloved	Naviator;	 the	 iconic	 fishing	 vessel	moored	 in	 the	Wellfleet	Harbor	 for	
decades	when	a	wintry	blizzard’s	ice	crushed	the	hull	against	the	pilings.		His	mind	is	still	sharp	though	his	
body	and	communication	skills	make	all	his	everyday	tasks	more	challenging,	especially	home	repairs.		

Ø Replace	leaking	roof	and	skylights.	
Ø Replace	rotted	siding	and	trim.	
Ø Replace	failed	ext.	doors/storms	(2x	sets).	
Ø Remove	tub/shower;	install	walk-in	shower	and	comfort	height	toilet	for	safety.	
Ø Leveraged	full	heat	pump	conversion	from	oil	heat	plus	solar	hot	water	heater	with	Cape	Light	Compact	

	

Before ~ Solid home needs new roof, siding and safe bathroom 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 



After ~ The FINAL!  New roof, new siding, doors and heat pumps…. 

 

 
 

                                Back porch roof 



 

…..And safe walk-in shower with comfort height toilet 

  
 
 
FY21 Brewster Childcare Subsidy Program 

The FY21 Brewster Regional Childcare Subsidy Program has ended with this quarter and we’re 
pleased with the goals achieved throughout the grant period. Low-moderate income families in 
Brewster, Dennis & Wellfleet had the burden of high childcare costs reduced and were able to seek or 
maintain employment knowing their child was safely cared for. Throughout this program, we received 
37 family applications and approved 25. This program served a total of 37 children and utilized 96% 
of the available funds. These three communities are also thrilled with the news that more funding is 
available through the FY22/23 program, which is now underway and accepting applications. 

Performance Measures: 

New Access:  29 

Improved Access:  8 

No Longer Substandard: 0 



FY	22/23	BREWSTER	REGIONAL	CDBG	GRANT	
QUARTERLY	REPORT		

FOR	THE	PERIOD	ENDING	12/31/2023	
	
	
Administration	&	Management	
During	 this	 quarter	 the	 town	 went	 out	 to	 bid	 and	 hired	 Bailey	 Boyd	 Associates,	 Inc.	 as	 their	 grant	
administrator.	 The	 town’s	 Environmental	 Review	 was	 completed,	 submitted	 to	 EOHLC,	 and	 cleared.		
Special	Conditions	were	also	submitted	and	cleared.	The	Grant	Administrator	went	out	to	bid	for	a	housing	
rehabilitation	sub-grantee.	One	bid	was	received,	from	TRI	(The	Resource,	Inc.).	As	the	FY21	sub-grantee,	
town	and	grant	administration	staff	have	positive	experience	with	this	organization	and	they	were	hired	
in	December.	
	
The	grant	administrator	and	town	look	forward	to	a	successful	FY22/23	grant	implementation	and	there	
is	significant	interest	in	the	housing	rehabilitation	and	childcare	subsidy	programs.		
	
Housing	Rehab	Program	
	
Program	
The	 Brewster	 Regional	 Housing	 Rehab	 grant	 was	 awarded	 to	 TRI	 and	 contracts	 signed	 at	 the	 end	 of	
December.		We	currently	have	14	full	applications	ready	for	evaluation	and	contractors	eagerly	on	stand-
by	to	jump	into	a	new	year.		
	
Operations	
We	have	5	GC’s	participating,	2	smaller	operations	 that	 join	 in	as	 their	schedule	allows,	one	has	yet	 to	
submit	a	bid	–	still	feeling	out	the	program	and	we	have	2	GC’s	who	consistently	bid.		We	have	one	new	GC	
interested	and	pending	application	approval.		It	seems	construction	is	slowing	a	bit	on	Cape	and	GCs	are	
eager	to	bid.			
	
Marketing	in	the	Community		
Marketing	 efforts	 had	 been	 redirected	 toward	 the	 FY22/23	 grant.	 	We	 are	working	 on	 setting	 up	 info	
sessions	and	circulating	our	materials	in	the	communities.				Word	of	mouth	is	by	far	the	most	effective	and	
widespread.		The	COAs	are	featuring	a	blurb	about	the	Housing	Rehab	Program	in	each	newsletter.	
	
FY22/23	Program	~	Labor	Shortages	&	Inflation.	
There	has	been	a	bit	of	a	slowdown	in	the	Cape	construction	world	though	costs	remain	high	as	GCs	finally	
take	a	breather	to	fully	assess	their	cost	margins.	High	costs	remain	on	Cape	Cod	and	a	shortage	of	labor	
due	to	the	lack	of	affordable	housing	for	workers.			
	
PERFORMANCE MEASURES - HOUSING REHABILITAION: 
# of homeowner units occupied by elderly:  
# of homeowner units moved from substandard to standard:   
# of homeowner units made accessible:  
# of homeowner units brought into compliance with lead safety rules:  
 

LEAD PAINT REPORTING 
        *Applicable Lead Paint Requirement:   *Lead Hazard Remediation Action 

Housing constructed before 1978    Lead safe Work Practices ~ (Hard costs <$5k)  
Exempt: housing constructed 1978 or later    Interim Control or Std Practices ~ (Hard costs $5K -$25K)  

Otherwise exempt    Abatement ~ (Hard costs > $25,000)  
Exempt: Hard costs <= $5,000      



Total    Total   
***as projects come under contract, the performance measures & the lead hazard remediation action will be filled in. 
 

FY22/23	Childcare	Subsidy	Program	
	
The	FY22/23	Brewster	Childcare	Subsidy	Program	recently	began	and	we’re	thrilled	to	pick	up	where	the	
FY21	program	left	off,	 looking	forward	to	another	successful	year.	We	are	utilizing	our	well-established	
waitlist,	as	well	as	the	strong	support	from	local	childcare	providers,	community	members	and	town	staff	
that	together	help	us	in	our	goal	to	reach	as	many	eligible	residents	as	possible.	Since	applications	were	
released	at	the	end	of	November,	we	have	received	15	complete	family	applications,	of	which	12	have	been	
approved-	a	total	of	17	children.	Despite	applications	being	available	for	a	little	over	a	month,	already	over	
30%	of	funds	are	allocated.	We’re	looking	forward	to	a	successful	program	and	are	grateful	for	the	impact	
these	funds	will	make	on	the	lives	of	families,	children	and	local	childcare	providers.	

	

Performance	Measures:	

New	Access:		12	

Improved	Access:		5	

No	Longer	Substandard:	0	

	

	
	



Town of Brewster
2198 Main Street 

Brewster, MA 02631-1898 
Phone: (508) 896-3701 
Fax: (508) 896-8089 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Brewster Select Board 
FROM: Donna J. Kalinick, Assistant Town Manager & Peter Lombardi, Town 

Manager  
RE: Strategic Goal CC-3, Potential Childcare Subsidy Program 
DATE: January 22, 2024 

Overview: 

The Select Board established Strategic Goal CC3 to evaluate feasibility of potential 
childcare subsidy program and implement in equitable and sustainable manner. On 
November 27, 2023, the Select Board had an initial discussion about the parameters of 
a potential program and took public input. Since then, the Town Manager and Assistant 
Town Manager have done additional research and met with Cassie Boyd Marsh, of 
Bailey and Boyd Associates again to answer some of Select Board members’ questions. 
Cassie Boyd Marsh is also here this evening to address the Board. Bailey and Boyd 
Associates is the current administrator for the Regional Community Development Block 
Grant (CDBG) childcare voucher program. The most recent CDBG quarterly reports are 
included in tonight’s packet and show that there were 18 Brewster children in the FY21 
grant cycle and 12 to date in the FY22/23 grant program. Additionally, on the State 
level, there is ongoing discussion about expanding the Mass State Childcare voucher 
program as well. The draft Town childcare stipend pilot program would be brought to 
the May 2024 Town Meeting with a proposed implementation date of August 2024.  

Discussion and Decision Points: 

1. Discuss how the state childcare voucher program and CDBG childcare program 
interplay with local funding. Children who are receiving a state voucher are not 
eligible for local funding or CDBG. The CDBG program guidelines require that 
local funds be used before one can be CDBG eligible. A program administrator 
would assist families in navigating any transitions of aid. 

2. Are there any income eligibility requirements or is the program open to all 
families in Brewster? Requiring income limits will result in a higher administrative 
cost and more paperwork to verify eligibility for families. Both the state voucher 
program and CDBG require income eligibility because the programs are limited to 

Office of: 

Town Manager 
Select Board  



families up to 80% of Area Median Income (AMI).  As an alternative to requiring 
income eligibility, which requires certification of financial records submitted, the 
Town could collect basic data on families to be used in making any adjustments 
to the program in the second year. Basic data is included in the Truro application 
on page 1, box 3; we would recommend the collection of similar data.  

3. Determine the age of children to be served. Recommendation was for 3 to 4 
years olds (2.9 to 4.9). 

4. Determine per child stipend amount. Board members asked for information 
about $3K versus $4K per child. We could serve 73 children at 3K versus 55 
children at 4K, assuming a $30,000 administrative fee. Information regarding 
local childcare provider costs is included in your packet.  

5. Do we limit the stipend to one child per family? If so, we recommend that 3-
year-olds be grandfathered in the second year, so they do not lose continuity of 
care.  

6. First come, first serve basis versus lottery. We recommend a lottery process for 
at least the first year and until we determine the number of applicants.  

Next Steps: If approved, implementation for this program would begin for the 2024-
2025 School Year (effective September 2024). 

1. Draft warrant article for Town Meeting which would be reviewed by legal 
counsel. Votes on article to be made by Select Board and Finance Committee. 

2. Discuss funding mechanism with Board of Assessors, vote to release overlay 
funding in the amount of $250,000 for this purpose. 

3. If approved by Town meeting, put out Request for Quotes to hire administrator. 
4. Once the Administrator is hired, work on overview sheet, draft program 

regulations and application for program. 
5. Outreach to families, childcare providers and schools/Recreation regarding new 

program. 
6. Set up required financial system with Finance Team. This will be very similar to 

the system we have in place for CDBG as providers are paid on a monthly basis. 



Town of Brewster 
2198 Main Street 

Brewster, MA 02631-1898 

Phone: (508) 896-3701 
Fax: (508) 896-8089 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Brewster Select Board 
FROM: Donna J. Kalinick, Assistant Town Manager & Peter Lombardi, Town 

Manager  
RE: Strategic Goal CC-3, Potential Childcare Subsidy Program 
DATE: November 22, 2023 

  
 
Overview: 
 
The Town of Brewster is the lead community for the Community Development Block 
Grant (CDBG) Regional Grant for the towns of Brewster, Wellfleet and Dennis. In 
addition to Housing Rehabilitation, the program also provides childcare subsidies for 
eligible families up to 80% of the Area Median Income (AMI). As of the November 
CDBG report, there were 18 Brewster children receiving this annual stipend which can 
be up to $6,000 per child. There are 18 Dennis children in this program and 1 child 
from Wellfleet. The Town of Wellfleet started a town program for 3- and 4-year-olds in 
2021 which offers up to $7,000 per child annually. The Town of Dennis also recently 
initiated a town program that services children aged 0 to age 4 years old and 11 
months which offers up to $2,400 per child per year but it is limited to one child per 
family, 50 total participants, and has a 150% AMI eligibility requirement. It should be 
noted that families are not eligible to receive CDBG childcare subsidies unless and until 
all local funds have been expended by the family.  
 
In addition to the CDBG towns noted above, the towns of Truro, Eastham, Chatham, 
and Orleans have created local pre-school subsidy programs in the last 5 years. We 
have had local families reach out to the Town and inquire why Brewster does not have 
a program in place. In response to these inquiries, the Select Board voted to add 
investigation of a potential Brewster program as a goal in their FY24-25 Strategic Plan.  
 
The Town of Harwich was the most recent town to adopt a childcare voucher program 
at their May 2022 Town Meeting. Since Harwich is closest to Brewster in terms of the 
number of children that would potentially be serviced, the Town Manager and Assistant 
Town Manager met with Lucy Gilmore who is the Monomoy Family Resource 
Coordinator and was hired by the Town of Harwich to design their program. The 
program was funded through $250,000 Free Cash appropriation as a pilot program and 

Office of: 
 

Town Manager 
Select Board  

 

 

 



services 3- and 4-year-olds at up to $4,000 dollars per child, for a maximum of 59 
children. These subsidies are awarded on a first-come first-served and the program 
overseen by the Harwich Council on Aging. From our meeting with Ms. Gilmore, we 
were able to glean some advice on best practices and lessons learned about 
implementing a new program and the state of childcare availability on the Cape, 
particularly on the Lower and Outer Cape. We also met with Cassie Boyd-Marsh of 
Bailey Boyd Associates, who is our current CDBG administrator and administers Truro’s 
town program.  
 
We have included the most recent enrollment data from Nauset Schools. From this 
data, we estimated that there would be approximately 110 to 120 eligible 3- and 4-
year-olds. According to recent census data, births over the last few years have 
averaged about 50 a year. We are making the following recommendations regarding a 
potential pilot program in Brewster, which are followed by several decision points for 
consideration by the Board.  
 
Recommended Pilot Program: 
 

1. Program would be offered to families with 3- and 4-year-olds (effective as of a 
certain date). Due to the number of children in Brewster, it is not financially 
viable to accommodate all children under 5. Also, most other Cape town 
programs target families with 3- and 4-year olds.  Preschool is especially 
important to 3- to 4-year-olds’ developmental learning and transitioning to 
kindergarten. 

2. Program would be funded at $250,000 from available surplus overlay funds for 
the initial 3-year period. The Town currently has a balance of over $1M in 
overlay. This is a stable funding source for the first 3 years that will not require 
using levy capacity or seeking an override. It will allow the Town to evaluate the 
program and assess its long-term viability. The Finance Team, including the 
Deputy Assessor, has discussed this financing plan and believes it is sustainable 
in the near-term. We would need to seek approval from the Board of Assessors.  

3. Town would hire a firm to administrate the program. The Town does not have 
the internal capacity to run the program in-house. The CDBG program is run by 
an administrator and that has been effective and efficient. Due to the 
coordination between receiving town funds and potentially receiving CDBG funds, 
it is important to have professionals who are well versed in this arena to assist 
families. The Assistant Town Manager would be the direct contact for the 
program administrator since she already serves in that capacity for the CDBG 
program. The Town would promote the program and be available to answer 
questions from residents.  

4. Program would be restricted to one child per family to be determined through a 
lottery.  



5. Program would provide up to $4,000 per child and would serve up to 55 children.  
The $30,000 balance of the $250,000 program budget would cover 
administrative costs. 

6. Program application and related materials would be created in conjunction with 
the administrator and using other town’s best practices.  

 
Discussion and Decision Points: 
 

1. Determine age of children to be served.  
2. Determine total program funding and per child stipend amount. Do we limit 

subsidy to one per family? Do we want to reduce the subsidy amounts to 
increase the number of eligible families?  Confirm funding source.  

3. First come, first serve basis versus lottery.  Do families automatically qualify for 
subsidy in Year 2 if they receive subsidy for 3-year old in Year 1? 

4. Are there any income eligibility requirements or is the program open to all 
families in Brewster? 

 
If approved, implementation for this program would begin for the 2024-2025 School 
Year (effective September 2024). 

 



 
 

Page 1 of 2 
 

CHILDCARE VOUCHER PROGRAM 
Family Application 

  

APPLICATION FOR CHILDCARE VOUCHER PROGRAM 
Please complete one application per child. Applications must be completed fully and returned to Truro Town Hall, 

Attention: Childcare Voucher Program, P.O. Box 2030, Truro, MA 02666 or to ChildcareVouchers@truro-ma.gov with the 
subject line “Childcare Voucher Program” by Monday, October 31, 2022 at 4 pm.  

CHILDCARE PROVIDER INFORMATION 
Please list all licensed childcare programs attended by this child.  

The following questions are helpful to understand the families served by this program. This program is not needs-based and 
responses to these questions will not be used to determine eligibility and/or funding allocations. 
 

Total Approximate Annual Household Income: ______________ Household Size (# of Persons): _____________ 

Estimated Monthly Childcare Cost for This Child: ______________________ 

Estimated Number of Hours of Childcare for This Child Per Week: ______________________ 

 

 

Child’s Name: __________________________________  Child’s Date of Birth: ___________________________ 

Name(s) of Parent(s) or Legal Guardian(s):  _________________________________    

   _________________________________ 

   _________________________________  

Street Address: _____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Mailing Address: ____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Phone Number: ______________________________   Email: ________________________________________ 

Parent/ Guardian is:   A Truro Resident   A Town of Truro Employee 

  An employee or business owner employed for 20+ hours per week in Truro: 

  Business Name: _________________________________________________ 

 

Name of Program Provider: ________________________________________________________ 

Address of Program: ________________________________________________________________________________ 

Program Contact Person: ___________________________ Program Hours: ________________________________ 

Program Phone Number: ___________________________ Program Email: ________________________________ 

 

 
Name of Program Provider: ________________________________________________________ 

Address of Program: ________________________________________________________________________________ 

Program Contact Person: ___________________________ Program Hours: ________________________________ 

Program Phone Number: ___________________________ Program Email: ________________________________ 

 

 

mailto:ChildcareVouchers@truro-ma.gov


 
 

Page 2 of 2 
 

CHILDCARE VOUCHER PROGRAM 
Family Application 

 

Please provide employment information for each parent/ guardian in the designated box and list all jobs held by each 
parent/ guardian over the course of the year. 

In signing this application, I verify that all information provided is accurate and truthful. I am aware that this is signed 
under penalty of perjury. 

_________________________________________  __________________________ 
Signature of Parent or Legal Guardian    Date 

Applications must be completed fully and returned to Truro Town Hall, Attention: Childcare Voucher Program, P.O. Box 2030, Truro, MA 02666 or to 
ChildcareVouchers@truro-ma.gov with the subject line “Childcare Voucher Program” by Monday, October 31, 2022 at 4 pm. 

Parent(s)/ Guardian(s) Work Status 
Additional Lines are Provided for Parent(s)/ Guardians Working More Than One Job. Please list all work. 

 

 

Parent/ Guardian 1 
  Employed  Not Employed   

Job Type: _______________________________   Job Location (Please List Town): ___________________ 

Job Sector (i.e. Retail, Hospitality, Government, Agriculture, etc.): ___________________________________________ 

Is this a Seasonal Position?   Yes   No 

  

Job Type: _______________________________   Job Location (Please List Town): ___________________ 

Job Sector (i.e. Retail, Hospitality, Government, Agriculture, etc.): ___________________________________________ 

Is this a Seasonal Position?   Yes   No 

 

Job Type: _______________________________   Job Location (Please List Town): ___________________ 

Job Sector (i.e. Retail, Hospitality, Government, Agriculture, etc.): ___________________________________________ 

Is this a Seasonal Position?   Yes   No 

 

 

 

Parent/ Guardian 2 
  Employed  Not Employed   

Job Type: _______________________________   Job Location (Please List Town): ___________________ 

Job Sector (i.e. Retail, Hospitality, Government, Agriculture, etc.): ___________________________________________ 

Is this a Seasonal Position?   Yes   No 

  

Job Type: _______________________________   Job Location (Please List Town): ___________________ 

Job Sector (i.e. Retail, Hospitality, Government, Agriculture, etc.): ___________________________________________ 

Is this a Seasonal Position?   Yes   No 

 

Job Type: _______________________________   Job Location (Please List Town): ___________________ 

Job Sector (i.e. Retail, Hospitality, Government, Agriculture, etc.): ___________________________________________ 

Is this a Seasonal Position?   Yes   No 

 

 

 

mailto:ChildcareVouchers@truro-ma.gov


Tuition and Fees Academic Year 2023 -2024

Programs Details Tuition

Toddler 2 Half Days
Toddler 2 Full Days

9am to 1pm
9am to 3pm

$4,098.00
$5,300.00

Toddler 3 Half Days
Toddler 3 Full Days

9am to 1pm
9am to 3pm

$6,147.00
$7,950.00

Toddler 4 Half Days
Toddler 4 Full Days

9am to 1pm
9am to 3pm

$7,649.00
$10,162.00

Toddler 5 Half Days
Toddler 5 Full Days

9am to 1pm
9am to 3pm

$9,561.00
$11,252.00

Preschool & Pre-Kindergarten 2 Half Days
Preschool & Pre-Kindergarten 2 Full Days

9am to 1pm
9am to 3pm

$3,907.00
$5,053.00

Preschool & Pre-Kindergarten 3 Half Days
Preschool & Pre-Kindergarten 3 Full Days

9am to 1pm
9am to 3pm

$5,452.00
$6,159.00

Preschool & Pre-Kindergarten 4 Half Days
Preschool & Pre-Kindergarten 4 Full Days

9am to 1pm
9am to 3pm

$6,343.00
$7,061.00

Preschool & Pre-Kindergarten 5 Half Days
Preschool & Pre-Kindergarten 5 Full Days

9am to 1pm
9am to 3pm

$7,718.00
$8,176.00

Kindergarten 8am to 3pm $8,256.00

First Grade 8am to 3pm $8,504.00

Second Grade 8am to 3pm $8,759.00

Third, Fourth & Fifth Grade 8am to 3pm $9,294.00

Extra Programs & Fees Details Tuition

Application Fee New Student Applicants $75.00

Student Activity and Supplies Fee* Please see reverse for
itemized list (required for all 1st-5th Graders)

Covers all field trips, enrichment
materials and school supplies

$500/year

Late Fee/Returned Payment Incurs on the 10th of the month $30.00

Toddler & Preschool Morning Enrichment 7:30am to Start of School $10/day

Toddler & Preschool Afternoon Enrichment 3pm to 4:30pm $20/day

Elementary Morning Enrichment 7:30am to the Start of School $6/day

Elementary Afterschool Enrichment 3pm to 4:30pm $20/day

Military Discount 5% Military ID or DD214 Required 5% off Core Tuiiton

Sibling Discounts
For Core Tuition Only – does not apply to extras,
application fee or enrichment programs

2nd Sibling
3rd Sibling
4th Sibling

5% off Core Tuition
10% off Core Tuition
20% off Core Tuition

Adding/Changing to Full Day (9am-3pm)
Once School year has started

Adding 1pm to 3pm $20/day

Page 1 of 2



Late Pickup Policy Fee After 4:30pm $5.00 per minute

Student Activity and Supply Fee

This fee can be broken out into monthly installments if you so choose

This is for Students entering Grades 1-5

Includes All Field Trips for the year both with the van and the school bus.

All School Supplies:
❒ Washable markers (thick and thin)

❒ Colored pencils

❒ #2 pencils & erasers (for tops of pencils)

❒ Glue Sticks

❒ Elmer's Glue

❒ Scissors

❒ Ruler with standard and metric units

❒ Pencil sharpener

❒ Protractor

❒ Supply box with lid (for supplies above)

❒ Two inch 3-ring binder

❒ Pkg. of dividers

❒ Lined paper

❒ Composition books (black and white)

❒ folder with pockets

❒ Spiral notebooks

❒ Chlorox/Lysol Wipes

❒ Science Project 3-Fold White Display Board (14x22)

❒ Ziploc Bags (quart and gallon)

❒ Sketch Pad

All Enrichment Materials:
❒ Food for special events throughout the year

❒ All seasonal extra supplies for events like

❒ Halloween Party

❒ Pancake Breakfast

❒ Cookie Decorating

❒ Gingerbread houses

❒ Valentines Party

❒ Egg Hunt

Page 2 of 2



Program Days  Infant Toddler Preschool SBS / PreK

Half Day  -  4 Hours
Available Schedules: 2 $560.00 $553.00 $508.00

8:30 - 12:30 3 $836.00 $825.00 $758.00 $777.00
or 5 $1,386.00 $1,367.00 $1,257.00 $1,295.00

9:00 - 1:00

Short Day  -  6 Hours
Available Schedule: 2 $840.00 $829.00 $762.00 $781.00

9:00 - 3:00 3 $1,253.00 $1,237.00 $1,137.00 $1,166.00
5 $2,078.00 $2,051.00 $1,886.00 $1,933.00

Full Day  -  8 Hours
Available Schedules:

8:00 - 4:00 2 $1,120.00 $1,105.00 $1,016.00 $1,042.00
or 3 $1,671.00 $1,649.00 $1,516.00 $1,554.00

8:30 - 4:30 5 $2,771.00 $2,734.00 $2,514.00 $2,577.00
or

9:00 - 5:00

Long Full Day - 9 Hours
Available Schedule: 2 $1,260.00 $1,243.00 $1,143.00 $1,172.00

8:00 - 5:00 3 $1,880.00 $1,855.00 $1,706.00 $1,749.00
5 $3,117.00 $3,076.00 $2,828.00 $2,900.00

$20 / Hour for Added Time 5% Discount on annual tuition paid in full by September 10th.
$80 Added Half Day 2% Discount on tuition if scheduled for 5 days.
$160 Added Full Day

MONTHLY TUITION RATES SEPTEMBER 2023 - AUGUST 2024

Family School & Salt Box School

3/16/2023

Tuition is approximately 50 weeks divided into equal monthly payments.

Due at Confirmation for New Families:  $300 TUITION DEPOSIT
$300 Tuition Deposit is non-refundable and will be applied to your September 2023 bill.

Due at Enrollment:  $80 REGISTRATION FEE









Archived: Friday, January 19, 2024 3:12:45 PM
From: Donna Kalinick 
Sent: Friday, January 19, 2024 3:05:23 PM
To: Erika Mawn 
Subject: FW: 1993 Main Street
Importance: Normal
Sensitivity: None

 
 
From: Kevin Varley <kvarley@brewster-ma.gov> 
Sent: Friday, January 19, 2024 3:03 PM
To: Susan FORD < t>
Cc: Robert Moran <rmoran@brewster-ma.gov>; Scott Romer <sromer@brewster-ma.gov>; Richard Leibowitz
<rleibowitz@brewster-ma.gov>; Peter Lombardi <plombardi@brewster-ma.gov>; Donna Kalinick <dkalinick@brewster-
ma.gov>
Subject: 1993 Main Street
 
Mr. Ford,
 
Thank you for your time this afternoon and for your efforts in addressing the violations of the Massachusetts Fire Safety
Code (527 CMR 1.00) that were identified in the Order of Notice that was issued to you on December 11, 2023.  I
believe that you have made considerable and commendable progress in rectifying all known fire safety related
deficiencies. 
 
At this time, all violations that were listed in the December 11th Order of Notice have been satisfactorily resolved with the
exception of the following items which are expected to be completed by early next week:
 
Violation #3
527 CMR 50.2.1.1: Kitchen Hood Systems General

* The kitchen hood system was serviced on June 10, 2023 and is due every 180 days (12/7/2023). Completed
* Evidence of grease was present along the seams of the horizontal duct work leading to the exterior exhaust fan.
The amount of grease present was significant and indicates a possible non-liquid tight seam in the system.

* Brewster Fire Department and Building Department officials met onsite with the contractor who will be
performing this repair over the next two days.

* Kevin Kidd- North Atlantic Mechanical
Violation #5
527 CMR 13.1.8: All fire protection systems and devices shall be maintained in a reliable operating condition and shall
be replaced or repaired where defective or recalled.

* Detector on the second floor missing.
* You have informed the Brewster Fire Department and Building Department that your electrician will be
installing two new detectors later this afternoon.

* Detector on the second floor pulled from ceiling and hanging by wires. Completed
 
 
As you know, during this inspection an additional issue was found regarding your emergency lighting.  It is my
understanding that you currently have an electrician onsite and that they are working to correct this problem. 
 
The Brewster Fire Department feels that you have made significant progress in complying with the Order of Notice that
was issued to you on December 11, 2023 and we understand that all remaining violations will be resolved prior to
January 22, 2024 at 4PM.  Fire Prevention Officer Romer will perform another site visit on Monday afternoon to confirm
that this work has been completed. 

mailto:dkalinick@brewster-ma.gov
mailto:emawn@brewster-ma.gov


 
The Brewster Fire Department will report to Town Management and to the Select Board that the building is believed to
now be safe for continued use and operation.
 
 
Sincerely,
 
 
Deputy Chief Kevin Varley
Brewster Fire Department
1671 Main Street
Brewster, MA 02631
508-896-7018
 

 



TOWN OF BREWSTER

2198 MAIN STREET 
BREWSTER MA 02631 

Phone: 508-896-3701 ext 1125 
Email:Building@brewster-ma.gov

BUILDING DEPARTMENT

January 19, 2024 

Re; The Woodshed, Safety Inspection 

The building Department completed an inspection of the Woodshed today at 1:30 pm with the Fire 

Department. We found 3 exit signs in the Woodshed portion of the building to be defective, they did not 

illuminate when the power was turned off. Mr. Ford has been made aware of this deficiency and is 

expected to act quickly to remediate the situation. The restaurant portion of the building and second 

floor is on a different system and is fully functional for both emergency lighting and exit signs.  All 

portions of the building including the second floor have operational sprinklers. I believe the restaurant 

portion of the building to be safe. 

Respectfully, 

Richard Leibowitz CBO  



Archived: Friday, January 19, 2024 3:42:39 PM
From: Donna Kalinick 
Sent: Friday, January 19, 2024 3:22:18 PM
To: Kevin Varley Susan FORD 
Cc: Robert Moran Scott Romer Richard Leibowitz Peter Lombardi Erika Mawn 
Subject: RE: 1993 Main Street
Importance: Normal
Sensitivity: None
Attachments:
5. 2024 Liquor License and CV- through Jan 20 2024.pdf; Select Board Meeting Agenda - 1.22.24.pdf;

Mr. Ford, as a reminder, your current Liquor and Common Victualler licenses are valid through January 20th. The Select Board
will take the extension of these licenses or issuance of annual licenses up at their meeting on Monday January 22, 2024.
Based on the report from the Fire Department, we will allow the operation of the restaurant only until the Board has made a
decision on this matter. Sincerely, Donna
 
 
Donna J. Kalinick
Assistant Town Manager
Town of Brewster
508-896-3701 X1100
 
Town Offices are currently open Mon-Thursday, 8:30am to 4pm and Fridays by appointment. For further details, please visit
our website at www.brewster-ma.gov.
 
 
 
From: Kevin Varley <kvarley@brewster-ma.gov> 
Sent: Friday, January 19, 2024 3:03 PM
To: Susan FORD <sjford59@comcast.net>
Cc: Robert Moran <rmoran@brewster-ma.gov>; Scott Romer <sromer@brewster-ma.gov>; Richard Leibowitz
<rleibowitz@brewster-ma.gov>; Peter Lombardi <plombardi@brewster-ma.gov>; Donna Kalinick <dkalinick@brewster-
ma.gov>
Subject: 1993 Main Street
 
Mr. Ford,
 
Thank you for your time this afternoon and for your efforts in addressing the violations of the Massachusetts Fire Safety
Code (527 CMR 1.00) that were identified in the Order of Notice that was issued to you on December 11, 2023.  I
believe that you have made considerable and commendable progress in rectifying all known fire safety related
deficiencies. 
 
At this time, all violations that were listed in the December 11th Order of Notice have been satisfactorily resolved with the
exception of the following items which are expected to be completed by early next week:
 
Violation #3
527 CMR 50.2.1.1: Kitchen Hood Systems General

* The kitchen hood system was serviced on June 10, 2023 and is due every 180 days (12/7/2023). Completed
* Evidence of grease was present along the seams of the horizontal duct work leading to the exterior exhaust fan.
The amount of grease present was significant and indicates a possible non-liquid tight seam in the system.

mailto:dkalinick@brewster-ma.gov
mailto:kvarley@brewster-ma.gov
mailto:sjford59@comcast.net
mailto:rmoran@brewster-ma.gov
mailto:sromer@brewster-ma.gov
mailto:rleibowitz@brewster-ma.gov
mailto:plombardi@brewster-ma.gov
mailto:emawn@brewster-ma.gov
http://www.brewster-ma.gov/


















emawn
Text Box




Archived: Thursday, January 18, 2024 1:32:11 PM
From: 
To: Susan FORD 
Subject: RE: Letter Regarding 2024 Annual License Renewals
Importance: Normal
Sensitivity: None

Perfect.  Thank you,
Erika
 

Erika Mawn
Executive Assistant
Town Manager/Select Board Office
Phone: 508-896-3701 x1100
Website: www.brewster-ma.gov
2198 Main Street Brewster MA 02631
 
From: Susan FORD < > 
Sent: Friday, December 22, 2023 3:16 PM
To: Erika Mawn <emawn@brewster-ma.gov>
Subject: RE: Letter Regarding 2024 Annual License Renewals
 
Okay Erika.  Yes, I got your latest email.  Thanks

On 12/22/2023 3:12 PM EST Erika Mawn <emawn@brewster-ma.gov> wrote:
 
 
Thank you Bob,
 
Please let me know if you receive this email.
 
The letter from our officed dated December 20, 2023, was based on the Select Board’s conditional vote to issue
annual license renewals, which are effective as of January 1, 2024, contingent on the establishment passing all
annual inspections completed by Town Departments. This information was communicated to you then by email
from me dated December 7, 223 at 11L38am (I can forward if needed).  The Brewster Inn and the Woodshed have
not passed their annual inspection for the Fire Department and Building Department.  Based on the Fire
Department’s most recent orders of notice, violations have 30 days to be corrected.  Many of the violations in
their December 11, 2023, notice were previously identified in the August 12, 2022 letter- almost a year and a half
ago.  However, although the most recent Fire Department letter was dated December 11, 2023, and sent via
registered mail, we understand that you may not have received their correspondence until December 20. 
Accordingly, we will issue temporary license for your establishment for 2024 through January 20.  Absent reports
from the Fire Department and Building Department that the violations identified in their correspondence are
not fully rectified by that date, you will not be permitted to operate the restaurant or serve alcohol after January
20, 2024.  Please contact representatives from those Departments directly if you have any questions about the
violations.
 
Kind Regards & Merry Christmas
Erika
 
 

mailto:sjford59@comcast.net
http://www.brewster-ma.gov/
mailto:emawn@brewster-ma.gov


 

Erika Mawn
Executive Assistant
Town Manager/Select Board Office
Phone: 508-896-3701 x1100
Website: www.brewster-ma.gov
2198 Main Street Brewster MA 02631
 
From: Susan FORD < > 
Sent: Friday, December 22, 2023 3:11 PM
To: Erika Mawn <emawn@brewster-ma.gov>
Subject: Re: Letter Regarding 2024 Annual License Renewals
 
Erika,  Here I am.  Maybe you can send it now  Bob

On 12/20/2023 1:49 PM EST Erika Mawn <emawn@brewster-ma.gov> wrote:
 
 
Good Afternoon Mr. Ford,
 
Please review the attached letter regarding the annual renewal of the 2024 Common Victualler and
Liquor Licenses for The Brewster Inn Inc., d/b/a The Woodshed.  A copy of the letter is also being
mailed to you.
 
Regards,
Erika
 

Erika Mawn
Executive Assistant
Town Manager/Select Board Office
Phone: 508-896-3701 x1100
Website: www.brewster-ma.gov
2198 Main Street Brewster MA 02631
 

https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.brewster-ma.gov%2F&c=E,1,jQOlBWDzTAb2w_F4o_EHQ7GaWKFQ_o3_PlnhXrt-eJUj17AqxuqQgYHTFtzjOtdItEe4APBm3DZ_SVkmSzBrFseAHlPnIBUpu-BHpnFy&typo=1
mailto:emawn@brewster-ma.gov
mailto:emawn@brewster-ma.gov
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.brewster-ma.gov%2F&c=E,1,wXziw_5e4lbnWj2KL1IRwkmCv_zt6EKAVWBkUDhaAwBiqg23em52KVR7G0lO_3mpL9BmsnTlDVWLE6hu2L5wUax81ttTnnuYdlOmhhd4&typo=1






















# AFP 2023 Rate 2023 2023 Revenue 5% increase 6% Increase 7.5% increase
Res
Early 323 1,300.00$  419,900.00$      1,365.00$          1,380.00$          1,400.00$          
Morning 295 990.00$     292,050.00$      1,040.00$          1,050.00$          1,065.00$          
Twilight 128 540.00$     69,120.00$        570.00$              570.00$             580.00$             
College 20 450.00$     9,000.00$           450.00$              450.00$             450.00$             
Junior 18 204.00$     3,672.00$           204.00$              204.00$             204.00$             
Total 784 793,742.00$      

Non Res
Early 264 2,165.00$  571,560.00$      2,275.00$          2,295.00$          2,325.00$          
Twilight 95 800.00$     76,000.00$        840.00$              850.00$             860.00$             
College 15 650.00$     9,750.00$           650.00$              650.00$             650.00$             
Junior 3 292.00$     876.00$              292.00$              292.00$             292.00$             
Total 377 658,186.00$      

Total AFP 1161 1,451,928.00$   

Res 2024 Revenue 2024 Revenue 2024 Revenue 2024 Revenue
Early 323 1300 419,900.00$      440,895.00$      445,740.00$     452,200.00$     
Morning 295 990 292,050.00$      306,800.00$      309,750.00$     314,175.00$     
Twilight 128 540 69,120.00$        72,960.00$        72,960.00$        74,240.00$        
College 20 450 9,000.00$           9,000.00$          9,000.00$          9,000.00$          
Junior 18 204 3,672.00$           3,672.00$          3,672.00$          3,672.00$          
Total 784 793,742.00$      833,327.00$      841,122.00$     853,287.00$     

Non Res Less 50% new rev Less 50% new rev Less 50% new rev Less 50% new rev

Early Plus 13 277 2165 14,073.00$   585,632.00$      14,788.00$  615,387.00$      14,918.00$  620,797.00$     15,113.00$  628,912.00$     
Twilight Plus 12 107 800 4,800.00$     80,800.00$        5,040.00$    84,840.00$        5,100.00$    85,850.00$        5,160.00$    86,860.00$        
College 15 650 9,750.00$           9,750.00$          9,750.00$          9,750.00$          
Junior 3 292 876.00$              876.00$              876.00$             876.00$             
Total 402 677,058.00$      710,853.00$      717,273.00$     726,398.00$     

Total 1186 1,470,800.00$   1,544,180.00$  1,558,395.00$  1,579,685.00$  



CAPTAINS GOLF COURSE
FINANCIAL FORECAST

FISCAL YEARS 2025-2029

Peter Lombardi, Town Manager
Mimi Bernardo, Finance Director
Donna Kalinick, Assistant Town Manager
Jay Packett, Director of Golf

Town of Brewster, Massachusetts
December 12, 2023



Background

• Golf Department transitioned to a fully self-funded 
Enterprise Fund as of July 1, 2022 (FY23)

• Finance Team, Golf Director, and Golf Commission  
created a 10-Year Capital Plan and 5-Year Financial 
Forecast for the Golf Department in FY24

• Starting in 2023, rate setting is based on the annually 
updated Financial Forecast and long-term Capital Plan to
ensure future year projected revenues align with
estimated expenses and to create consistency in annual 
rate increases

12/12/2023

2



Budget Presentation Award

• Brewster Finance Team received the Government Finance 
Officers Association (GFOA) Distinguished Budget 
Presentation Award for our FY24 budget

• Award represents a significant achievement by the Town - it 
reflects the commitment of the Select Board and staff to 
meeting the highest principles of governmental budgeting

• Finance Team had to satisfy nationally recognized guidelines 
for effective budget presentation

• These guidelines are designed to assess how well an 
organization's budget serves as:

- a policy document
- a financial plan
- an operations guide
- a communications device

12/12/2023

3



Overview of FY24 Budget

• Total FY24 Budgeted Expenses increased by 8% over 
FY23 (including $350k transfer to Capital Stabilization), 
based on a variety of budgetary pressures 

• Personnel expenses increased by about 12%, including 
the new full-time Business Manager position.

• Indirect charges were reviewed and fully accounted for, 
increasing by 3%, with $211,619 being transferred to 
the General Fund to cover these overhead expenses

• Golf Department pays for its share of OPEB, Retirement, 
Health Insurance and related benefits (fully self-
supporting)

12/12/2023

4



Overview of FY24 Budget (cont’d)

• Significant deferred capital continued to be addressed, 
as the new Capital Stabilization Fund balance was 
increased to $750k to start FY24

• $350k was appropriated at Fall 2023 Town Meeting to help pay for 
a portion of the clubhouse windows and doors project

• Current Golf Capital Stabilization Fund balance is $424,374

• Membership fees were increased on April 1, 2023 (4% 
average increase) - rates were set based on FY24-FY28 
Forecast

• Timing of rate increases should help maintain healthy 
Retained Earning balances 

• Actual revenues continue to exceed projections ($723k 
in FY23)

12/12/2023

5



FY25-29 Budget Forecast: Revenue Assumptions

• Revenues were calculated to offset any future deficits, 
resulting in the following recommended rate increases:

• FY25 5%  (includes 50% of 25 new non-members)

• FY26 6%

• FY27 7%

• FY28 7%  

• FY29 7%

• Proposed rate increases are exactly in line with last
year’s forecast except that FY28 is now set to increase
by 7% instead of 5% (largely due to higher capital costs)

• Assumes overall membership totals remain relatively
constant (except for adding new non-members in FY25)

12/12/2023

6



FY25-29 Budget Forecast: Revenue Assumptions
(cont’d)

• Cart Rates increase 8+% in FY25, then 5% in FY26+

• Capital Stabilization funds are assumed to help cover the 
debt payments in FY27 ($250k) and FY28 ($100k) to 
smooth rate increases and avoid deficits

• Solar Revenues

• $20+k to General Fund for Energy Manager

• $70+k balance to Golf Department

• Restaurant Revenues - $50k 

12/12/2023

7



FOR ILLUSTRATIVE PURPOSES12/12/2023 Revenue Overview

8



FY25-29 Budget Forecast: Expense Assumptions

• FY24 Expenses were reviewed by line item and adjusted 
based on current conditions – increasing by about 4.6% on 
average, including select targeted increases for items such as 
electricity, fuel and some materials that are particularly 
volatile right now and other anticipated expense drivers (eg.
20% increase in cart lease payments in 2nd half of FY25) 

• Consistent with the General Fund Financial Forecast, the 
following assumptions were applied to major cost drivers:

• Personnel 2.5% COLA, plus contractual steps in FY25-29

• Pension 11% (FY25), 10% (FY26-27), & 9% (FY28-29)

• Health Insurance 4% in FY25-FY29

• Indirects 5% in FY25-29

• No staffing changes proposed in FY25–29

12/12/2023

9



FOR ILLUSTRATIVE PURPOSES12/12/2023 Expense Overview

10



FY25-29 Forecast: Capital Debt Assumptions

• Golf Irrigation Project: $8.5M in Long Term Debt 
with 4% interest (20-year loan)

• Debt payments of $625k to start in FY27

• Maintenance Building Project: $4M in Long Term 
Debt with 4% interest rate (20-year loan)

• Debt payments of $325k to start in FY25

12/12/2023

11



FY25-29 Budget Forecast Implications

• Estimated FY25 Golf revenue totals:    
$4,958,705

• Projected FY25 Golf Fund operating appropriations: 
$4,783,470

• Estimated available FY25 capacity: 
$175,235 (3.7% of annual operating budget)

• Annual rate increases must be 5+% for the 
Enterprise Fund to remain solvent in FY25+

12/12/2023

12



13

12/12/2023 Revenue & Expense Overview FOR ILLUSTRATIVE PURPOSES



FY25-29 Capital & Reserves

• Retained Earnings Balance as of July 1, 2023: $2,105,819

• $1.7M was authorized for capital at Fall 2023 Town Meeting

• Current Retained Earning Balance after FY24 capital:$755,819

• 10 Year Capital Improvement Plan assumes about $1.3M in 
annual capital expenses

• Starting in FY27, debt payments for two major capital 
projects account for about 75% of all annual capital 
investment

• Based on forecast year-end totals, reserves may not be able 
to cover additional capital needs - revenues, expenses 
(operating & capital), and reserve balances all need to be 
monitored closely in FY25+

• Town’s Free Cash/Financial Reserves Policy recommends 
5-7% of operating budget annually be put aside with no less 
than 2-2.5% remaining after capital expenses paid out

12/12/2023

14



12/12/2023 Golf Capital Improvement Plan FY24 - 28

15

Capital Needs: FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027 FY 2028

Equipment Replacement 350,000$     400,000$     400,000$     400,000$     350,000$     

Pump House Feasibility 100,000$     

Irrigation System - All Holes   625,000$     625,000$     

Irrigation System Construction Management   100,000$     100,000$     

Maintenance Building Design 400,000$     

Maintenance Facility Upgrades  300,000$     300,000$     300,000$     300,000$     

Maintenance Facility Construction Management  175,000$     

Cart Barn Painting  15,000$       

Main Course Irrigation Well Reconditioning 100,000$     

Driving Range Well Reconditioning 50,000$       

Sink Hole Repair 20,000$       

Cart Path Improvements   120,000$      

Tee Box Improvements 20,000$       20,000$       20,000$       20,000$        

Clubhouse Painting  50,000$       

Clubhouse Roof Replacement 125,000$      

Pro Shop Furnishings  25,000$       

Clubhouse Window & Door Replacement

    Additional Costs Windows and Doors 700,000$     

Kitchen Equipment Replacement 15,000$       15,000$       15,000$       

Clubhouse Surroundings Improvements & Theme Enhancements  10,000$       10,000$       10,000$       10,000$       

Driving Range Improvements 15,000$       75,000$       

Total Planned Capital Improvements 1,700,000$  1,010,000$  1,065,000$  1,475,000$  1,435,000$  



Questions & Answers

12/12/2023

16



Town of Brewster
2198 Main Street 

Brewster, MA 02631-1898 
Phone: (508) 896-3701 
Fax: (508) 896-8089 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Brewster Select Board 
FROM: Conor Kenny  
RE: Update on Vesper Pond Road Betterment Project and Vote on Updated 

Resident Voting Process 
DATE: 1/17/2024 

In 2022, the Town of Brewster received a private road betterment petition to place an 
article on the Town Meeting warrant to authorize the Town to undertake a series of 
repairs to the roadway network consisting of the following roads:  

Vesper Pond Dr, Bay View Dr, Cranberry Lane, Mayflower Circle, Deer Path Circle, Jam 
Lane 

November 2022 Special Town Meeting ultimately endorsed the betterment by a 2/3 vote 
and authorized financing in the amount of $785,566.00. However, when the Town went 
out to public bid for the project, every construction bid exceeded the funding authorized 
by Town Meeting. Based upon the average of the bids received, the total project cost is 
now estimated at $1,256,636.88, including bonding, legal and administrative expenses.   

Therefore, in order for the process to proceed, residents on the aforementioned roads 
must now vote again on bringing a petition to Town Meeting to appropriate further 
funding for the same scope of work.  

A meeting to discuss the future of this betterment project took place on January 12, 2024, 
at Brewster Town Hall between neighborhood residents and Town staff. Donna Kalinick 
(Assistant Town Manager) and Conor Kenny (Project Manager) attended the meeting to 
explain the project cost increases, outline next steps in the process and answer questions 
from the neighborhood. Residents who attended the meeting indicated that they would 
like to receive a new round of proxy voting forms.

In order for this petition to be placed on the Annual Town Meeting warrant in May, the 
Town must receive an affirmative vote from at least fifty percent (50%) + 1 of the 
abutters no later than 45 days before Town Meeting – March 27, 2024. 

We recommend that the Select Board approve the sending out of proxy voting forms to 
residents in the Vesper Pond neighborhood. 

Office of: 

Select Board 

Town Manager 



Kari Hoffmann 
Fall 2022 Special Town Meeting 

Article No. 12 
Private Road Betterment: Vesper Pond Drive 

 
I move to finance temporary road repairs to the private 
ways known as Vesper Pond Drive, Bay View Drive, 
Cranberry Lane, Mayflower Circle, Deer Path Circle, and 
Jam Lane, including, without limitation, costs associated 
with engineering, construction, and reconstruction of said 
way, and costs incidental or related thereto, said sum to be 
spent by the Town Administrator with the approval of the 
Select Board; and, to meet said appropriation, to authorize 
the Treasurer, with the approval of the Select Board, to 
borrow Seven Hundred Eighty-Five Thousand Five 
Hundred Sixty-Six Dollars ($785,566) under 
Massachusetts General Laws Chapter 44, Section 7, 7(1), 7 
(5) or 8, Chapter 373 of the Acts of 2006, and/or any other 
enabling authority, and to issue bonds or notes of the Town 
therefor; which sum shall be assessed as a betterment 
under Massachusetts General Laws Chapter 80, Section 1 
on each parcel within the area benefiting from the 
improvement, all in compliance with the Brewster Town 
Code, Chapter 157, Article VIII, Section 157-20. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







2024 Vesper Betterment Timeline – Key 
Deadlines

MAY 2024MAY 2024ARP 2024ARP 2024MAR 2024MAR 2024FEB 2024FEB 2024JAN 2024JAN 2024

Neighborhood 
Meeting –
January 12

Deadline for return 
of proxy votes –
March 27 (simple 
majority yes vote 
required)

Town Meeting –
May 11



BREWSTER MASSACHUSETTS FIRE 
DEPARTMENT STAFFING ANALYSIS



Engaged to:

➢ Review the manner in which fire department and 
emergency medical services are provided and 
evaluate overall operations.

➢ Evaluate the fire department’s organizational 
structure, administration, and management.

➢ Evaluate the department’s staffing.

➢ Provide recommendations for improvement.

2



Our Goal:

To create a report that becomes a useful guide and a 
resource that shapes a vision for the success of the 

organization as it approaches the challenges       
and transitions of the future.

3



This analysis provides the 
organization and the 
community with 39 
recommendations. 

A plan to guide you moving 
forward. 

4

In reality the outcome is up to you.



➢ Interviews with numerous stakeholders.

➢Review and analysis of data and documents.

➢Review and evaluation of fire department 
operations and management.

➢Evaluating on-site operations, facilities, and 
resources.

➢13 major project elements involved.

5



➢ All recommendations for improvements are based 

on various administrative regulations promulgated at 

the federal and state levels, and nationally accepted 

consensus standards developed by: 

❖ ISO (Insurance Services Office)

❖ NFPA (National Fire Protection Association) 

❖ CFAI (Commission on Fire Accreditation 

International)

❖ CAAS (Commission on Accreditation of 

Ambulance Services)

❖ Industry best practices and procedures  

6



➢ Well equipped, with a beautiful state of the art fire 

station. 

➢ High functioning leadership team.

➢ Dedicated core group of members who are trying to 

make their organization one that provides dependable, 

high quality, emergency services to the Town of 

Brewster.

7



➢ Perform their duties competently, and, can be 

counted upon to complete assignments given to them. 

➢ Appears to have a positive public image, and, is 

respected for its long-standing service to the 

community. 

8



➢ The strategy currently in place in the Brewster Fire 

Department is a progressive and forward thinking one.  

The Brewster Fire Department has an excellent five-

year strategic plan that covers the period of 2022 

through 2026. 

9



➢The potential for a diminished level of service based 
on a shortage of available resources, primarily from a 
career staffing perspective and the annual requests 
for service continue to increase.

❖The loss of the call component of the Department over 
the past 10 years. This results in the only emergency 
response personnel immediately available (not 
counting mutual aid) being the on-duty personnel. 
There are no longer call personnel who respond to 
provide coverage or assist with multiple incidents. 

10



➢High turnover rate among career staff. 

❖The department has struggled to retain personnel. 
Frequent vacancies and a constant staffing deployment 
model has resulted in a high level of mandatory 
holdover and order-in overtime which can have a 
significant impact on firefighter health and wellness, as 
well as morale within the Department. 

11



➢Housing and rental costs in Brewster and surrounding 
communities, and to a larger extent Cape Cod in 
general, are extremely high and thus unaffordable for 
most public safety personnel especially those who are 
just starting out. This results in many firefighters living 
on the other side of the Sagamore Bridge, more than 
30 minutes from town and of limited to no value in a 
call back situation.

❖Challenges recruiting qualified personnel.

12



➢A need to continue the widespread use of automatic 
aid at the time of dispatch to reported structure fires 
to attempt to assemble an effective response force 
within the benchmark time frames.

➢Two simultaneous EMS calls can strip the Town of all 
fire and EMS protection.

➢Potentially increasing response times based on a 
growing number of overlapping calls (approaching 
20% of annual responses).

13



➢An aging resident population (35.1% of population is 
age 65 or over) will most likely result in increased 
requests for services further straining the system.

14



Many risks are also opportunities.  This 
report can be an idle source of 

conversation or a means to engage the 
organization to plan for a vibrant future.

15



➢When staffing is at five personnel: 

❖Two personnel respond on the ambulance to Alpha and 
Bravo, or Priority 3 calls. The three personnel remaining 
are now available for fire duty, or can handle a second 
ambulance call, if necessary. If they require additional 
assistance, they can request the engine to respond. 

❖Two personnel respond on the ambulance and three 
personnel respond on the engine to Charlie, Delta, and 
Echo, or Priority 1 and 2 calls. If an additional person is 
needed on the ambulance they can be sent to the       
hospital with the ambulance crew. 

16



➢ The Brewster Fire Department should strive to have a 
minimum of 16/17 firefighting personnel on the scene 
of every single-family residential structure fire within 8 
minutes of the time that units are responding. 

➢ For fires in multi-family residential buildings and 
commercial occupancies, a minimum of 27/28 
personnel should be on scene within 8 minutes of the 
time that units are responding in order to be able to 
establish a full effective response force. 

17



18



19

D
EP

A
R

T
M

EN
T 

P
O

P
U

LA
TIO

N
 

C
Y

2
2

 R
U

N
S 

*FU
LL TIM

E 

STA
FF 

# O
F 

FIR
EFIG

H
TER

S 

P
ER

 1
,0

00
 

R
ESID

EN
TS 

# O
F 

FIR
EFIG

H
TER

S 

P
ER

 SH
IFT 

*A
D

D
ITIO

N
A

L 

D
A

Y
SH

IFT 

P
ER

SO
N

N
EL 

D
U

TIES O
F 

D
A

Y
TIM

E 

P
ER

SO
N

N
EL 

Brewster 10,318 3,236 23 2.23 5 1 
Fire Prevention 

Officer 

Chatham 6,600 3,240 32 4.85 7 2 

Fire Prevention 

Officer                         

EMS Coordinator 

Orleans 6,307 2,683 36 3.8 8 2 

Fire Prevention 

Officer                         

EMS Coordinator 

Eastham 5,752 2,236 24 4.17 5 2  2 Firefighters 

Wellfleet 3,500 1,311 22 5.71 5 1 
Captain – Fire 

Prevention 

Harwich 13,441 4,850 40 2.68 9 2 

Fire Prevention 

Officer                         

EMS Coordinator 

 



➢ The Town of Brewster and Brewster Fire Department 
should incrementally hire additional firefighters to 
enhance daily on duty staffing to an eventual level of 
seven (7) personnel assigned to each shift. 

➢ The Town of Brewster should authorize the Brewster 
Fire Department to apply annually over the next several 
application periods for a federal Staffing for Adequate 
Fire and Emergency Response (SAFER) grant to fund the 
incremental hiring of a total of nine (9) additional 
personnel (two per shift plus a full-time EMS Officer) 
over the next several fiscal years.

20



➢ FY 2025 – Hire four (4) additional personnel to increase 
shift staffing to six (6) personnel with a minimum of five 
(5) on duty (off season only).

➢ FY 2026 – Hire one (1) additional person to allow for the 
creation of the full-time EMS officer position and the 
possible implementation of a MICU/CIP program. 
Promote four (4) firefighters to the rank of Lieutenant.

➢ FY 2028 – Hire four (4) additional personnel to increase 
shift staffing to seven (7) personnel with a minimum of 
six (6) on duty (off season only).

21



➢ In FY 2026, the Town of Brewster should consider 
creation of the position of Lieutenant on each shift in 
the Brewster Fire Department to allow for a continued 
appropriate span of control as recommended under the 
Incident Management System (IMS). 

➢At all staffing levels, the Brewster Fire Department 
should continue to utilize part-time personnel to 
supplement staffing level and maintain maximum shift 
staffing during peak season between Memorial Day and 
the end of September. 

22



23



24



➢Once a staffing level of seven (7) is achieved the 
Brewster Fire Department will be able to staff:

❖Two ambulances with two (2) personnel each.

❖If a third ambulance is needed during the day, it can 
be staffed with administrative personnel if they are 
available.

❖One engine with three personnel.

25



➢ The Town of Brewster and Brewster Fire Department 
should actively explore the feasibility of implementing 
some type of community based mobile integrated health 
care (Community Paramedicine) in an attempt to provide 
better service to the community, and possibly increase        
their EMS revenue. 

26



➢Planned growth of the Brewster Fire Department is 
essential to provide a consistent service level to the 
community, while keeping pace with increased 
demands for service. 

➢There is no “right” amount of fire protection or EMS 
delivery.  It is a constantly changing level based 
upon the expressed needs of the community. 

27



➢Defining the acceptable level of service.

➢Long term development of the Brewster Fire 
Department, its officers and personnel.

➢The goal of this study is to assist the Town of 
Brewster and the Brewster Fire Department in 
moving forward in a planned or intended strategic 
manner and to reinforce the existing strategic plan.

28



➢Each of the 39 recommendations should be given 
careful consideration.

➢View each recommendation as a goal. 

➢Approach the recommendations strategically & 
systematically to develop short & long term goals.

➢Follow the Strategic Plan.

➢Recognize each accomplishment.

29



30

Website:

www.mrigov.com 

Thank You

http://www.mrigov.com/






 

 
 
 

TOWN OF BREWSTER, MASSACHUSETTS                                           
FIRE DEPARTMENT STAFFING ANALYSIS 

 
NOVEMBER 2023 

 
 
 

 

Prepared by: 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Municipal Resources, Inc. 
66 Main Street, Suite B 

Plymouth, New Hampshire 03264 
mrigov.com 

Phone 603-279-0352 
 
 
 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 2 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 3 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

TOWN OF BREWSTER, MASSACHUSETTS 
FIRE DEPARTMENT STAFFING ANALYSIS 

 
CHAPTER I - PROJECT OVERVIEW, SCOPE, AND METHODOLOGY ........................................................ 6 

ABOUT MRI ...................................................................................................................................... 7 

MRI’S PHILOSOPHY .......................................................................................................................... 7 

OBJECTIVES ...................................................................................................................................... 8 

SCOPE OF WORK .............................................................................................................................. 9 

METHODOLOGY/PROJECT APPROACH ............................................................................................ 11 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS .................................................................................................................. 14 

CHAPTER II - COMMUNITY OVERVIEW .............................................................................................. 16 

TOWN OF BREWSTER ..................................................................................................................... 16 

BREWSTER FIRE DEPARTMENT ....................................................................................................... 17 

CHAPTER III - BREWSTER COMMUNITY RISK AND HAZARD PROFILE ................................................... 20 

RECOMMENDATIONS ..................................................................................................................... 29 

CHAPTER IV - BREWSTER FIRE DEPARTMENT ORGANIZATION, MANAGEMENT, AND OPERATIONS .... 30 

BREWSTER FIRE DEPARTMENT OVERVIEW ..................................................................................... 30 

RESPONSE METRICS ....................................................................................................................... 40 

FIRE OPERATIONS .......................................................................................................................... 48 

EMS OPERATIONS .......................................................................................................................... 52 

STAFFING, CRITICAL TASKING, AND DEPLOYMENT .......................................................................... 63 

COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS ............................................................................................................... 73 

AUTOMATIC/MUTUAL AID AND REGIONAL OPERATIONS ............................................................... 74 

INSURANCE SERVICES OFFICE (ISO) ................................................................................................. 78 

RECRUITMENT, TRAINING & PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT .......................................................... 83 

FIRE PREVENTION AND COMMUNITY RISK REDUCTION .................................................................. 85 

DIVERSITY AND CULTURAL AWARENESS ......................................................................................... 87 

ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES ............................................................................................................ 88 

BREWSTER INTERDEPARTMENTAL RELATIONS ............................................................................... 88 

RECOMMENDATIONS ..................................................................................................................... 89 

 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 4 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

CHAPTER V - FIRE DEPARTMENT FINANCIAL OPERATIONS .................................................................. 94 

ANNUAL BUDGET ........................................................................................................................... 94 

CAPITAL PLANNING ........................................................................................................................ 95 

AMBULANCE BILLING & REVENUE .................................................................................................. 95 

PERMITS: ....................................................................................................................................... 99 

GRANTS: ........................................................................................................................................ 99 

SOURCES OF ADDITIONAL FUNDING: ............................................................................................ 100 

     RECOMMENDATIONS …………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….101 

CHAPTER VI - SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS .......................................................................... 103 

CHAPTER III - BREWSTER COMMUNITY RISK AND HAZARD PROFILE ............................................. 103 

CHAPTER IV - BREWSTER FIRE DEPARTMENT ORGANIZATION, MANAGEMENT, AND OPERATIONS103 

CHAPTER V - FIRE DEPARTMENT FINANCIAL OPERATIONS ............................................................ 108 

CHAPTER VII - SUMMARY AND LOOKING TO THE FUTURE ................................................................ 111 

CURRENT STATE OF THE FIRE AND EMS DELIVERY SYSTEM ........................................................... 111 

STRATEGIC PLANNING (AKA LOOKING TO THE FUTURE) ............................................................... 112 

MRI’S VIEW OF THE FUTURE ......................................................................................................... 113 

FIRE SERVICE ACCREDITATION ...................................................................................................... 119 

CONCLUSION ................................................................................................................................ 120 

CHAPTER VIII - PROJECT TEAM ......................................................................................................... 122 

TEAM LEADER: ............................................................................................................................. 122 

PROJECT TEAM ............................................................................................................................. 123 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 5 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

 

 
REPORT 

 

 
 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 6 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

CHAPTER I 
PROJECT OVERVIEW, SCOPE, AND METHODOLOGY 

 
Municipal Resources, Inc. (MRI) was engaged by the Town of Brewster, 
Massachuse>s, to undertake an organizaAonal and operaAonal assessment 
including an analysis of the effecAveness, and overall efficiency study of the 
Town’s fire, rescue, and emergency medical services (EMS) delivery 
systems, to idenAfy any gaps or deficiencies, and to make recommendaAons 
for improvement. Projected growth in area services due to increases in 
populaAon and increased service levels were also included to provide 
recommendaAons on the Department’s long-range planning needs. The 
primary intent and goal of this project was to determine whether the 
exisAng organizaAonal structure and operaAons of the Brewster Fire 
Department including levels of staffing, faciliAes, equipment, funding, 

management pracAces, and deployment of resources are adequate to provide a level of service 
within Brewster, that is in line with generally accepted standards and benchmarks uAlized by 
comparable fire departments in similar communiAes; and based on standards and best pracAces 
for modern-day fire services currently in pracAce in Massachuse>s and the United States.   
 
To these ends, MRI looked to provide informaAon relaAve to: 
 

1. Short-term opportuniAes for improvement of the Department’s service delivery 
capabiliAes. 
 

2. Present short and long-term organizaAonal and operaAonal adjustments that seek to 
improve service delivery to the Town.  
 

These acAviAes are part of the Town of Brewster’s ongoing fire and emergency services oversight 
and planning responsibiliAes. They are focused on idenAfying the risks that residents, visitors, and 
firefighters are currently exposed to, as well as the potenAal future risks, and the development 
of an appropriate set of responses to those threats in a fiducially responsible manner. Through 
the strategic planning aspect, the project team makes recommendaAons for long-term success, 
viability, and stability, together with improved efficiency, operaAons, and safety for firefighters 
and ciAzens today, as well as projecAng future needs for the provision of fire and emergency 
medical services throughout the community. The MRI project team has a>empted to produce a 
report containing recommendaAons, focused primarily on long-range strategic planning, that will 
assist the Brewster Fire Department, and the Town of Brewster, to set a clear course of acAon for 
future service improvements and delivery. 
 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 7 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

ABOUT MRI 
 
MRI was founded in 1989 by six former municipal and state government managers, with both 
public and private, professional experience. MRI provides professional, technical, and 
management support services to municipaliAes, schools, and non-profit organizaAons 
throughout the Northeast. MRI provides technical knowledge and pracAcal experience that 
others cannot offer because it hires the best in the municipal consulAng industry. This is 
evidenced by a high level of implementaAon of MRI’s recommendaAons by its clients. MRI’s 
clients have come to expect the organizaAon to provide whatever they need, and it fulfills their 
expectaAons.     

MRI’s dynamic management staff adapts services to specific client needs. Clients realize that MRI 
has been in their shoes and has the experience, sensiAvity, and desire that it takes to develop 
and deliver services that specifically meets their needs. The depth of MRI’s experience is reflected 
not only in the experiences of its associates, but in the scope of services it provides its clients, 
from professional recruitment to organizaAonal and operaAonal assessments of individual 
municipal departments and school districts; or ongoing contracted services for various municipal 
government and school business support acAviAes. Municipal Resources has a parAcularly strong 
public safety group with naAonally recognized experAse in fire and emergency medical services.  

MRI’s professional staff is always focused on helping its clients solve problems and provide 
soluAons for their future success. We simply work to gain an understanding of past events to 
build a framework for future success. We do not put forth idealisAc, unachievable, or narrowly 
focused soluAons.   
 

MRI’S PHILOSOPHY 
 
Municipal Resources, Inc. is commi>ed to providing innovaAve and creaAve soluAons to the 
problems and issues facing local governments and the agencies that serve them.   

The purpose of MRI’s approach is to supplement the efforts of municipal employees and other 
personnel and enable them to do their jobs well. MRI is commi>ed to supporAng and enhancing 
posiAve, sustainable communiAes through be>er organizaAon, operaAons, and communicaAon. 
This is achieved by: 

Ø SupporAng towns, ciAes, counAes, school districts and other community service 
agencies with management and technical services to facilitate construcAve 
change within client organizaAons. 

Ø ConducAng studies and analyses designed to assist clients in achieving 
organizaAonal improvement. 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 8 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

Ø AdvocaAng and advancing cooperaAon, coordinaAon, and collaboraAon between 
government organizaAons and related community support agencies. 

Ø Maintaining a staff of highly qualified professional, experienced and open-minded 
life-long learners to serve as consultants and advisors to clients. 

Ø Maintaining awareness and understanding of advances in “best pracAces” for 
delivery of all levels of core community services and related professional 
management.  

Ø Developing and refining techniques for effecAve community engagement, 
informaAon disseminaAon, and construcAve change. 

 
OBJECTIVES 
 

1. To help municipaliAes and agencies obtain maximum value for limited tax dollars. 
 

2. To idenAfy and help communiAes manage the risks associated with public safety 
funcAons. 

 
3. To raise public awareness of the value and professionalism of their municipal resources. 

 
4. To help local leaders develop and execute plans that best meet their community’s needs, 

given available resources. 
 

 
FIGURE I-1: MRI PROJECT IMJPLEMENTATION PLAN 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 9 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

SCOPE OF WORK 

To be effecAve, a project of this type requires a thorough assessment to determine a baseline of 
current operaAons. ProjecAons for community populaAon growth that can translate into 
increased requests for service, the need for expanded levels of service, and evolving community 
expectaAons were necessary to develop recommendaAons for the department’s long-range 
plans. A thorough review of exisAng staffing, funding, management pracAces, and regulatory 
environment was undertaken to determine whether the department can provide a level of 
service that is in line with generally accepted standards and benchmarks for a community of like 
character. An evaluaAon of the following informaAon and topics were all components of this 
review: 
 
An evaluaAon of the following informaAon and topics were all components of this review: 

1. A review of background informaAon that impacts the Brewster Fire Department  
including: 

a. Fire service data and informaAon provided by the fire department and the Town; 
b. Community populaAon and demographics; 
c. ResidenAal, commercial, industrial, and municipal features of the community 

including a community tour;  
d. Review of incident response staAsAcs volume and trends; 
e. Review of response Ames; 
f. Policies and agreements that may determine staffing levels and pracAces;  
g. EvaluaAon of the provision and use of fiscal resources including the amount of 

overAme; 
h. Assess and evaluate the department’s current scheduling, staffing, organizaAonal 

structure and delivery of services; 
i. Assess service demand trends, including demographic and service demand increases; 

including those a>ributed to societal adjustment due to the Covid19 pandemic; 
j. Municipal ordinances related to fire and EMS delivery;  
k. Mutual aid agreements and resources;  
l. Standard OperaAng Guidelines (SOGs) for the Fire Department;  
m. Vehicles and staffing/run assignments;  
n. Fire department operaAonal plans;  
o. Adequacy of the department’s training and fire prevenAon funcAons; 
p. Current deployment of resources along with a future needs assessment;  
q. IdenAficaAon of the level of service provided to, and expected by, the Town,  
r. The Brewster Fire Department’s current Strategic Plan 2022 – 2026, and; 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 10 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

s. Developed a report that will address short- and long-term staffing needs, 
organizaAonal structure, service and demand trends, over the next decade. 

2. Input was solicited from a range of stakeholders through personal interviews, including: 

Ø Chairman of the Select Board 

Ø Town Manager 

Ø Fire Chief 

Ø Deputy Fire Chief 

Ø Fire Department Career Captains 

Ø Town Human Resources Director 

Ø Town Finance Director 

Ø Police Chief 

Ø InternaAonal AssociaAon of Fire 
Firefighters Local 3763 E-Board 
 

Ø Mutual Aid Fire Chiefs 

Ø Open Session for Fire Department 
Members 

In performing this study MRI focused on the following aspects of the fire and emergency medical 
services and their operaAons: 
 

Ø OrganizaAonal structure and governance; 
 
Ø OrganizaAonal, managerial, and operaAonal pracAces including policies, 

rules and regulaAons, and standard operaAng procedures/guidelines 
(SOPs/SOGs); 

 
Ø Fire department staffing pracAces and personnel scheduling; 

 
Ø Lack of viability of the department’s call component; 
 
Ø Community profile and characterisAcs, risks, vulnerabiliAes, and concerns; 
 
Ø Fire and EMS operaAons, including response Ames, NFPA 1710 and OSHA 

Two-in/Two-out compliance, standards of cover, incident and response 
Ame analysis, designaAon of operaAonal responsibiliAes, and deployment 
of resources; 

 
Ø Training and professional development; 
Ø Fire prevenAon and code enforcement; 
 
Ø BudgeAng; 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 11 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

Ø External stakeholders’ percepAons concerning the fire department and 
relaAonships with various officials; and, 

 
Ø Sense of common vision among internal stakeholders. 

 
At the compleAon of each key component of the Department’s operaAons, the project team has 
a>empted to provide a status and/or “gap” statement which indicates the current status of that 
acAvity, any gaps between that acAvity and expected performance (as defined by regulaAons, 
standards, industry best pracAces, or organizaAonal policy), and recommendaAons that should 
be implemented to close the “gaps” or correct the deficiency.  
 
METHODOLOGY/PROJECT APPROACH 
 
MRI’s project methodology and approach was targeted to fulfill the scope of work in a thorough 
and comprehensive manner. MRI consultants performed several days of on-site work, interviews, 
and observaAons in Brewster. The assessment employed the following methodologies:  
 

Ø On-site visit to Brewster that included in-person meeAngs, tour of fire department 
faciliAes, and tour of Brewster to observe target hazards, community risks, and building 
density and type, 
 

Ø Review of the fire department’s faciliAes, apparatus, and equipment, 
 

Ø Analysis of fire department staffing, including current operaAons, scheduling, use of 
overAme, organizaAonal structure and future needs based on risk, current operaAonal 
experience, and projected community growth and development, 
 

Ø Analysis of community demographics and projected growth and development, 
 

Ø Interviews with fire chief and deputy fire chief,  
 

Ø Interviews with the town manager,  
 

Ø Interview with Chairman of the Select Board, 
Ø Interviews with other key fire department personnel including members of the Brewster 

Fire Department command/supervisory staff, EMS coordinator, administraAve assistant, 
union leadership and other department members having direct knowledge and 
understanding of the subject areas, 
 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 12 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

Ø Interviews with other key town officials including the finance director and human 
resources director, 
 

Ø Interviews with fire chiefs of neighboring mutual aid fire departments, 
 

Ø Review of mutual aid and regional operaAons, 
 

Ø Review of exisAng department incident staAsAcs, standard operaAng 
procedures/guidelines, budget, and other records, 
 

Ø Review of the applicability of various naAonal standards and best pracAces for municipal 
fire and EMS services, such NFPA 1710, Standard for the OrganizaAon and Deployment of 
Fire Suppression OperaAons, Emergency Medical OperaAons, and Special OperaAons to 
the Public by Career Fire Departments, NFPA 1500, Standard on Fire Department 
OccupaAonal Safety, Health, and Wellness Program, and NFPA 1300, Standard on 
Community Risk Assessment and Community Risk ReducAon Plan Development.   
 

These discussions focused on the current fire and EMS delivery system and structure to idenAfy 
any concerns or areas requiring special focus, and to gather thoughts and ideas about areas of 
potenAal improvement and long-range visions, needs, goals, and objecAves. The team spent 
significant Ame with the fire chief and deputy fire chief to gain an understanding of the 
organizaAonal, operaAonal, and management systems and approaches currently in place, and 
then compared the current structures against contemporary pracAce and convenAon. There 
were also reviews of relevant staAsAcs, and operaAonal data that was furnished by the 
Department. 
 
MRI’s project team uAlized a seven-phase process to conduct the assessment of the Brewster 
Fire Department and to develop the planning recommendaAons. The seven phases include: 
 

1. Development of an acAon plan. 
 

2. OrientaAon, stakeholder input, data gathering, and idenAficaAon of significant 
issues facing the Town of Brewster and the Brewster Fire Department.  

3. InformaAon review, inventory, and assessment of the emergency risks and target 
hazards located within the Town, and effecAveness and current operaAonal 
readiness of the Brewster Fire Department. 
 

4. Development of an assessment and inventory of current fire department 
operaAons including the adequacy of current staffing/deployment models and 
organizaAonal structure. 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 13 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

5. EvaluaAon of the overall effecAveness, efficiency, and quality of service of the fire 
protecAon and EMS delivery systems within the Town of Brewster. 
 

6. PreparaAon of a final evaluaAon report including planning recommendaAons for 
the Town of Brewster and the Brewster Fire Department. 
 

7. PresentaAon of a final project report to the Brewster Town Manager and other 
selected stakeholders. 

 
During this study, the MRI team invesAgated areas such as the organizaAonal and command 
structures of the fire department, chain of command, budgeAng, staffing, service demands, 
deployment of personnel, standards of cover, percepAons within the community, working 
relaAonships with other persons and agencies, responsiveness, internal policies and procedures, 
and compliance with various state and federal regulaAons.  

Following the on-site visits, the data and documentaAon collected, and observaAons made, were 
subjected to analysis by the project team, both individually and collecAvely. The informaAon was 
then compared with contemporary fire service and public safety standards, recommendaAons, 
and best pracAces, to formulate the recommendaAons contained in this report, and uAlized for 
the development of this document.    
 
Using this review as a basis, the project team made recommendaAons for improvements that 
take into consideraAon the current and future financial ability of the Town, appropriate 
modificaAons to the delivery systems to provide opAmum service to the enAre community, 
efficient use of resources, and whether the current organizaAonal structure is appropriate or 
should be modified.   
 
We have produced a comprehensive report containing recommendaAons that will assist the 
Town of Brewster and its fire department, to set a clear course of acAon for future service 
improvements and delivery. All recommendaAons for improvement are based on various 
administraAve regulaAons promulgated at the federal and state levels, naAonally accepted 
consensus standards developed by the Insurance Services Office (ISO), NaAonal Fire ProtecAon 
AssociaAon (NFPA), Commission on Fire AccreditaAon InternaAonal (CFAI), Commission on 
AccreditaAon of Ambulance Services (CAAS), and industry best pracAces and procedures. 
However, since every community has unique characterisAcs, challenges, and resource 
limitaAons, our recommendaAons are specifically designed to address the immediate and long-
term needs of the Town of Brewster. 
 
When appropriate, MRI’s evaluaAon and recommendaAons include mulAple opAons, idenAfy 
potenAal implicaAons of opAons, and suggest what is believed to be the most appropriate opAon. 
The project team has a>empted to provide a series of recommendaAons for an organizaAonal 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 14 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

structure that can provide a high level of service today, and five to ten years into the future; 
constrained by anAcipated fiscal and economic projecAons; expand and contract with future 
needs; and be able to navigate any fiscal constraints of reimbursements from public and private 
sources, parAcularly with the unknown long-term implicaAons of the COVID-19 pandemic. To 
these ends, MRI looked to provide informaAon relaAve to: 
 

1. Short-term opportuniAes for improvement of the Department’s service delivery 
capabiliAes. 
 

2. Present short and long-term organizaAonal and deployment adjustments that seek to 
improve service delivery to the Town.  
 

3. Develop a report that will address operaAons, staffing, organizaAonal structure, and 
service demand trends, needs over the next decade. 

 
The resulAng recommendaAons are also based upon an acknowledgement that fire departments 
are living and constantly evolving organizaAons. They must constantly change and adapt to 
current, and anAcipated, condiAons and realiAes. A municipal fire department, while steadfastly 
holding onto tradiAons, is an organizaAon that must be progressive and proacAve, and requires 
a perpetual commitment to improvement. The modern fire and emergency service is constantly 
besieged with ever increasing demands from the public and must readily adapt to changes in 
technology, constantly evolving risks and hazards, and new generaAons of men and women 
entering this highly rewarding and challenging public service avocaAon. The delivery of high-
quality fire and emergency medical services requires energeAc, enlightened, progressive, and 
proacAve leadership at all levels of the fire and rescue services delivery system. Every day must 
include an effort to improve and move forward. 
 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS    
 
The MRI project team would like to thank Brewster Town Manager Peter Lombardi, Select Board 
Chair David Whitney, Fire Chief Robert Moran, Deputy Fire Chief Kevin Varley, Police Chief Heath 
Eldredge, Finance Director Mimi Bernardo, Human Resources Director Susan Broderick, the 
officers and firefighters of the Brewster Fire Department, and the Orleans and Harwich fire chiefs 
who took the Ame to speak with us, and for their cooperaAon and assistance in preparing this 
report. Brewster is a proud and vibrant community with high expectaAons for the performance 
and professionalism of its public servants. It is MRI’s goal to provide the town and fire department 
with a road map and template for strengthening the level of fire and emergency medical services 
available to the community.  As with any public safety organizaAon, there is always room for 
improvement, but the ciWzens of the Town of Brewster should be proud of the high quality and 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 15 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

exemplary performance of the members of the Brewster Fire Department who provide round-
the-clock fire protecWon and emergency medical care.           
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 16 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

CHAPTER II 
COMMUNITY OVERVIEW 

TOWN OF BREWSTER 
 
The Town of Brewster is located in Brewster County, on Cape 
Cod (Figure II-1), approximately 85 miles southeast of Boston. 
It is located in what is referred to as the mid Cape area, just 
prior to the “elbow”. According to the United States Census 
Bureau, the Town had a 2020 populaAon of 10,318, an increase 
of 5.1% from the 2010 United States Census Bureau populaAon 
of 9,8261. The town covers an area of 25.4 square miles, of 
which 22.9 square miles is land and 2.5 square miles, or 
10.07%, is water. With a permanent populaAon density of 450 
people per square mile, the town is sAll classified as a rural 
community. In reality, with the seasonal influx of tourists, 

longer tourist seasons, and people spending more Ame at what have tradiAonally been vacaAon 
homes on Cape Cod, the town is much more suburban in nature. 
 

 

FIGURE II-1: LOCATION OF BREWSTER ON CAPE COD 

Brewster is bordered on the north by Cape Cod Bay, on the west by Dennis, on the south by 
Harwich, and on the east by Orleans. The town is separated into two villages, West and East 

 
1 h#ps://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/brewstertownBrewstercountymassachuse#s/BZA010221 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 17 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

Brewster, both of which comprise the Brewster census-designated place. Brewster is 31 miles 
south of Provincetown, 14 miles east of Hyannis, and 31 miles east of the Sagamore Bridge. 

U.S. Route 6 passes through the southeast corner of Brewster from southwest to northeast, as a 
two-lane expressway; however, there are no exits within the town borders. Massachuse>s Route 
6A passes through the town from east to west as Main Street through the town center. Routes 
124 and 137 both have a northern terminus along Route 6A in town; short porAons of Routes 28 
and 39 also pass through the southeastern corner of town.  

As with all communiAes on Cape Cod, Brewster’s populaAon increases significantly – esAmated 
to approximately 30,000 - during the warm weather months when large numbers of people 
vacaAon in the area.  
 
BREWSTER FIRE DEPARTMENT 
 

The Brewster Fire Department is sAll technically a combinaAon 
(career/call) department. In reality it has evolved into a fully 
career emergency services organizaAon that delivers fire, rescue, 
and emergency medical services (EMS) to the Town of Brewster. 
The Department is currently authorized for a total of twenty-
three full-Ame, career firefighters, who perform firefighAng, 
rescue, and emergency medical care duAes, and fire prevenAon 
funcAons. The uniformed personnel are assisted by one civilian 
support person.  
  
The department operates out of a single, state of the art staAon 
located at 1671 Main Street, protecAng a year-round populaAon 

of 10,318 in an area of 25.4 square miles. With a populaAon density of about 450 people per 
square mile the district would be considered rural in nature. However, as already noted, based 
upon the conAnued residenAal growth that is occurring in the town, along with the significant 
populaAon increase during the warm weather months (populaAon swelling to 30,000), the 
district’s character is more suburban in nature. This dramaAc seasonal increase in populaAon 
significantly impacts the department as the number of fire and EMS runs also increase 
significantly during the months of June, July, and August. 

The fire headquarters houses all the administraAve offices, training areas, living quarters for the 
on-duty personnel assigned there, and all equipment and apparatus. The Brewster Fire 
Department operates three engines (one equipped as a rescue pumper and referred to as a 
Squad and one reserve), one - 109’ aerial ladder, three Advanced Life Support (ALS) ambulances, 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 18 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

one brush/forestry truck, one UTV for off road use, two rescue boats, and several other 
command/staff/uAlity vehicles.  

During the five-year period from March 27, 2018, through March 27, 2023, the Brewster Fire 
Department responded to a total of 15,250 calls for emergency service, an average of 3,050 per 
year, or 8.4 per day. In 2022, the department responded to 3,236 incidents, an average of 8.9 per 
day, which is about 6.1% higher than the five-year average. As with most departments that 
provide the primary EMS service for their community, the majority of these incidents 
(11,133/73%) are emergency medical related. This includes 280 mutual aid ambulance 
responses. The department’s Fiscal Year 2023 annual operaAng budget is $3,123,820.  

The department provides EMS treatment and transport services to the community at the 
Advanced Life Support (ALS) level. All Brewster Fire Department personnel are required to 
possess a minimum of Emergency Medical Technician (EMT) training and cerAficaAon. Eleven of 
the department’s personnel are cerAfied to provide ALS (paramedic) level care with one 
addiAonal member in medic school.  

The Brewster Fire Department is an all-hazards response agency that responds to a wide range 
of emergency incidents and requests for assistance each year from within its primary protecAon 
area. It also provides automaAc and mutual aid to (and receives from) all surrounding 
municipaliAes. Department personnel are trained to operate at the hazardous materials 
operaAons level, and to miAgate a wide range of specialized types of technical emergencies 
including various water rescue incidents. 
 
COMMUNITY GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT 

The Town of Brewster, like many on Cape Cod, remains a growing community which conAnues 
to experience growth, albeit slowly. It also remains a vacaAon desAnaAon during the warm 
weather months. However, like many other communiAes located on Cape Cod, it is experiencing 
an increase in formerly seasonal residents who are now making their vacaAon homes their 
primary domicile.  

During the site visit to Brewster and tour of the fire department’s response area, the MRI team 
was made aware of several large residenAal projects that have been completed or are sAll in 
development within the Brewster Fire Department’s first due response area. These include 
several communiAes targeAng the growing over 55 populaAon along with mulAple affordable 
housing developments that are projected to bring approximately 200 addiAonal housing units to 
the Town. In addiAon, in late 2021, the ciAzens of Brewster gave permission to purchase the two 
Cape Cod Sea Camp properAes which cumulaAvely total about 121 acres. Among mulAple goals 
for the town was to protect the properAes from commercial development.  Subsequently, the 
Select Board created two new advisory commi>ees to, among other charges, develop 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 19 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

comprehensive long-term plans for Town MeeAng consideraAon.  They also hired a landscape 
architect to provide expert support and design guidance to the commi>ees as the Town plans 
future uses of the properAes.  It is unknown what impact this project will have on the fire 
department, but the department should remain engaged in the process as an important 
stakeholder. 
  



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 20 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

CHAPTER III                                                                                                                    
BREWSTER COMMUNITY RISK AND HAZARD PROFILE 

 
Fire and rescue services protecAng all communiAes generally have a common overall mission, 
the protecAon of life and property; but different community profiles in which they operate.  
These dissimilariAes create vastly different fire and rescue services operaAonal needs based on a 
unique community risk profile, service demands, and stakeholder expectaAons.  
 
A community risk assessment is a comprehensive process to idenAfy the hazards, risks, fire, and 
life safety problems, and the demographic characterisAcs of those at risk in a community.  In each 
community, there are numerous hazards and risks to consider. For each hazard, there are many 
possible scenarios and potenAal incidents that could be encountered depending on Aming, 
magnitude, and locaAon of the hazard or incident. A thorough risk analysis provides insight into 
the worst fire and life safety problems and the people who are affected. The analysis results 
create the foundaAon for developing risk-reducAon and community educaAon programs.   
 
ConducAng a community risk analysis is the first step toward deciding which potenAal fire or 
injury problem needs to be addressed. Risk analysis is a planned process that must be ongoing, 
as communiAes and people are constantly changing. Too oqen, an objecAve and systemaAc 
community risk analysis is a step that is overlooked in the community educaAon process. Many 
emergency service organizaAons address risks based on a perceived need for service that is not 
there. This approach can be costly (i.e., misdirected resources, conAnued property loss, injuries, 
or deaths). In short, a good community risk assessment will produce a realisAc picture of what 
the hazards and potenAals for incidents are, idenAfy who is at risk, and a>empt to quanAfy the 
expected impacts (Figure III-1). 
 
Understanding the definiAon of hazards and risks is criAcal to the risk assessment process.  
Hazards are physical sources of danger that can create emergency events. Hazards can be items 
such as buildings, roadways, weather events, fires. Risk relates to the probability of a loss due to 
exposure to a hazard. People and property can be at risk. Consequences for the community are 
also factors to consider. Each of these factors are assessed during the community risk process 
(Figure III-2).  



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 21 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

 
 
 

In performing a risk assessment, a community 
determines which hazard may occur, how oqen it is 
likely to occur, and the potenAal impact of that 
hazard. Most municipaliAes’ hazard miAgaAon plans 
address numerous natural hazards, including but not 
limited to, floods, hurricanes, tornadoes, and winter 
storms. They also usually cover a wide variety of 
human-caused hazards such as fire, hazardous 
materials releases, and transportaAon incidents. 
Almost any of the comprehensive list of potenAal 
hazards idenAfied in these plans will involve the 
community’s fire and EMS responders, at least 
during the iniAal stages. 

A more focused community fire risk assessment is 
performed by assessing such factors as the needed 
fire flow, probability of an incident, consequences of 
an incident, and occupancy risk.  The “score” 
established is then uAlized to categorize the area, or 

even individual properAes, as one of low, moderate, or high/maximum risk. This categorizaAon 
can assist a fire department in establishing fire risk/demand areas or zones.  Having this 
informaAon readily available provides the community and the fire department with a be>er 
understanding of how fire staAons, response run cards, and staffing pa>erns can be used to 
provide a higher concentraAon of resources for higher-risk scenarios or, conversely, fewer 
resources for lower levels of risk.2 The community fire risk assessment may also include 

 
2 Fire and Emergency Service Self-Assessment Manual, Eighth EdiDon, (Commission on Fire AccreditaDon InternaDonal, 2009) 

FIGURE III-2: FIRE PROBABILITY AND 
CONSEQUENCES MATRIX 

Image credit: Commission on Fire Accredita3on 
Interna3onal 

FIGURE III-1: RISK ASSESSMENT PROCESS 

Image credit: www.ready.gov/risk-assessment 

 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 22 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

determining and defining the differences in fire risk between a detached single-family dwelling, 
a mulA-family dwelling, an industrial building, and a high-rise building by placing each in a 
separate category.  
 
According to the NFPA Fire Protec*on Handbook, these hazards are defined as: 
 

High-hazard occupancies: Schools, hospitals, nursing homes, high-rise buildings, and 
other high life-hazard or large fire-potenAal occupancies. 
 
Medium-hazard occupancies: Apartments, offices, mercanAle, and industrial 
occupancies not normally requiring extensive rescue by firefighAng forces. 
 
Low-hazard occupancies: One-, two-, or three-family dwellings and sca>ered small 
business and industrial occupancies3. 
 

The NFPA also idenAfies a key element of assessing community vulnerability as fire department 
operaAonal performance, which is comprised of three elements: resource availability/ reliability, 
department capability, and operaAonal effecAveness4.  
 

Resource availability/reliability: The degree to which the resources are ready and 
available to respond. 
 
Department capability: The ability of the resources deployed to manage an incident. 
 
OperaWonal effecWveness: The product of availability and capability. It is the outcome 
achieved by the deployed resources or a measure of the ability to match resources 
deployed to the risk level to which they are responding.5 
 

The Town of Brewster is a rural coastal community with a land area of 22.94 square miles. The 
town is known for its natural beauty, relaxed lifestyle, and outdoor recreaAonal opportuniAes.  
Brewster is a community with a rich history and excellent community services and ameniAes that 
contribute to a high quality of life. The town is home to Nickerson State Park, which is the second 
largest State Park in Massachuse>s, over 15 miles of the popular Cape Cod Bike Trail, eight miles 
of beaches facing Cape Cod Bay, and one of the top three rated vacaAon resorts in Massachuse>s. 
 
Brewster has a year-round permanent populaAon of approximately 10,444 residents (2022 U.S. 
Census). It is esAmated that the populaAon almost triples to over 30,000 people between the 

 
3 Cote, Grant, Hall & Solomon, eds., Fire Protec;on Handbook (Quincy, MA: NaDonal Fire ProtecDon AssociaDon, 2008), p. 12. 
4 h#p://www.nfpa.org/assets/files/pdf/urbanfirevulnerability.pdf  
5 NaDonal Fire Service Data Summit Proceedings, U.S. Department of Commerce, NIST Tech Note 1698, May 2011. 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 23 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

months of May through September. More than one third (35.1%) of Brewster’s populaAon is 65 
years of age or older as compared to the statewide average of 18.1%.   
 
The town has draqed a Local Comprehensive Plan (LCP) that establishes the community’s vision 
for future growth and development. The LCP focuses on the preservaAon of open space, the 
current and future impact of climate change, a desire to maintain the rural, small-town feel of 
Brewster, and a recogniAon that growth should be managed appropriately. The vision statement 
in the LCP states, in part, that: 
 
Within our fiscal capabili*es, we strive to provide the infrastructure necessary to ensure public 
health and safety and to support the ability of our en*re community, from older people to families 
with children, to live, work, learn, recreate, and gather in the town.6 
 
Provided that the town adheres to the vision, goals, and objecAves laid out in the LCP, it is not 
anAcipated that the town will experience major industrial and commercial growth or allow high-
rise buildings or mega-warehouse type faciliAes in the foreseeable future. The most significant 
development project currently underway is the revitalizaAon of the former Sea Camps property 
that was recently acquired by the town. 
 
As with most communiWes, the greatest fire safety concern in Brewster is the potenWal life loss 
in fires that occur in non-sprinklered, single, and mulW-family residenWal dwellings during 
sleeping hours, which is consistent with naWonal trends. These fires are fueled by new 
“lightweight” construcAon and more flammable home contents. The Ame to escape a house fire 
has dwindled from about 17 minutes, 20 years ago, to three to five minutes today. This poses a 
severe risk not only to occupants but also to firefighters as they now have less Ame to do their 
job and save residents’ lives and property. 
 
AutomaAc sprinklers are highly effecAve elements of total system designs for fire protecAon in 
buildings. They save lives and property, producing large reducAons in the number of deaths per 
thousand fires, in average direct property damage per fire, and especially in the likelihood of a 
fire with a large loss of life or large property loss. They do so much quicker, oqen more effecAvely, 
and with less damage than firefighters do. No fire safety improvement strategy has as much 
documented life safety effecAveness as fire sprinklers because they exAnguish the fire, or, at a 
minimum hold it in check and prevent flashover, unAl the arrival of the fire department.   
 
 
Current Massachuse>s codes prohibit municipaliAes from requiring residenAal sprinkler systems 
in all new occupancies. However, the fire department can approach the 
developer/builder/owner to discuss the pros and cons of residenAal sprinkler systems during the 

 
6 2022 Brewster Local Comprehensive Plan (dra[), p.9 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 24 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

approval process for subdivisions and large single-family residences and encourage them to 
consider the installaAon of these life safety systems regardless of where they are located. There 
are several publicaAons that the fire department can use as resources to market the benefits of 
residenAal fire suppression systems including NFPA, which has developed the standards for their 
design and installaAon. 
 
Newer mulA-family residenAal/apartment complexes are generally fully protected by fire 
suppression and detecAon systems. However, these systems have limitaAons as they may not 
protect all areas of the building or are not always properly maintained.  
 
According to Data USA, the economy of Brewster employs 503 people. The largest industries are 
professional, scienAfic, and technical services (146 people); construcAon (125 people); and health 
and social assistance (81 people). 
 
The Town’s Hazard MiAgaAon Plan (HMP) idenAfies and ranks the natural hazards that pose a 
threat to the community (Figure III-3). The HMP provides and idenAfies the steps that the town 
can take to lessen the seriousness of these hazards before a disaster strikes. It also provides 
guidance to the town’s public safety services as they idenAfy their needs for staffing, equipment, 
training, and planning. 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 25 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

 
FIGURE III-3: NATURAL HAZARDS RANKING MATRIX, TOWN OF BREWSTER HAZARD MITIGATION PLAN 

 
Other hazards that the public safety services in Brewster are likely to encounter include the 
following: 
 

Ø Structure fires 
ü Single- and two-family homes 
ü MulA-family occupancies (apartments, condominiums) 
ü Health care (including senior living/assisted living) 
ü EducaAonal occupancies (public school, day care) 
ü Commercial buildings 
ü Storage, agricultural 

 
Ø Vehicle fires (including the unique challenges of alternaAve fuel vehicle fires) 

 
Ø Motor vehicle crashes 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 26 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

Ø Mass casualty incidents7 
 

Ø Hazardous materials incidents (highway and fixed facility) 
 

Ø Open water incidents (drownings, boat fires, petroleum spills) 
 

Ø Ice rescue 
 

Ø Technical rescue (high-angle, below grade, building collapse) 
 

Ø Search and rescue 
 

Ø AcAve shooter and hosAle events 
 
Although many of the hazards idenAfied above occur infrequently in Brewster, there is sAll a need 
for the fire and EMS services to be equipped and trained to handle a wide variety of incidents. 
Fortunately, responsibility for unique events that require specialized training and equipment is 
shared with specialized regional teams as discussed in later secAons of this report.   
 
The following factors will impact the number and type of fire incidents in Brewster: 
 

Ø New commercial development.  New commercial buildings that are built to the latest fire 
and building codes and are equipped with fire detecAon or fire sprinkler systems, will have 
a lower risk for a catastrophic fire. However, unintenAonal, or false alarms involving the 
fire protecAon systems could increase the number of calls for fire department response. 
Manufacturing processes and hazardous materials transportaAon, use, and storage 
increase fire risk. 
 

Ø Lightweight construc*on.  While efficient and economical, modern lightweight 
construcAon methods pose serious risks to firefighters because of the probability of 
building collapse during the early stages of a fire. 
 

Ø Interior building contents.  Today’s furnishings, ma>resses, and other interior contents 
that are made of petroleum-based materials (plasAcs, foams, etc.) burn more quickly, 
with higher heat release and more toxic smoke than pre-1960s materials. Flashover8 can 
occur in a bedroom or living room before the arrival of the fire department or during 

 
7 A mass casualty incident (MCI) is an event which generates more paDents at one Dme than locally available resources can 
manage using rouDne procedures.   
8 A flashover is the near-simultaneous igniDon of most of the directly exposed combusDble material in an enclosed area. 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 27 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

iniAal fire a>ack, thus creaAng an extremely lethal environment for building occupants 
and firefighters.   
 

Ø Aging building stock.  The fire risk in exisAng commercial and residenAal buildings 
increases unless heaAng systems and electrical systems are properly maintained and 
updated. 
 

Ø Aging popula*on.  Older people are at a higher risk from fires due to mobility issues, 
cooking fires, smoking, and improper use of oxygen systems. 
 

Ø Increased traffic.  Increased traffic in the community can result in more frequent and more 
serious vehicle crashes and fires. 
 

Ø Alterna*ve fuel vehicle fires.  AlternaAve fuel vehicles, such as electric, hydrogen, and 
compressed natural gas, present unique and dangerous firefighAng challenges. 

 
The following factors will impact the number and type of EMS incidents in Brewster: 
 

Ø Aging popula*on.  Brewster’s populaAon is considerably older than the statewide 
average.  As the populaAon conAnues to age, there will be an increased demand on EMS. 
 

Ø Increased traffic.  Increased traffic in the community can result in more frequent and more 
serious vehicle crashes and fires. 
 

Ø Increased seasonal popula*on.  Increases in the seasonal populaAon will result in 
addiAonal EMS calls due to increases in motor vehicle crashes and incidents involving 
outdoor recreaAon (hiking, boaAng, swimming), intoxicaAon, overdoses, and health-
related medical emergencies. 

 
All communiAes on Cape Cod are faced with the geographic challenge of having a limited number 
of communiAes to share emergency services resources through automaAc and mutual aid.  In 
addiAon, fire and EMS services in Massachuse>s and across the U.S. are facing serious difficulAes 
in recruiAng and retaining qualified personnel. The problem is parAcularly acute on Cape Cod due 
to housing costs and recruitment compeAAon between municipaliAes. A recent arAcle in the 
Boston Globe highlights the fact that many firefighters now live off-Cape, which reduces their 
availability for callbacks for staAon coverage during rouAne incidents or to respond to major 
fires.9 
 

 
9 h#ps://www.bostonglobe.com/2023/07/11/business/cape-cod-housing-costs/?p1=BGSearch_Advanced_Results  



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 28 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

Looking ahead, the Town of Brewster will continue to experience some limited growth and 
development. While this development will have a definitive impact on the Brewster Fire 
Department, the exact amount is difficult to quantitatively and accurately predict. Increased 
development of any type will mean an increase in the number of people living, working, and 
traveling within the area.  Each of these will reasonably be expected to result in an increased 
number of requests for services from the fire department. They can also impact response times 
through increased traffic and congestion.  
 
It is likely the most significant increase in requests for emergency services will be EMS related. 
More people simply increase the number of medical emergencies that occur. It would not be 
unreasonable to expect that the increase in EMS incidents would be proportional to the increase 
in population; however, that is not always the case.  Although a number of factors can ultimately 
impact the requests for service, such as ages or socio-economic status of new residents, or an 
aging population, it could reasonably be anticipated that an increase in population, along with 
potential increases in employment from any significant commercial development, would 
translate into an increase in emergency medical incidents.  
 
Persons over the age of 65 are considered in a higher risk group both from the perspective of fire 
and medical emergencies. An aging population group, along with the potential for the number of 
senior citizens in the age 65 and over group to increase with new developments, or with people 
who turn what was a vacation home into their permanent retirement residence, also suggests 
that the number of responses will continue to increase. 
 
The above information is intended to provide a community “snapshot” of the Town of Brewster.  
It is not intended to be all-inclusive or comprehensive.  For the Town’s governing body and first 
responders it serves to put the community, and its associated hazards and risks, into some 
context as the Town and the fire department work to carry out the recommendations of this 
study and implement their long-range plans. Looking ahead, as it develops a more in-depth risk 
management plan, that assessment should be include: 

Ø clearly identify and classify the Town’s current risks, 
Ø place the risks in context with the fire department’s current operational 

capabilities and procedures, 
Ø reflect what the Select Board feels is an acceptable level of risk for the Town of 

Brewster, 
Ø implement short- and long-range plans based upon a desire to reduce those risks 

and/or improve service delivery levels. 
 
 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 29 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
III-1: The Brewster Fire Department should make it a priority to complete a comprehensive 

fire and rescue community risk assessment. This assessment should be done in 
conjuncAon with a fire and EMS calls for service demand analysis, including the 
development of a wide-ranging pre-incident planning program for target and high 
hazard locaAons in the Town, and take into consideraAon the fire department’s 
operaAonal capabiliAes and preparedness.  

 
III-2: The Brewster Fire Department should develop a compelling public educaAon program 

that includes discussing the benefits of installing residenAal fire sprinklers in new one- 
and two-family dwellings. Although MassachuseLs’s construcAon codes do not allow 
residenAal fire sprinkler systems to be mandated, there is no prohibiAon for property 
owners to install them if they determine that it is in their best interest. 

 
 
  



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 30 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

CHAPTER IV                                                                                                                               
BREWSTER FIRE DEPARTMENT ORGANIZATION, MANAGEMENT, AND 

OPERATIONS 
 
BREWSTER FIRE DEPARTMENT OVERVIEW 
 

 

The organizaAonal structure of any organizaAon or enAty, whether public or private, establishes 
and illustrates the important hierarchical relaAonships between various personnel, 
supervisors/subordinates, levels, divisions, and bureaus within the organizaAon that allow it to 
funcAon properly, and operate effecAvely and efficiently in its daily operaAons or the pursuit of 
its mission. It also helps to clearly define the organizaAonal chain of command from top to 
bo>om, an especially important consideraAon in a quasi-military public safety organizaAon such 
as a fire department where everyone from the highest rank to the lowest is subject to receiving 
orders, and with the excepAon of the lowest rank, also issues them. EffecAve communicaAons in 
any organizaAon, but especially public safety agencies, are essenAal.  A cohesive chain of 
command allows everyone to know exactly who they report to and/or who reports to them. 

The Brewster Fire Department was established in 1928. The department remained staffed 
primarily by on-call firefighters unAl recent years. As recently as about 2011, the department was 
sAll primarily on-call with 37 call personnel supplemented by 12 career firefighters. The 
department conAnues to nominally funcAon as a combinaAon fire department uAlizing a mix of 
both career and on-call firefighters; however, as of Spring 2023 when MRI was conducAng this 
staffing analysis, the call force had declined to just two members. One of those two was most 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 31 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

likely going to be hired as the Department’s Fire PrevenAon/Community Risk ReducAon Officer, 
while the other no longer possessed the minimal requisite requirements to remain a member.  
 
At the Ame of this assessment, the Brewster Fire Department is authorized a total staffing 
complement of twenty-three full-Ame, career personnel, plus one civilian administraAve 
assistant. 
 
These personnel include: 
 

Ø One (1) Chief of Department  
Ø One (1) Deputy Fire Chief 
Ø Four (4) Captains are each 

assigned to supervise an on-
duty group and serve in the 
dual role of engine company 
officer. 

Ø One (1) Fire PrevenAon Officer 
Ø Sixteen (16) Career Firefighters  
Ø Two (2) Call Firefighters 
Ø One (1) AdministraAve 

Assistant (civilian) 

MRI was informed that unlike many departments on Cape Cod that the Brewster Fire Department 
does have two authorized part Ame seasonal posiAons for the summer vacaAon season. These 
personnel are normally uAlized from Memorial Day to Columbus Day to supplement staffing 
during the busy vacaAon season. However, this year, due to mulAple staffing challenges related 
to recruitment and filling vacant posiAons, in 2023 these personnel were not slated to start unAl 
around July 4th. 
 
Being a tourist and vacaAon desAnaAon, the incident staAsAcs illustrate the Brewster Fire 
Department’s call volume increases between May and October each year, so the use of these 
seasonal personnel is an excellent way to increase staffing during the busiest months but do so 
in a more fiscally prudent manner. The Brewster Fire Department should be commended for this 
procedure which MRI considers to be Best PracWce. Similar communiAes along the New Jersey 
shore such as Wildwood, North Wildwood, and Cape May have used a similar pracAce to bolster 
their seasonal on duty staffing with part Ame or per diem personnel. They oqen move into full-
Ame posiAons when they become available.  

The Fire PrevenAon Officer is also uAlized to provide addiAonal dayAme staffing. It is supposed 
to be primarily for the second or third ambulance, however, staffing shortages had caused them 
to frequently be used to maintain minimum shiq staffing. At the Ame of MRI’s field visit to 
Brewster this posiAon was vacant as the previous incumbent had resigned. We were informed 
that although the person in this posiAon is compensated as a Captain, tradiAonally the posiAon 
has been difficult to fill. The department was hoping that one of the two remaining on call 
firefighters was going to accept the posiAon. 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 32 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

Figure IV-1 illustrates the Brewster Fire District’s organizaAonal structure that was in effect in 
2023. 

 

FIGURE IV-1: CURRENT BREWSTER FIRE DEPARTMENT ORGANIZATIONAL CHART 
 
The department and its personnel are not a part of the Massachuse>s civil service system.  As 
such, the town must establish its own specific requirements for recruiAng, hiring, promoAng, 
disciplining, and terminaAng fire department employees. It should also be noted that at the Ame 
of this assessment, the Department was four personnel short. This caused the department to 
temporarily drop the minimum staffing at night to four personnel. 

Fire Chief Robert Moran is the department’s highest-ranking officer and serves as the 
administraAve and operaAonal head of the department. Chief Moran possesses a basic 
Emergency Medical Technician (EMT) cerAficaAon and also serves as the Town’s Director of 
Emergency Management as assigned by the Town Manager. The Fire Chief is appointed by, and 
reports to, the Town Manager under MGL Chapter 48, SecAon 42, also known as the “strong 
chief” law.  Under this statute the chief “..shall have full and absolute authority in the 
administra*on of the department, shall make all rules and regula*ons for its opera*on, shall 
report to the Town Manager/Select Board from *me to *me as they may require, and shall 
annually report to the town the condi*on of the department with his recommenda*ons 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 33 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

thereon…” The chief is a highly experienced and regarded chief officer who appears to be an 
effecAve advocate for the organizaAon, who is trying to bring the department to a higher level of 
service and effecAveness. Chief Moran works a straight day work schedule, Monday through 
Friday.   

The Deputy Fire Chief, who is a licensed advanced life support (ALS) provider (paramedic), also 
work straight daywork and serves as the second in command of the Department. This posiAon 
was created as a full-Ame posiAon in 2016. The Deputy Chief handles the department’s day-to-
day emergency operaAons and assumes the chief’s duAes in his/her absence.  

Both the Chief and the Deputy Chief are considered to be management and are not a part of the 
collecAve bargaining unit.  As a management team, they share responsibiliAes for confidenAal 
personnel ma>ers, supervision, handling grievances or potenAal grievances, administering the 
collecAve bargaining agreement, overseeing budgetary expenditures, assisAng with the 
development of policies and procedures, and the myriad of administraAve and management 
tasks that are associated with running a significant sized, modern, full-service emergency services 
provider. They also appear to form a capable, well respected, and effecAve command team. They 
frequently respond to emergency incidents when appropriate, parAcularly when staffing is 
insufficient. Overall, the department appears to work diligently to meet the needs of the 
community. The chiefs are assisted by a civilian administraAve assistant who provides a wide 
range of administraAve and support funcAons.   

The department is authorized to have a total of four (4) captains who are assigned as supervisors 
on each of the four (4) platoons/units, and funcAon as the shiq commanders. The captains serve 
as the department’s first line supervisors, providing criAcal direcAon and direct oversight to the 
firefighters assigned to that platoon while also providing iniAal incident command and 
management. They form an integral part of their company or unit, and it is oqen necessary for 
them to assume hands-on involvement in operaAons while simultaneously providing oversight 
and direcAon to their personnel. Captains must be able to focus on the compleAon of specific 
tasks that have been assigned to their respecAve companies, such as interior fire a>ack, rescue, 
venAlaAon and/or water supply. During structure fires and other dangerous technical operaAons, 
it is imperaAve that these officers accompany and operate with their crew to monitor condiAons, 
provide situaAon reports, and assess progress toward incident miAgaAon. During structure fires 
they must be capable of operaAng inside of the fire building with their crews, the most dangerous 
place on the incident scene. Consequently, it is imperaAve that they are highly qualified and 
experienced and can command the confidence of their personnel.   
 
Consistent with most modern fire departments, the Brewster Fire Department provides 
numerous services beyond tradiAonal firefighAng. The fire department operates the town’s 
transport ambulance service at the advanced life support (ALS) level. Therefore, officers and 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 34 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

firefighters are also cerAfied to provide emergency medical care.  The above-listed posiAons 
include eleven (11) paramedics (with one more in training), and eleven (11) basic emergency                                                      
medical technicians (EMTs) 10. The department provides a wide range of services under the 
umbrella of “community risk reducAon” including tradiAonal fire prevenAon acAviAes, 
community cardio-pulmonary resuscitaAon (CPR) training programs, management of facility Tier 
II reports for storage of hazardous materials pursuant to the federal Emergency Planning and 
Community Right-to-Know Act, and numerous public educaAon programs. 
 
The on-duty response staff is organized into four (4) shiqs of five (5) members each. Each shiq 
consists of one (1) captain (shiq commander), and four (4) firefighter-paramedics, or EMTs. There 
must be a minimum of one paramedic on duty at all Ames.  
 
ArAcles 34 and 44 of the current collecAve bargaining agreement sApulates the number of 
personnel who may be off on scheduled leave at any given Ame. The Brewster Fire Department 
uAlizes a constant staffing model in which the number of personnel assigned to each shiq is also 
the minimum staffing level. This requires that any Ame a member is off on any type of leave, 
scheduled or unscheduled, another member is called in to work to fill that vacancy and bring the 
on-duty staffing back to the minimum level.  
 
Duty shiqs are 24 hours in length. The shiq schedule is 24 hours on duty, followed by 48 hours 
off duty, followed by 24 hours on duty which is then followed by 96 hours off.  This 8-day rotaAon 
results in an average 42-hour work week. This type of schedule is highly typical for fire 
departments in the northeastern United States.  
 
The one downside to the 24-hour schedule is that there can be a tendency for conAnuity and/or 
progress on projects to be slowed by the fact that the personnel assigned to or working on them, 
are only available every third or fiqh day. Personnel working weekends and holidays, when the 
fire chief is not normally working is factored in; communicaAons can be problemaAc, as the fire 
chief may go a week or longer without seeing certain personnel who he may need to get updates 
from and provide direcAon/instrucAon to.  While there is a wide array of alternaAve 
communicaAons mediums available today that can minimize these issues, there is sAll no form 
of communicaAon that is as effecAve as face-to-face communicaAons. 
Because all uniformed personnel are cross trained with fire, rescue, and EMS skills, the 
department is well-posiAoned to respond effecAvely to the expected wide range of emergency 
events. A few parAcipate in specialized regional teams and operaAons and perform various 
addiAonal duAes for the department.  Some, but not all, of the department’s personnel have 

 
10 Paramedics are trained and cerDfied to provide advanced life support (ALS) care, which can include the administraDon of life-
saving drugs, airway intubaDon, intravenous fluid therapy, and specialized cardiac and stroke care.  Emergency Medical 
Technicians (EMTs) provide basic life support (BLS) care, including airway management, cardio-pulmonary resuscita3on 
(CPR), automa3c external defibrilla3on (AED), fracture stabiliza3on, and wound care. 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 35 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

ancillary duAes they have been assigned, that assist with coordinaAng or managing various 
aspects of the department’s operaAons. 

The fire department is unionized except for the fire chief, and deputy fire chief. Captains, the Fire 
PrevenAon Officer, and firefighters are represented by Local 3763 of the InternaAonal AssociaAon 
of Fire Fighters (IAFF). There is a current collecAve bargaining agreement in place.  New 
employees serve as probaAonary employees for one year. The promoAonal process is addressed 
in the collecAve bargaining agreement. The current representaAon arrangement where rank and 
file firefighters, and supervisors (captains) are all in the same union – while very common – does 
have the potenAal to create problems and conflicts of interest within the department, 
parAcularly when it comes to the administraAon of discipline.   
 
Off-duty personnel are recalled when there are mulAple calls or major emergencies such as 
structure fires. The typical recall may result in one or two off-duty personnel returning to the 
staAon although it is not uncommon for no one to return. Structure fire recalls may have a few 
more off-duty personnel returning to duty, but even then those numbers are limited. Recall 
response Ame is conAngent on the availability of personnel and their locaAon at the Ame of the 
incident.  Because of the cost of housing not only in Brewster, but on Cape Cod in general, few of 
Brewster’s personnel live in or near the town. In fact, about 40% of the department’s current 
personnel live over the Sagamore Bridge, so more than 30 miles away. MRI was advised this 
situaAon is becoming more common on Cape Cod. While the need for personnel to be able to 
find affordable housing is very important, it limits the department’s flexibility in having personnel 
available for off duty responses.    

Many communiAes in the United States (but not necessarily Massachuse>s) that are similar sized 
to Brewster are protected by combinaAon fire departments comprised of both career and 
call/volunteer personnel, or, in some instances fully call/volunteer fire departments. The project 
team is oqen quesAoned by municipal leaders if maintaining a call conAngent in their local fire 
department would be a viable opAon to supplement the career staffing levels.  However, MRI 
rarely ever believes this would be a feasible opAon in the 21st century and Brewster provides no 
excepAon.   
 
There are several factors that lead to this conclusion, chief among them the Ame commitment 
necessary to complete iniAal training (up to 550 hours to earn basic cerAficaAons for both 
firefighAng and EMT); no long deep tradiAon of a call or division within the department that 
would a>ract and keep members; and a general steep decline in volunteerism throughout the 
country.  Many chiefs who lead combinaAon departments report that they invest considerable 
resources, both Ame and financial, in training people to be call firefighters only for them to use 
it as nothing more than a stepping-stone to a career job. These factors are parAcularly relevant 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 36 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

in Massachuse>s where the majority of communiAes have career firefighters and there are a 
large number of opportuniAes for those who wish to pursue a career in the fire service. 

As noted above, for most of its history, in past years, the fire department primarily uAlized part-
Ame “on-call” firefighters. However, as emergency calls and training requirements increased, 
parAcularly over the past decade, on-call firefighters reAred, resigned, accepted career posiAons, 
and the town increased the number of full-Ame personnel. Like many other municipaliAes 
throughout the United States, Brewster has been unsuccessful at recruiAng new call firefighters 
and has arrived at the realizaAon that it is no longer feasible or pracAcal to recruit and retain on-
call firefighters and EMTs.  Over the past decade, the town has been unsuccessful in recruiAng 
call firefighters while nearly doubling the size of the career force. In the opinion of the MRI project 
team, the use of call firefighters is no longer part of recommended fire protecAon and EMS 
service delivery model for Brewster.  Today’s training requirements for firefighAng, EMS, rescue, 
and hazardous materials, and the frequency of emergency calls are just two of the barriers to 
maintaining an effecAve and reliable call firefighAng force. 
 
Overall, during the MRI study team’s fieldwork, the Brewster Fire Department appears to have a 
posiAve organizaAonal culture. During the interviews with stakeholders, the MRI study team was 
informed that labor/management relaAons are generally good and posiAve. There was a posiAve 
artude about the changes the department was making and in the past few years, the chief and 
deputy chief along with most of its members were trying to raise the department to an even 
higher level. The project team found members that appeared to be engaged in the department 
besides just being employees.   

The above posiAve a>ributes notwithstanding, the Brewster Fire Department is not without 
challenges (other than staffing) that can have an impact on it as it tries to move forward. The MRI 
team was informed by mulAple stakeholders that several very senior (and unfortunately 
supervisory) members of the department tend to immediately be negaAve about any change that 
is implemented and try to place obstacles in the way of implementaAon. Because of their 
seniority and supervisory status, they have the ability to influence other members of the 
department many of whom have only been on the job for a few years. This type of situaAon can 
oqen create a divided organizaAon as various “adversaries” seek to increase the number of 
personnel they perceive as loyal to them and thus against “the enemy”. Changing this type of 
culture and minimizing the influence of these negaAve forces within the department will be 
criAcal if the Brewster Fire Department is to realize its full potenAal. 

In addiAon, the Brewster Fire Department is one of the lower paid departments on Cape Cod. 
While the town has made a concerted effort to gradually increase the pay scale, it sAll lags behind 
most other departments in the area. That is a major reason that MRI was informed that more 
than 20 personnel have leq the Brewster Fire Department over the previous five years, most of 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 37 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

them to employment with other fire departments on the Cape. During one stretch in 2021, four 
members leq in a short period of Ame. This type of turnover is unhealthy to an organizaAon. In 
addiAon, in early 2023 the department had four vacant (including one on long term military leave) 
posiAons it was struggling to fill.  

With the constant staffing model described previously, this situaAon creates the need for a high 
amount of overAme. The amount of mandatory overAme has been cited by personnel who have 
recently leq Brewster for other fire departments. High levels of overAme, parAcularly mandatory 
or forced overAme can have implicaAons both fiscally, as well as for firefighter safety and paAent 
care outcomes. For the former, in FY 2023, the Brewster Fire Department had $424,700 budgeted 
for overAme. However, due to the need for constant overAme, as of 3/31/23, so with a full ¼ of 
the year remaining, there was only $11,000 leq in that account. 

The firefighter safety issue is even more of a concern. The consequences of the COVID pandemic 
have created some unique staffing challenges for many fire departments, Brewster included. 
During the early days of the pandemic many days fire departments had mulAple shiqs filled by 
personnel working overAme just to fill vacancies created by personnel on both regularly 
scheduled, as well as unscheduled/sick leave. Today, many fire departments are having difficulty 
filling shiqs and in some places are gerng involved in bidding wars in efforts to a>ract the most 
qualified candidates. In addiAon to the financial implicaAons to the municipality of the need for 
personnel to work numerous overAme shiqs, there is growing evidence to suggest there are very 
real health and safety implicaAons for firefighters as well, and which could end up having tragic 
consequences. 

In a recent arAcle Atled "What Firefighters Really Want in 2023”11 published in Fire Rescue 1 
magazine, the results of a naAonwide survey of firefighters indicated some concerning data that 
could have applicability in Brewster as much as any other fire department. This includes: 

Ø 64% of respondents rate their job-related stress level at seven or above (on a scale of 1 
to 10) with 41% raAng an eight or above. 

Ø 57% selected staffing challenges among their top three least-saAsfying aspects of the job, 
with one-quarter selecAng this issue as their top issue. 

Ø 46% have considered leaving their current department; and 42% are considering leaving 
the fire service altogether. 

Ø 32% state that stress is negaWvely impacWng the quality of service they provide. 
Ø 54% of respondents reported that, due to staffing challenges, they believe their 

personal safety is at greater risk; 50% described their stress level as negaAvely impacAng 
their ability to engage in non-fire department acAviAes such as 
hobbies, vacaAons and Ame with friends; 47% indicated that stress is negaAvely 

 
11 hKps://www.firerescue1.com/what-firefighters-want/  



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 38 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

impacAng relaAonships with their families; 67% say their stress level negaAvely impacts 
other aspects of their health, like ability to sleep and Ame to exercise. 

In addiAon, other studies suggest: 

Ø The PTSD rate for firefighters has been esAmated anywhere from 7% to 37% compared 
to about 6.8% for the general populaAon.12 
 

Ø A recent survey found that 6.6% of first responders had a>empted suicide at least once, 
10 Ames the rate of the general populaAon.13 

Chief Don Abbo> was a well-known fire service leader, author, and instructor who is regarded 
as a leading authority regarding MAYDAY14 facts in the fire service in North America. Chief 
Abbo>’s analysis of data submi>ed to him by career fire departments noted a 35 percent 
increase in MAYDAYS during a 13-week period from March through June of 2020. This was 
during the iniAal surge of the COVID-19 pandemic as well as during social issues, protests, 
and related civil emergencies. Based upon interviews conducted with 156 personnel 
(primarily those firefighters who transmi>ed the MAYDAY) Chief Abbot idenAfied some 
trends, several of which could have applicability to Brewster: 

Ø Lack of control over excessive overAme, relaxing the rules because of current civil, COVID, 
or related situaAons and condiAons. There was one incident in which a firefighter had a 
MAYDAY during his 71st-straight hour of being on duty.  
 

Ø There were several MAYDAYS (39%) where crews were working short-handed. 
 

Ø 81% occurred between 9:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. 
 

Ø 77% occurred during an overWme shif; 43% while working a 24 hour + hour shif. 
 

Ø Average runs prior to MAYDAY (during a 24-hour period) were 16 runs/or standby on 
protest rallies (low of 9 runs / high of 26 in 24 hours). 

 
12 hKps://www.jems.com/administra3on-and-leadership/post-trauma3c-stress-disorder-
comparison/#:~:text=Introduc3on,U.S.%20is%20es3mated%20at%206.8%25.&text=The%20rate%20for%20firefigh
ters%20has,anywhere%20from%207%25%2D37%25.  
13 hKps://www.defeatsuicide.com/suicide-first-
responders#:~:text=First%20responders%20are%20more%20likely,rate%20of%20the%20general%20popula3on!  
14 A fire department MAYDAY is any situa3on where a firefighter or firefighters is/are unable to safely exit a hazard 
zone (including inside of any structure on fire) on their own, or an event that cannot be resolved by that/those 
individual(s) within 30 seconds and/or has the poten3al to result in serious injury or death.  
 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 39 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

Ø 37% of the MAYDAY vicAms reported working short a crew member. 
 

Ø 15% reported they didn't remember the dispatch informaAon (address, reason for the 
run). 
 

Ø 37% reported using more air than normal. 
Ø THE NUMBER ONE cause of their MAYDAY was becoming lost or separated from a hose 

line. 
 

Ø 43% reported difficulty sleeping during their overAme shiq. 
 

Ø OverAme ranged from working 48 hours (36%), 60 hours (23%), and 72 hours (17%) 
straight. 

The criAcal message here related to staffing pracAces, and personnel working large amounts of 
overAme to fill vacancies, is that while each community challenge is different, and Brewster is no 
excepAon, the fact is that firefighters require adequate rest (on AND off duty) to ensure they are 
physically and mentally prepared for duty. Thus, adequate staffing must be planned for in 
advance based upon the unique needs of the community.  

With support from the Town of Brewster and its ciAzens, the BFD has gradually been able to 
increase its staffing levels over the past 12 years. This has been accomplished through internal 
budget transfers, budget overrides, receipt of a federal Staffing for Adequate Emergency 
Response (SAFER) grant15, and the use of ambulance billing revenues. The most recent increases 
occurred in 2019 when two addiAonal firefighters were hired aqer receipt of a SAFER grant and 
a successful budget override; and in 2020 when two more personnel were hired uAlizing 
ambulance revenues. 
 
Generally, the MRI study team believes that the current Brewster Fire Department’s overall 
organizaAonal structure is appropriate for department’s current needs and operaAons. However, 
the department is struggling with adequate staffing to conAnue to perform its mission in the 
community. In this secAon of the report we will make several recommendaAons relaAve to 
staffing and organizaAonal structure, they primarily serve to enhance current, and mid term 
operaAons rather than indicate a need for major changes. As with any organizaAon that 
conAnues to grow and evolve based upon the expanding needs of its customers, the Brewster 
Fire Department’s organizaAonal structure should conAnue to be evaluated in an ongoing 
manner to ensure it is sAll appropriate and meeAng the department’s needs. If, in the future, 
revisions are deemed appropriate, they can be considered at that Ame.  

 
15 The goal of SAFER is to enhance the local fire departments' abiliDes to comply with staffing, response and operaDonal 
standards established by the NFPA 1710.  



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 40 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

RESPONSE METRICS 
 
A community’s demand for fire and EMS services are based on that community’s demographics, 
socio-economic factors, the percentage of commercial, industrial, and residenAal properAes, as 
well as, the district’s infrastructure. By reviewing the historical demand for fire and EMS services 
and the fire department’s ability to respond to those needs within the expressed expectaAons of 
that community; a fire department can evaluate what types and levels of services that they will 
need to provide. Though fire and EMS standards are helpful for modeling those services, no two 
communiAes are exactly alike. BudgeAng and resources oqen determine what level of service a 
community expects and can afford. Fire departments, in conjuncAon with their governing bodies 
and community poliAcal leaders, should work to establish plans that can deliver fire protecAon 
and emergency medical services at a point that meets the level of expectaAon that the 
community has established. 
 
One of the best ways to get a broad overview picture of an emergency services organizaAon is to 
look at, and analyze, their emergency response/incident staAsAcs. Looking at staAsAcal data that 
is compiled from incident reports that are generated for each and every emergency response, 
and /or request of assistance, will assist with determining the adequacy of current operaAons, as 
well as, to idenAfy trends in responses (i.e., increasing vs. decreasing volume, changing types of 
incident requests, increasing or unacceptable response Ames, frequency of simultaneous 
incidents). UAlizing current trends to help predict future events, while not an exact science, can 
be helpful to communiAes and fire departments. This informaAon can be uAlized to plan for 
future operaAonal needs, such as addiAonal staAons. However, as with any other type of 
staAsAcal analysis, the informaAon that is produced is only as good and/or reliable as the data 
that was originally entered and provided for evaluaAon. 
 
The data that was analyzed for this report was provided to the MRI study team by the Brewster 
Fire Department. The reports developed were automaAcally compiled through the report 
generaAon features of the Image Trend Soqware fire records management system, and 
electronic paAent care reporAng for EMS, uAlized by the Brewster Fire Department. Each 
emergency incident that the Brewster Fire Department responds to results in the generaAon of 
a NaAonal Fire Incident ReporAng System (NFIRS) report. The project team believes that the data 
that it analyzed is, for the most part, relaAvely accurate; however, the chief reported that 
improving data entry has been an ongoing project for the department over several years.  
During the five-year period from 2018 - 2022, the Brewster Fire Department responded to a total 
of 15,329 calls for emergency service, an average of 3,065.8 per year, or 8.4 per day (Figure IV-
2). In 2022, the department responded to 3,235 incidents which is 169 (5.5%) higher than the 
five-year average. Overall, the Brewster Fire Department responds to about 74.7% medical 
related calls and 25.3% for fires and other emergencies (Figure IV-3). The yearly percentage of 
EMS calls compared to total call volume ranged from a low of 72.1% in 2018 to a high of 78% in 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 41 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

2022. The percentage of EMS related incidents is consistent with naAonwide trends where EMS 
related calls oqen account for between 70% to 80% of responses. This indicates that the 
department needs to remain focused on not only the EMS aspect of its operaAons, but also its 
fire suppression mission. 

The year-to-year incident staAsAcs showed a fluctuaAon from year to year instead of a steady 
upward trajectory as is oqen observed. The number of incidents decreased by 13.7% from 2018 
to 2019 then another 10.7% in 2020 before increasing by 15.5% in 2021 and another 5.9% in 
2022. In 2020, many EMS providers experienced significant declines in the number of responses 
which is being a>ributed to the COVID pandemic. They are expected to conAnue to increase 
annually now that the pandemic is over, and life has returned to the new normal. It is MRI’s 
experience that nearly every community conAnues to see annual increases in call volume, and 
we believe this trend will conAnue in Brewster. This will most likely be driven primarily by the 
older populaAon demographic found in Brewster, and people spending more Ame at what used 
to tradiAonally be seasonal vacaAon homes. 
 

 
 

FIGURE IV-2: BREWSTER FIRE DEPARTMENT TOTAL INCIDENT TREND 2018 –2022 

3,434

2,961
2,644

3,055 3,235

2,476
2,185

1,997
2,272

2,523

958
776 647 783 712

0

500
1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500
3,000

3,500

4,000

2018 2019 2020 2021 2020

TOTAL ANNUAL INCIDENTS BY YEAR
2018 - 2022

TOTAL RESPONSES EMS RESPONSES FIRE RESPONSES



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 42 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

 
 

FIGURE IV-3: BREWSTER FIRE DEPARTMENT GENERAL INCIDENT CATEGORIES 
2018 – 2022 

 
For actual fire incidents, the staAsAcal sample is small. Per NFIRS protocols, the category for “Fire 
Incident” must be an actual fire situaAon, that in many, but not all situaAons caused some type 
of damage. Many of the incidents that are classified under other types of incidents were also 
probably iniAally dispatched as some type of fire incident, but ulAmately were classified 
otherwise, for reporAng purposes, based upon the situaAon actually found at the scene. From 
2018 through 2022, the department responded to a total of 287 actual fire incidents, an average 
of 57.4 per year, or about 1.1 per week. Actual fires accounted for 1.9% of the fire department’s 
total responses during these years.   
 
Significant structure fire incidents were a much smaller percentage of the actual fires. In the five-
year period analyzed the Brewster Fire Department experienced just 56 significant structure fires, 
an average of 11.2 per year. These annual numbers ranged from 5 in 2020 and 6 in 2022, to 17 
in both 2018 and 2021. 
 
The number of incidents that the Brewster Fire Department responded to each month over the 
fire year period is mostly consistent with what would be expected of an area that experiences 
an influx of part-time residents and visitors during the warm weather months. Over the five-year 
period, incident activity began to increase in May, peaking in July and August, before beginning 
to decrease again in September (Figure IV-4). There are a couple of exceptions though. As seen 
on the chart, activity spiked in March which is due to March 2018 having an extraordinarily high 
number of incidents – 439 – more than double the normal number. This was due mainly by 
multiple Nor’easters hitting the area in rapid succession over several weeks. Also, the number of 

25.3%

74.7%

INCIDENT CATEGORIES 2018 - 2022

FIRE INCIDENTS

EMS INCIDENTS

15,329 TOTAL INCIDENTS



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 43 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

incidents increases again near the end of the year, most likely caused by people spending the 
holidays at their vacation homes. 

 
FIGURE IV-4: RESPONSES BY MONTH 2018 - 2022 

The number of incidents that the department responded to each day of the work week, Monday 
through Friday is very consistent with just 138 incidents difference in the five-year period 
between the slowest day, Wednesdays, and the busiest day, Monday (Figure IV-5). Surprisingly, 

2018-2022
JANUARY 1,152
FEBRUARY 991
MARCH 1,308
APRIL 1,003
MAY 1,238
JUNE 1,409
JULY 1,640
AUGUST 1,582
SEPTEMBER 1,240
OCTOBER 1,048
NOVEMBER 1,141
DECEMBER 1,181

1,152

991

1,308

1,003

1,238

1,409

1,640
1,582

1,240

1,048
1,141

1,181

0
100
200
300
400
500
600
700
800
900

1,000
1,100
1,200
1,300
1,400
1,500
1,600
1,700
1,800

RESPONSES BY MONTH
2018 - 2022



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 44 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

the weekends tended to have fewer calls with 162 fewer incidents on Saturdays than on 
Mondays, and another 108 fewer on Sundays than Saturdays and 270 less than Mondays. With 
the Brewster area being a vacation and tourist destination during the warm weather months it 
would be reasonable to expect the weekends to be busier.  

 
FIGURE IV-5: RESPONSES BY DAY OF THE WEEK 2018 - 2022 

Incident activity rose and fell throughout the day depending upon the hour. The busiest hours of 
the day were between about 0800 hours and 1900 hours, with the height of activity occurring 
between 0900 hours and 1400 hours. (Figure IV-6).  

2018-2022
SUNDAY 1,989
MONDAY 2,259
TUESDAY 2,253
WEDNESDAY 2,121
THURSDAY 2,173
FRIDAY 2,220
SATURDAY 2,097

1,989

2,259 2,253

2,121

2,173

2,220

2,097

1,800

1,900

2,000

2,100

2,200

2,300

RESPONSES BY DAY OF THE WEEK
2018 - 2022



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 45 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

 

FIGURE IV-6: RESPONSES BY TIME-OF-DAY 2018 - 2022 

2018 - 2022
0:00 271
1:00 282
2:00 250
3:00 262
4:00 262
5:00 262
6:00 353
7:00 623
8:00 867
9:00 962
10:00 995
11:00 1,053
12:00 980
13:00 956
14:00 858
15:00 859
16:00 843
17:00 775
18:00 801
19:00 713
20:00 602
21:00 542
22:00 414
23:00 358

271
282250

262

262

262
353

623
867

962
995

1,053
980

956
858

859
843

775

801
713

602

542
414

358

0
200
400
600
800

1000
1200

RESPONSES BY TIME OF DAY 2018 - 2022



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 46 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

One issue in Brewster, as with many communiAes, is either actual or anAcipated call volume 
growth. The five-year incident trend analysis did not indicate a definiAve trend, although in the 
last two years the numbers have increased each year as would be expected. indicaAng that 
incidents are generally on an upward trajectory. It is our belief that the decrease in incidents 
from 2019 to 2020 is an anomaly resulAng from the COVID pandemic. Many other departments 
have experienced similar declines in responses. Overall experience shows, parAcularly 
considering some development is sAll occurring in the town, and with an older populaAon, that 
call volume will conAnue to increase. Looking forward, if this growth in service demand 
conAnues, maintaining the current service level will only be possible if the level of resources 
dedicated to these services increase.   
 
Every emergency services organizaAon periodically experiences simultaneous, or overlapping, 
incidents. Whether they are handled by that department themselves, or, through automaAc/ 
mutual aid provisions need to be made to ensure that these incidents are handled effecAvely, 
efficiently and, in a Amely manner. However, as the number of simultaneous, or overlapping, 
incidents increase, that community and/or department can no longer rely on their neighboring 
communiAes/departments to handle an ever-increasing percentage of their incidents. This a key 
benchmark in the need to consider increasing the number of available resources that are in 
service.  

The MRI study team’s evaluaAon found that the number of simultaneous, or overlapping 
incidents handled by the Brewster Fire Department is increasing and becoming a significant 
operaAonal concern. This has added a stress factor to the department as the occurrence of 
mulAple overlapping calls over the five-year period analyzed stands at 18.8%, or just under one 
in every five incidents. This means that 18.8% of the Ame the department is asked to answer not 
only one, but two, and occasionally three or more incidents at the same Ame with their resource 
set, and the assistance on off duty personnel, automaAc, and mutual aid.   

The number of simultaneous calls averages about 1.6 per day, and 48 per month over the five-
year period. In three of the five years (2018, 2021, 2022), the number of simultaneous or 
overlapping calls exceeded 600 per year. This is a disturbing trend, parAcularly with Brewster 
currently staffed at a bare bones level. While it is not unusual – it is generally expected - to see 
total incident volume rise, the rate of simultaneous events indicates that the current resource 
set of the organizaAon will be unable to maintain the current service level as this staAsAc expands 
toward 20% (in 2021 the number stood at 19.8% before deceasing slightly in 2022) and possibly 
beyond. Figure IV-7 illustrates the annual frequency of these events for the five-year period. 
Figure IV-8 shows the number of overlapped calls from by number of simultaneous/ overlapped 
incidents. These incident response metrics support the overall need to increase the human 
resources set provided to the department as will be discussed in detail in the Staffing Cri*cal 
Tasking, and Deployment secAon later in this chapter of the report.  



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 47 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

 

FIGURE IV-7: OVERLAPPING/SIMULTANEOUS INCIDENT VOLUME – 2018 - 2022 

 
SIMULTANEOUS/OVERLAPPING INCIDENTS 

(2018-2022) 
Number of 
Simultaneous/ 
Overlapping 
Incidents 

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

2 437 404 369 434 459 
3 121 119 88 132 105 
4 33 25 17 27 29 

5+ 26 18 7 13 8 
 

FIGURE IV-8: OVERLAPPING/SIMULTANEOUS INCIDENT VOLUME BY NUMBER OF CALLS – 2018 – 2022 

 

 

2,434

2,961

2,644

3,055
3,235

617 566 481
606 609

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 48 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

FIRE OPERATIONS 
 
Fire, rescue, and emergency medical system (EMS) incidents and the fire department’s ability to 
respond to, manage, and miAgate them effecAvely, efficiently, and safely are mission-criAcal 
components of the emergency services delivery system. In fact, fire, rescue, and EMS operaAons 
provide the primary, and certainly most important basis for the very existence of the fire 
department. As with many fire departments today, the majority of responses are emergency 
medical service related. Improved building construcAon, code enforcement, automaAc sprinkler 
systems, and aggressive public educaAon programs have contributed to a decrease in serious 
fires in many communiAes and more importantly, fire deaths among civilians. However, while no 
longer generaAng the majority of most departments’ responses as they once did, fire-related 
incidents are sAll jusAfiably an extremely high priority for the “fire” department and comprise a 
significant part of their operaAonal missions.   
 
These trends and improvements in the overall fire protecAon system notwithstanding, fires sAll 
do occur and the largest percentage of those occur in residenAal occupancies where they place 
the civilian populaAon at risk. Although they occur with less frequency than they did several 
decades ago, when they occur today, they grow much quicker and burn more intensely than they 
did in the past. As will be discussed later in this report, it is imperaAve that the fire department 
is able to assemble an effecAve response force (ERF) within a reasonable Ame period in order to 
successfully miAgate these incidents with the least amount of loss possible.  
NFPA 1710, Standard for the Organiza*on and Deployment of Fire Suppression Opera*ons, 
Emergency Medical Opera*ons and Special Opera*ons to the Public by Career Fire Departments, 
2020 ediAon (NaAonal Fire ProtecAon AssociaAon, Quincy, MA) addresses the organizaAon and 
deployment of fire suppression operaAons, emergency medical operaAons, and special 
operaAons to the public by career fire departments to protect ciAzens and the occupaAonal 
safety and health of fire department employees. It is the benchmark standard that the United 
States Department of Homeland Security uAlizes when evaluaAng applicaAons for staffing grants 
under the Staffing for Adequate Fire and Emergency Response (SAFER) grant program.  The ability 
to get a sufficient number of personnel, along with appropriate apparatus, to the scene of a 
structure fire is criAcal to operaAonal success and firefighter safety. Accomplishing this within the 
8-minute Ame frame specified in NFPA 1710 is an important operaAonal benchmark. 
 
In addiAon to structural firefighAng and emergency medical services, the fire department is 
tasked with responding to and managing a broad spectrum of other types of emergencies, 
including, but not limited to, vehicle crashes, building collapse, water and ice rescue, mass 
casualty incidents, weather-related emergencies, and natural and technological disasters.  These 
types of incidents require specialized equipment and specialized training. In all types of 
emergency responses, an incident command system (ICS) should be uAlized that conforms to the 
NaAonal Incident Management System (NIMS) guidelines that have been promulgated by the 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 49 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

U.S. Department of Homeland Security.  Since safety is the primary focus throughout all 
operaAons, a formal component of the ICS program includes the consistent assignment of an on-
scene safety officer when appropriate.  
 
The strategic and tacAcal challenges that the various hazards the department protects need to 
be idenAfied and planned for through a community risk analysis planning and management 
process. The community risk and vulnerability assessment evaluates the community as a whole, 
and regarding property, measures all property and the risks associated with that property, and 
then segregates the property as either a high-, medium-, or low-hazard, which are further broken 
down into varying degrees of risk. Community Risk Assessment was discussed in detail in Chapter 
III. The development of a community risk and vulnerability assessment should drive many of the 
key decisions associated with the deployment of resources for fire and medical emergencies. 
 
The Brewster Fire Department is equipped and staffed to respond to a wide variety of emergency 
incidents. Although EMS calls are more prevalent, the department must sAll be prepared to fulfill 
its core firefighAng mission. As with most communiAes in the United States, the primary focus of 
firefighAng operaAons is on fires in residenAal occupancies (single- and two-family dwellings, 
mulA-family units) due to the high potenAal for loss of life. UnAl residenAal fire sprinkler systems 
become commonplace as a criAcal lifesaving feature in homes, the fire department will conAnue 
to be the only “front-line” resource available for firefighAng and rescue. The fire codes in the 
Commonwealth of Massachuse>s do not require residenAal sprinklers and do not allow 
communiAes to mandate them through local codes or ordinances.  
 
Structural firefighAng has become far more challenging and dangerous in the last thirty years 
with the introducAon of significant quanAAes of plasAc and foam-based products into homes and 
businesses (e.g., furnishings, ma>resses, bedding, plumbing, electrical components, home and 
business electronics, decoraAve materials, insulaAon, and structural components). These 
materials ignite, burn quickly, and produce extreme heat and toxic smoke. A fire can easily double 
in size and intensity every 30 seconds. If firefighters cannot arrive in a Amely manner and a>ack 
the fire quickly, a strong possibility exists that a dangerous flashover (simultaneous igniAon of all 
combusAble materials in a room) will occur. Flashover can occur in as li>le as five to seven 
minutes aqer fire igniAon and is one of the most dangerous events that a firefighter can face. 
When a flashover occurs, iniAal firefighAng forces are generally overwhelmed and will require 
significantly more resources to affect fire control and exAnguishment.   
 
Flashover occurs quicker and more frequently today and is caused at least in part by the 
introducAon of significant quanAAes of plasAc- and foam-based products into homes and 
businesses (e.g., furnishings, ma>resses, bedding, plumbing and electrical components, home 
and business electronics, decoraAve materials, insulaAon, and structural components). These 
materials ignite and burn quickly and produce extreme heat and toxic smoke.  
 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 50 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

Figure IV-9 illustrates the Ame progression of a fire from incepAon through flashover. The Ame 
versus products of combusAon curve shows acAvaAon Ames and effecAveness of residenAal 
sprinklers (approximately one minute), commercial sprinklers (four minutes), flashover (eight to 
ten minutes), and firefighters applying first water to the fire aqer noAficaAon, dispatch, response, 
and set up (ten minutes). It also illustrates that the fire department’s response Ame to the fire is 
one of the only aspects of the Ameline that the fire department can exert direct control over. It 
is also important to keep in mind that once units arrive on the scene, they will need to get set up 
to commence operaAons. NFPA recommends that units be able to commence an iniAal a>ack 
within two minutes of arrival, 90% of the Ame.   

 

 
 

FIGURE IV-9:  
HOME FIRE TIMELINE CURVE SHOWING ACTIVATION TIMES AND EFFECTIVENESS OF RESIDENTIAL SPRINKLERS 

(APPROXIMATELY 1 MINUTE), FLASHOVER (3 TO 5 MINUTES) AND FIREFIGHTERS APPLYING FIRST WATER TO THE 
FIRE AFTER NOTIFICATION, DISPATCH, RESPONSE, AND SET UP (10 MINUTES). 

Image credit: Home Fire Sprinkler Coali3on   
 
The Brewster Fire Department is dispatched by, and emergency communications are handled by, 
the Brewster County Sheriff’s Office (BCSO) Department Regional Emergency Communications 
Center (RECC) which is located at Joint Base Cape Cod. The BCSO RECC handles emergency 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 51 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

dispatch for nine communities and coordinates regional mutual aid operations throughout Cape 
Cod.  

Response time data that was provided to the MRI study team by the Brewster Fire Department 
only reflects the time from when the Department received the call. It does not reflect the alarm 
processing or dispatch time at the BCSO RECC. The dispatch center dispatches the station as a 
whole, and not individual apparatus. In addition, the times reflected the total time from when 
the department received the call until the first unit arrived on the scene. It did not break these 
times out into turnout time, and travel time components. It appears when the apparatus signs 
on, the dispatch center is then recording dispatched and responding times simultaneously.  
Finally, for fire calls, the first arriving unit could be an ambulance or chief officer, not necessarily 
a fire suppression unit. As a result, especially with the department operating from a single station 
with no options to really change the response times we opted not to utilize the data since its 
benefit would be limited. 

Interviews that were conducted by the MRI project team revealed that the Department appears 
well versed in the use of the NaAonal Incident Management System (NIMS) and works well with 
mulAple agencies to provide effecAve and efficient emergency response services to the 
community. Through discussions with the department’s officers, it appears that though the 
department has adopted, and is trained, and is aware and understands the importance of using 
an Incident Command System (ICS), it is oqen difficult to implement it iniAally on every incident 
because of limited staffing.  
 
One of the most effecAve tools the fire department has to assist them with handling fires and 
other emergencies in mulA-family residenAal complexes and commercial faciliAes, are pre-fire 
plans. The purpose of a fire pre-planning program is to allow firefighters to become familiar with 
buildings and/or faciliAes within their response area prior to an emergency, alert them to on-site 
hazards and risks, and develop a detailed fire response plan for them that includes specific tacAcs 
that will be required to miAgate fires or other emergencies. A comprehensive pre-fire plan 
includes as much data about the building as possible.  
 
The informaAon contained in pre-fire/incident plans allow firefighters and officers to have a 
familiarity with the building/facility, its features, characterisAcs, operaAons, and hazards, thus 
enabling them to more effecAvely, efficiently, and safely, conduct firefighAng and other 
emergency operaAons.  Pre-fire plans should be reviewed and updated regularly. They should be 
tested and validated by table-top exercises and on-site drills. Lack of an up-to-date pre-fire plan 
is oqen a>ributed to being one of the primary contribuAng factors in large fire losses. 
 
It was reported to MRI that the Brewster Fire Department has done limited pre-planning on some 
of the target hazards in the town (there are only a limited number of commercial occupancies). 
To derive maximum benefit from the pre-fire plans, the department should make pre-fire plans 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 52 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

accessible on mobile data terminals (MDTs) (notebook/laptop computers) on fire apparatus, and 
in the command vehicle(s) for use in-route to an incident, and while on-scene.  The informaAon 
can also be sent to smart phones. With a cloud-based system all the informaAon would be 
available in real Ame.   
 
Performance improvement for fire suppression will become even more important in the coming 
years as the fire department command structure evolves from being a group with significant 
firefighAng experience, to a group with stronger EMS experience. Major fire incidents conAnue 
to decline because of be>er fire prevenAon and building code compliance, the advent of 
advanced fire detecAon and suppression systems, and fire-retardant building components and 
contents. As a result, the fire service will be challenged in the future to maintain the necessary 
skill sets to properly command and control major fire incidents. Training and performance 
improvement strategies must be aggressively enhanced in anAcipaAon of this paradigm shiq in 
fire department capabiliAes and experience. 
 
The point of the performance measures is to idenAfy the community’s expectaAons in a 
quanAfiable way, and to use the measurement of the fire department’s performance against 
these objecAves to idenAfy areas, which may need improvement or addiAonal resources. The 
process should also include a provision for modifying SOGs, training prioriAes, and equipment as 
determined by the performance improvement program. 

The Department recently purchased the SOG/Policy soqware system Lexipol. At the Ame of this 
study the Chief and Deputy Chief have been meeAng with the reps from Lexipol to get the 
program implemented. In the near future, they will begin a process including department 
members to modify, develop, and implement, exisAng and new SOGs and policies into this state 
of the art, cloud-based system. The chiefs believe that once fully implemented this program will 
significantly increase operaAon effecAveness, as well as improve the department’s SOGs and 
policies. 

Brewster Fire Department staffing for fire operaAons will be further discussed later in this chapter 
in the secAon on Staffing, Cri*cal Tasking, and Deployment. 
 
EMS OPERATIONS 
 
Emergency Medical Services (EMS) operaAons are an important component of the 
comprehensive emergency services delivery system in any community. Together with the 
delivery of police and fire services, it forms the backbone of the community’s overall public safety 
life net.  As noted in several chapters of this report, the Brewster Fire Department like many, if 
not most fire departments, responds to significantly more emergency medical incidents than 
actual fires, or other types of emergency incidents.  



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 53 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

As a percentage of overall incidents responded to, it could be argued that EMS incidents 
consAtute the greatest number of “true” emergencies, where intervenAon by trained personnel 
truly makes a difference, someAmes literally between life and death. Heart a>ack and stroke 
vicAms require rapid intervenAon, care, and transport to a medical facility (Figure IV-10).  The 
longer the Ame duraAon without care, the less likely the paAent is to fully recover. Numerous 
studies have shown that irreversible brain damage can occur if the brain is deprived of oxygen 
for more than four minutes. In addiAon, the potenAal for successful resuscitaAon during cardiac 
arrest decreases exponenAally with each passing minute that cardio-pulmonary resuscitaAon 
(CPR), or cardiac defibrillaAon, is delayed.  
 

Ø The potenAal for successful resuscitaAon during cardiac arrest decreases 
exponenAally, 7% to 10% with each passing minute, that cardio-pulmonary 
resuscitaAon (CPR) or cardiac defibrillaAon and advanced life support intervenAon 
is delayed.  

 
Ø Few a>empts at resuscitaAon aqer 10 minutes are successful. 

 

 
 

FIGURE IV-10: CARDIAC ARREST SURVIVAL TIMELINE 
 
The EMS component of the emergency services delivery system is more heavily regulated than 
the fire side.  In addiAon to NFPA 1710, NFPA 450 Guidelines for Emergency Medical Services 
(EMS) and Systems, (2009 ediAon), provides a template for local stakeholders to evaluate an EMS 
system and to make improvements based on that evaluaAon. The Commission on AccreditaAon 
of Ambulance Services (CAAS)16 also establishes benchmarks for EMS operaAons, however, their 
focus is primarily on ambulance response Ames which is not a component of this analysis. 
Massachuse>s regulates EMS agencies, and certain federal Medicare regulaAons are also 
applicable. 
 

 
16 The Commission on AccreditaDon of Ambulance Services (CAAS) is an independent commission that established a 
comprehensive series of standards for the ambulance service industry. 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 54 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

Typically, less than 10% of 9-1-1 paAents have Ame-sensiAve ALS needs. However, for those 
paAents who do, Ame can be a criAcal issue of morbidity and mortality. For the remainder of 
those calling 9-1-1 for a medical emergency, though they may not have a medical necessity, this 
ninety percent, sAll expects rapid customer service. Response Ames for paAents and their families 
are oqen the most important issue regarding the use of the fire department’s services and are 
what is most oqen referred to when they “rate” their local emergency responders.  Regardless 
of the service delivery model, appropriate response Ames are more than a clinical issue; they are 
also a customer service issue.   
 
Emergency medical services (EMS) for the Town of Brewster are provided at the advanced life 
support (ALS)/paramedic level by the Brewster Fire Department. Advanced life support or ALS-
level care refers to prehospital intervenAons that can be brought into the field by paramedics. 
Typically, this service level includes the ability to bring much of the emergency room capability 
to the paAent. Paramedics can administer intravenous fluids, manage a paAent’s airway, provide 
drug therapy, uAlize the full capabiliAes of a 12-lead cardiac monitor, and provide a vital 
communicaAon link to the medical control physician who can provide specific medical direcAon 
based on the situaAon. 
 
Primary EMS ambulance transport services to the Town are also provided by the Brewster Fire 
Department.  The department can staff either one or two ambulances depending upon the Ame 
of day and staffing levels. It operates under a license from the Massachuse>s Office of Emergency 
Medical Services (OEMS) which designates the service as ALS level with ambulances staffed with 
one EMT and one paramedic.  
 
The ciAzens of Brewster benefit greatly by having firefighters provide emergency medical services 
at the advanced life support (ALS) level. This is an efficient use of personnel resources since 
approximately 74.7% of all emergency calls are for EMS incidents. This is somewhat higher than 
the naAonal average as reported by the US Fire AdministraAon (64%) and the NaAonal Fire 
ProtecAon AssociaAon (65%).  AddiAonally, Brewster’s EMS revenue from insurers, 
Medicaid/Medicare, and direct paAent billing provides a significant offset to fire-rescue 
department operaAng and capital expenses. 
 
As is the common pracAce on Cape Cod, the Brewster Fire Department normally staffs their first 
out ambulance with three personnel, regardless of the severity of the incident. If shiq staffing is 
at four personnel, the captain will also response in an SUV to supervise and assist. If staffing is at 
five, the two addiAonal personnel may respond in a second ambulance to assist. These 
procedures effecAvely place the fire suppression funcAon out of service unAl personnel who have 
been recalled on overAme report to the staAon for back-up (for a number of reasons, oqen no 
one responds back to the staAon for these recalls, parAcularly when there are mulAple in the 
same day). When needed, the second ambulance is usually staffed with two personnel. The MRI 
study team was advised that the department will occasionally send only two personnel to the 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 55 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

hospital, depending upon the severity of the paAent’s condiAon; however, this is an excepAon 
rather than the normal pracAce.  
 
The raAonale for this procedure is that these addiAonal personnel help the ambulance crew with 
medical care, carrying equipment, liqing paAents, and driving the ambulance to the hospital 
when the ambulance crew, parAcularly the paramedic(s) are commi>ed to the care of criAcally 
ill paAents. Medical calls are generally classified from Alpha (minor/least severe) to Echo (life 
threatening/most severe). On Cape Cod EMS calls are categorized Priority 1 (most serious) to 
Priority 3 (non-life threatening). Certain assist type calls are categorized Priority 4. In many 
locaAons (not necessarily New England) normal procedures send only an ambulance, with two 
personnel, to the minor nature, Alpha and Bravo calls, or Priority 3 level calls unless the arrival of 
an ambulance will be delayed (Figure IV-11). 
 

 
FIGURE IV-11:  EMS RESPONSE MATRIX 

Note:  Priority 1 & 2 equates to Charlie, Delta, and Echo response determinants while Priority 3 calls equate to 
Alpha and Bravo level response determinants. 

 
Dispatching an engine company also to Priority 1 and 2 calls is a best pracAce that ensures that 
sufficient personnel are on-scene to provide criAcal care to seriously ill or injured paAents. The 
firefighter-paramedics assigned to the ambulance can focus on direct paAent care, while other 
personnel are responsible for incident command, scene safety, delivering and serng up 
equipment, and liqing and carrying the paAent(s). An engine company is requested for Priority 3 
calls when the ambulance response is delayed, personnel is needed for liqing and carrying a 
paAent, forcible entry to a residence or vehicle is required, or when the condiAon of the paAent 
is found to be more serious than the iniAal dispatch assessment. This is illustrated in the following 
graphic: 
 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 56 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

        

              FIGURE IV-12: TYPICAL EMS RESPONSE MATRIX/ALGORITHM 

While we acknowledge that changing this procedure is likely to be met with resistance, we 
believe the Brewster Fire Department should consider revising this procedure. The number of 
incidents is increasing each year, and a significant percentage of these incidents are resulAng in 
overlapping calls. In addiAon, in large part due to the change in procedure that temporarily 
reduced nighrme staffing to four personnel to assist with reducing overAme and related 
personnel faAgue, staffing challenges related to simultaneous calls are going to be even more 
pronounced. To that end, the MRI study team suggests the following revision to the current EMS 
response procedures and with the current staffing levels: 
 

Ø When staffing is at five personnel:  
 

v Two personnel respond on the ambulance to Alpha and Bravo, or Priority 3 calls. 
The three personnel remaining are now available for fire duty, or can handle a 
second ambulance call, if necessary. If they require addiAonal assistance, they can 
request the engine to respond.  
 

v Two personnel respond on the ambulance and three personnel respond on the 
engine to Charlie, Delta, and Echo, or Priority 1 and 2 calls. If an addiAonal person 
is needed on the ambulance they can be sent to the hospital with the ambulance 
crew. The two other personnel can return to staAon with the engine and handle a 
second call without the need to recall off duty personnel. 

 
§ An alternaAve would be to call just one person back to work to bring 

staffing back up to three personnel. 
 

 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 57 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

Ø When staffing is at four personnel:  
 

v Two personnel respond on the ambulance to Alpha and Bravo, or Priority 3 calls. 
If they require addiAonal assistance, they can request the engine to respond. The 
remaining two personnel are sAll available for limited fire duty, unAl one or two 
off duty personnel arrive at the staAon, or they can handle a second ambulance 
call. 
 

v Two personnel respond on the ambulance and two personnel respond on the 
engine to Charlie, Delta, and Echo, or Priority 1 and 2 calls. If an addiAonal person 
is needed on the ambulance they can be sent to the hospital with the ambulance 
crew. If only two personnel are needed on the ambulance, the other two person 
can return to staAon with the engine and handle a second ambulance call without 
the need to recall off duty personnel. 

 
§ An alternaAve would be to call just one person back to work to bring 

staffing back up to three personnel. 
 
In either scenario suggested above, the current pracAce of recalling off duty personnel to provide 
coverage when the ambulance transports to the hospital should be conAnued. However, there 
would be less of a reliance on it as revising the staffing model should reduce the number of Ames 
the Town is stripped of all fire and EMS protecAon.  
 
Following current department pracAce, the ambulance responds with lights and sirens to every 
call. Though a medical priority dispatch system is in place that would allow for potenAal non-
emergency response to occur without lights, sirens and within normal traffic flow, there are no 
protocols or procedures to do so. The MRI team was told that most oqen all transports with 
paAents to the hospital is done with lights and sirens in order to get to the hospital as quickly as 
possible. This is not only done in order to get the paAent to the hospital in a Amely manner, but 
also to expedite the Ame that the ambulance is out of service and unable to respond to another 
call.  These pracAces are being phased out by most progressive fire departments for safety 
reasons. It is safer for responding personnel, general ciAzens, and the paAent, to reduce the 
number of Ames that red lights and sirens are uAlized. 
 
Conversely, ambulance turn-around Ame is an important staffing factor to consider since it 
affects the availability of personnel and equipment for other emergencies. This is the Ame an 
ambulance is occupied on a medical emergency starAng with the Ame the call is received; and 
ending aqer the transport, when the ambulance is back in Brewster and available for emergency 
calls. This is Ame that is parAcularly important when the hospital is a significant distance from 
the Town, and personnel oqen encounter heavy traffic condiAons to and from its locaAon in 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 58 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

Hyannis. The turn-around Ame for Brewster ambulances averages between 60 and 70 minutes, 
however, they can be as high as two hours, twenty-one minutes (02:21:53). Higher turnaround 
Ames can be the result of lengthy on-scene care (e.g., extricaAon from a motor vehicle crash), 
longer travel Ames to or from an incident, or paAent admission delays at a hospital. As was 
discussed previously, the total number of calls is the primary reason for simultaneous incidents, 
however ambulance hospital transport turn-around Ames certainly contribute to the impact of 
the overlapping call rate. 
 
The following figure illustrates the number of EMS calls, number of ALS and BLS transports, and 
the average ambulance turnaround time for the five years period of 2018 – 2022.   
 

Year EMS 
Responses 

ALS 
Transports 

BLS 
Transports 

Average Turn-
around Time 

Total Annual Turn-
around Time 

2018 2,476 1,128 454 70.15 minutes 1,849.6 hours 
2019 2,185 1,003 332 70.05 minutes 1,558.6 hours 
2020 1,997 885 357 66.75 minutes 1,381.7 hours 
2021 2,272 1,053 441 63.95 minutes 1,592.4 hours 
2022 2,523 1,024 461 60.85 minutes 1.506.0 hours 

5-year 
average 2,291 1,019 409 66.35 minutes 1,577.7 hours 

FIGURE IV-13. EMS TURN-AROUND TIME 

The data in the above figure indicates several things. 
 

Ø The proportion of ALS level transports to BLS levels transports is much higher than we 
normally see. In fact, it is really the inverse of what data sets we analyze usually illustrate. 
Over the five-year period, BLS transports accounted for just 28.6% of the Department’s 
EMS transports, while ALS transports accounted for 71.4%. Long term, statistical data 
indicates that ALS criterion incidents usually account for about 30% to 35% of EMS 
responses. Given Brewster’s higher than average older population, a somewhat higher 
percentage of ALS could be reasonably expected; however, we don’t believe it would 
reach the proportions indicated in this data.  
 

Ø The ambulance turn-around times have improved steadily over the five-year period and 
show a total reduction of over nine minutes. The expansion of the emergency department 
facilities at Cape Cod Hospital in Hyannis has probably played at least some role in this 
reduction. 

Ø Given an estimated average ambulance turn-around time of 66.35 minutes (annual 
maximum time: 02:06:23 – 02:21:53) and a 5-year average annual ambulance transport 
total of 1,428 transports; Brewster ambulances are occupied on EMS transport calls for 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 59 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

approximately 1,577.7 hours annually. This represents an average of 4.3 hours per 24-
hour shift. Many of these calls come in during the busier daylight hours contributing to 
the high percentage of overlapping calls. 

 
The data relative to the number of total incidents, number of EMS transports, and the time 
dedicated to EMS calls supports the need for the fire department to staff two (2) ambulances 
24/7 while still maintaining a simultaneous fire response capability. The benefits of increasing 
staffing and the number of resources deployed include: 
 

Ø Significantly reduce the number of times when the Town is without ambulance coverage 
due to simultaneous fire and/or EMS calls. 

Ø Significantly reduce the number of times when the Town is without adequate fire 
coverage due to simultaneous fire and/or EMS calls. 

Ø Provide additional fire staffing commensurate with the risk. 
Ø Increase ambulance revenues by reducing the number of times that a mutual aid EMS 

service is called to provide ambulance transport services. 
 
To accomplish this goal, the Department’s staffing should be incrementally increased with the 
hiring of additional personnel over the next several budget cycles. This in combination with the 
supervisory staffing changes is recommended later in this report.   
 
Overall, the EMS operaAons appear to be well run, and the Town is happy with the service that 
is being provided. There is also reported to be a low level of system abuse in Brewster which 
reduces the number of unnecessary responses and contributes to be>er resource availability for 
actual medical emergencies.  
 
All Brewster Fire Department personnel possess a minimum of emergency medical technician-
basic (EMT-B) cerAficaAon. At the Ame of this study, 11 of the department’s personnel, including 
the Deputy Chief possessed paramedic cerAficaAon. There are a minimum of two paramedics 
assigned to each shiq, with a minimum of one on duty at all Ames. 
 
One quesAon that the MRI study team is oqen asked to provide an opinion on was what the 
recommended mix of ALS versus BLS trained personnel should be in a parAcular Fire Department. 
At the Ame of this study approximately 50% of the Brewster Fire Department’s personnel 
possessed ALS/paramedic cerAficaAon. Several stakeholders informed the study team that they 
would like to eventually see all department personnel required to be paramedics. UlAmately, 
with the majority of incidents the department responds to being EMS related, having all 
personnel trained and cerAfied at the ALS level allows the highest level of care to be always 
available, and on every incident. However, there can be several caveats to that IniAal answer. 
 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 60 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

The Brewster Fire Department is a small organizaAon with a relaAvely low call volume, averaging 
about 8.4 calls per day, of which 73% are EMS related. If 50% of the EMS calls are ALS criterion 
calls (which is higher than the typical average) that equates to about four ALS calls per day. One 
of the concerns that are expressed by some within the EMS community is the difficulty in keeping 
the ALS skills of personnel sharp when they have only limited opportuniAes to uAlize them. In 
addiAon, there is a significant cost factor associated with iniAal ALS training for personnel, 
frequent conAnuing educaAon classes necessary to maintain cerAficaAon, and a significant pay 
differenAal for those who are cerAfied. Finally, many fire department personnel prefer not to be 
paramedics and a significant number choose to allow their cerAficaAons to lapse once they are 
no longer mandated to maintain them, so they can get off of the ambulance. 
 
It is MRI’s opinion that the Brewster Fire Department would not be unreasonable if it decided to 
a>empt, long term, to have all personnel cerAfied as paramedics, by requiring all future hires to 
either possess, or obtain and maintain paramedic cerAficaAon as a condiAon of employment. 
However, we believe a be>er opAon would be to maintain around 12-16 paramedics and a>empt 
to have a minimum of three on duty at all Ames. By increasing the number of paramedics on duty 
at all Ames, one could be assigned to the primary ambulance as is done now, while a second one 
is assigned to the second ambulance, while the third one is assigned to the engine, thus providing 
both of those units with ALS capability resulAng in an increased level of service. If addiAonal 
personnel wanted to maintain their ALS cerAficaAons, the department should a>empt to 
accommodate them and encourage them to do so. 
 
With the majority of the Department’s responses being EMS related, the MRI study team believes 
that the Town of Brewster should consider making an organizational change by redefining the 
position of EMS Officer into a full time position. The EMS Officer would handle the day to day 
oversight of the department’s EMS functions including QA, personnel training and certification, 
infection control, managing inventory and drugs, attending meetings, and serving on committes. 
The officer should work a daywork schedule providing an additional member available for 
response during the day. We believe that making this change will result in more effective and 
efficient emergency medical service delivery by the department.   
 
It is MRI’s experience that when department’s create these positions that they are normally 
designated at an officer’s rank, and as such, are tested for (although in some places even though 
the position has rank, they are designated as a ‘staff” officer with no real fireground authority). 
Other departments designate the EMS coordinator with just that title but compensate them at 
an officer’s pay grade, in this case as a Captain (the same as the Fire Prevention Officer). The 
current CBA designates the “EMS Officer” as receiving a stipend over their base pay, however, 
that assumes that the person filling the position remains on their assigned shift.  
 
While we understand this would also need to be impact bargained with the union (as any change 
needs to be) it is our opinion that this position would be best designated as a Captain’s position 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 61 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

within the Brewster Fire Department, reporting directly to the Deputy Fire Chief. Doing this would 
help to emphasis the importance of the department’s EMS mission, allow the EMS coordinator 
to have an equal peer relationship with the other Captains, and allow for the implementation of 
more department wide continuity of EMS operations.  
 
One thing the fire department will need to monitor very closely are any impacts of the ongoing 
debates over funding the Affordable Care Act (ACA) may have on their billing and revenues.  Over 
the past several years with the changes in insurance reimbursements brought about by the ACA, 
a growing number of EMS providers are looking to get out of the ALS business.  Increasingly, 
private insurance companies and the government have reduced (or are considering reducAons 
in) reimbursement rates, and are becoming more reluctant in general, to compensate 
departments for the full cost of emergency room transportaAon fees, especially for non-
emergency treatment. CommuniAes that provide EMS transport services are therefore facing 
pressure on their transport revenues.  
 
One of the fastest growing value-added service enhancements in EMS is the development of 
Mobile Integrated Healthcare/Community Paramedicine (MIH/CP) programs. Mobile Integrated 
Healthcare is defined by the NaAonal AssociaAon of EMTs (NAEMT) as “the provision of 
healthcare using paAent-centered, mobile resources in the out of hospital environment.”  
 
MIH/CP is comprised of a suite of potenAal services that EMS could provide to fill gaps in the local 
healthcare delivery system. In essence, MIH/CP is intended to be>er manage the increasing EMS 
call volume and be>er align the types of care being provided with the needs of the paAent. To 
be effecAve, MIH/CP is commonly accomplished through a collaboraAve approach with 
healthcare and social service agencies within the community. It can be provided through 
community paramedicine programs, which are programs that use EMTs and paramedics to 
provide this out-of-hospital health care. MIH/CP programs help facilitate more appropriate uses 
of emergency care resources and enhance access to primary care, parAcularly for underserved 
populaAons, by focusing on chronic disease management, post-discharge follow up, and 
transport to non-emergency care serngs.   
 
The benefits of MIH/CP are therefore two-fold. These programs potenAally help provide more 
appropriate health care to community residents, and if reimbursement arrangements can be 
agreed upon, also offer a subsAtute funding stream, separate from emergency transport, for 
community-based EMS transport programs.   
 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 62 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

In 2009 there were four programs like this in the country, but a recent survey by the NaAonal 
AssociaAon of EMTs idenAfied more than 250 acAve MIH/CP programs now operaAng across the 
U.S.17 

 

FIGURE IV-14: MOBILE INTERGRATED HEALTHCARE/COMMUNITY PARAMEDICINE BENEFITS 

A consideraAon for a potenAal role for an MIH/CP program in Brewster could include a specialized 
response for behavioral health emergencies, in partnership with the Brewster Police Department 
and community mental health resources. SomeAmes referred to as a Crisis IntervenAon Team 
(CIT), specialized units such as these have been effecAve in other communiAes across the country 
to reduce the risks associated with behavioral health-related responses.18 

There may be government funds available for implementaAon of these types of programs, and 
some recent changes to the Medicare regulaAons indicate a possibly favorable view on billing for 
these services. The Foxborough Fire Department obtained a grant to implement this type of 
program effecAve as of July 1, 2019. With the addiAon of a new full-Ame paramedic who was 
designated a special agent of the board of health, the department implemented a 
community/public health program to address these types of needs within the town. It is MRI’s 
belief that a program of this type in Brewster – parAcularly with its high percentage of residents 
over the age of 65 - would improve both levels of service offered to the community and EMS 
revenues generated. This could be another potenAal duty for the EMS officer to undertake. 

 
17. h#p://www.naemt.org/docs/default-source/2017-publicaDon-docs/mih-cp-survey-2018-04-12-2018-web-links-
1.pdf?Status=Temp&sfvrsn=a741cb92_2 
18. h#ps://www.psychiatricDmes.com/view/cahoots-model-prehospital-mental-health-crisis-intervenDon  



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 63 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

STAFFING, CRITICAL TASKING, AND DEPLOYMENT 
 
The issue of fire department staffing has, over the past three or four decades, become one of the 
most widely and frequently debated topics in fire service history. This debate has intensified over 
the past several years as tax collecAon revenues have declined precipitously in many 
communiAes and governmental enAAes seek to reduce expenses.   

Personnel costs account for the largest percentage of the operaAng budgets of career fire 
departments. In many cases this one line item is 90% or more of the total budget. The debate 
becomes intense when the discussion turns to how many firefighters are necessary to provide 
adequate levels of service, fulfill the department’s core mission(s), and how those firefighters are 
deployed. This is a basic risk assessment and management decision. UlAmately, determining the 
acceptable level of risk they are willing to assume for the ciAzens they represent, is a key decision 
that is made by the Brewster Select Board through the town meeAng process. 

The operaAons necessary to fully exAnguish a structure fire, and do so effecAvely, efficiently, and 
safely, requires a carefully coordinated, and controlled, plan of acAon, where certain operaAons, 
such as venAng ahead of the advancing interior hose line(s), must be carried out with a high 
degree of precision and Aming. MulAple operaAons, frequently where seconds count, such as 
search and rescue operaAons and trying to cut off a rapidly advancing fire, must also be 
conducted simultaneously.  If there are not enough personnel on the incident iniAally to perform 
all the criAcal tasks, some will, out of necessity, be delayed. This can result in an increased risk of 
serious injury, or death, to building occupants and firefighters, and increased property damage.   

There has been much research done by a number of fire departments on the effects of various 
staffing levels. One constant that has emerged is that company efficiency and effecAveness 
decrease substanAally, while injuries increase, when company/unit staffing falls below four 
personnel.  A 2010 comprehensive yet scienAfically conducted, verified, and validated study Atled 
Mul*-Phase Study on Firefighter Safety and the Deployment of Resources, was performed by the 
NaAonal InsAtute of Standards and Technology (NIST) and Worcester Polytechnic InsAtute (WPI), 
in conjuncAon with the InternaAonal AssociaAon of Fire Chiefs (IAFC), the InternaAonal 
AssociaAon of Fire Fighters, and the Center for Public Safety Excellence. This landmark study 
researched residenAal fires, where the majority of fire, injuries, and fataliAes occur. The study 
concluded that the size of firefighter crews has a substanAal effect on the Fire Department’s 
ability to protect lives and property in residenAal fires and occupancies.   

Several key findings of the study include: 

Ø Four-person firefighAng crews were able to complete 22 essenAal firefighAng and rescue 
tasks in a typical residenAal structure 30% faster than 2-person crews, and 25% faster 
than 3-person crews. 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 64 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

Ø The 4-person crews were able to deliver water to a similar sized fire 15% faster than the 
2-person crews, and 6% faster than 3-person crews, steps that help to reduce property 
damage and reduce danger/risks to firefighters. 

 
Ø Four-person crews were able to complete criAcal search and rescue operaAons 30% faster 

than 2-person crews, and 5% faster than 3-person crews. 
 
The United State Fire AdministraAon, part of the Federal Emergency Management Agency, in the 
Department of Homeland Security, recommends that a minimum of four firefighters respond on 
or with each apparatus. In its respected textbook Managing Fire Services, the InternaAonal 
City/County Management AssociaAon (ICMA) states, “that at least 4 and oYen 8 or more 
firefighters under the supervision of an officer should respond to fire suppression opera*ons”.  
They further state, “If about 16 firefighters are not opera*ng at the scene of a working fire, within 
the cri*cal *me period, then dollar loss and injuries are significantly increased, as is fire spread”.  
Many communiAes conAnue to struggle to generate a sufficient response.   

The current career staffing pa>ern In the Brewster Fire Department consists of four work groups 
that work an average of 42 hours per week. These groups work rotaAng 24-hour shiqs.  This 
schedule provides the community with 24/7 coverage. Presently, each shiq is staffed with a 
captain (shiq commander) and four firefighters. The five personnel on shiq are supported by the 
following addiAonal personnel resources: 
 

Ø Two command officers (fire chief and deputy chief) that work an 
administraAve schedule and provide an on-call command officer when off 
duty. 

Ø One Fire PrevenAon Officer. 
Ø AutomaAc/mutual aid from surrounding communiAes 

 
The MRI study team was informed that the department does not generally have a sick or injury 
leave problem. It had $444,700 budgeted for overAme in a FY 2023 which is high for a department 
the size of Brewster. The department ended up spending $562,956, which is 32.5% more than 
what was budgeted. This is due in large part to not only the Department’s constant staffing model 
where every vacancy created by any type of leave must be filled by another member on overAme, 
but also to the department’s difficulty retaining personnel.   
 
To effecAvely respond to and miAgate requests for emergency services, an agency must have a 
thorough understanding of its community’s risk factors, both fire and EMS. Once idenAfied and 
understood, each category or level of risk is associated with the necessary resources and acAons 
required to miAgate it. This is accomplished through a criAcal task analysis. The exercise of 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 65 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

matching operaAonal asset deployments to risk, or criAcal tasking, considers mulAple factors 
including naAonal standards, performance measures, and the safety of responders.  

CriAcal tasks are those acAviAes that must be conducted in a Amely manner by responders at 
emergency incidents to control the situaAon and stop loss. CriAcal tasking for fire operaAons is 
the minimum number of personnel needed to perform the tasks required to effecAvely control a 
fire. The same is true for EMS as there are specific paAent care tasks that must be completed in 
succession and oqen together to support posiAve prehospital care. The specific number of people 
required to perform all the criAcal tasks associated with an idenAfied risk is referred to as an 
EffecAve Response Force (ERF). The goal is to deliver an ERF within a prescribed Ame frame. NFPA 
1710, as a naAonally recognized consensus standard on staffing and deployment for career fire 
departments, provides a benchmark for ERF.19  

During fire incidents, to be effecAve, criAcal tasking must assign enough personnel so that all 
idenAfied funcAons can be performed simultaneously. However, it is important to note that 
secondary support funcAons may be handled by iniAal response personnel once they have 
completed their primary assignment. Thus, while an incident may end up requiring a greater 
commitment of resources or a specialized response, a properly executed criAcal task analysis will 
provide adequate resources to immediately begin bringing the incident under control.  

The NFPA Fire Protec*on Handbook20 classifies buildings and occupancies by their relaAve risk 
and provides recommendaAons on the minimum ERF that will be needed to handle fire incidents 
in them. These include: 

High-hazard Occupancies: Schools, hospitals, nursing homes, high-rise buildings, and other high 
life safety-hazard or large fire-potenAal occupancies. The Brewster Fire Department has a very 
limited number of these occupancies in its response district. 

OperaAonal Response: at least 4 pumpers, 2 ladder trucks (or combinaAon apparatus 
with equivalent capabiliAes), 2 chief officers and other specialized apparatus as may be 
needed to cope with the combusAble involved; not less than 24 firefighters and 2 chief 
officers plus a safety officer and a rapid intervenAon team.   

Medium-hazard Occupancies: Apartments, offices, and mercanAle and industrial occupancies, 
not normally requiring extensive rescue by firefighAng forces. The Brewster Fire Department also 
has a limited (although slightly growing) number of occupancies of these types. 

OperaAonal Response: At least 3 pumpers, 1 ladder truck (or combinaAon apparatus with 
equivalent capabiliAes such as a quint), 1 chief officer, and other specialized apparatus as 

 
19 It is important to note that compliance with NFPA 1710 has not been mandated in the Commonwealth of Massachuse#s or 
by the federal government. It is considered a “best pracDce” that fire departments strive to achieve. 
20 Cote, Grant, Hall & Solomon, eds., Fire Protec;on Handbook (Quincy, MA: NFPA 2008), 12-3   



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 66 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

may be needed or available; not less than 16 firefighters and 1 chief officer plus a safety 
officer and a rapid intervenAon team.  

Low-hazard Occupancies: One-, two-, or three-family dwellings and sca>ered small business and 
industrial occupancies.  

OperaAons Response Capability: At least 2 pumpers, 1 ladder truck (or combinaAon 
apparatus with equivalent capabiliAes such as a quint), 1 chief officer, and other 
specialized apparatus as may be needed or available; not less than 12 firefighters and 1 
chief officer, plus a safety officer, and a rapid intervenAon team.  

The Standard for the Organization and Deployment of Fire Suppression Operations, Emergency 
Medical Operations, and Special Operations to the Public by Career Fire Departments (NFPA 1710, 
2020 edition), establishes the minimum criteria for a career fire department to effectively and 
safely respond to an emergency incident. Municipalities should base their fire department 
staffing decisions based on such factors as local risks and hazards, response times, incident 
frequency, and mutual aid availability. Of course, financial considerations do affect the ability of 
a community to comply with NFPA 1710. However, the Brewster Fire Department should 
continue to include compliance with NFPA 1710 in its long-range strategic planning and goal 
setting.   
 
At the Ame of this assessment the Brewster Fire Department responded with one engine staffed 
with three personnel, and one ladder with two members to reported structure fires, provided all 
on duty members are immediately available. The Chief and Deputy Chief also respond. In 
addiAon, Harwich and Dennis respond with engines, Orleans responds a ladder, and off duty 
Brewster personnel are recalled. This will provide an iniAal response between 16 and 19 
personnel depending on whether mutual aid units respond with three or four personnel.   
 
If sufficient off duty Brewster personnel (four) respond to staff an addiAonal engine, this response 
matrix provides at least 20 personnel on the incident. However, off duty personnel responding 
from home back to the staAon to staff apparatus and then responding will cause at least some 
extension of response Ames to get all units and personnel on the incident scene. If the incident 
is determined to be a working fire, addiAonal resources are also dispatched including Eastham 
for an engine, and Chatham for an ambulance. The Harwich and Orleans Chiefs also respond to 
assist with incident management.  
 
NFPA 1710 suggests that the following personnel are needed to safely miAgate a structure fire 
involving several rooms in a 2,000-square foot dwelling (Figure IV-15).  Obviously, this number 
dramaAcally increases based on the extent of involvement, size of the structure, presence of 
hazardous materials, and use of the occupancy.  As an example, a significant fire within a garden 
style apartment complex or an open-air strip mall commercial requires a minimum of 27/28 
personnel based on the potenAal hazards that could be encountered.  



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 67 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

 

CRITICAL TASK NEEDED 
PERSONNEL 

Incident Commander 1 
Amack engine driver/operator 1 
Two handlines with two personnel each 4 
Support/back-up firefighter for each handline 2 
Search & rescue team 2 
VenWlaWon team 2 
Ladder company driver/operator 1 
Rapid intervenWon team (RIT) 2 
EFFECTIVE RESPONSE FORCE 14/15 

 
FIGURE IV-15: NFPA 1710 MINIMUM STRUCTURE FIRE STAFFING NEEDS  

Personnel needs for a fire involving several rooms in a 2,000-square foot, one-family, residen3al occupancy.  These 
are the proverbial “bread and buKer” structural fire incidents that fire departments respond to, and are by far, the 

most common type of structure fire, accoun3ng for around 70% of those types of incidents. 
 
Figure IV-16 illustrates in a different way the criAcal tasks and resource deployment required on 
low and moderate-hazard incidents such as residenAal and small commercial structure fires.  
Although some people advocate that these types of incidents can be handled with fewer 
personnel, unless it is a small fire, there is the possibility there will not be sufficient personnel 
available to perform all the criAcal tasks necessitaAng that some be delayed. UlAmately, 
determining the acceptable level of risk they are willing to assume for the ciAzens they represent 
will be a key decision that the Brewster Select Board will need to make. 

 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 68 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

 
 

FIGURE IV-16: LOW TO MODERATE RISK RESPONSE-INTERIOR FIRE ATTACK 
Typical minimum staffing needs career or primarily career fire departments for a fire involving several rooms 

in a 2,000-square foot, one-family residen3al occupancy.  These are the proverbial “bread and buKer” 
structural fire incidents that fire departments respond to, and are by far, the most common type of structure 
fire, accoun3ng for around 70% of those types of incidents. The full first alarm assignment should arrive on 

scene within eight minutes of dispatch. 
Image credit: IAFF 266 

 

The ability to get a sufficient number of personnel, along with appropriate apparatus, to the 
scene of a typical residenAal structure fire is criAcal to operaAonal success and firefighter safety.  
Accomplishing this within the eight-minute Ame frame (to have 16 – 17 personnel on scene) as 
specified in NFPA 1710 is an important operaAonal benchmark. The Brewster Fire Department 
should make achieving this goal its highest priority. Based on conversaAons with the 
department’s senior officers they understand this and would like to achieve this goal.   
 
The 2020 ediAon of NFPA 1710 recommends a minimum of 27/28 personnel on the iniAal 
response for fires involving moderate hazard garden-style apartments and strip shopping centers 
(Figure IV-17). 

 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 69 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

CRITICAL TASK 
NEEDED 

PERSONNEL 
Incident Command 2 

2 – Independent Water Supply Lines/Pump Operators  2 

Fire Amack via Three Handlines 6 

Support Firefighter for each Handline 3 
2 – Search and Rescue Teams 4 

2 – Ground Ladders and VenWlaWon Teams 4 

Aerial Operator (if Aerial is Used) 1 
Rapid IntervenWon Team (1 Officer/3 Firefighters) 4 

EMS/Medical 2 

EFFECTIVE RESPONSE FORCE 27/28 
 

FIGURE IV-17: STRUCTURE FIRE – MODERATE RISK 
 
Beyond the NFPA standard(s) which as standards, do not carry the weight of regulaAon or law, is 
the OccupaAonal Safety and Health AdministraAon (OSHA) Respiratory ProtecAon Standard, CFR 
1910.134, which carries the weight and force of regulaAon, thus making compliance mandatory.  
One key provision of the Respiratory ProtecAon Standard that is directly applicable to fire 
department staffing is known as the “Two-In/Two-Out” rule.  In brief, this regulaAon specifies 
that anyAme firefighters operate in an environment/atmosphere that is “immediately dangerous 
to life and health” (IDLH), whenever two members enter the IDLH area together/as a team, they 
must maintain visual or voice communicaAon with two addiAonal firefighters who must remain 
outside of the IDLH atmosphere, prepared to render immediate emergency assistance to those 
inside (Figure IV-18).  The OSHA rule does provide an excepAon however, which states that the 
rule does not apply in emergency rescue situaAons where a person is visible and in need of 
immediate rescue, or there is credible and reasonable informaAon that potenAally viable vicAms 
are sAll in need of rescue.  It is important to note that the potenAal for an IDLH to exist is not just 
limited to structure fires. They can exist on natural gas leaks, carbon monoxide incidents, 
confined space emergencies, chemical spills, and even automaAc fire alarm acAvaAons where 
there is an actual fire in progress.  

To comply with the “Two-In/Two-Out” rule, a team of four firefighters must be assembled before 
an interior fire a>ack can be made when the fire has progressed beyond the incipient stage, 
except in an imminent life-threatening situaAon when immediate acAon could prevent the loss 
of life or serious injury, before the team of four firefighters are assembled.  The serious concern 
of the MRI project team is that the OSHA “Two-In/Two-Out” rule permits an excepAon for life 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 70 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

hazard or rescue situaAons. The reality is that in one of the most serious life hazard fire situaAons 
that can be encountered, trapped civilians, a firefighter may need to place himself/herself in 
extreme danger by entering the structure alone.  
 

 
 

FIGURE IV-18 OSHA TWO-IN/TWO-OUT 
Image Credit: IAFF 266 

 
When looking at Brewster Fire Department staffing, it is very important to note that if the 
department experiences simultaneous or overlapping calls or calls that require two ambulances 
this will usually exhaust all on duty resources and leave no fire protecAon capabiliAes with the 
town itself. While Brewster does not have many fires, no one can predict when one may occur. 
DepleAng all fire protecAon resources to cover ambulance calls does not appear to be a good risk 
assessment and management pracAce. With no viable on call force leq, and few off duty 
personnel responding back to recalls, this is a policy or pracAce the Brewster Fire Department 
should consider revising. 
 
Based on the criteria established in NFPA 1710 and detailed above, the MRI study team 
recommends that the following aspirational benchmarks be established by the Town: 
 

Ø For structure fires, each engine company and ladder company should be staffed with no 
less than three (3), and preferably four (4) personnel, including an officer (lieutenant or 
higher rank). It should be noted that NFPA 1710 does not require all personnel to be 
transported to the scene on the same apparatus. As such, a three-person engine company 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 71 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

can be supplemented by personnel who arrive in the ambulance (provided that they are 
committed to engine company duties). 
 

Ø Minimum response to a single-family dwelling fire should include a total of 17 firefighting 
personnel (including an incident commander [Chief or Deputy Chief] and company 
officers). This complement of personnel should continue to be accomplished through the 
use of automatic or mutual aid. 

 
To the extent possible, the fire department should base its strategic planning, goal setting, 
standard operating procedures and guidelines, safety and health policies, training, and 
deployment of apparatus and equipment on the guidance found in NFPA 1710 as well as other 
NFPA standards such as Standard on Fire Department Occupational Safety, Health, and Wellness 
Program (NFPA 1500, 2021 edition) and Guide for Structural Firefighting (NFPA 1700, 2021 
edition).  The implementation of these best practices will result in a measurable improvement in 
the delivery of services to the citizens of Brewster, will enhance firefighter safety, and will 
mitigate risk to the community. 
 
The current staffing levels of the Brewster Fire Department are deficient in the following 
respects: 
 

Ø The minimum staffing level of five (5) personnel means that the engine is, at best, staffed 
with an officer and two (2) firefighters, which is below the practice recommended in NFPA 
1710. The ladder is staffed with just two firefighters and no officer.  

o If just one ambulance is out on a call, usually only one engine, now inadequately 
staffed with just two (2) personnel may be available.    

o If two ambulances are on a call, there may be no fire suppression capability at all 
left to cover the Town.    

 
Ø During nighttime and weekends, there is no incident commander on duty, since the 

Captain is assigned to the engine. This means that overall, all incident command is delayed 
until the arrival of an off-duty fire chief officer or a mutual aid chief officer.  Critical 
decisions that must be made to ensure effective tactics and fire ground safety cannot be 
made because the Captain is committed to interior firefighting efforts. It is not realistic to 
have the Captain involved in evolutions such as forcible entry, hose line advancement, 
and/or search and rescue while expecting him/her to lead the overall strategic direction 
of the incident.  
 

o The Captain (shift commander) does have the flexibility to respond where his/her 
command capabilities are most needed, which is a practice that should be 
continued. In addition, there are numerous administrative functions that a shift 
commander is responsible for. 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 72 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

The Town previously received a Staffing for Adequate Fire and Emergency Response (SAFER) 
grant in 2016 for two (2) firefighter/ paramedic positions.  SAFER grants are highly sought after 
and highly competitive, and cover all or most of new firefighters’ salaries and benefits over a 
defined time period, typically three to five years. Once the grant expires, the Town is fully 
financially responsible for the additional personnel which is always a factor that must be given 
careful consideration.  Brewster would like to apply for a future grant dependent upon the 
recommendations contained within this report. 
 
One concern that was expressed to the MRI Study team was that when there are simultaneous 
calls, and the second one is a motor vehicle crash, the ambulance may iniAally respond alone 
except on Route 6 where a line box response brings either an engine or an ambulance from a 
conAguous community. In this situaAon the engine responds with call back personnel, or mutual 
aid is requested from a neighboring community. Current industry pracAce in the fire and 
emergency services is for a minimum of one engine to respond with the ambulance to every 
motor vehicle accident, parAcularly on higher speed, more limited access roads and highways. 
While the addiAonal personnel can help the ambulance crew by performing hazard evaluaAon 
and abatement, as well as paAent care (Figure IV-19) an addiAonal important consideraAon is to 
provide a blocking vehicle to protect the ambulance and personnel operaAng on the incident 
scene from being struck by an ina>enAve motorist.  
 
Highway safety is a major concern not only for motorists, but also for the fire, EMS, and police 
personnel who respond to unplanned traffic incidents. As the number of responders being struck 
on the highways and being seriously injured or killed has increased significantly over the past 
decade, the need for the use of blocking vehicles to help keep them safe has become a much 
more important necessary and important part of the emergency response system (Figure IV-20).  
 

CRITICAL TASK NEEDED PERSONNEL 
Incident Command 1 
Hazard evaluaaon/Abatement 2 
Paaent Evaluaaon/Care 2-3 
EFFECTIVE RESPONSE FORCE 5-6 

FIGURE IV-19: CRITICAL TASKING – MOTOR VEHICLE CRASH 

 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 73 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

 

FIGURE IV-20: FIRE APPARATUS SERVING AS A BLOCKING VEHICLE ON A ROADWAY INCIDENT 
 
Based upon the increasing incident volume, and the planned growth within the town, the MRI 
team believes that career staffing within the organizaAon will probably need to be bolstered 
through an incremental and fiscally realisAc process, starAng in 2024.  The specifics of these 
increases are detailed later in the Recommenda*ons secAon of this chapter and Chapter VII, 
Summary and Looking to the Future. 
 
COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS 
 
The process of benchmarking, also known as comparaAve analysis, is an effecAve way of making 
general comparisons between similar communiAes and idenAfying trends and pa>erns, but there 
are limitaAons as to how the data should be used. The data gathered through this process 
provides a perspecAve on organizaAonal norms and best pracAces. Ideally, a community would 
uAlize this informaAon to idenAfy needed change and through paced acAon, work incrementally 
toward implementaAon. 

The information in the next table provides very basic staffing comparisons, including 
administrative staff for communities that surround Brewster. There are similarities between each 
of these departments, but it should be noted that there are also differences in how each 
community delivers fire and EMS services. Each municipality and its fire department provide 
emergency and other public services based on the expressed desires of that community and its 
citizens. What may be effective in one community may not be in a neighboring town or city. The 
ability of the fire department to provide the services desired by the community it serves is based 
on its perceived risk and available funding and resources. 
 

 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 74 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

 

DEPARTM
EN

T 

PO
PU

LATIO
N

 

CY22 RU
N

S  

*FU
LL TIM

E 
STAFF 

# O
F 

FIREFIGHTERS 
PER 1,000 
RESIDEN

TS 

# O
F 

FIREFIG
HTERS 

PER SHIFT 

*ADDITIO
N

AL 
DAYSHIFT 

PERSO
N

N
EL  

DU
TIES O

F 
DAYTIM

E 
PERSO

N
N

EL  

Brewster 10,318 3,236 23 2.23 5 1 
Fire Prevenaon 

Officer 

Chatham 6,600 3,240 32 4.85 7 2 
Fire Prevenaon 

Officer                         
EMS Coordinator 

Orleans 6,307 2,683 36 3.8 8 2 
Fire Prevenaon 

Officer                         
EMS Coordinator 

Eastham 5,752 2,236 24 4.17 5 2  2 Firefighters 

Wellfleet 3,500 1,311 22 5.71 5 1 
Captain – Fire 

Prevenaon 

Harwich 13,441 4,850 40 2.68 9 2 
Fire Prevenaon 

Officer                         
EMS Coordinator 

*Includes Chief Officers                                                                                                                                              
** Does not include Chief Officers 

FIGURE IV-21: FIRE DEPARTMENT REGIONAL STAFFING COMPARISON 

 
AUTOMATIC/MUTUAL AID AND REGIONAL OPERATIONS 
 
Mutual aid is an essenAal component of almost every fire department’s operaAons. With the 
excepAon of the largest ciAes, no municipal fire department can, or should, be expected to have 
adequate resources to respond to miAgate large scale complex incidents safely, effecAvely and 
efficiently.  Mutual aid is shared between communiAes when their day-to-day operaAonal fire 
rescue and EMS capabiliAes have been exceeded and ensure that the ciAzens of the community 
are protected, even when local resources are overwhelmed. Fire department mutual aid is 
provided without financial charge. 

AutomaAc Aid is assistance that is dispatched automaAcally by agreement between two or more 
communiAes or fire districts to all first alarm structural fires. The automaAc aid will depend upon 
the locaAon in the community and the type of equipment that each department can share as well 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 75 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

as staff. It is predetermined by each community’s fire department so that on the iniAal 
noAficaAon through 9-1-1 the neighboring department is also noAfied and responds as long as 
they are able to. If they are unable to respond because they are not available due to an incident 
in their own community, Brewster would rely on the regional mutual aid agreements and go 
further out to other fire departments. 

As a hallmark of fire department operaAons throughout Massachuse>s (and in most other areas 
of the country as well) the Brewster Fire Department engages in robust mutual aid relaAonships 
with all its surrounding communiAes and departments. These departments respond together 
regularly to a wide range of incidents. The departments operate seamlessly together, even with 
regard to chief/command level officers responding to and assisAng with managing incidents, 
regardless of which community it is occurring in.  In most cases they respond immediately, or 
simultaneously upon the report of any structure fire. Doing so quickly increases the number of 
firefighAng personnel who are available. This is the case in Brewster as units from Dennis, 
Harwich, and Orleans respond automaAcally to reported structure fires.  NFPA 1710 also 
recommends that the appropriate number of personnel (17) arrive on scene within eight minutes 
(480 seconds) travel Ame. 
 
The use of extensive automaAc aid is an excepAonal pracAce uAlized in many locaAons that has 
served to increase the service level to all parAcipaAng communiAes while reducing the cost of 
individual fire services. In many cases this pracAce is viewed as a means for “mutual survival” by 
chief officers. The MRI project team views it as a mechanism to not only enhance operaAonal 
safety, but a major factor in future operaAonal success. 

Like many communiAes in Massachuse>s, Brewster uAlizes a Metro Card mutual aid response 
system to determine responses to various types of incidents. These cards are revised on an 
annual basis, as necessary.  Mutual and automaAc is provided reciprocally throughout the 
municipaliAes on Cape Cod. 

Many organizaAonal assessments suggest that automaAc aid pracAces should be developed 
further as they reflect an industry best pracAce. Moving forward, the Brewster Fire Department 
should a>empt to enter into enhanced automaAc aid agreements with surrounding communiAes 
to provide for the simultaneous dispatch of addiAonal resources to a>empt to be>er achieve the 
recommended benchmarks – both personnel and Ame on locaAon – for each specific type of 
structure fire.  These revised response assignments should be based upon criAcal staffing needs 
as idenAfied in this report. 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 76 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

 
Overall, between 2018 and 2022, the Brewster Fire Department received automaAc or mutual 
aid 618 Ames, an average of 124 Ames per year (Figure IV-22).  Conversely, the department 
provided automaAc/mutual aid 565 Ames, an average of 113 Ames per year.  The most frequent 
automaAc/mutual aid partners were the Dennis, Harwich, and Orleans Fire Departments which 
makes sense as their districts are adjacent to the Town.   
 
Fire and EMS mutual aid is an essenAal component of every community’s public safety 
capabiliAes. The coordinaAon and sharing of services for large fires, mass casualty incidents, 
unusual events that require specialized equipment and training, disasters, and simultaneous 
emergency calls is an efficient and cost-effecAve way to manage and miAgate significant events. 
Brewster provides and receives mutual aid on a rouAne basis. 
 
The Brewster Fire Department parAcipates in the Massachuse>s Fire District 1 and Barnstable 
County mutual aid networks. In addiAon to coordinaAng fire mutual aid services, District 1 has 
established a number of specialized rescue and technical support teams. Trained personnel from 
Brewster are members of the county technical rescue team, and the county dive team.  The 
County coordinates mutual aid responses to major incidents through its communicaAons control 
point that is operated by the BCSO RECC. The control point has had no negaAve experience when 
Brewster requests addiAonal resources. 
 

Mutual Aid Provided to Brewster Total Per 
Year 

Brewster Mutual 
Aid Provided                      Net Mutual Aid 

 Dennis Harwich Orleans 
2018 45 47 33 125 112 Brewster +13 Received 
2019 31 72 47 150 122 Brewster +28 Received 
2020 19 38 20 77 86 Brewster +9 Given 
2021 33 62 31 126 115 Brewster +11 Received 
2022 41 59 40 140 130 Brewster +10 Received 

FIGURE IV-22: MUTUAL AID RECEIVED BY BREWSTER 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 77 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

 
 

FIGURE IV-23: MASSACHUSETTS FIRE DISTRICT 1 MAP.  

Brewster Fire is well respected among its peer mutual aid communiAes. The MRI study team 
reached out to the following fire and EMS agencies for feedback concerning mutual aid 
operaAons: Dennis Fire Department, Harwich Fire Department, and Orleans Fire Department.   
Brewster fulfills its mutual aid responsibiliAes and is a full player in the mutual aid district. 
Without excepAon, mutual aid communiAes contacted feel confident they are gerng 
competent, professional service when Brewster responds to support their community.  Brewster 
also calls for EMS or fire mutual aid from area communiAes when needed.  
 
Mutual aid should be a shared responsibility, that is, each community must give and receive 
emergency assistance but not depend on mutual aid for day-to-day incidents.   
 
 
 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 78 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

INSURANCE SERVICES OFFICE (ISO) 
 
The Insurance Services Office’s (ISO) Public ProtecAon ClassificaAon (PPC) program evaluates 
communiAes according to a uniform set of criteria defined in the Fire Suppression RaAng 
Schedule (FSRS). This criterion incorporates naAonally recognized standards developed by the 
NaAonal Fire ProtecAon AssociaAon (NFPA) and the American Water Works AssociaAon (AWWA). 
Using the FSRS, ISO evaluates the fire suppression capabiliAes of a community and assigns a PPC 
classificaAon; a number raAng from 1 to 10. Class 1 represents exemplary fire protecAon (by ISO’s 
standards), and Class 10 indicates that the area or community’s fire suppression program does 
not meet minimum recognized criteria or standards. In most cases, this means there is no 
recognized fire department or formal fire protecAon. Any building more than five road miles from 
a fire staAon or outside the boundary of a fire protecAon area is rated 10.  Generally, areas of a 
community that are more than 1,000 feet from a fire hydrant, but within five road miles from a 
fire staAon, are rated Class 9.  

The FSRS allocates credit for fire protecAon by evaluaAng these three major categories (Figure 
IV-24): 

1. Fire Alarm and CommunicaWon System: This aspect of the evaluaAon examines a 
community’s faciliAes and support for handling and dispatching fire alarms. This includes 
telephone lines and systems, staffing, dispatching systems, and equipment.  This 
component equates to 10% (10 points) of the evaluaAon. 
 

2. Fire Department: This component of the evaluaAon, which accounts for 50% of the total 
classificaAon (50 points), focuses on the Fire Department and its operaAons. Areas that 
are examined include the number of engine and ladder/service companies, distribuAon 
of fire staAons and fire companies, equipment carried on the apparatus, pumping 
capacity, tesAng of hose, pumps and ladders, reserve apparatus, department and on-duty 
staffing, and training. 
 

3. Water Supply System: The third component of the evaluaAon is an analysis of the 
community’s water supply system for fire protecAon. Chief among the areas that are 
examined include fire hydrant size, type, flow, and installaAon. In addiAon, the condiAon 
and frequency of inspecAon of the hydrants is evaluated. Finally, the overall capabiliAes 
of the water supply system are assessed in comparison to the needed fire flow for target 
hazards in the community. Forty percent of the final raAng (40 points) is based on the 
water supply system. 

 
A relaAvely new addiAon to the FSRS, the Community Risk ReducAon secAon offers a maximum 
of 5.5 points, resulAng in 105.5 total points now available in the FSRS.  The inclusion of this secAon 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 79 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

for “extra points” allows recogniAon for those communiAes that employ effecAve fire prevenAon 
pracAces, without unduly affecAng those who have not yet adopted such measures. 

The addiAon of the Community Risk ReducAon secAon gives incenAves to those communiAes 
who strive proacAvely to reduce fire severity through a structured program of fire prevenAon 
acAviAes.  The areas of community risk reducAon evaluated in this secAon include: 

Ø Fire prevenAon 
Ø Fire safety educaAon 
Ø Fire invesAgaAon 

 

 
FIGURE IV-24: FOUR KEY PARTS OF ISO PPC EVALUATION PROCESS 

Source: ISO 

Every city, town, or area that provides fire protecAon services is subject to being graded to 
establish a PPC.  Individual buildings, both residenAal and commercial, are subject to the 
community's PPC.  When calculaAng property insurance premiums, insurance companies using 
the PPC apply a factor that reflects a parAcular community's PPC.  Some individual faciliAes within 
a community may also be individually assessed and assigned a specific raAng. 

Although there may be validity to the argument that this raAng is no longer uAlized by all 
insurance companies that issue policies to commercial faciliAes within Brewster, ISO is sAll 
recognized as a comparaAve benchmark of public fire protecAon.  Moreover, within the past 
several years, ISO has significantly revised its FSRS, and as a result, the PPC to reflect new 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 80 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

innovaAons and technology, and the evolving standards and industry best pracAces within the 
fire service.  Among these changes are: 

Ø Greater reference to naAonally accepted consensus standards; NFPA and AWWA. 
Ø Increased recogniAon of automaAc fire sprinklers. 
Ø Greater reliance on technology-based soluAons (e.g., GIS, thermal imaging  

cameras). 
Ø Increased emphasis on fire training acAviAes. 
Ø New reference to naAonal standard safety requirements. 
Ø New reference to accreditaAon; focus on master/strategic planning. 

 
According to ISO, the PPC helps measure the effecAveness of fire protecAon and provides an 
important advisory evaluaAon to both insurers and communiAes. It is applied naAonwide, and 
more than ever incorporates accepted naAonal consensus standards. The PPC is used in 
markeAng, underwriAng, and pricing of both homeowners and commercial lines of fire/property 
insurance. Broadly speaking, the cost of insurance premiums is generally lower with be>er 
protecAon which translates into lower losses; the cost is higher in areas that have lower levels of 
protecAon which oqen translates into higher losses. Many insurers sAll rely on this informaAon, 
at least parAally, to set their fire insurance rates.  

According to ISO, many communiAes receive split classificaAons which were revised in 2014 to 
reflect the risk of loss, more precisely. An example of the split classificaAon is 4/4X. The first 
number refers to the classificaAon of properAes within 5 road miles of a fire staAon and within 
1,000 feet of a creditable water supply. The second number applies to properAes within 5 road 
miles of a fire staAon, but beyond 1,000 feet of a creditable water supply. ISO generally assigns 
Class 10 to properAes beyond 5 road miles. The X classificaAon replaced the former 9 porAons of 
a split classificaAon, respecAvely. For example, a community formerly graded as a split 4/9 will 
change to a split 4/4X.  

Based on the most recent November 2019 ISO evaluaAon (which was effecAve 3/1/2020), the 
Brewster Fire Department was awarded 83.11 points out of a possible 105.5 for a raAng of Class 
2/2X.  This placed the Department in the top 5% of fire departments across the country.  This 
is an excellent raAng that reflects the overall quality of the department and the systems that have 
been put into place. The Brewster Fire Department should be commended for this 
accomplishment. Figure IV-25, below, provides a graphical representaAon of the raAng 
distribuAon across the United States while Figure IV-26 shows the same informaAon for 
Massachuse>s.                  



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 81 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

 
 

FIGURE IV-25: INSURANCE SERVICE OFFICE RATING DISTRIBUTION CHART - COUNTRYWIDE 
Source: ISO 

 

FIGURE IV-26: INSURANCE SERVICE OFFICE RATING DISTRIBUTION CHART - MASSACHUSETTS 
Source: ISO 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 82 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

Looking deeper into the raAngs, the Brewster Fire Department is currently rated with 35.77 out 
of a possible 50 points; Emergency CommunicaAons (E-911, dispatch and communicaAons) – 9.78 
points out of a possible 10 points; and Water Supply is rated at a 38.00 out 40 points (Figure IV-
27). This means that the most improvement is possible within the areas of the fire department. 

For the 2019 evaluaAon the areas where Brewster was the weakest and consequently lost the 
most points was for company personnel, and deployment analysis. Based upon the ISO 
evaluaAon if the Town of Brewster adopts future staffing recommendaAons for the Brewster Fire 
Department contained within this report, the department should receive addiAonal credit for 
both Deployment Analysis and Company Personnel.  

The Community Risk ReducAon secAon of the FSRS offers a maximum of 5.5 points, resulAng in 
105.5 total points available in the FSRS. The inclusion of this secAon for “extra points” allows 
recogniAon for those communiAes that employ effecAve fire prevenAon pracAces, without 
unduly affecAng those who have not yet adopted such measures. In 2019, the Brewster Fire 
Department received 4.25 points for community risk reducAon. This suggests that as indicated in 
other areas of this report, the Brewster Fire Department has a well-developed and well managed 
fire prevenAon funcAon.  
 

FSRS Feature 
Credit Granted 

to Brewster 
Credit 

Available 

Emergency Communicaaons   
• Credit for Emergency Reporang 
• Credit for Tele-communicators 
• Credit for Dispatch Circuits 

3.00 
4.00 
2.78 

3 
4 
3 

Communicaaons Total 9.78 10 
Fire Department   

• Credit for Engine companies 
• Credit for Reserve Pumpers 
• Credit for Pump Capacity 
• Credit for Ladder Service 
• Credit for Reserve Ladder, Service Trucks 
• Credit for Deployment Analysis 
• Credit for Company Personnel 
• Credit for Training 
• Credit for Operaaonal Consideraaons 

6.00 
0.50 
3.00 
3.85 
0.00 
3.36 
9.15 
7.91 
2.0 

6 
0.5 
3 
4 

0.5 
10 
15 
9 

2.0 

Fire Department Total 35.77 50 
 
Water Supply 

 
 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 83 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

FSRS Feature 
Credit Granted 

to Brewster 
Credit 

Available 

Emergency Communicaaons   
 

• Credit for Supply System 
• Credits for Hydrants 
• Credit for Inspecaon and Flow Tesang 

30.00 
3.00 
5.00 

30 
3 
7 

Water Supply Total 38.00 40 
Divergence -4.69 --- 

Community Risk Reducaon 4.25 5.50 

Total FSRS Credit 83.11 105.5 

FIGURE IV-27: BREWSTER FIRE DEPARTMENT ISO FSRS ANALYSIS – 2019 

 
RECRUITMENT, TRAINING & PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT 
 
It is essenAal for modern fire departments to maintain state-of-the-art recruitment, training, and 
professional development iniAaAves. The Brewster Fire Department has a reputaAon for having 
a posiAve and professional work environment; however, the department has struggled with 
recruitment and retenAon as the department is slower than many other Cape departments, the 
Town has few fires, and the pay scale has significantly lagged behind other area fire departments. 
The Town is aware of the la>er issues and is taking steps to incrementally increase pay to make 
Brewster’s compensaAon package more compeAAve, and thus a more desirable place to work.  
 
As a non-civil service agency, the fire department can conduct its own recruiAng, background 
checks, psychological profile, and pre-employment physical examinaAon.  Because of difficulAes 
with recruiAng personnel who are already firefighter/paramedics, and the Ame commitment for 
firefighters to earn paramedic cerAficaAon (2,000 +/- hours), the department a>empts to recruit 
personnel who are already cerAfied paramedics but not firefighters. The theory is that it is less 
Ame consuming to send these personnel to the firefighAng academy than vice versa. This is an 
innovaAve approach that may be beneficial to the Department’s recruitment and retenAon. 
Captains are promoted based on the results of an independent third party wri>en examinaAon 
based upon a reading list designated by the Fire Chief. This is followed by an assessment center 
examinaAon uAlizing independent, outside evaluators along with a review of their educaAon and 
personnel record. 
 
In order to be eligible for promoAon to captain, a firefighter must have served as a Brewster 
firefighter for at least two (2) years. There are no other pre-requisites at the current Ame. 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 84 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

The coordinaAon of fire training is assigned to a Captain in addiAon to their normal shiq 
responsibiliAes. They prepare a monthly training calendar that is followed by each shiq officer 
daily. This calendar covers all required ISO training, along with an array of other firefighAng 
topics. Although not a formal lesson plan, the training calendar summarizes what should be done 
and establishes the training objecAves that are to be met. Daily training acAviAes are frequently 
interrupted by emergency calls, which makes it difficult at Ames for officers to complete the 
required training regimen each month.   
 
The fire department has the advantage of having its own training facility including a smoke room 
located in the staAon. As a result, Brewster firefighters can conduct more extensive drills and 
exercises than most fire departments of similar size. Mutual aid departments can use the facility 
on request.   
 
Each Firefighter receives 36 hours of training Ame annually (July to June). This Ame is for 
parAcipaAon in any department offered training outside the normally required daily training. 
These funds are included in the overAme budget and are available for any offered or approved 
third party training. The department received an AFG grant in the amount of $152,674 for 
overAme and related expenses for Fire Instructor and Fire Officer training that was offered in 
2021 and 2022 and was made available to other fire departments in the mutual aid system. The 
department also provides Ame off for a>ending regional and naAonal conferences, seminars, and 
advanced training programs such as those offered by the Massachuse>s FirefighAng Academy or 
the NaAonal Fire Academy. In addiAon, the department brings in third-party experts to conduct 
hands-on training in Brewster. In 2023, the department hosted training on man in machine, 
forcible entry, and live fire training opportuniAes. Dive and technical rescue personnel also train 
monthly. 
 
As this report was being finalized in August 2023, the BFD was awarded a 2022 AFG grant for 
$91,579.79. The grant will cover instructor costs, and overAme/coverage overAme for all 
department personnel to receive 61.5 hours of NFPA/ISO compliant driver training, and pump 
and aerial operator training provided by the Massachuse>s Fire Academy. 
 
The Department’s EMS Coordinator offers high-quality EMS training and conAnuing educaAon to 
the Department’s personnel. This ensures that EMS personnel maintain their skills and acquire 
the necessary training hours for their biennial re-cerAficaAon.   
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 85 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

FIRE PREVENTION AND COMMUNITY RISK REDUCTION  
 
The core service that a fire department provides to the public it serves begins with fire 
prevenAon. As with training in the previous secAon, fire prevenAon acAviAes – also referred to 
today as Community Risk ReducAon or CRR acAviAes - likewise are one of the most important 
missions that the modern-day fire and rescue service is involved in. A comprehensive fire 
protecAon system needs to include, at a minimum, the key funcAons of fire prevenAon, code 
enforcement, inspecAons, and public educaAon. PrevenAng fires before they occur and limiAng 
the impact of those that do should be priority missions of every fire rescue organizaAon. 
EducaAng the public about fire safety and teaching them appropriate behaviors on how to react 
should they be confronted with a fire is also an important life safety responsibility of the fire 
department. 
 
Fire suppression and response, although necessary to protect property, have minor impact on 
prevenAng fires. Rather, it is public fire educaAon, fire prevenAon, and built-in fire protecAon 
systems that are essenAal elements in protecAng ciAzens from death and injury due to fire, 
smoke inhalaAon, and carbon monoxide poisoning. The fire prevenAon mission is of utmost 
importance, as it is the only area of service delivery that dedicates 100 percent of its effort to the 
reducAon of the incidence of fire. 

Fire prevention should continue to be promoted as a key component of services provided by the Brewster 
Fire Department and should be designated as a major aspect of its primary mission.  Aggressive fire 
prevention programs are the most efficient, 
and cost-effective, way to reduce fire risks, 
fire loss, and fire deaths and injuries in the 
community.  Fire prevenAon is a key 
responsibility of every member of the 
fire service, and fire prevenAon 
acAviAes should, to the extent possible, 
include all personnel. 

Fire prevenAon should truly be 
approached in a systemaAc manner and 
various community stakeholders have a 
vested interest and/or responsibility in 
this endeavor. It has been esAmated 
that 70% to 75% of all the requirements 
found in building/construcAon and related 
codes are related in some way to fire 
protecAon and safety.  

Figure IV-28: FIVE ES OF PREVENTION IN A 
COMMUNITY RISK REDUCTION PROGRAM. 

Image credit: www.beaherosaveahero.org 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 86 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

Understanding and addressing only one element will not lead to a successful program. All five 
“E’s” must be integrated into every program for it to be effecAve21 (Figure IV-28).  Strong fire 
prevenAon codes have been shown to be extremely effecAve means to reduce risk in a 
community. Fire alarm and sprinkler system mandates for not only commercial buildings but all 
occupancies including single family dwellings dramaAcally reduces fire risk and increases life 
safety. Code implementaAon that does not require these creates an increased risk. Strong code 
provisions and enforcement have demonstrated a greater ability to decrease fire problems than 
conAnuing to acquire more tradiAonal fire department resources. 
 
The Brewster Fire Department does have an active fire prevention and community risk reduction 
program in place. These include fire prevention and code enforcement functions, along with an 
all-hazards risk reduction approach to public education. The bureau is responsible for fire safety 
inspections, fire code compliance, fire protection system plans reviews, fire code permits, the 
community risk reduction initiative, fire investigations, and public fire safety education. The Fire 
Prevention Bureau coordinates its activities closely with the town’s Building Department and 
participates in the review of new residential and commercial construction and all projects that 
go before the Planning Board and the Zoning Board of Appeals.  

These activities are carried out by the Department’s fire inspector, a position that was vacant at 
the time of this study. At the time of this assessment the department was in the process of hiring 
one of the two remaining call personnel to fill the vacancy. In the interim these duties were being 
handled by the Chief or Deputy Chief. 

Public education efforts focus on youth fire prevention education, juvenile fire setter 
intervention, senior citizen fire and safety education, and overall community health and wellness. 
The public education program presentations include the state sponsored SAFE and senior SAFE 
programs, Home Forever Program, ALICE, Stop the Bleed, CPR/AED,  Citizens Fire Academy, Fire 
Extinguisher Training, and the traditional Fire Safety in Schools Programs.  

Commendably, the fire department has expanded its fire prevention activities by embracing the 
relatively new concept of community risk reduction (CRR). CRR is a process to identify and 
prioritize local risks, followed by the integrated and strategic investment of resources to reduce 
their occurrence and impact. A CRR program enables the town to identify risks and develop 
preventive strategies to mitigate those risks. Risk reduction initiatives will help to contain the 
impact of growth, demographic changes, and climate change (e.g., increase in magnitude and 
frequency of severe weather events, etc.) on emergency response agencies. Code enforcement 
and public fire safety education efforts are effective strategies to reduce serious fire events. As 

 
21 h#p://www.beaherosaveahero.org/2013/10/community-risk-reducDon-crr-overview/     February 5, 2016 

 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 87 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

existing building stock is replaced, renovated, or updated, it can be brought into compliance with 
modern building and fire codes, thus reducing risk. 
 
The fire department is ideally positioned to lead the town’s CRR efforts because of its knowledge 
of community risks (natural, manmade, and technological), its track record in fire prevention and 
public education, and its role in emergency medical services. Guidance on the development and 
implementation of a CRR program is found in Standard on Community Risk Assessment and 
Community Risk Reduction Plan Development (NFPA 1300, 2020 edition).  The CRR initiative will 
complement and enhance other strategic planning initiatives, such as economic development, 
hazard mitigation, emergency management, and capital improvement. The fire department 
should be given a broad mandate to lead the town’s CRR initiative, which should include a wide 
range of town departments and community stakeholder groups.   

DIVERSITY AND CULTURAL AWARENESS 
 
Diversity and cultural awareness are important consideraAons in communiAes that wish to 
provide the highest level of equitable services to all of its ciAzens. Many fire departments 
throughout the U.S. have learned the value of a diverse workforce and know that they can provide 
a higher level of service when its members can self-idenAfy with the populaAon they serve. 
Customer saAsfacAon and community acceptance and support generally increase with diversity.  
In parAcular, the delivery of emergency medical care has been shown to improve, parAcularly 
when barriers such as gender, language, and physical appearance are removed. 
 
Most fire departments in the United States are predominantly white and male, and the Brewster 
Fire Department is no excepAon. This is not a criAcism, but simply a recogniAon that the current 
workforce could face significant challenges as it provides emergency services.  However, with 
three female firefighters which represent 13.0% of the department’s operaAons staffing, the 
department is ahead of many other departments MRI has evaluated. The Town of Brewster and 
Brewster Fire Department should be commended for this diversity.  
 
ConAnuing to increase diversity within the workforce of the Brewster Fire Department and 
ensuring equity in the delivery of fire department services should be a long-term goal of the town, 
but the first steps should be iniAated immediately. For example, a vision for diversity should be 
established; recruitment efforts should include enthusiasAc outreach to women and community-
based minority partners; all personnel, especially supervisors, should receive ongoing training 
and awareness on diversity and equity; and policies and procedures should be updated to ensure 
equity in the workplace.  Numerous resources for strengthening fire service diversity are available 
from organizaAons such as the InternaAonal AssociaAon of Fire Chiefs, InternaAonal AssociaAon 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 88 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

of Fire Fighters, InternaAonal AssociaAon of Women in Fire & Emergency Service, and the U.S. 
Fire AdministraAon. 
 
ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES 
 
Fire department administraAve services and office management acAviAes are handled by an 
administraAve assistant at fire headquarters. The primary responsibiliAes of the administraAve 
assistant include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 

Ø Payroll 
Ø Billing and accounts payable 
Ø AdministraAve support to the Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chief 
Ø Fire department and emergency management budget support 
Ø AdministraAve support to fire prevenAon bureau (scheduling of inspecAons, permirng, 

etc.) 
Ø Grant support 
Ø Answering public inquiries 

 
The administraAve assistant performs her funcAons with a combinaAon of computerized and 
manual funcAons. Financial transacAons are handled on the town’s Munis enterprise resource 
planning system. Because the Munis system does not recognize the fire department's 42-hour 
average workweek schedule, payroll must be calculated manually before being submi>ed to the 
finance department.   
 
Many of the procedures and acAviAes of the administraAve assistant are not documented and 
backup support when she is on personal leave is limited to the Fire Chief and Deputy Chief.    
 
BREWSTER INTERDEPARTMENTAL RELATIONS 
 
Interviews with the Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, several other department heads, 
and the Chairman of the Select Board revealed that the fire department is highly respected within 
the town government and the Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chief are known for their cooperaAon, 
collaboraAon, and support of their colleagues. The MRI study team was impressed with the high 
level of professionalism, collaboraAon, and mutual respect that was exhibited by all department 
heads. 
 
 
 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 89 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
IV-1: The Brewster Fire Department should conAnue its pracAce of uAlizing part-Ame seasonal 

personnel to maintain/enhance minimum shi] staffing parAcularly during the busy 
vacaAon/tourist season. 

IV-2: While the Fire PrevenAon Officer can be uAlized to assist with staffing the second or third 
ambulance, when necessary, during simultaneous or overlapping incidents, he/she 
should not normally be uAlized to maintain minimum shi] staffing as this takes him/her 
away from his/her primary CRR responsibiliAes. 

 
IV-3: As part of its ongoing staAsAcal analysis of operaAonal performance, the Brewster Fire 

Department should track the number of call backs that are sounded each year and the 
number of personnel who respond. 

 
IV-4: The Chief and Deputy Fire Chief, in conjuncAon with the Town’s Human Resources 

Director, should explore ways to address/improve the underlying organizaAonal culture 
that can impact internal morale. 

 
IV-5: The Town of Brewster should conAnue to work to incrementally improve the 

compensaAon package for members of the Brewster Fire Department in an effort to 
make it more compeAAve with other Cape Cod departments and assist with beLer 
recruiAng and retaining personnel long-term. 

 
IV-6: The Town of Brewster should conAnue to evaluate the organizaAonal structure of the 

Brewster Fire Department in an ongoing maLer to ensure that it meets the needs of the 
community it services, the expectaAons of the community, and the department itself. 

 
IV-7:  The Brewster Fire Department should work with the BCSO RECC leadership to identify 

any potential ways to reduce call processing time (from receipt of the call to dispatch of 
the incident) with the goal of attempting to achieve a 90th percentile time of not more 
than 64 seconds as recommended in NFPA 1710. Reducing call processing time can assist 
with leading to improved overall response times. 

 
IV-8: The Brewster Fire Department should work with the BCSO RECC leadership to ensure 

that incident turnout and travel times are recorded separately for each incident to allow 
proper analysis of response data. In addition, the first unit on scene time for fire 
incidents should be a fire truck not an ambulance or command/staff officer. 

 IV-9: After the above recommendation is implemented the Brewster Fire Department should 
further analyze their response time data, and if necessary, work to identify potential 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 90 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

ways to reduce incident turnout time with the goal of attempting to achieve a 90th 
percentile time of not more than 60 seconds for EMS incidents and 80 seconds for fire 
incidents as recommended in NFPA 1710. Turnout time is the response time component 
that the agencies have the most direct control over which can lead to reduced overall 
response times.  

IV-10: The Brewster Fire Department should enhance their data collection and analysis to 
include 80th and 90th percentile turnout and travel times as recommended in NFPA 1710. 
Having these more conservative times available will provide a more accurate response 
assessment and allow for better long- range master planning. 

 
IV-11: The Brewster Fire Department should enhance its existing pre-fire planning program 

into a comprehensive one for all structures other than one (1) and two (2) family 
dwellings. This includes every business, commercial and industrial occupancy (including 
schools, churches, etc.) in the town. Pre-planning will improve the firefighters’ 
knowledge of the specific tactics needed to handle a fire or other emergency at a facility 
and will alert them to on-site hazards and risks. Pre-fire/incident plans should be 
reviewed regularly and tested by periodic table-top exercises and on-site drills.  

 
IV-12:  Appropriate pre-planning software – such as the AWARE module for Mobile CAD - 

should be obtained and installed in apparatus mobile data terminals (MDTs) in all 
apparatus and command/staff vehicles including ambulances. 

 
IV-13: The Brewster Fire Department should continue to pursue the acquisition of mobile data 

terminals (MDT’s) in all frontline apparatus and supply each unit with reliable mobile 
internet connectivity such as the AT&T FirstNet network which includes mobile hot spots 
or routers for in vehicle use throughout the district. 

 
IV-14: The Brewster Fire Department should establish a formal “performance “improvement” 

process for fire suppression operations. The process should include the adoption of 
performance standards such as NFPA 1710, including on scene performance indicators 
such as: 

Ø On-scene to charged line at the front door of a structure fire: two minutes 
or less, 90% of the time.  
 

Ø Water from hydrant to supply engine: three minutes or less, 90% of the 
time. 

IV-15: The Brewster Fire Department should consider revising their EMS response procedures 
as follows: 

 
Ø When staffing is at five personnel:  



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 91 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

v Two personnel respond on the ambulance to Alpha and Bravo, or 
Priority 3 calls. The three personnel remaining are now available for 
fire duty, or can handle a second ambulance call, if necessary. If they 
require additional assistance, they can request the engine to respond.  

v Two personnel respond on the ambulance and three personnel 
respond on the engine to Charlie, Delta, and Echo, or Priority 1 and 2 
calls. If an additional person is needed on the ambulance they can be 
sent to the hospital with the ambulance crew. The two additional 
personnel can return to station with the engine and await the arrival 
of off duty personnel. They can also handle a second ambulance call. 

 
Ø When staffing is at four personnel:  

 
v Two personnel respond on the ambulance to Alpha and Bravo, or 

Priority 3 calls. If they require additional assistance, they can request 
the engine to respond. The remaining two personnel are still available 
for fire duty, or, can handle a second ambulance call. 
 

v Two personnel respond on the ambulance to Charlie, Delta, and Echo, 
or Priority 1 and 2 calls. The remaining two personnel respond with 
the engine to assist. If an additional person is needed on the 
ambulance they can be sent to the hospital with the ambulance crew. 
The one remaining person can return to station with the engine and 
await the arrival of off duty personnel. Off duty personnel reporting 
back for duty would now provide fire response, or response to a 
second ambulance call. 

 
IV-16: The Brewster Fire Department should consider a procedure that Alpha level, or Priority 

3 EMS calls are responded to without light or sirens. Consideration should also be given 
to making hospital transport calls that are non-emergent and the patient is stable, 
without lights and sirens. It is safer for responding personnel, general citizens, and the 
patient, to reduce the number of times that red lights and sirens are utilized. 

 
IV-17: The Brewster Fire Department should work internally to ensure all EMS related incidents 

are properly classified as either advanced life support (ALS) or basic life support (BLS) 
criterion, based upon the actual situation found on scene. 

 
IV-18: The Town of Brewster and Brewster Fire Department should consider designating the 

position of EMS coordinator as a full time, Captain (or Captain equivalent) position 
which is tested for as part of a promotional process. This position should continue to 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 92 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

have the requirement that the person holding it must be a currently certified paramedic 
and hold that certification for the duration of their time in the position. 

 
IV-19: The Town of Brewster and Brewster Fire Department should actively explore the 

feasibility of implementing some type of community based mobile integrated health 
care (Community Paramedicine) in an attempt to provide better service to the 
community, and possibly increase their EMS revenue.  

 
IV-20: The Brewster Fire Department should strive to have a minimum of 16/17 firefighting 

personnel on the scene of every single-family residential structure fire within 8 minutes 
of the time that units are responding. For fires in multi-family residential buildings and 
commercial occupancies, a minimum of 27/28 personnel should be on scene within 8 
minutes of the time that units are responding in order to be able to establish a full 
effective response force. Even if additional permanent staffing is added to the BFD as 
recommended in this report the use of automatic aid and mutual aid will need to 
continue and should be enhanced, based upon the type of occupancy a reported fire is 
in. This should be the department’s highest priority. 

 
IV-21: The Town of Brewster and Brewster Fire Department should incrementally hire 

additional firefighters to enhance daily on duty staffing to an eventual level of seven (7) 
personnel assigned to each shift.    

 
IV-22: The Town of Brewster should authorize the Brewster Fire Department to apply annually 

over the next several application periods for a federal Staffing for Adequate Fire and 
Emergency Response (SAFER) grant to fund the incremental hiring of a total of nine (9) 
additional personnel (two per shift plus a full-time EMS Officer) over the next several 
fiscal years citing an increasing call volume, a high percentage of senior citizens, loss of 
the department’s call force, and a desire to improve overall operational effectiveness, 
efficiency, and safety. 

 
IV-23: Even if the application for the SAFER grant is not successful, the Town of Brewster should 

still provide funding to incrementally increase Brewster Fire Department staffing over 
the next several fiscal years. A suggested timeline would be: 

 
Ø FY 2025 – Hire four (4) additional personnel to increase shift staffing to six (6) 

personnel with a minimum of five (5) on duty (off season only). 
 

Ø FY 2026 – Hire one (1) additional person to allow for the creation of the full-time 
EMS officer position and the possible implementation of a MICU/CIP program. 
Promote four (4) firefighters to the rank of Lieutenant. 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 93 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

Ø 2028 – Hire four (4) additional personnel to increase shift staffing to seven (7) 
personnel with a minimum of six (6) on duty (off season only). 
 

IV-24: As recommended above, in FY 2026, the Town of Brewster should consider creation of 
the position of Lieutenant on each shift in the Brewster Fire Department to allow for a 
continued appropriate span of control as recommended under the Incident 
Management System (IMS). The position of Lieutenant will also ensure that all persons 
serving in the capacity of an officer and/or shift commander has an adequate level of 
training and experience to fulfill the myriad additional duties and responsibilities of 
officer positions competently and confidently. 

 
IV-25: In FY 2029 and/or 2030, after the above recommended staffing increases are 

implemented the Town of Brewster and Brewster Fire Department should evaluate the 
impact of the enhanced staffing levels and its impact on both fire and EMS operations. 
The purpose of this evaluation will be to determine if seven (7) personnel per shift is 
adequate, or if additional staffing may still be indicated.  

 
IV-26:  At all staffing levels, the Brewster Fire Department should continue to utilize part-time 

personnel to supplement staffing level and maintain maximum shift staffing during 
peak season between Memorial Day and the end of September.  

 
IV-27: Even if the Town of Brewster is unsuccessful at its first SAFER application, the Town and 

Brewster Fire Department should apply again in subsequent years to seek funding for 
the recommended increase in personnel to provide enhanced operations to the Town. 

 
IV-28: The Brewster Fire Department should implement an operational procedure to have an 

engine respond immediately (even if it must be requested from mutual aid) with the 
ambulance on every motor vehicle crash to provide a blocking vehicle to protect the 
ambulance and personnel operating on the incident scene from being struck by an 
inattentive motorist. The need for the use of blocking vehicles to help keep emergency 
responders safe during highway and roadway incidents has become a much more 
important necessary and significant part of the emergency response system. 

 
IV-29: The Brewster Fire Department should consider the implementaAon of a company-level 

inspecAon program, integrated with a pre-fire/incident planning program as part of its 
comprehensive community risk reducAon program. 

 
IV-30: The Brewster Fire Department should consider the implementaAon of a voluntary home 

survey/inspecAon program with an all-hazards focus. This type of program can be 
parAcularly beneficial in a community with a high percentage (35.1%) of senior ciAzens.  



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 94 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

CHAPTER V                                                                                                                                
FIRE DEPARTMENT FINANCIAL OPERATIONS 

 
Financial operations in the Brewster Fire Department are not limited to developing and 
implementing an annual budget. Revenue from ambulance transports provide a significant offset 
to fire department expenditures but requires oversight of a complex third-party billing system. 
In addition to ambulance billing revenue, the department receives supplemental Medicaid 
funding through the MassHealth Ambulance Certified Public Expenditure (CPE) program. The fire 
department has been highly successful in applying for and receiving grants for equipment and 
personnel from both federal and state government sources. Fees for various permits that are 
issued by the fire department provide a modest revenue source. 
 
ANNUAL BUDGET   
 
The town website provides a transparent view of all department budgets and total expenditures 
for the previous three (3) fiscal years. The budget narrative includes each department’s mission 
statement, previous fiscal year accomplishments, current fiscal year goals and initiatives, and 
budget highlights. Citizens can easily refer to the “Budget Increase Rationale Forms” in order to 
understand the reasons for a specific request for increased funding.   
 
The BFD strategic plan (2022-2026) calls for the coordination of departmental budget planning 
with an annual review of the strategic plan.  A three (3) year look-back forms the basis for the 
proposed fiscal year operating and capital budgets, and department members provide input on 
major capital acquisitions. 
 
As with any career fire department, the majority of the BFD budget is dedicated to wages and 
salaries. In the FY 2023 budget, wages and salaries account for 79% of the total budget. Until FY 
2023, overtime expenditures have been proportionately stable, accounting for 14% of salaries 
and wages in FY 2020 and FY 2021, and 13% of salaries and wages in FY 2022. The FY 2023 
overtime budget has been increased by $120,000 to $424,700, or 17% of overall wages and 
salaries (note: $20,000 of the overtime increase was transferred from the part-time wage 
account). The department has justified this increase with the following rationale: 
 

Ø Reduced call firefighter staff. 
Ø Need to provide mandatory five (5) man minimum staffing levels [i.e., filling shift 

vacancies caused by vacations, sick leave, injury, resignations/retirements, etc.].22 
Ø Contractual COLA and step increases that impact overtime rates. 
Ø Contractual increase in firefighter elective training time (from 24 to 36 hours). 

 
22 Bracketed [] language added by MRI study team. 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 95 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

Ø Cost of regional housing preventing members from living within the required 15 miles 
living radius requiring additional on duty staff. 

Ø Lack of year-round rental opportunities preventing members from living within the 
requirement 15 mile living radius requiring additional on-duty staff. 

Ø Reduced numbers of staff available for off-duty callback. 
 
In spite of the increase in overtime wages, the BFD FY 2023 budget reflected just a 0.65% increase 
over the FY 2022 budget, which is remarkable given the increased labor costs and inflationary 
increases in equipment and supplies. The MRI study team is concerned that future “level funding” 
initiatives will result in on-going cuts to discretionary expenditures such as training, equipment, 
and fire prevention that will result in decreased departmental readiness and skill levels. 
 
CAPITAL PLANNING 
 
Long-range capital planning ensures that apparatus and major equipment is replaced on a timely 
basis based on usage and condition and in accordance with best practices and nationally 
recognized standards, such as NFPA 1901, Standard for Automotive Fire Apparatus. Fire 
department capital planning efforts are coordinated with the town’s capital planning to ensure 
that capital budgets are stabilized to avoid large swings from year-to-year. The BFD strategic plan 
(2022-2026) calls for the department to maintain a comprehensive plan for replacing ambulance, 
fire service, and support vehicles and equipment. 
 
Fire department capital planning is especially important due to the extended time for delivery of 
fire apparatus and ambulances, which is currently two (2) to three (3) years. Delivery time frames 
should be built into the capital acquisition schedule, and higher than inflation cost increases 
should be anticipated. 
 
AMBULANCE BILLING & REVENUE 
 
The Brewster Fire Department provides both basic life support (BLS) and advanced life support 
(ALS) emergency medical services. BLS can be provided by personnel who are certified as 
emergency medical technicians-basic (EMT-B), while ALS can only be provided by paramedics.  All 
Brewster firefighters are certified as EMTs or as paramedics. 
 
Billing rates are aligned with the framework established by the Centers for Medicare and 
Medicaid Services (CMS) (Figure V-1).  The rates were last revised by the town in 2019 and are 
comparable to the rates charged by neighboring communities. 
 
 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 96 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

 

 

FIGURE V-1: BREWSTER AMBULANCE BILLING RATES 

The billing categories are defined by CMS regulations found in 42 CFR Ch. IV §414.601 Subpart H: 

Advanced life support (ALS) intervention means a procedure that is, in accordance with State and local laws, 
required to be furnished by ALS personnel.  

Advanced life support, level 1 (ALS1) means transportation by ground ambulance vehicle, medically necessary 
supplies and services and either an ALS assessment by ALS personnel or the provision of at least one ALS 
intervention.  

Advanced life support, level 2 (ALS2) means either transportation by ground ambulance vehicle, medically 
necessary supplies and services, and the administration of at least three medications by intravenous push/bolus 
or by continuous infusion, excluding crystalloid, hypotonic, isotonic, and hypertonic solutions (Dextrose, Normal 
Saline, Ringer's Lactate); or transportation, medically necessary supplies and services, and the provision of at least 
one of the following ALS procedures:  

(1) Manual defibrillation/cardioversion.  

(2) Endotracheal intubation.  

(3) Central venous line.  

(4) Cardiac pacing.  

Type of Charge HCPCS*  Amount Charged  
   

ALS Non-Emergency Basic Rate  A0426  $                1,950.00  
   
ALS1 Emergency Basic Rate A0427  $                1,950.00  
   
ALS2 Emergency Basic Rate A0433  $                3,037.99  
   
BLS Emergency Basic Rate A0429  $                1,205.00  
   
BLS Non-Emergency Basic Rate A0428  $                1,205.00  
   
Mileage A0425  $                     32.00  
   
Non-Covered Mileage A0888  $                     32.00  
   
Specialty Care A0434  $                3,462.00  
    *Healthcare Common Procedures Coding System 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 97 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

(5) Chest decompression.  

(6) Surgical airway.  

(7) Intraosseous line. 

Basic life support (BLS) means transportation by ground ambulance vehicle and medically necessary supplies and 
services, plus the provision of BLS ambulance services. The ambulance must be staffed by at least two people who 
meet the requirements of state and local laws where the services are being furnished. Also, at least one of the staff 
members must be certified, at a minimum, as an emergency medical technician-basic (EMT-Basic) by the State or 
local authority where the services are furnished and be legally authorized to operate all lifesaving and life-sustaining 
equipment on board the vehicle. 
 
Specialty care transport (SCT) means interfacility transportation of a critically injured or ill beneficiary by a ground 
ambulance vehicle, including medically necessary supplies and services, at a level of service beyond the scope of the 
EMT-Paramedic. SCT is necessary when a beneficiary's condition requires ongoing care that must be furnished by 
one or more health professionals in an appropriate specialty area, for example, nursing, emergency medicine, 
respiratory care, cardiovascular care, or a paramedic with additional training. 
 
The town bills for ambulance transport services in accordance with the above rate schedule. 
However, Medicare, Medicaid, and private insurance companies establish allowable rates, i.e., 
the amount that they actually pay, that are significantly lower than the town’s rate schedule. 
 
The town has established an ambulance fee waiver policy that establishes the criteria for “writing 
off” billed amounts based on hardship or other conditions as approved by the Select Board. 
 
Because of the complexities of CMS and state regulations, the wide range of procedures, 
established by private insurance companies, and the confidentiality requirements of the Health 
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA), the town has contracted with a third-party 
billing service that specializes in ambulance billing. The current contractor, COMSTAR Ambulance 
Billing Service, is paid 2.5% of the amount it collects, which is competitive with similar ambulance 
billing companies. 
 
The MRI study team reviewed ambulance transport revenues for the past three (3) years.  
Collection rates improved significantly between FY 2021 and FY 2022. Payments continue to be 
received for FY 2023, but the most recent revenue numbers indicate that the collection rates are 
on track to be at least equal to or better than FY 2022.  Uninsured individuals account for the 
greatest amount of uncollected (or written-off) revenue, while the highest proportion of revenue 
(97.28% over three years) comes from Medicare, Medicaid, and private insurers.  The average 
collection rate based on allowable rates over the past three (3) years is 75.52%. 
 
  
 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 98 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

 PAYMENT TYPE TRANSPORTS  CHARGES   ALLOWABLE   COLLECTED  % 
COLLECTED 

       
FY 

2021 
Insurance 1234  $2,766,320.13   $832,077.78   $751,867.30  90.36% 

 Veterans 
Administration 

2  $4,924.00   $4,924.00   $-  0  0.00% 

 Self-Pay 136  $315,060.96   $305,987.26   $16,498.39  5.39% 
 Total FY 2021 1372  $3,086,305.09   $1,142,989.04   $768,365.69  67.22% 
       

FY 
2022 

Insurance 1432  $3,215,136.46   $957,423.36   $914,549.42  95.52% 

 Veterans 
Administration 

3  $5,736.00   $5,736.00   $5,736.00  100.00% 

 Self-Pay 74  $164,564.95   $153,970.63   $23,906.98  15.53% 
 Total FY 2022 1509  $3,385,437.41   $1,117,129.99   $944,192.40  84.52% 
       

FY 
2023 

Insurance 1448  $3,330,617.82   $1,076,397.50   $901,006.13  83.71% 

 Veterans 
Administration 

4  $10,008.00   $10,008.00   $5,180.00  51.76% 

 Self-Pay 68  $154,608.98   $148,035.38   $20,392.78  13.78% 
 Total FY 2023 1520  $3,495,234.80   $1,234,440.88   $926,578.91  75.06% 
       

 3-YR AVERAGE 
TOTAL 1467 $3,322,325.77 $1,164,853.30 $879,712.33 75.52% 

FIGURE V-2: AMBULANCE TRANSPORT REVENUES 

The average total charge per ambulance transport has remained relatively stable over the past 
three (3) years with a modest increase in FY 2023. The average allowable charge per transport 
has decreased slightly since FY 2021.  FY 2022 saw the highest average collected revenue of the 
past three years. 
 

FISCAL YEAR AVERAGE CHARGE AVERAGE ALLOWABLE AVERAGE COLLECTED 
2021 $2,249.49 $833.08 $560.03 
2022 $2,243.50 $740.31 $625.71 
2023 $2,299.50 $812.13 $609.59 

    
3-YR Average $2,264.16 $795.18 $598.44 

FIGURE V-3: AVERAGE AMBULANCE CHARGES & COLLECTIONS, FY 2021-2023 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 99 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

Each year, the fire department applies for and receives supplemental Medicaid funding through 
the MassHealth CPE for Public Ambulance program. This year, the town received $136,529.00 
which was deposited in the ambulance revenue account. 
 
Ambulance transport revenues are robust and offset a significant portion of the fire department 
annual budget. However, EMS services throughout the United States are facing significant 
challenges to their financial stability. These challenges include: 
 

Ø Reduction in allowable amounts paid by private insurance companies. 
Ø Delays in payments by private insurance companies. 
Ø Medicare/Medicaid allowable costs do not keep pace with inflation or operational cost 

increases. 
Ø Significant increases in the cost of EMS supplies and equipment. 
Ø Significant increases in the cost of new ambulances and ambulance refurbishment. 

 
The fire department and the Town are not immune to these challenges, which in future years 
could result in reductions in revenue and increases in operational costs that outpace current 
expectations.   
 
The BFD strategic plan (2022-2026) includes an action plan for ambulance reimbursements, with 
a focus on staying competitive with ambulance billing rates and fostering a strong relationship 
with the third-party ambulance billing party.   
 
PERMITS: 
 
BFD issues permits for several types of inspections or hazardous processes that require fire 
department oversight. A fee of $40 is charged for oil tank inspections, certificates of compliance 
for smoke and carbon monoxide alarms (required at the time of real estate transfer), and fire 
alarm installation final inspection.  A fee of $10 is charged for open burning permits.  A total of 
$19,320 was collected for permit fees in FY 2023. 
 
GRANTS: 
 
BFD has been aggressive and forward-thinking in seeking and receiving grants for equipment and 
personnel.  Since 2010, the town has received a total of $2,021,879.71 in grants.  The BFD should 
be commended for these efforts and their success at obtaining these very competitive grants.  
 
The primary source of the grant funds has been the Assistance to Firefighters (AFG) grant 
program that is administered by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). The goal 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 100 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

of the AFG program is to fund critically needed resources to equip and train emergency 
personnel, enhance efficiencies, and support community resilience. With AFG funds, BFD has 
obtained communications equipment, personal protective equipment (PPE), personal escape 
devices and training, self-contained breathing apparatus (SCBA), cardiac monitors, electrically 
powered ambulance stretchers/loading devices, extrication equipment, a fire safety education 
trailer.  Most impressively, the department received $152,674.00 for fire instructor and fire 
officer training that was made available to other fire departments in the mutual aid system. 
 
As this report was being finalized in August 2023, the BFD was awarded a 2022 AFG grant for 
$91,579.79. The grant will cover instructor costs, and overtime/coverage overtime for all 
department personnel to receive 61.5 hours of NFPA/ISO compliant driver training, and pump 
and aerial operator training provided by the Massachusetts Fire Academy. 
 
In 2016, BFD was successful in receiving a FEMA Staffing for Adequate Fire and Emergency 
Responses (SAFER) grant, which supported funding two (2) firefighter/paramedic positions for 
three (3) years.  Future SAFER grants could provide the initial funding for expanding fire and EMS 
staffing in Brewster. 
 
BFD has also received grant funding from state sources that included a SCBA mask fit 
decontamination machine, portable radios, mobile communication equipment, rescue saws, and 
radio software. 
 
The BFD strategic plan (2022-2026) calls for continued efforts to pursue federal and state grant 
funding, investigate untapped grant funding sources, and utilize the expertise of the town’s 
project manager. 
 
While obtaining grants for essential equipment, training, and staffing is highly commendable, the 
department and the town should always be prepared to fund these activities with the town 
budget. There is no guarantee that grant funds will be available in the future at the state or 
federal level, and there is no guarantee that the town will be a successful applicant. 
 
SOURCES OF ADDITIONAL FUNDING: 
 
The BFD strategic plan (2022-2026) has identified several potential sources of revenue that could 
be explored by the town: 
 

Ø Retail marijuana tax directed to offset public safety costs. 
Ø Short-term rental tax. 
Ø Establishment of a community paramedicine program. 

 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 101 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

In assessing the feasibility of alternative revenue sources, consideration should be given to the 
cost of administering the collection of revenue, both in terms of direct costs as well as 
administrative time that detracts from the primary mission of the fire department. 
 
Community paramedicine calls for the use of fire department paramedics to provide in-home 
follow-up care to patients as an alternative to traveling to a medical facility or doctor’s office.  
Patients may need medical attention post-surgery or due to a chronic condition, and a fire 
department community paramedicine program is a cost-effective and easily scheduled 
alternative to treatment in an out-patient facility or live-in nursing home. Community 
paramedicine pilot programs can be initiated under the auspices of a local hospital and are an 
effective use of paramedic resources when not responding to emergencies. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
V-1:  The Town of Brewster should continue to closely monitor the use of overtime and 

identify strategies to contain overtime costs.  Such strategies could include the 
following: 

 
Ø Calculate the “break-even” point where the establishment of additional 

firefighter-paramedic positions would make it possible to allow time-off without 
creating overtime replacements. 

 
Ø Continue to monitor the appropriate use of sick time.  Excessive use of sick time, 

or identifiable patterns of sick time usage can be indicators of employee 
performance or health issues that require intervention and support. 

 
Ø Continue the use of seasonal personnel during peak vacation/tourist seasons 

which equates to increased response volumes. 
 

Ø Management of an occupational safety and health program that includes 
aggressive enforcement of standard operating procedures (SOPs), training, 
updated PPE, documentation of occupational injuries and illnesses (including 
incidents involving department-owned motor vehicles), and investigation of job-
related injuries and motor vehicle incidents that includes a lessons-learned after-
action report. 

 
V-2:  The Town of Brewster and Brewster Fire Department should update their ambulance 

fee schedule (last updated in 2019) based on increases in service delivery costs and 
consistent with rates charged by EMS services in the region. 

 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 102 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

V-3:  The Town of Brewster and Brewster Fire Department should continue to seek 
competitive bids from qualified third-party ambulance billing companies every three (3) 
to five (5) years.  This will ensure that the town is receiving the highest possible level of 
service at the best possible price. Consideration should be given to establishing a group 
bid with neighboring communities, which increases the potential for further contract 
cost reductions. 

 
V-4:   The Brewster Fire Department should consider requiring additional permits as 

authorized by the Massachusetts Comprehensive Fire Safety Code (MGL Chapter 
148:527 CMR Board of Fire Prevention Regulations). The department should determine 
what permits should be required based on risk and common practices in the community. 

 
V-5:   The Town of Brewster should consider increasing fire department permit fees based on 

a review of fee schedules that have been adopted by neighboring communities. 
 
V-6:   The Town of Brewster and Brewster Fire Department should continue to aggressively 

pursue grants from federal, state, and private sources for apparatus, staffing, 
equipment, training, fire prevention and community risk reduction programs, and EMS 
services to the community. Specifically, the town should apply for a FEMA SAFER grant 
to fund the additional firefighter-paramedic positions identified in several 
recommendations including Recommendation IV-22 of this report. 

 
V-7:   The Town of Brewster and Brewster Fire Department should explore addiAonal 

potenAal ways to generate revenue to offset the fire department’s operaAng costs.  
ConsideraAon could be given to billing insurance companies for response to motor 
vehicle accidents; registraAon fees for fire alarm systems; the aggressive pursuit of non-
residents who have been billed for ambulance transportaAon; and the implementaAon 
of a fee for ambulance responses that do not result in a transport. 

 

 

 
 

 

 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 103 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

CHAPTER VI                                                                                                                          
SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

This chapter contains a lisAng of the 39 recommendaAons related to the various chapters in this 
report.  Please refer to the body of the report for addiAonal explanaAon and jusAficaAon for each 
recommendaAon. 

CHAPTER III - BREWSTER COMMUNITY RISK AND HAZARD PROFILE 
 
III-1: The Brewster Fire Department should make it a priority to complete a comprehensive 

fire and rescue community risk assessment. This assessment should be done in 
conjuncAon with a fire and EMS calls for service demand analysis, including the 
development of a wide-ranging pre-incident planning program for target and high 
hazard locaAons in the Town, and take into consideraAon the fire department’s 
operaAonal capabiliAes and preparedness.  

 
III-2: The Brewster Fire Department should develop a compelling public educaAon program 

that includes discussing the benefits of installing residenAal fire sprinklers in new one- 
and two-family dwellings. Although MassachuseLs’s construcAon codes do not allow 
residenAal fire sprinkler systems to be mandated, there is no prohibiAon for property 
owners to install them if they determine that it is in their best interest. 

 
CHAPTER IV - BREWSTER FIRE DEPARTMENT ORGANIZATION, MANAGEMENT, AND 
OPERATIONS 
 
IV-1: The Brewster Fire Department should conAnue its pracAce of uAlizing part-Ame seasonal 

personnel to maintain/enhance minimum shi] staffing parAcularly during the busy 
vacaAon/tourist season. 

 
IV-2: While the Fire PrevenAon Officer can be uAlized to assist with staffing the second or third 

ambulance, when necessary, during simultaneous or overlapping incidents, he/she 
should not normally be uAlized to maintain minimum shi] staffing as this takes him/her 
away from his/her primary CRR responsibiliAes. 

 
IV-3: As part of its ongoing staAsAcal analysis of operaAonal performance, the Brewster Fire 

Department should track the number of call backs that are sounded each year and the 
number of personnel who respond. 

 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 104 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

IV-4: The Chief and Deputy Fire Chief, in conjuncAon with the Town’s Human resources 
Director, should explore ways to address/improve the underlying organizaAonal culture 
that can impact internal morale. 

 
IV-5: The Town of Brewster should conAnue to work to incrementally improve the 

compensaAon package for members of the Brewster Fire Department in an effort to 
make it more compeAAve with other Cape Cod departments and assist with beLer 
recruiAng and retaining personnel long-term. 

 
IV-6: The Town of Brewster should conAnue to evaluate the organizaAonal structure of the 

Brewster Fire Department in an ongoing maLer to ensure that it meets the needs of the 
community it services, the expectaAons of the community, and the department itself. 

 
IV-7:  The Brewster Fire Department should work with the BCSO RECC leadership to identify 

any potential ways to reduce call processing time (from receipt of the call to dispatch of 
the incident) with the goal of attempting to achieve a 90th percentile time of not more 
than 64 seconds as recommended in NFPA 1710. Reducing call processing time can assist 
with leading to improved overall response times. 

 
IV-8: The Brewster Fire Department should work with the BCSO RECC leadership to ensure 

that incident turnout and travel times are recorded separately for each incident to allow 
proper analysis of response data. In addition, the first unit on scene time for fire 
incidents should be a fire truck not an ambulance or command/staff officer. 

  
IV-9: After the above recommendation is implemented the Brewster Fire Department should 

further analyze their response time data, and if necessary, work to identify potential 
ways to reduce incident turnout time with the goal of attempting to achieve a 90th 
percentile time of not more than 60 seconds for EMS incidents and 80 seconds for fire 
incidents as recommended in NFPA 1710. Turnout time is the response time component 
that the agencies have the most direct control over, which can lead to reduced overall 
response times.  

 
IV-10: The Brewster Fire Department should enhance their data collection and analysis to 

include 80th and 90th percentile turnout and travel times as recommended in NFPA 1710. 
Having these more conservative times available will provide a more accurate response 
assessment and allow for better long- range master planning. 

 

IV-11: The Brewster Fire Department should enhance its existing pre-fire planning program 
into a comprehensive one for all structures other than one (1) and two (2) family 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 105 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

dwellings. This includes every business, commercial and industrial occupancy (including 
schools, churches, etc.) in the town. Pre-planning will improve the firefighters’ 
knowledge of the specific tactics needed to handle a fire or other emergency at a facility 
and will alert them to on-site hazards and risks. Pre-fire/incident plans should be 
reviewed regularly and tested by periodic table-top exercises and on-site drills.  

 
IV-12:  Appropriate pre-planning software – such as the AWARE module for Mobile CAD - 

should be obtained and installed in apparatus mobile data terminals (MDTs) in all 
apparatus and command/staff vehicles including ambulances. 

 
IV-13: The Brewster Fire Department should continue to pursue the acquisition of mobile data 

terminals (MDT’s) in all frontline apparatus and supply each unit with reliable mobile 
internet connectivity such as the AT&T FirstNet network which includes mobile hot spots 
or routers for in vehicle use throughout the district. 

 
IV-14: The Brewster Fire Department should establish a formal “performance “improvement” 

process for fire suppression operations.  The process should include the adoption of 
performance standards such as NFPA 1710, including on scene performance indicators 
such as: 

Ø On-scene to charged line at the front door of a structure fire: two minutes 
or less, 90% of the time.  
 

Ø Water from hydrant to supply engine: three minutes or less, 90% of the 
time. 

 
IV-15: The Brewster Fire Department should consider revising their EMS response procedures 

as follows: 
 

Ø When staffing is at five personnel:  
 

v Two personnel respond on the ambulance to Alpha and Bravo, or 
Priority 3 calls. The three personnel remaining are now available for 
fire duty, or can handle a second ambulance call, if necessary. If they 
require additional assistance, they can request the engine to respond.  
 

v Two personnel respond on the ambulance and three personnel 
respond on the engine to Charlie, Delta, and Echo, or Priority 1 and 2 
calls. If an additional person is needed on the ambulance they can be 
sent to the hospital with the ambulance crew. The two additional 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 106 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

personnel can return to station with the engine and await the arrival 
of off duty personnel. They can also handle a second ambulance call. 

 
Ø When staffing is at four personnel:  

 
v Two personnel respond on the ambulance to Alpha and Bravo, or 

Priority 3 calls. If they require additional assistance, they can request 
the engine to respond. The remaining two personnel are still available 
for fire duty, or, can handle a second ambulance call. 
 

v Two personnel respond on the ambulance to Charlie, Delta, and Echo, 
or Priority 1 and 2 calls. The remaining two personnel respond with 
the engine to assist. If an additional person is needed on the 
ambulance they can be sent to the hospital with the ambulance crew. 
The one remaining person can return to station with the engine and 
await the arrival of off duty personnel. Off duty personnel reporting 
back for duty would now provide fire response, or response to a 
second ambulance call. 

 
IV-16: The Brewster Fire Department should consider a procedure that Alpha level, or Priority 

3 EMS calls are responded to without light or sirens. Consideration should also be given 
to making hospital transport calls that are non-emergent and the patient is stable, 
without lights and sirens.  It is safer for responding personnel, general citizens, and the 
patient, to reduce the number of times that red lights and sirens are utilized. 

 
IV-17: The Brewster Fire Department should work internally to ensure all EMS related incidents 

are properly classified as either advanced life support (ALS) or basic life support (BLS) 
criterion, based upon the actual situation found on scene. 

 
IV-18: The Town of Brewster and Brewster Fire Department should consider designating the 

position of EMS coordinator as a full time, Captain (or Captain equivalent) position 
which is tested for as part of a promotional process. This position should continue to 
have the requirement that the person holding it must be a currently certified paramedic 
and hold that certification for the duration of their time in the position. 

 
IV-19: The Town of Brewster and Brewster Fire Department should actively explore the 

feasibility of implementing some type of community based mobile integrated health 
care (Community Paramedicine) in an attempt to provide better service to the 
community, and possibly increase their EMS revenue.  

 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 107 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

IV-20: The Brewster Fire Department should strive to have a minimum of 16/17 firefighting 
personnel on the scene of every single-family residential structure fire within 8 minutes 
of the time that units are responding.  For fires in multi-family residential buildings and 
commercial occupancies, a minimum of 27/28 personnel should be on scene within 8 
minutes of the time that units are responding in order to be able to establish a full 
effective response force. Even if additional permanent staffing is added to the BFD as 
recommended in this report the use of automatic aid and mutual aid will need to 
continue and should be enhanced, based upon the type of occupancy a reported fire is 
in.  This should be the department’s highest priority. 

 
IV-21: The Town of Brewster and Brewster Fire Department should incrementally hire 

additional firefighters to enhance daily on duty staffing to an eventual level of seven (7) 
personnel assigned to each shift.    

 
IV-22: The Town of Brewster should authorize the Brewster Fire Department to apply annually 

over the next several application periods for a federal Staffing for Adequate Fire and 
Emergency Response (SAFER) grant to fund the incremental hiring of a total of nine (9) 
additional personnel (two per shift plus a full-time EMS Officer) over the next several 
fiscal years, citing an increasing call volume, a high percentage of senior citizens, loss of 
the department’s call force, and a desire to improve overall operational effectiveness, 
efficiency, and safety. 

 
IV-23: Even if the application for the SAFER grant is not successful, the Town of Brewster should 

still provide funding to incrementally increase Brewster Fire Department staffing over 
the next several fiscal years. A suggested timeline would be: 

 
Ø FY 2025 – Hire four (4) additional personnel to increase shift staffing to six (6) 

personnel with a minimum of five (5) on duty (off season only). 
 

Ø FY 2026 – Hire one (1) additional person to allow for the creation of the full-time 
EMS officer position and the possible implementation of a MICU/CIP program. 
Promote four (4) firefighters to the rank of Lieutenant. 

 
Ø 2028 – Hire four (4) additional personnel to increase shift staffing to seven (7) 

personnel with a minimum of six (6) on duty (off season only). 
IV-24: As recommended above, in FY 2026, the Town of Brewster should consider creation of 

the position of Lieutenant on each shift in the Brewster Fire Department to allow for a 
continued appropriate span of control as recommended under the Incident 
Management System (IMS). The position of Lieutenant will also ensure that all persons 
serving in the capacity of an officer and/or shift commander has an adequate level of 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 108 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

training and experience to fulfill the myriad additional duties and responsibilities of 
officer positions competently and confidently. 

 
IV-25: In FY 2029 and/or 2030, after the above recommended staffing increases are 

implemented the Town of Brewster and Brewster Fire Department should evaluate the 
impact of the enhanced staffing levels and its impact on both fire and EMS operations. 
The purpose of this evaluation will be to determine if seven (7) personnel per shift is 
adequate, or if additional staffing may still be indicated.  

 
IV-26:  At all staffing levels, the Brewster Fire Department should continue to utilize part-time 

personnel to supplement staffing level and maintain maximum shift staffing during 
peak season between Memorial Day and the end of September.  

 
IV-27: Even if the Town of Brewster is unsuccessful at its first SAFER application, the Town and 

Brewster Fire Department should apply again in subsequent years to seek funding for 
the recommended increase in personnel to provide enhanced operations to the Town. 

 
IV-28: The Brewster Fire Department should implement an operational procedure to have an 

engine respond immediately (even if it must be requested from mutual aid) with the 
ambulance on every motor vehicle crash to provide a blocking vehicle to protect the 
ambulance and personnel operating on the incident scene from being struck by an 
inattentive motorist. The need for the use of blocking vehicles to help keep emergency 
responders safe during highway and roadway incidents has become a much more 
important necessary and significant part of the emergency response system. 

 
IV-29: The Brewster Fire Department should consider the implementaAon of a company-level 

inspecAon program, integrated with a pre-fire/incident planning program as part of its 
comprehensive community risk reducAon program. 

 
IV-30: The Brewster Fire Department should consider the implementaAon of a voluntary home 

survey/inspecAon program with an all-hazards focus. This type of program can be 
parAcularly beneficial in a community with a high percentage (35.1%) of senior ciAzens. 

 
CHAPTER V - FIRE DEPARTMENT FINANCIAL OPERATIONS 
 
V-1:  The Town of Brewster should continue to closely monitor the use of overtime and 

identify strategies to contain overtime costs.  Such strategies could include the 
following: 

 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 109 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

Ø Calculate the “break-even” point where the establishment of additional 
firefighter-paramedic positions would make it possible to allow time-off without 
creating overtime replacements. 

 
Ø Continue to monitor the appropriate use of sick time.  Excessive use of sick time, 

or identifiable patterns of sick time usage can be indicators of employee 
performance or health issues that require intervention and support. 

 
Ø Continue the use of seasonal personnel during peak vacation/tourist seasons 

which equates to increased response volumes. 
 

Ø Management of an occupational safety and health program that includes 
aggressive enforcement of standard operating procedures (SOPs), training, 
updated PPE, documentation of occupational injuries and illnesses (including 
incidents involving department-owned motor vehicles), and investigation of job-
related injuries and motor vehicle incidents that includes a lessons-learned after-
action report. 

 
V-2:  The Town of Brewster and Brewster Fire Department should update their ambulance 

fee schedule (last updated in 2019) based on increases in service delivery costs and 
consistent with rates charged by EMS services in the region. 

 
V-3:  The Town of Brewster and Brewster Fire Department should continue to seek 

competitive bids from qualified third-party ambulance billing companies every three (3) 
to five (5) years.  This will ensure that the town is receiving the highest possible level of 
service at the best possible price.  Consideration should be given to establishing a group 
bid with neighboring communities, which increases the potential for further contract 
cost reductions. 

 
V-4:   The Brewster Fire Department should consider requiring additional permits as 

authorized by the Massachusetts Comprehensive Fire Safety Code (MGL Chapter 
148:527 CMR Board of Fire Prevention Regulations).  The department should determine 
what permits should be required based on risk and common practices in the community. 

 
V-5:   The Town of Brewster should consider increasing fire department permit fees based on 

a review of fee schedules that have been adopted by neighboring communities. 
 
V-6:   The Town of Brewster and Brewster Fire Department should continue to aggressively 

pursue grants from federal, state, and private sources for apparatus, staffing, 
equipment, training, fire prevention and community risk reduction programs, and EMS 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 110 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

services to the community.  Specifically, the town should apply for a FEMA SAFER grant 
to fund the additional firefighter-paramedic positions identified in several 
recommendations including Recommendation IV-22 of this report. 

 
V-7:   The Town of Brewster and Brewster Fire Department should explore addiAonal 

potenAal ways to generate revenue to offset the fire department’s operaAng costs.  
ConsideraAon could be given to billing insurance companies for response to motor 
vehicle accidents; registraAon fees for fire alarm systems; the aggressive pursuit of non-
residents who have been billed for ambulance transportaAon; and the implementaAon 
of a fee for ambulance responses that do not result in a transport. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 111 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

CHAPTER VII                                                                                                                     
SUMMARY AND LOOKING TO THE FUTURE 

 
CURRENT STATE OF THE FIRE AND EMS DELIVERY SYSTEM  
 
The mission performed by the fire department is one of the fundamental funcAons of 
government:  to ensure the safety and protecAon of its residents and visitors. The expectaAons 
for the quality and quanAty of fire and EMS services must come from its residents and other 
taxpayers. There is no “right” amount of fire protecAon and EMS delivery. It is a constantly 
changing level based on the expressed needs of the community. Each community determines the 
composiAon of fire services that residents receive by balancing the level of risk against the cost 
to provide these criAcal services. It is the responsibility of elected officials – in this case the Board 
of Selectmen - to translate community needs into reality through direcAon, oversight and the 
budgetary process. It is their unenviable task to maximize fire, EMS, and other services within the 
reality of the community’s ability and willingness to pay, parAcularly in today’s economic 
environment. 
 
During this assessment of the Brewster Fire Department, MRI observed a highly functional fire and EMS 
organization that strives to provide a high level of service to the community and the region. The Brewster 
Fire Department is confronted by multiple challenges; however, those same challenges are facing fire 
service organizations across America. These challenges include: 
 

Ø An increasing all-hazards focus. 
Ø Decreased frequency of serious structure fires. 
Ø Increased pressure to reduce resource consumption. 
Ø Increasing technical expectations. 
Ø An increasing focus on documentation, training, and certification of 

personnel. 
Ø A growing expectation to provide advanced level patient care. 
Ø Increased call volume and simultaneous incidents. 
Ø Lack of a call force to supplement the career staff. 

 
Specific to the Brewster Fire Department, and the 2019 and 2020 response numbers notwithstanding, 
it is clear that service demand is increasing and that the ability to match resources against the service 
demand is straining the organization, particularly during the day. As the fire service as a whole has 
entered into an all-hazards environment, the public has come to expect increased knowledge, skills and 
abilities from their firefighters.  In Brewster, this trend has increased both training and certification 
requirements.  
 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 112 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

The Brewster Fire Department appears to be an excellent organizaAon that provides a high-level 
of service to the town it serves. However, due to increasing requests for service, a defunct on-
call force, and limited on-duty staffing, it is struggling to keep up with meeAng the growing needs 
of the community. The department is led by Chief Robert Moran who has been the chief since 
2010. Chief Moran is a passionate advocate and energeAc leader that is clearly honored to have 
an excepAonal staff and serve his community. Under Chief Moran’s leadership the department is 
trying to get to the proverbial “next level”.  
 
The officer corps including Deputy Chief Varley and the Captains appear to work as a team to 
provide criAcal, and it appears effecAve, leadership to the department. All members of the 
department work as a team to produce a high quality, effecAve, and efficient response that serves 
the Town well. Overall, the department works diligently to meet the needs of the community and 
projects a “can do artude”. This posiAve artude translates into the organizaAon being very 
highly regarded and respected within the community. This high-level of community support is 
complemented by a most posiAve internal culture; however, there are some internal culture 
issues that were previously discussed that do place some negaAve drag on the organizaAon. That 
challenge notwithstanding, overall, it is apparent that the Brewster Fire Department is a well-
organized, and well-run organizaAon that strives to provide the best possible services with the 
resources provided.   

 
However, the numerous posiAve aspects of the department and its operaAons notwithstanding, 
MRI’s evaluaAon has idenAfied several areas of risk that we believe the Town of Brewster will 
need to address in the coming years.  These include: 
 

1. The potenAal for a diminished level of service based on a shortage of available resources, 
primarily from a career staffing perspecAve and the annual requests for service conAnue 
to increase, coupled with the absence of a viable call force to provide supplemental 
staffing during fire incidents and Ames of high acAvity. 
 

2. A need to conAnue the widespread use of automaAc aid at the Ame of dispatch to 
reported structure fires to a>empt to assemble an effecAve response force within the 
benchmark Ame frames. 
 

3. PotenAally increasing response Ames based on a growing number of overlapping calls 
(approaching 20% of annual responses). 

 
STRATEGIC PLANNING (AKA LOOKING TO THE FUTURE) 
 
Strategic planning is an organizaAon’s process of defining its direcAon, and making decisions 
relaAve to the opAmizaAon of limited resources.  A strategic plan also contains tools that can 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 113 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

guide the implementaAon of the strategy. Strategic planning became prominent in corporaAons 
during the 1960s and remains an important aspect of organizaAonal planning. A 2006 Volunteer 
Fireman’s Insurance Service (VFIS) report notes: 
 

“No business is successful without some type of strategic planning – making sure that 
the business will survive.  The ESO is no different.  Strategic Plans in business (and ESOs) 
lay the groundwork for effecAve organizaAonal management and performance.”23  

 
Strategy has many definiAons, but generally involves serng goals, determining acAons to achieve 
the goals, and mobilizing resources to execute the acAons. A strategy describes how the ends 
(goals) will be achieved by the means (resources). Strategy can be planned (intended) or can be 
observed as a pa>ern of acAvity (emergent) as the organizaAon adapts to its environment or 
competes. The strategy currently in place in the Brewster Fire Department is a progressive and 
forward thinking one. The Brewster Fire Department has an excellent five-year strategic plan that 
covers the period of 2022 through 2026. With this report, it is MRI’s goal to assist the Town of 
Brewster and the Brewster Fire Department in moving forward in a planned or intended 
strategic manner through support for the plan in place with enhancements through the 
recommendaWons contained herein. 
 
Fire and rescue operaAons and service delivery is dramaAcally improved in those departments 
that commit resources to goal serng, master planning, risk assessment, and performance 
measurement. The Brewster Fire Department should be commended for their commitment to 
this process and the development of an excellent document to help them conWnue to move 
forward.    

 
Performance measures should be easily understood and easily calculated. Suggested 
performance measures for the fire and rescue services oqen have a range depending on local 
factors.  The point of the performance measures is to idenAfy the community’s expectaAons in a 
quanAfiable way, and to use the measurement of the fire and rescue’s performance against these 
objecAves to idenAfy areas, which may need improvement, or require addiAonal resources. 
 
MRI’S VIEW OF THE FUTURE 
 
Looking ahead, the Town of Brewster will continue to experience some limited growth and 
development, probably about 1% per year. The Town is committed to maintaining its rural Cape 
Cod character so it is unlikely that any major developments will be approved, especially 
commercial or industrial projects. While even limited development will have some impact on the 
Brewster Fire Department, the exact amount is difficult to predict quantitatively and accurately.   

 
23 h#p://www.msfa.org/content/recruit/file/CEO%20MANUAL%20ARIAL%20-%20disc.pdf  



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 114 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

The five-year data review of Brewster Fire Department responses did not show any definitive 
pattern; however, that is frequently seen right now with the COVID pandemic having significantly 
skewed responses for 2020. Our long-term experience suggests it is likely that emergency 
responses will increase several percent (3% to 5%) annually with the most significant increase in 
requests for emergency services will be EMS related. As previously noted, people over the age of 
65 are considered in a higher risk group both from the perspective of fire and medical 
emergencies. An aging population group, along with the potential for the number of senior 
citizens in the age 65 and over group – currently at 35.1% of the population - to increase with 
new development, or with people who turn what was a vacation home into their permanent 
retirement residence, also suggests that the number of responses will continue to increase. 
 
As currently configured and staffed, the Brewster Fire Department is struggling to keep up with 
demand. Just two simultaneous or overlapping end up utilizing all of the on-duty resources. This 
often effectively leaves the Town without any fire protection capabilities available except from 
mutual aid departments. In addition, the Town and the Department are facing the following 
challenges related to the emergency response system. 
 

Ø The loss of the call component of the Department over the past 10 years. This results in 
the only emergency response personnel immediately available (not counting mutual aid) 
being the on-duty personnel. There are no longer call personnel who respond to provide 
coverage or assist with multiple incidents.  
 

Ø Housing and rental costs in Brewster and surrounding communities, and to a larger extent 
Cape Cod in general, are extremely high and thus unaffordable for most public safety 
personnel especially those who are just starting out. This results in many firefighters living 
on the other side of the Sagamore Bridge, more than 30 minutes from town and of limited 
to no value in a call back situation. 
 

Ø The department has struggled to retain personnel. Frequent vacancies and a constant 
staffing deployment model has resulted in a high level of mandatory holdover and order-
in overAme which can have a significant impact on firefighter health and wellness, as well 
as morale within the Department.   
 

Ø As noted above, any future housing or land use development coupled with an aging 
resident populaAon will most likely result in increased requests for services further 
straining the system. 

 
Based upon these factors, and as discussed throughout this report, MRI strongly believes that the 
Town needs to incrementally increase Brewster Fire Department staffing over the next several 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 115 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

years in order to arrive at what we believe is an enhanced and sustainable organizaAonal and 
deployment model. 
 
The key recommendations found in this report related to staffing are illustrated below. Please 
refer to the body of the report for additional explanation and justification for each 
recommendation. 
 
Figure VII-1 illustrates the suggested Ameline for the Brewster Fire Department to increase 
staffing to seven (7) personnel per shiq between FY 2024 and FY 2028. The Town and BFD should 
apply annually for a SAFER grant. However, MRI strongly recommends that even if they are not 
successful at obtaining a SAFER grant FY 2025 that the Town of Brewster and Brewster Fire 
Department should conWnue to apply in each subsequent year unWl they reach recommended 
staffing levels. If a later successful SAFER grant award is received this Ameline can then be 
adjusted – and possibly accelerated - based upon that award. 

Under this scenario, the number of paramedics will ulAmately be decided by the Town of 
Brewster. MRI strongly recommends that the department have a sufficient number of 
paramedics to opAmally have a minimum of three (3) on duty at all Ames. This would allow one 
each for two ambulances and one on the engine giving it ALS capability as well. 

 



 

 

 

* Considerafon to moving FY 2028 Phase 3 hires up to FY 2027 could be given through applicafon for a SAFER grant and/or if the Town’s fiscal factors, 
needs, and priorifes permit. 

* * FY 2029/2030 - Evaluate the impact of the enhanced staffing levels and its impact on both fire and EMS operafons. The purpose of this evaluafon will 
be to determine if seven (7) personnel per shik is adequate, or if addifonal staffing may be indicated. 

FIGURE VII-1: RECOMMENDED STAFFING INCREASE TIMELINE  

 

 

 

 



 

Figure VII-2 shows the recommended BFD organizaAonal structure – illustrated by phase - based 
upon a>empAng to achieve the staffing levels recommended in this report. The figure does not 
show part-Ame/seasonal personnel. The Brewster Fire Department is encouraged to conAnue to 
uAlize these personnel to maintain maximum shiq staffing levels during peak vacaAon/ tourist 
season from Memorial Day through the end of September. 

It is also our recommendaAon that shiq minimum staffing levels outside of peak season can be 
one person below opAmal shiq staffing level. So, when shiq staffing is at six (6) minimum staffing 
can be five (5); when it is seven (7) it can be six (6). This allows the first vacancy on the shiq 
caused by any type of leave to not be filled with overAme. During peak season the maximum 
staffing levels should be maintained through a combinaAon of overAme and the use of the part-
Ame seasonal personnel. 

 

 

 

 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 118 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

 

FIGURE VII-2: PHASE 1 – FY 2025 THROUGH PHASE 3 – 2028 STAFFING ORGANIZATIONAL CHART  

 

Fire Chief

Deputy Fire Chief

Group 1

Captain

Lieutenant

Firefighter

Firefighter

Firefighter

Firefighter

Firefighter

Group 2

Captain

Lieutenant

Firefighter

Firefighter

Firefighter

Firefighter

Firefighter

Group 3

Captain

Lieutenant

Firefighter

Firefighter

Firefighter

Firefighter

Firefighter

Group 4

Captain

Lieutenant

Firefighter

Firefighter

Firefighter

Firefighter

Firefighter

Fire Prevention 
Officer

EMS Officer

Administrative       
Assistant

Phase 1 – FY 2025 

Phase 2 – FY 2026 

Phase 3 – FY 2028 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 119 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

Once a staffing level of seven (7) is achieved the Brewster Fire Department will be able to staff: 

ü Two ambulances with two (2) personnel each. 
o If a third ambulance is needed during the day, it can be staffed with administraAve 

personnel if they are available. 
ü One engine with three personnel. 
ü For structure fire calls, alarm systems, etc., if all personnel are available then the engine 

can respond with four (4) personnel and the ladder with three (3).  
o If one ambulance is commi>ed on a call, while less than opAmal, the engine can 

respond with three (3) and the ladder with two (2). 

In FY 2029 and/or FY 2030 the BFD should evaluate the impact of the enhanced staffing levels 
and its effect on both fire and EMS operaAons. The purpose of this evaluaAon will be to determine 
if seven (7) personnel per shiq is adequate, or if addiAonal staffing may be indicated at that Ame. 
If it is determined at that point that addiAonal staffing may be necessary, the following provides 
a snapshot of what a staffing level of eight (8) personnel would look like. 

ü Two ambulances with two (2) personnel each. 
o If a third ambulance is needed during the day, it can be staffed with staff personnel 

if they are available and/or a combinaAon of shiq and administraAve personnel. 
ü One engine with four personnel. 
ü For structure fire calls, alarm systems, etc., if all personnel are available then the engine 

and ladder can both respond with four (4) personnel. 
o If one ambulance is commi>ed on a call, the engine and ladder can both sAll 

respond with three (3) personnel.  

FIRE SERVICE ACCREDITATION 
 
AccreditaAon is a comprehensive self-assessment and evaluaAon model that enables 
organizaAons to examine past, current, and future service levels and internal performance and 
compare them to industry best pracAces. This process leads to improved service delivery.24 The 
Center for Public Safety Excellence’s (CPSE) accreditaAon program, administered by the 
Commission on Fire AccreditaAon InternaAonal (CFAI) allows fire and emergency service agencies 
to compare their performance to industry best pracAces in order to: 
 

Ø Determine community risk and safety needs and develop community-
specific Standards of Cover. 

Ø Evaluate the performance of the Department. 

 
24 h#p://www.publicsafetyexcellence.org/agency-accreditaDon/about-accreditaDon-cfai.aspx 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 120 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

Ø Establish a method for achieving conAnuous organizaAonal 
improvement.25 

 
ParAcularly for emergency services, local officials need criteria to assess professional 
performance and efficiency. The CFAI accreditaAon process provides a well-defined, 
internaAonally recognized benchmark system to measure the quality of fire and emergency 
services.26 
 
The Brewster Fire Department is operaAonally and administraAvely a well-managed and 
operated, full-service emergency provider. Based upon that premise, at some point in the future 
(perhaps aqer staffing levels are increased), the department, with support from the Town of 
Brewster, should consider undertaking the accreditaAon process.  Although Ame consuming and 
labor intensive it would allow the department to be recognized for its excellence. 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
The Town of Brewster is well served by its fire department. The department provides a highly 
proficient level of fire and EMS services and has readily adapted to the demands placed on it in 
an ever-changing environment. Although service demands and capabiliAes were severely 
stretched by the impact of the Covid pandemic, the department conAnued to provide superior 
service.  Unfortunately, staffing levels have not kept up with the increase in emergency calls, and 
the Town is frequently leq with inadequate coverage for both fire and emergency medical 
incidents. The on-duty staffing structure should be increased, and the Town should move toward 
staffing two ambulances while not sacrificing conAnuous fire coverage. The fire department’s 
community risk reducAon program (CRR) has the potenAal for strengthening the town’s resilience 
against all types of threats, both natural and manmade, and for training the public to deal with 
medical emergencies. Labor-management relaAons are mostly stable, and the department’s 
training and quality assurance iniAaAves help to ensure that personnel operate safely and 
effecAvely at fire scenes. Self-assessment and strategic planning iniAaAves will enable the fire 
department to evaluate its performance in comparison to naAonal standards, best pracAces, and 
other fire departments.   
 
The report should be studied in its enArety to gain a complete picture of MRI’s recommendaAons 
and the raAonale behind them. Town and fire department leaders may develop their own 
prioriAes; modify the recommendaAons based on the ever-changing needs of the town and the 
department; and coordinate soluAons based on Ame, personnel, and fiscal realiAes. 
 

 
25 h#p://www.publicsafetyexcellence.org/agency-accreditaDon/about-accreditaDon-cfai.aspx 
26 h#p://www.publicsafetyexcellence.org/agency-accreditaDon/about-accreditaDon-cfai.aspx 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 121 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

The MRI project team must stress again the ciWzens of the Town of Brewster should feel 
confident, and be proud of the fact, that the Brewster Fire Department is an extremely 
professional and capable public safety organizaWon that is providing a criWcal service to the 
community, day in and day out. The team conWnues to be impressed with the dedicaWon and 
commitment of its members.   
 
In order to address the 39 recommendaAons that have been idenAfied in this report, the Town 
of Brewster and the Brewster Fire Department should: 
 

1. Approach them strategically and systemaAcally. 
 

2. Use them as a roadmap to guide change and improvement within the department 
focused on service enhancement. 
 

3. Refer to them when making recommendaAons, check them off as they are accomplished, 
and most importantly, recognize the posiAve achievements publicly. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 122 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

CHAPTER VIII                                                                                                                      
PROJECT TEAM 

 
The following members of our staff parAcipated in this project: 

TEAM LEADER: 
 
Peter J. Finley, Jr. most recently served as Chief of the Winslow Township Fire Department in 
New Jersey, where he was responsible for the planning, establishment, and iniAal deployment of 
the career component of the department. He previously served for 4 ½ years as the Chief of 
Department for the City of Vineland, New Jersey Fire Department where he iniAated significant 
changes within the department including updaAng and modernizing equipment, providing the 
department’s first ever formal officer training, and significantly increasing the capabiliAes of the 
regional hazardous materials response team. During his tenure the department received more 
than one million dollars in various grants. He formerly commanded the Vineland Rescue Squad 
gaining significant EMS operaAons and command experience, as well as compleAng an overhaul 
of that organizaAon’s operaAons. Chief Finley serves as an Adjunct Professor in the Fire Science 
Program at Camden County College.  

Chief Finley received his Associate in Applied Science degree from AtlanAc Community College in 
New Jersey, and earned his Bachelor of Science degree in Fire Science/AdministraAon from the 
University of Maryland. He is a graduate of the NaAonal Fire Academy’s ExecuAve Fire Officer 
Program, earning perfect scores on three of his four Applied Research Projects. He was awarded 
an Outstanding Research Award for his 2002 paper Atled, “ResidenAal Fire Alarm Systems: The 
VerificaAon and Response Dilemma”.  

Chief Finley holds nearly two dozen state and naAonal cerAficaAons and is a member of a number 
of fire service organizaAons, including achieving the presAgious Chief Fire Officer designaAon 
from the Commission on Fire AccreditaAon InternaAonal. He is a member of a number of fire 
service organizaAons and is currently serving as President of the New Jersey Career Fire Chiefs 
AssociaAon where he has been involved in the development and administraAon of fire service 
promoAonal examinaAons. From 2003–2005 he served on the Training and EducaAon Commi>ee 
of the Governor’s Fire Service and Safety Task Force. He also previously served on the state 
commi>ee that developed New Jersey’s first Firefighter I Instructor Manual. 

 

 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 123 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

PROJECT TEAM 
 
Donald P. Bliss reAred in July 2019 as vice president for field operaAons at the NaAonal Fire 
ProtecAon AssociaAon, Quincy, MA where he oversaw NFPA’s internaAonal division and NFPA’s 
regional operaAons in the U.S. and Canada.  Prior to joining NFPA, Bliss was a senior project 
manager and public safety consultant with Municipal Resources, Inc., a municipal management 
consulAng firm based in Plymouth, NH.  He also chaired various technical commi>ees at NFPA 
and served on the NFPA board of directors and the Fire ProtecAon Research FoundaAon board 
of trustees. 

 
From 2003 to 2012, he served as the director of the NI2 Center for Infrastructure ExperAse, a not-
for-profit applied research group based in Portsmouth, NH dedicated to strengthening the 
security and resiliency of the naAon’s built criAcal infrastructure and key resources.   
 
Bliss served as the New Hampshire State Fire Marshal from 1992 unAl 2003. In the wake of the 
tragic events of September 11, 2001, he took over responsibility for New Hampshire’s emergency 
management and homeland security efforts. From 1983 to 1992, Bliss served as the fire chief in 
Salem, New Hampshire. From 1989 to 1992, he served as both fire chief and the town’s 
emergency management director. From 1980 to 1983, Bliss served as the director of the 
University of ConnecAcut Fire Department and as fire marshal for the University of ConnecAcut 
System. He began his career with the Durham-UNH Fire Department in 1970, rising from call 
firefighter to fire marshal/deputy chief.  During his Ame in Durham, he also volunteered as an 
EMT with the Durham Ambulance Corps (now known as McGregor EMS) and served in various 
leadership posiAons, including president. 

 
Bliss has served as a subject ma>er expert on criAcal infrastructure protecAon with the Mobile 
EducaAon Team of the Center for Homeland Defense Studies at the U.S. Naval Postgraduate 
School and was an adjunct professor in the graduate public administraAon program at the 
University of New Hampshire.  He currently serves on the Federal Emergency Management 
Agency (FEMA) NaAonal Advisory Council; the board of directors of McGregor EMS; and is a 
DisAnguished Senior Fellow at Northeastern University’s Global Resilience InsAtute.  In 2020, he 
was named to the NaAonal Fire Heritage Center’s Hall of Legends, Legacies and Leaders. 

 
Bliss received a Bachelor of Arts in poliAcal science from the University of New Hampshire in 1973 
and a Master of Public AdministraAon degree, also from the University of New Hampshire, in 
1979. He has completed numerous courses at the NaAonal Fire Academy in Emmitsburg, 
Maryland.  

 

 



 

 
Town of Brewster, MA – Fire Department Staffing Analysis                 Page 124 
Prepared by Municipal Resources, Inc. 
November 2023 
 
 

Brian P. Duggan, Director Fire Services Group, reAred from the Fire Department in 
Northampton, Massachuse>s, where he insAtuted substanAal changes to modernize and 
restructure the enAre department including equipment, faciliAes, personnel, and training.  In 
conjuncAon with his staff, Brian integrated Emergency Medical Services (EMS) into the 
organizaAon and created a regional Advanced Life Support (ALS) Program that currently serves 
18 communiAes within the Northampton Area.  He formerly commanded the Northborough, 
Massachuse>s, Fire Department, and has significant experience with the Massachuse>s 
Department of Fire Services where over three decades, he held several key posiAons. Following 
his reArement, Brian has conAnued his acAve fire service involvement by serving as both a 
volunteer chief fire officer and through conAnuing to develop training and cerAficaAon programs 
as a program Coordinator for the Massachuse>s Department of Fire Services.   

Mr. Duggan developed and directed the Graduate and Undergraduate Fire Science Programs at 
Anna Maria College in Paxton Massachuse>s from 1995 - 2003.  Mr. Duggan has a Business 
Management/Fire Science degree from Providence College and a Master’s Degree of Business 
AdministraAon (MBA) from Nichols College in Dudley, Massachuse>s.  He is also a graduate of 
the NaAonal Fire Academy ExecuAve Fire Officer Program and the Senior ExecuAve Program for 
State and Local Leaders at Harvard University.  In December 2012, Mr. Duggan received a 
Master’s Degree in Homeland Security through the Naval Post Graduate School based in 
Monterey, California, where his thesis enAtled “Enhancing Decision-making during the First 
Opera*onal Period of Surge Events” was selected as an outstanding thesis.   He was one of the 
first fire service professionals to be designated as a Chief Fire Officer by the Commission on Fire 
AccreditaAon InternaAonal.   

Brian led the Massachuse>s fire service through his affiliaAon as Chairman of the Fire Chief 
AssociaAon of Massachuse>s Technology Commi>ee and as a Regional Director on the 
Massachuse>s State Fire MobilizaAon Commi>ee.  Mr. Duggan has authored several 
publicaAons, inclusive of wriAng SecAon 7, Chapter 3, Fire Department InformaAon Systems, in 
the Nineteenth and TwenAeth EdiAons of the NaAonal Fire ProtecAon AssociaAon’s Fire 
ProtecAon Handbook.  Chief Duggan has been affiliated with MRI as a subject ma>er advisor 
since 2002 and he has served as Director of Fire Services since 2015. Currently, Mr. Duggan is 
regarded as an expert specific to fire service response to photovoltaic and ba>ery energy storage 
system (BESS) emergencies.  He has developed several naAonwide training programs providing 
first responders with new insight on these emerging challenges. 

 

 

 



Archived: Friday, January 19, 2024 8:36:48 AM
From: Babcock, Christopher 
Sent: Tuesday, January 16, 2024 4:16:57 PM
To: Kevin Varley 
Cc: Robert Moran Peter Lombardi 
Subject: RE: Brewster FD-SAFER Question
Importance: Normal
Sensitivity: None

Hello Chief. We expect the SAFER program application period to open the Monday following the Friday AFG application
period close. The current AFG application cycle is scheduled for Jan. 29 – March 8, which would provide a March 11 SAFER
application opening. We are again aiming to start awards in the June/July time frame as long as everything stays on track.
 
There is nothing wrong with submitting a SAFER application while also attempting to work for local funding. I can’t say for
sure at this moment, but believe that the FY23 SAFER program will be very similar to FY22 in providing 100% federal funding
for 3 years for awarded firefighter hiring programs. We will know for sure when the NOFO is released. Based on the FY22
program if funding was approved and the positions were not yet filled, you could still accept the award and use the SAFER
funds to hire the personnel. The critical element here is that hiring has not occurred prior to the award. I would encourage
you to become very familiar with the FY22 NOFO and guidance documents available on the website to prepare your best
application in the event you choose to move forward with it. Better to be prepared, than to try to scramble at the last minute.
 
Please do not hesitate to contact me if you have any additional questions.
 
Chris Babcock
Fire Program Specialist | DHS/FEMA Region 1
Office:  | Mobile: (202) 710-3748
christopher.babcock@fema.dhs.gov
 
Federal Emergency Management Agency
fema.gov
 
 

 
 
WARNING:  This document is FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY (FOUO).  It contains information that may be exempt from public
release under the Freedom of Information Act (5 U.S.C. 552).  It is to be controlled, stored, handled, transmitted, distributed,
and disposed of in accordance with DHS policy relating to Sensitive But Unclassified (SBU) information and is not to be
released to the public, or other personnel, who do not have a valid “need-to-know”, without prior approval of an authorized
DHS official.
 
From: Kevin Varley <kvarley@brewster-ma.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, January 16, 2024 4:03 PM
To: Babcock, Christopher <christopher.babcock@fema.dhs.gov>
Cc: Robert Moran <rmoran@brewster-ma.gov>; Peter Lombardi <plombardi@brewster-ma.gov>

mailto:christopher.babcock@fema.dhs.gov
mailto:kvarley@brewster-ma.gov
mailto:rmoran@brewster-ma.gov
mailto:plombardi@brewster-ma.gov
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.fema.gov%2F&c=E,1,jlbjY0uG5chXBJ__aVDSIq__6X4I6A8u20jtHbXEhxnlhzZSs45Ql4lkcAC05iOG9ts53A7oQ16qRw7a5iH6wjyb2bMm5I5CEiR9JJkksqk,&typo=1


Subject: Brewster FD-SAFER Question
 
CAUTION: This email originated from outside of DHS. DO NOT click l inks or open attachments unless you recognize and/or trust the sender.
Please select the Phish Alert Report button on the top right of your screen to report this email if it is unsolicited or suspicious in nature.

 
Hi Chris,
 
Chief Moran is out of the office this week.  I am aware that he reached out to you with SAFER questions last week.  I
have two quick questions that I am hoping you may be able to assist with.
 
A recently completed staffing study shows that the Brewster Fire Department is in need of an additional nine positions
over the next few years.  The hiring for these potential positions is broken out into several phases.  We are seeking a
funding source for the first four positions (Phase I) which we hope to start in July 2024.
 
Due to budget constraints, an operational override would be required for the town to fund these positions.  After a recent
conversation with the Town Manager, we have concerns that this request is unlikely to be approved by the Town’s
Select Board and/or voters.  We are considering the possibility of applying for a SAFER grant to assist with funding.
 

1. 1. The FY2022 SAFER NOFO lists anticipated award dates between 6/2/2023 and 9/30/2023.  Do you anticipate
similar award dates for the FY2023 SAFER funds?

2. 2. Is there any harm in simultaneously pursuing a SAFER grant and funding by the town?  If we were fortunate
enough to obtain an operational override (unlikely) and to be awarded the SAFER grant, would we be able to use
the SAFER funding to support these positions for the first three years?

 
Thank you for your help,
Kevin
 
Deputy Chief Kevin Varley
Brewster Fire Department
1671 Main Street
Brewster, MA 02631
508-896-7018
 

 



Town of Brewster
2198 Main Street 

Brewster, MA 02631-1898 
Phone: (508) 896-3701 

townmanager@brewster-ma.gov 

January 22, 2024 

Chris Easley 
Chair, Nauset Regional School Committee 
78 Eldredge Park Way 
Orleans, MA 02653 

Dear Chair Easley, 

Please accept this correspondence as follow up to Brewster’s request in May 2023 to 
initiate amendments to the Nauset regional school agreement and a recent update 
provided to the Select Board on December 18, 2023 on the status of ongoing review of 
the regional agreement.  We appreciate that the Nauset Regional School Committee 
(NRSC) has engaged with legal counsel and formally appointed a subcommittee to lead 
this complex and important initiative over the past several months.  District counsel’s 
initial review and feedback on the agreement this fall was instructive in better 
understanding the current requirements of the Massachusetts Department of 
Elementary and Secondary Education (DESE) in reviewing and approving all regional 
school agreements and how that impacts the language in the current agreement. 

Given the significant policy and financial implications that changes to the regional 
agreement represent, Brewster continues to seek clarity about what the process and 
timeline will be for this undertaking.  We urge NRSC to facilitate a comprehensive, 
deliberative, inclusive, and participatory process in considering and developing 
recommended changes to the regional agreement.  Specifically, we would request that 
NRSC solicit input from the Select Boards in each of the member towns on the draft 
agreement before it is submitted to DESE for preliminary review and that you will take 
that collective feedback from the towns into consideration before finalizing the draft 
agreement.  We also hope that the NRSC will educate and engage with residents in 
advance of the revised agreement being brought to Town Meeting, including holding at 
least one public hearing. 

We understand that the District’s legal analysis is serving as the basis for the 
subcommittee’s review of the agreement.  While that review raised a number of key 
issues to be addressed, it is not exhaustive.  Accordingly, the Brewster Select Board and 
Finance Committee have also identified several other areas we would like NRSC to 
consider in the course of your review, as follows: 

Office of: 
Select Board 

Town Manager 



Budget (Section IX)
 Replace Current Section IX with Monomoy Agreement Sections VII and VIII in 

their entirety and move to new Section V (after Apportionment of Costs - Section 
IV) 

 Add requirement to develop and annually update and present a 5-year Financial 
Forecast and 5-year Capital Improvement Plan for the District  

Officers of the Committee (Section I(D)) 
 Annually rotate the Chair between the member towns (except that by a two-

thirds (2/3) vote, and with at least one Committee member voting from each 
town voting in the affirmative, the Regional District School Committee may in 
any one year deviate from this standard practice) 

 Vice Chair in any given year shall be drawn from the members who reside in the 
member towns different from that of the Chair 

Tuition Students (Section X) 
 Add requirement that tuition agreements must include an amount to equitably 

account for debt, capital costs, and/or debt proxy 
 Tuition Agreement Subcommittee shall include one representative from the 

towns, consistent with 603 CMR 41.04, and shall hold at least one public hearing 
in advance of commencing negotiations 

 NRSC will conduct an annual public hearing and vote on School Choice by 
December of each year to inform operating budget decision making for the 
following fiscal year 

 Institute a (X%) limit on the total enrollment of Choice pupils for any single year, 
which may be amended every 5 years 

Review of Regional Agreement (new Section XII) 
 Require mandatory review of the District Agreement at five (5) year intervals 
 Regional Agreement Subcommittee shall include one representative from the 

towns, consistent with 603 CMR 41.04, and shall hold at least one public hearing 
in advance of commencing their review 

 Regional Agreement Subcommittee will seek input from the member towns on 
any proposed revisions prior to submitting their proposed to DESE  

Further, we are supportive of the language changes to Section VIII(b) Amendments 
currently proposed by District Counsel.   

We understand that revision of the regional agreement will be an iterative process, 
including review by DESE and consideration by Town Meeting in all four towns. On 
behalf of the Brewster Select Board and Finance Committee, we appreciate your 
consideration of these suggestions.  They are made in the spirit of improving 
communication and coordination between the District and the member towns, and to 
clarify the processes by which certain critical policy issues related to school governance 



and finances are addressed in ways that take all stakeholder input into account going 
forward.   

Sincerely, 

Peter Lombardi 
Town Manager 

cc: Richard Draper, Nauset Regional School Committee (Brewster) 
     Tom Fitzgibbons, Nauset Regional School Committee (Brewster) 
     Cathryn Lonsdale, Nauset Regional School Committee (Brewster) 
     Richard Stewart, Nauset Regional School Committee (Brewster) 
     Brooke Clenchy, Nauset Public Schools Superintendent 
     Eastham Select Board 
     Jacqui Beebe, Eastham Town Administrator 
     Orleans Select Board 
     Kim Newman, Orleans Town Manager 
     Wellfleet Select Board 



January 10, 2024 

Nauset District Agreement 
Amendments proposed by the Brewster Finance Committee 

Prepared by Pete Dahl, Chair 

Intent: The intent of these proposed amendments to the Nauset Regional School Agreement is 
to foster a greater sense of transparency in the deliberations and administration of the school 
system.  Transparency includes greater community input in budgeting, tuition agreements and 
review of the District Agreement every 5 years. Sections that reference current Massachusetts 
General Laws (MGL) should have the both the reference and the entirely of the law 
incorporated into the document for ease of interpretation and transparency. 

1. Budget 
Insert Monomoy Agreement Sections VII and VIII in their entirety. Move Budget Section 
to new Section V (After apportionment of costs - Section IV) (ATTACHMENT 1) 

2. Governance  
A Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson shall be elected from among the Nauset Regional 
School Committee (NRSC) membership.  The Committee will have as standard practice 
that the Chairperson shall annually rotate between the member towns.  By a two-thirds 
(2/3) vote, and with at least one Committee member voting from each town voting in 
the affirmative, the Regional District School Committee may in any one year deviate 
from this standard practice. The Vice-Chairperson in any given year shall be drawn from 
the members who reside in the member towns different from that of the Chairperson. 

3. Requesting amendments to the District Agreement
Keep language proposed by NRSC Attorney Nancy Campany in Red-lined/Clean Version 
Section VIII (b). (ATTACHMENT 2) 
a. 10% of registered voters of any one town 
b. Vote by any member town 

4. Tuition Students 
a. Any contract must include an amount to cover debt, capital costs and/or debt proxy. 
b. The NRSC will establish a committee to negotiate any Tuition Agreement between 

non-member towns and the NRSC.  The Negotiating Committee shall have as a 
member an administrator from one of the member towns. The negotiating 
Committee shall seek public input in the form of public hearings, and meetings with 
the Select Boards and Finance Committees of the member towns. 



January 10, 2024 

5. Review of Regional District Agreement 
a. There will be a mandatory review of the District Agreement at five (5) year intervals. 
b. The NRSC will establish a subcommittee to review the District Agreement. This 

subcommittee will be composed of a School Committee member from each town 
and a member to be chosen by the administration of the member towns. The 
Superintendent of the NRSC shall be a non-voting member.  

c. The subcommittee will seek input from the member towns and circulate to the 
member towns any proposed revisions prior to submitting their report to the NRSC.  

6. School Choice
a. The NRSC will conduct an annual public hearing and vote on School Choice. 
b. There will be a Cap of (X%) placed on the total enrollment of Choice pupils for any 

single year. 



January 10, 2024 

Attachment 1 

Section IV and Section IX 
Reorder  Section IX (Budget) to Section IV, immediately before Apportionments. 
Replace Section IV with the following Section VII. BUDGET  
A. The Committee shall prepare an annual operating and maintenance budget using accounts 
itemized in conformance with the chart of accounts utilized and required by the Massachusetts 
Department of Elementary and Secondary Education or its successor.  
B. The Regional School District's budgetary process, and the timing of and method of 
appropriation of funds in regard thereto, shall be governed by the provisions of G. L. c. 71 
§16(m) and c. 71 §16B and other applicable provisions of G. L. c. 71 and any special laws or 
regulations relating thereto.  
C. The Regional District School Committee shall prepare a budget on a fiscal year basis for the 
District in the following manner:  
1. The Regional District budget process shall be initiated annually on or about October 1 and 
shall provide opportunity for the Selectman and Finance Committee of each member town to 
have input into its preparation. On or about January 15, the Regional District School Committee 
shall complete its proposed budget for the ensuing year. The Regional District School 
Committee shall have a Budget/Finance Subcommittee charged with, among other things, to 
develop a proposed budget. The Budget/Finance Subcommittee shall have four (4) members, 
one from each member town. The Budget/Finance Subcommittee shall vote to approve a 
proposed budget by a majority vote . Said proposed budget is subject to the approval by 
majority vote of the Regional District School Committee. Said proposed budget shall be posted 
in the Town Hall of each member town, shall be provided to each member town's public library, 
and shall be submitted to the Selectmen and Finance Committee members of each member 
town.  
2. Said proposed budget shall contain a notice stating when and where a public hearing will be 
held. The public hearing shall be held in any District school building. The notice of the public 
hearing shall be posted in all member towns and published consistent with G.L. chapter 71, 
section 38N in a newspaper having general circulation in the region. Upon request of the 
Finance Committee and/or the Board of Selectmen of any member town, the Regional District 
School Committee shall arrange to meet with such Finance Committee and/or Board of 
Selectmen for the purpose of discussing the proposed budget. Said proposed budget shall be in 
reasonable detail, itemized at least as follows: central administration, expenses of instruction, 
transportation, operation of school plant, maintenance of school plant, capital outlay, and debt 
and interest charges. All non-recurring expenditures shall be itemized. Enrollment, staffing, 
total expenditures and assessments for the past five (5) years shall be included. The Finance 
Committee or the Board of Selectmen of a member town may request further information.  
3. Consistent with G.L. chapter 71, section 16B the Regional District School Committee shall 
adopt by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of all its members a budget with such changes as may have 
resulted from conferences and/or the public hearing. Within thirty (30) days from the date on 
which the budget is adopted, the Treasurer of the District shall certify to the Treasurer of each 
member town that town's assessed share of such budget.  



January 10, 2024 

4. The budget and assessments shall be so constructed as to show debt service,  transportation, 
operating, and capital costs. It shall also list all sources of revenue used to reduce operating 
costs as described in Section IX.  
5. The process and the requirements for the approval or disapproval of the budget by the 
member towns will be consistent with the terms and conditions of chapter 71, section 16B, as 
well as 603 CMR section 41, et seq, as those terms and conditions may be amended.  
6. The budget will be prepared net of School Choice revenue. School Choice revenue will be 
allocated to reduce each school's portion of the budget. The amount of school choice revenue 
to be allocated to each school's portion of the budget will be calculated as follows:  
a. Using enrollment data reported to DESE on October 1st, the school's percentage share of the 
total number of students attending the district will be calculated for each of the previous three 
years.  
b. The average of these three percentages will be calculated.  
c. The estimate of the total school choice revenue for the budget year will be multiplied by each 
school's three year average to determine the amount of school choice revenue to be allocated 
to that school.  
Section VIII. BUDGETARY DEFINITIONS  
The budget for the operation of the District's Schools, including payments of principal and 
interest on bonds and other evidence of indebtedness issued by the District, shall be 
apportioned to the member towns via the method set out in Section IX and subject to the 
following definitions:  
A. Budget  
As defined by this document, the budget is the amount of money voted by the Regional District 
School Committee to finance the District schools and which will be assessed to the member 
towns.  
B. The budget shall be comprised of various costs, each as herein defined as follows:  
1. "Operating Costs" include all costs not included in capital costs, transportation costs, or debt 
service, as defined below, but operating costs include interest and principal on revenue 
anticipation notes. Operating costs include the net costs of evening, graduate and extension 
courses or any other types of courses, including vocational education programs, which are 
offered by the District to persons other than pupils attending a regular district school program 
in any of the grades K-12, inclusive.  
2. "Capital costs" will include all capital outlay appearing in the 7000 DESE function codes  
and as defined below in Section IX.B.  
3. "Transportation costs" include all costs associated with transporting the District's  
students to and from school.  
4. "Debt service" includes all costs that are used for payment of principal and interest on bonds 
or other obligations issued by the District except revenue anticipation note.  



January 10, 2024 

ATTACHMENT 2 



































































































For Your Information (FYIs) 
January 22, 2024 

1. 2024 Election Calendar 
2. Cape Cod Regional Transit Authority Administrator’s Report 
3. Independence House Inc. FY24 2nd Quarter Statistics  
4. Cape & Vineyard Electric Cooperative, Inc. (CVEC) Annual Report for Fiscal 2023 
5. Health and Human Services Grant Reports 

a. Homeless Prevention Council 
b. Alzheimer’s Family Support Center 
c. Duffy Health Center 
d. Nauset Together We Can 
e. Outer Cape Health Services 
f. South Coastal Counties Legal Services 

6. Town Administration Fee Waiver Approvals 
a. Cape Cod Sea Camps Remediation Project 
b. Department of Public Works Minor Stormwater Permit Application 

7. Boards and Committee Resignation 
a. Susan Riseman – Bicycle and Pedestrian Committee 
b. Peter Johnson- Recycling Commission 

8. Board and Committee Application- Dru Lindgren Recycling Commission 



Rev. 1/9/2024

5 EV Days 1 Wknd
~
~
~
~

~
~
~

~
~
~
~
~
~

5 EV Days 1 Wknd
~
~

*In Person Early Voting Dates ~
Early Voting by Mail Request Deadline ~

10 EV Days 2 Wknds
~
~

*In Person Early Voting Dates ~
Early Voting by Mail Request Deadline ~

~
~

May 21st

STATE PRIMARY

384 Underpass Road

Oct 19th - Nov 1st 
October 29th 

STATE ELECTION
November 5th, 2024

7:00am - 8:00pm

1848 Main Street
Last day to register to vote October 26th
Last day to post State Election Warrant October 29th 

SPECIAL TOWN MEETING
November 18th, 2024 - Select Board may change date.

Last day to submit Prop 2 1/2 question April 23rd
Last day to withdraw nomination papers April 25th 

6:00pm

August 27th
August 24th - August 30th

7:00am - 8:00pm

1848 Main Street
Last day to register to vote or change party August 24th 
Last day to post State Primary Warrant August 27th

Last day to register to vote May 17th 
Last day to post warrant

May 11th, 2024
TBD

Warrant Closes: February 26th
Last day to register to vote: April 1st

Last day to register to vote or change party February 24th 

Last Day to post Primary Warrant February 27th 

ANNUAL/SPECIAL TOWN MEETING

February 24th - March 1st
Early Voting by Mail Request Deadline February 27th 
*In Person Early Voting Dates

2024
PRESIDENTIAL PRIMARY

March 5th, 2024
7:00am - 8:00pm

1848 Main Street

Last day to register to vote
Last day to post warrant

November 8th
October 28th 

384 Underpass Road

Last day to post ATM/STM Warrant: April 20th

ANNUAL TOWN ELECTION
May 28th, 2024
7:00am - 8:00pm

1848 Main Street
Last day to obtain nomination papers April 5th

September 3rd, 2024

Last day to submit nominations papers April 9th



Administrator’s Report 

January 17, 2024 

New Fare Collection System – “Go Card” 

We are in the process of replacing the CCRTA’s current Scheidt and Bachmann fare collection system, which 

has become outdated with more frequent and costly operation malfunctions. With the elimination of the 

Scheidt and Bachmann system, the Cape Cod RTA has created a new, more convenient and user-friendly 

process, which will employ the use of a CCRTA developed smart card, referred to as the “Go Card”. The Go 

Card will be replacing our current Charlie Card and will have an internal electronic chip easily programmable 

to offer all of the types of transit passes we currently offer and the option to add other benefits. Customers will 

also have the ability to add funds to their own cards through the Go Card App. This new system will allow the 

Cape Cod RTA more control over customer satisfaction and reporting. This system will be implemented 

beginning with the schedule change on January 20th and act redundantly with the current system as we launch 

a vast marketing campaign to ensure Cape Cod residents will have the information to make the switch. 

Older Adults and Persons with a Disability Fixed Route Free Fare Program 

Over the years, I have placed great emphasis on delivering the best possible transit services to the residents 

and visitors on Cape Cod.  Within that transit service delivery model, I have also recognized the unique 

transportation needs of older adults and persons with a disability and have adapted the CCRTA’s transit 

service delivery system to better serve these populations.  In furtherance of that prioritized focus, I am pleased 

to announce that the CCRTA was recently informed by MassDOT that it was awarded $506,758 in grant 

funding for the development of an “Older Adults and Persons with a Disability Fixed Route Free Fare 

Program”.  MassDOT funding is provided through the fiscal year 2024 budget line item created as part of the 

“Fair Share” revenue distribution program.   

The “Older Adults and Persons with a Disability Fixed Route Free Fare Program” is designed to be simple and 

safe to use.  Initially, older adults and persons with a disability will be able to participate in the fixed route free 

fare program using their Charlie Card picture I.D., previously issued through the CCRTA’s certification 

process.  Over time, the Charlie Card will be replaced by the CCRTA developed “Go Card” for use on the 

CCRTA’s fixed route system to travel for free.  For existing CCRTA older adults and persons with a disability, 

the transition from the Charlie Card to the Go Card will be seamless based on the reuse of information and 

pictures from the CCRTA’s certification database to issue and distribute Go Cards.  In support of the 

additional issuance of requested Go Cards for older adults and persons with a disability, the CCRTA will work 

closely with the 15-Cape Cod Councils on Aging (COAs) and agencies that support persons with a disability to 

arrange registration sessions at Town offices (or other acceptable locations), which will be scheduled at 

multiple intervals over the course of the calendar year.  As always, there will also be an option to complete this 

registration process at the CCRTA’s Hyannis Transportation Center.  Planned implementation of this program 

will take place over the upcoming months and periodic progress updates will be provided to the Advisory 

Board Members and posted on the CCRTA’s website. 

Transit Enhancements Under Review 

As the CCRTA continually reviews and evaluates the efficiency and effectiveness of its transit operations, a 

common theme that routinely surfaces is the need for extended hours of transit service and additional transit 



service on weekends.  While in the past, budget funding and driver shortages have been an impediment in 

moving forward on this important transit front, we are now in a position to reconsider substantial 

improvements to these gaps in transit services.  In support of that goal, I have initiated a formal planning 

process with our Operations and Senior Staff teams to identify concrete recommendations and implementation 

schedule to address these transit gaps in service hours and weekends.  Funding to support this initiative will 

be mostly provided through the additional State Contract Assistance and Fair Share funding included in the 

fiscal year 2024 budget.  I will provide periodic updates to the Advisory Board Members regarding our 

progress on this much needed and highly beneficial transit enhancement effort. 

Secretary of Transportation Visits HTC   

In November, the Massachusetts Secretary of Transportation, Monica Tibbits-Nutt, visited the Hyannis 

Transportation Center to meet with me and CCRTA staff and learn about our organization. I highlighted a few 

of our most recent priorities, such as zero emission vehicles, and the Bourne Rail Trail (BRT).  The Secretary 

mentioned that she met with the Lieutenant Governor the day before regarding the BRT, and both were 

enthusiastic about the possibility of completing this rail-to-trail project with CCRTA’s federal funding, as bike 

and ped paths are an important and well stated priority of Governor Healey’s Administration.  In addition, the 

Secretary was well aware that the CCRTA eliminated $6.4 million in Revenue Anticipation Notes outstanding 

borrowings and was highly complementary, noting the CCRTA was the only transit authority that achieved 

that outcome. The visit was a great success.  

Cape Cod Climate Change Collaborative 

We continue to participate on the Advisory Council of the Cape Cod Climate Change Collaborative (5Cs). The 

5Cs has recently grown, bringing on a full-time Executive Director, Miranda Daniloff-Mancusi. Shortly after 

starting, Miranda visited HTC to introduce herself and to learn about CCRTA and our climate-friendly 

initiatives. I shared a background on our solar panel projects, the wind turbine at Operations, and of course, a 

summary of our ZEV efforts thus far. She was impressed with all efforts and thanked CCRTA for our 

continued engagement with the 5Cs.    

CCRTA Director of Research & Reporting, Steph Spadoni, who also sits on the 5Cs Advisory Council with me, 

was recently invited to join the organization’s Nominating Committee. This Committee meets several times 

per year to make recommendations to the Board’s Executive Committee for new members to the Board and 

Advisory Council as individual terms end.  

Zero Emission Vehicle (ZEV) Transition Plan and Regional Support Study: 

CCRTA’s journey to a zero-emission future is making significant progress. Our ZEV Transition Plan and 

Support Study has now ended. After a year of working closely with the consulting firm, Hatch Associates 

Consultants, CCRTA now has a transition plan for how to migrate to electric vehicles. Through analysis and 

route simulations and backed with knowledge from the latest in the EV industry, Hatch has produced several 

additional deliverables since my last Board Report as well as the full Transition Plan. Hatch also visited 

Hyannis Transportation Center in November to deliver a Final Presentation. CCRTA invited regional partners 

from around Cape Cod to the presentation. Hatch gave a summary of the study, and the Transition Plan itself. 

The event concluded with an engaging Q&A-style group discussion on what this means for Cape Cod. (More 

details about study deliverables and the Final Presentation can be found in the Director of Research & Reporting’s 

Report.) 

In further support of the ZEV transition plan, the CCRTA will be issuing a Request for Qualifications (RFQ) to 

procure the services of an engineering firm to provide a comprehensive evaluation of the existing Operations 

facility and property. The evaluation will include cost estimates for proposed capital procurements such as 



canopies over the vehicles and fueling area, standby generator for energy resiliency, and purchasing an 

adjacent parcel of land. This analysis will also provide recommendations on whether CCRTA should proceed 

with these projects at the existing site or if a new site and maintenance facility should be considered. 

COA Drug and Alcohol Policy 

CCRTA will attend the Annual COAST meeting on February 28. 2024. The question of COA requirements 

regarding drug and alcohol testing of employees was posed to the CCRTA earlier in the fiscal year.  In order to 

fully respond to this question, the CCRTA engaged in a comprehensive review of all State and Federal drug 

and alcohol testing requirements pertaining to COAs.  Overall, the conclusions of our review have determined 

that the past COA drug and alcohol testing requirements can be significantly streamlined and will offer COAs 

broad freedom to determine conditions under which employee drug and alcohol testing is necessary.  We have 

shared our preliminary findings with Judi Wilson and Brenda Vazquez for their review and Brenda has kindly 

set aside time at the annual COAST meeting on February 28th for the CCRTA’s presentation.  At that 

presentation, a topic of discussion will include a draft COA Drug and Alcohol Policy developed by the CCRTA 

(attached) that a COA has the option to adopt or modify for their own purposes or to continue with their 

present policy.  This draft policy is only meant as a guide to adhere to MassDOT’s requirements for COAs, as 

recipients of Section 5310 resources (i.e. MAP vehicles), to have a Drug and Alcohol policy in place and is not 

intended to replace a COA’s existing Drug and Alcohol policy and procedures.  As in the past, the CCRTA will 

continue to pay (or reimburse) for the cost of COA drug and alcohol testing of their employees and volunteer 

workers. I look forward to our presentation at the COAST meeting in February and responding to any 

questions that may come up.  













 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Annual Report for Fiscal 2023 
with Audited Financial Statements 

CVEC| Cape & Vineyard Electric Cooperative, Inc. 



 

 

2 | P a g e  
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

From CVEC _________________________________________________________________ 3 
CVEC | Cape & Vineyard Electric Cooperative, Inc. __________________________________ 4 
Members ___________________________________________________________________ 4 

CVEC Participants in Projects (non-members) ___________________________________________________4 

CVEC's PROJECTS __________________________________________________________ 5 

CVEC’s Form of Contracts __________________________________________________________________7 
Implications of the Inflations Reduction Act Renewable Energy Incentives _____________________________8 
ISO-NE Forward Capacity Markets ____________________________________________________________8 
Relationship Building- NREL, CESA, MA CEC, & Eversource _______________________________________9 

CVEC’s Projects by Type _____________________________________________________ 10 

Behind-the-Meter ________________________________________________________________________ 10 
Front-of the Meter Cash-out Projects without Offtakers __________________________________________ 10 
Front-of-the Meter Cash-out Projects with Offtakers _____________________________________________ 10 
Front-of the Meter Net Metering Credits with and without Offtakers _________________________________ 11 
Offtaker Rounds I and II Production Pool _____________________________________________________ 11 
Lease Only ____________________________________________________________________________ 13 
Third-party Power Purchase Agreements _____________________________________________________ 13 
Service Agreements _____________________________________________________________________ 14 
CVEC’s Administrative Adder ______________________________________________________________ 14 
Rounds 4 and 5 _________________________________________________________________________ 15 

Distribution Studies for Round 4 and 5 Projects _______________________________________________ 15 

Financial Statements _________________________________________________________ 16 
FY 23 Project Reports- Summary _______________________________________________ 18 
CVEC Information ___________________________________________________________ 19 

 



 

 

3 | P a g e  
 

FROM CVEC 
Dear Members, Participants, and friends of CVEC: 

 

At the end of FY 23, CVEC added 2 projects to its portfolio of member and 

participant projects for a total of 48 operational solar photovoltaic projects.  

We continue to monitor 3 projects under construction and another 11 

projects from prior rounds which are pending utility substation and other 

infrastructure upgrades.  At the end of FY 23, CVEC operational projects 

produced approximately 41.5 MW.  CVEC’s entire portfolio of solar projects, 

including Round 6 which will be awarded in FY 24, will produce 55.65 MW. 

 

CVEC is the procurement resource and project management administrator 

for 25 municipal members and currently 10 other governmental entities.  Its 

procurement program complies with MGL c. 164, s. 137 which provides a 

structured and streamlined procurement process for CVEC’s members. CVEC 

works with several national and local developers who own CVEC’s renewable 

projects located on participant properties.   These projects consist of roof 

mounts, ground mounts and carport canopies.  Newer projects generally 

include battery energy storage systems.   

 

This year, CVEC joined forces with the Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale 

Electric Company (MMWEC) for its Round 6 Procurement.  MMWEC plans, 

develops and manages energy resources for many MA municipal light plants.  

MMWEC’s hands-on experience offers CVEC’s members analytic and project 

support.  We look forward to working with MMWEC to  accelerate projects 

and planning.  

 

With substantial funding from the MA Department of Energy Resources, 

CVEC’s 250 KW battery energy storage system is now on its pad at the 

regional emergency shelter in Yarmouth, MA awaiting to be energized. 

Despite this project’s having its share of post-pandemic supply chain 

constraints and aging building connection issues, CVEC remains committed 

to the project.   

 

As CVEC’s assets mature and federal tax incentives come into play, CVEC will 

be taking a hard look at its strategic plan.  We are hopeful that the region will 

soon see utility infrastructure progress that will bring electric reliability and, in 

turn, the ability for CVEC to build and upgrade renewable energy systems.   

 

/Maria Marasco, Esquire; Executive Director   

Established in 2007, CVEC is 
an energy cooperative and is 

deemed a Massachusetts 

government entity.  It 
develops and manages 74 

solar PV projects (operating or 
pending construction) located 

on property owned by a 
members and participants.  

CVEC also purchases energy 
from third-party solar and 
wind projects and will soon 

operate a 250 KW battery 
energy storage system. 

 
GOALS AND OBJECTIVES 
Developing and/or owning 

renewable electric generation 

facilities and procuring and/or 
selling long-term electric 

supply or other energy-related 
goods or services including 

renewable energy certificate 

contracts at competitive prices 
to members. 

 

 

C V E C 

23 H2 White’s Path, Suite 2 

South Yarmouth, MA 02664 

Tel 508.619.7691 

www.cvecinc.org 

  

C V E C |Electric Cooperative 

http://www.cvecinc.org/


 

 

4 | P a g e  
 

CVEC | CAPE & VINEYARD ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC. 
 

MEMBERS   Member Representative, CVEC  Board of Directors as of 6.30.23 

 

County of Barnstable  Mark Forest (Executive Committee) 

Cape Light Compact  Mariel Marchand (Executive Committee) 

Aquinnah   William Lake (President, Executive Committee) 

Barnstable   Charles McLaughlin, Esq. (Executive & Finance Committees) 

Bourne    Janice Marks 

Brewster   Charles Hanson (Clerk, Executive & Finance Committees) 

Chatham   Robert Wirtshafter (Treasurer, Executive & Finance Committees) 

Chilmark   Stephen Lewenberg  

Dennis    Thomas O’Connor 

Dukes County   Tain Leonard-Peck (Vice President) 

Eastham   Vacant    

Edgartown   Alan Strahler  

Falmouth   Rosemary Dreger-Carey 

Harwich    Glenn Miemic 

Marion    Alanna Nelson (Executive Committee) 

Mashpee   Wayne Taylor  

Nantucket   Lauren Sinatra 

Oak Bluffs   Dion Alley     

Orleans    Ron Collins 

Provincetown   Lydia Hamquist 

Sandwich   Laura Gregario 

Tisbury    Jay Grande 

Truro    Mark Farber 

West Tisbury   John Christenson 

Yarmouth   Joe Baker 

CVEC Participants in Projects (non-members)  
Barnstable Fire District, Cape Cod Gateway Airport, Cotuit-Osterville-Marston Mills Fire District, Dennis-Yarmouth 

Regional School District, Harwich Water District, Martha’s Vineyard Airport, Monomoy School District, Nauset 

Regional School District, Sandwich Water District, Upper Cape Regional Water District. 

 

 



 

 

5 | P a g e  
 

CVEC'S PROJECTS Round Type of Project 

COD or Status as 

of 6.30.23 

Barnstable High School C-7 
BTM 

(Behind the meter) 8.23.10 
Bourne Middle School C-7 BTM 4.30.10 
Brewster Eddy Elementary C-7 BTM 7.16.10 
Brewster Stoney Brook Elementary C-7 BTM 7.16.10 
Eastham DPW C-7 BTM 2.25.10 
Eastham Elementary C-7 BTM 2.27.10 
Harwich Elementary C-7 BTM 7.22.10 

Barnstable Landfill   1 & 2 1 Cash-out No OTs (offtakers) 9.15.14 

Brewster Capped Landfill 1 Cash-out No OTs 9.15.14 

Chatham Capped Landfill 1 Cash- out No OTs 9.29.14 

Eastham Landfill 1 NMC w OTs 4.23.14 

Edgartown Katama Farms Landfill 1 Cash out No OTs 6.6.14 

Edgartown Nunnepog Well 1 Cash-out w OTs 6.6.14 

Harwich Capped Landfill 1 Cash-out w OTs 8.1.14 

Tisbury Capped Landfill 1 Cash-out w OTs 7.29.14 

Barnstable Cape Cod Gateway Airport 2 Cash-out w OTs 4.3.15 

Barnstable Fire District 2 NMC w OTs 4.21.15 

Barnstable High School 2 BTM 10.8.14 

Barnstable Senior Center 2 BTM 12.2.14 

Bourne Community Center 2 BTM 8.30.14 

Chatham Police Station 2 BTM 8.30.14 

Chatham Town Hall Annex 2 BTM 8.30.14 

DYRSD  High Roof Mount 2 NMC w OTs 3.16.15 

DYRSD Ezra Baker School 2 BTM 8.30.14 

DYRSD High School Ground Mount 2 NMC w OTs 4.14.15 

DYRSD Mattacheese School 2 BTM 12.16.14 

DYRSD ME Small School 2 NMC w OTs 2.27.15 

DYRSD Wixon School 2 BTM/ NMC w OTs  12.8.14 

Orleans Capped Landfill 2 NMC no OTs 5.15.15 

Provincetown Transfer Station 2 BTM 12.15.14 

West Tisbury Landfill 2 NMC w OTs 1.5.15 

West Villages School 2 BTM 10.8.14 

Chatham Fire Station 3 BTM 1.1.20 

Eastham Library 3 BTM 1.1.20 

Oak Bluffs Fire Station 3 BTM 1.1.20 

Provincetown VMCC 3 BTM 7.1.20 

Provincetown WTP 3 BTM 1.1.20 

Yarmouth Fire Station #1 3 BTM 1.1.20 

Yarmouth Fire Station #3 3 BTM 1.1.20 



 

 

6 | P a g e  
 

 
Round Type of Project 

COD or Status as 

of  6.30.23 

Brewster Golf Course Park Lot 4 LO (lease only) 3.22.22 

Harwich Cranberry Valley Golf Cart Barn 4 BTM 7.21.21 

Monomoy RSD Harwich High School  4 BTM 3.12.21 

Oak Bluffs Elementary School  4 BTM 6.14.22 

Sandwich Forestdale School  4 BTM Distribution Study 

Sandwich High School 4 BTM Distribution Study 

Sandwich Hollows Golf Course Cart 4 BTM Distribution Study 

Sandwich Oakridge School 4 BTM Distribution Study 

Sandwich Police Station  4 BTM 1.11.21 

Yarmouth Parcel E 4 BTM Distribution Study 

Chatham Police Station Canopy 5 TBD Under construction 

Chatham Recreation Center 5 BTM Under construction 

Marion Capped Landfill 5 TBD Pending Construction 

Mashpee Coombs School Canopy 5 BTM Distribution Study 

Mashpee Coombs School Roof 5 BTM Distribution Study 

Mashpee High School Canopy 5 BTM Distribution Study 

Mashpee Quashnet School Canopy 5 BTM Distribution Study 

Mashpee Quashnet School Roof 5 BTM Distribution Study 

Nauset RSD Harwich Middle School 5 BTM Distribution Study 

Sandwich Hollows Golf Course Cart Barn 5 TBD Distribution Study 

Yarmouth Senior Center 5 BTM Under construction 

Future Generation Wind 3rd party Cash out w OTs 8.15.16 

Nexamp 3rd party Cash out w OTs 11.21.17 

Syncharpha 3rd party Cash out w OTs 11.14.16 

CVEC 

DOER 

Grant 

Battery Energy Storage 

System Under construction 

 
 
 
 
  



 

 

7 | P a g e  
 

CVEC’s Form of Contracts 
Two main Project Agreements govern the legal obligations, rights and responsibilities of the Developer, 

CVEC, and Participant for each PV System, as follows: 

 

Inter-Governmental Power Purchase and Project Development Agreement between CVEC and 

Participant (“IGA").  The Participant and CVEC will enter into an inter-governmental agreement for 

CVEC to resell the net energy (associated with net metering or SMART Program alternative on-bill 

credits) to the Participant for a period of 20 years, with the option to extend for up to five (5) years. The 

Agreement includes a grant of certain property rights with an option to extend for up to five (5) years. 

  

Solar Power Purchase and Development Agreement (“PPA”) between CVEC and Developer: The 

Developer and CVEC will enter into a long-term PPA with an initial term of twenty (20) years from 

commercial operation of the PV System. The PPA will govern CVEC’s purchase of the net energy from a 

PV System. The PPA will contain the Developer’s PV System permitting, construction and commissioning 

benchmarks, require routine reporting on design, permitting, and financing for the PV System and will 

provide for delay liquidated damages in the event that Developer does not construct and/or 

commission the PV System by a date certain.  

 

The PPA includes an assignment of property rights to the Developer (i.e., a long-term sub-lease from 

CVEC to the Developer)  an initial term of twenty (20) years from commercial operation of the PV 

System. The PPA will establish the Developer’s right to access and use the Participant’s property for the 

design, installation, and operation of the PV System. In addition, the PPA will require the Developer to 

provide development security and a payment and performance bond in advance of construction of 

the PV System and to provide decommissioning assurance in the event that the Developer fails to 

properly remove the PV System from the Participant’s property upon expiration of the PPA . The 

Participant’s reserved use of its premises and any special conditions applicable to Developer’s 

development and use of the premises (if any) will be set forth in a special exhibit to the IGA.  An exhibit 

to the PPA will contain limited contract exceptions and supplemental terms that are developed or 

identified during the RFP phase or the contract negotiations process and approved by CVEC. CVEC 

continues to engage with the Participants regarding preparation of the PPA exhibits and may issue an 

addendum to this RFP if it is able to provide information to Respondents that may be useful in 

preparation of its Proposal. 

 



 

 

8 | P a g e  
 

Implications of the Inflation Reduction Act Renewable Energy Incentives 
Generally, the Inflation Reduction Act increases the number and amount of incentives for renewable energy 

projects.  The new direct pay and transfer options allow governmental organizations, such as CVEC and its 

members,  to utilize clean energy tax credits for equipment placed in service on or after January 1, 2023 through 

December 31, 2032 .  The direct pay option, in lieu of a traditional tax credit, allows certain non-taxable entities to 

directly monetize certain tax credits including many renewable energy credits where it was not able to before. The 

base incentive is a tax credit of 30% of eligible costs. This leaves the door open for CVEC and or its members to 

consider owning renewable energy systems.  In FY 23, CVEC started its financial analysis, risk assessment, and 

operational capacity to build and operate its own systems.  These systems include those already operational and 

new projects.   

 

For more information, refer to:  https://www.epa.gov/green-power-markets/summary-inflation-reduction-act-

provisions-related-renewable-energy 

 

ISO-NE Forward Capacity Markets 
CVEC contracts with two Forward Capacity Market (FCM) vendors who enroll CVEC’s projects into ISO-NE and 

related programs for additional income. 

 

CPower is a demand-side energy management company that operates under a contract with the Massachusetts 

Department of Capital Management.  As a government entity, CVEC utilizes this contract.  CPower provides 

capacity monetization of CVEC’s Behind-the-Meter solar PV arrays into the ISO-NE Forward Capacity Market.  In 

Fiscal 23, CVEC had 13 sites with 833 kW capacity enrolled.  Systems must be enrolled within the first three years of 

each system’s commercial operation date.  Revenues to CVEC will continue over the 20-year life of the solar PV 

systems. 

   

In deregulated electricity markets, two main products are electricity and capacity.  Capacity can be viewed as a 

call option on electricity where a peaking resource is paid to be on standby in the event that it is needed. In a grid 

with peaky load characteristics, capacity markets are crucial to keeping the lights on during spikes in demand.  The 

Forward Capacity Market (FCM) ensures that the New England power system will have sufficient resources to meet 

the future demand for electricity.  Forward Capacity Auctions (FCAs) are held annually, three years in advance of 

the operating period.  Resources compete in the auctions to obtain a commitment to supply capacity in exchange 

for a market-priced capacity payment.  These payments help to support the development of new resources as well 

as to retain existing resources. (Source:  ISO-NE) 

 

CVEC also works with CLEAResult, a provider of energy efficiency and demand response solutions. CLEAResult 

represents 14 of CVEC’s Front-of-the Meter solar projects, totaling roughly 9 MW of capacity, in the ISO-NE FCM. 

CVEC receives an annual payment for 14 projects. 

 

https://www.epa.gov/green-power-markets/summary-inflation-reduction-act-provisions-related-renewable-energy
https://www.epa.gov/green-power-markets/summary-inflation-reduction-act-provisions-related-renewable-energy


 

 

9 | P a g e  
 

Relationship Building- NREL, CESA, MA CEC, & Eversource 
CVEC invites prominent energy leaders from government, 

research, utilities and the commercial industry to meet  virtually 

with board members and exchange  information. This past 

fiscal year, CVEC was pleased to have presentations from 

Matthew Keyser, Electrochemical Energy Storage Group 

Manager from the National Renewable Energy Laboratories, 

Paul Makris and Ed Bludnicki from Ameresco, and Todd Olinsky-

Paul, Senior Project Manager from the Clean Energy Group/ 

Clean Energy States Alliance attend CVEC board meetings. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

10 | P a g e  
 

CVEC’S PROJECTS BY TYPE 

Behind-the-Meter 
The majority of CVEC’s projects are Behind-the-Meter 

(“BTM”) projects in which CVEC buys the energy from a 

developer and resells it to the host.  The developer builds 

and owns the project located on the host’s property.  

The developer calculates the monthly energy production 

and invoices CVEC for the energy at a fixed price 

determined through an initial RFP process.  CVEC then 

invoices the Host for the monthly cost of energy plus an 

administrative adder per kWh for  project management.  

CVEC does not, however, charge an administrative 

adder for  CVEC-7 BTM Projects.    

 

Front-of the Meter Cash-out Projects 

without Offtakers 
CVEC’s projects at the Barnstable Landfills (1 & 2), Edgartown 

Katama Farms Landfill, Brewster Landfill, and Chatham Landfill 

are cash-out projects without offtakers, meaning the host 

receives 100% of the net cash value of the project production each month. The net cash value is calculated as the 

net metering credit value, which is calculated by Eversource each month, less the developer’s fixed PPA cost and 

less CVEC’s administrative fee where applicable.  CVEC ceased charging an administrative fee for all Round 1 

projects in FY 21.  

 

Front-of-the Meter Cash-out Projects with Offtakers 
The Edgartown Nunnepog Landfill, Harwich Capped Landfill, Tisbury Capped Landfill, and Cape Cod Gateway 

Airport are cash-out projects with a host and multiple offtakers.  Eversource notifies CVEC of the solar PV monthly 

production via a Special Ledger and a month or two later sends CVEC, as project administrator, the cash value of 

the net metering credits via wire transfer.  CVEC then allocates the net cash value to the Host and the offtakers in 

their proportionate shares.  The net cash value is the participant’s share of:  net metering credits less the developer 

fixed PPA cost less CVEC’s administrative fee.  CVEC is responsible for preparing monthly accounting allocations 

and reports and distributing the net proceeds in a timely fashion. 

 

The initial net cash value for each offtaker is reduced  by the “Revenue Share” which each offtaker pays to the 

Host for locating the project on its property.  The Participant Revenue Share calculation is:    50% x Total System Net 

Monthly Benefit x the Participant’s proportionate share  of net metering credits.   

Yarmouth Fire Station 3 

OFFTAKER-  

A RECIPIENT OF A PERCENTAGE SHARE OF 

NET METERING CREDITS FROM A PROJECT 

HOSTED BY ANOTHER CVEC MEMBER, 

PARTICIPANT, OR THIRD-PARTY 



 

 

11 | P a g e  
 

 

Front-of the Meter Net Metering Credits with and without Offtakers 
CVEC also has projects in which the host and any offtakers 

receive net metering credits, and not the cash value of 

those credits, from a project.  The net metering credits are 

used to offset the cost of energy and appear on the Host’s 

and offtaker’s utility bills.  CVEC is responsible to ensure that 

the credits are distributed not only in the correct percentage 

but to particular electric accounts through the administration 

of Eversource Schedule Z’s.  These projects include the 

Eastham Landfill, Barnstable Fire District, Dennis-Yarmouth 

Regional School District (DYRSD) High School Ground and 

Roof Mounts, DYRSD Marguerite Small Elementary School 

Roof Mount and Wixon School Roof Mount, Orleans Capped 

Landfill, and the West Tisbury Landfill.  These projects, with the 

exception of Orleans which has no offtakers,  have as many as nine offtakers for which CVEC calculates each 

share.  The same revenue-sharing method as noted above is applied to these projects.  

 

Offtaker Rounds I and II Production Pool 
In 2014, CVEC established a Production Pool from Round 1 and Round II Projects.  Round I Projects included large-

scale (6 - 4.4. MW) projects at the Harwich Landfill, Eastham Landfill, Edgartown Nunnepog Well, and Tisbury Landfill. 

Round II Projects included large-scale (.5 – 6.6 MW0 projects at the Barnstable Airport, Barnstable Fire District, 

Dennis-Yarmouth High School, and at the West Tisbury Landfill.  The energy in the Production Pool is the net energy 

generated from the projects that the Hosts did not reserve.  

 

The allocation of net metering credits is determined from Inter-governmental Net Metering Power Sales Agreements 

through which the offtakers, receive the value of the net metering credits either in the form of cash or credits. 

 

 

 

Allocations by System and Offtaker  

   

System Offtaker Percentage 

Eastham  Landfill- R1 Net Metering Credits Barnstable County 3.96% 

 Brewster 2.42% 

 Chatham 1.05% 

 Chilmark 0.24% 

 Dukes County 0.40% 

 Eastham 77.07% 

Orleans Capped Landfill Solar PV 



 

 

12 | P a g e  
 

 Monomoy Schools 4.83% 

 Oak Bluffs 1.21% 

 Provincetown 2.15% 

 Yarmouth 6.67% 

 Total 100.00% 

   
Nunnepog Well- R1 Cash value of Net Metering Credits Barnstable County 9.40% 

 Brewster 5.80% 

 Chatham 2.50% 

 Chilmark 0.60% 

 Dukes County 1.00% 

 Edgartown 45.20% 

 Monomoy Schools 11.50% 

 Oak Bluffs 2.90% 

 Provincetown 7.50% 

 Yarmouth 13.70% 

 Total 100.00% 

   
Harwich Landfill R1- Cash value of Net Metering Credits Barnstable County 8.40% 

 Brewster 5.20% 

 Chatham 2.20% 

 Chilmark 0.40% 

 Dukes County 0.70% 

 Harwich 61.80% 

 Oak Bluffs 2.60% 

 Provincetown 6.70% 

 Yarmouth 12.20% 

 Total 100.00% 

   
Tisbury Landfill R1- Cash value of Net Metering Credits Barnstable County 2.10% 

 Brewster 1.30% 

 Chatham 0.60% 

 Chilmark 0.10% 

 Dukes County 0.20% 

 Monomoy Schools 2.60% 

 Oak Bluffs 0.60% 

 Provincetown 1.70% 

 Tisbury 87.80% 

 Yarmouth 3.10% 

 Total 100.00% 

   
Cape Cod Gateway Airport R2- Cash value of Net Metering 
Credits  Airport 19.20% 

 Barnstable 80.80% 

 Total 100.00% 



 

 

13 | P a g e  
 

   

Barnstable Fire District R2-Net Metering Credits Barnstable County 11.31% 

 Barnstable Fire District 35.79% 

 Brewster 6.53% 

 Chatham 2.73% 

 Chilmark 0.63% 

 Dukes County 1.08% 

 Monomoy Schools 14.23% 

 Oak Bluffs 3.16% 

 Provincetown 8.62% 

 Yarmouth 15.92% 

 Total 100.0% 

   
DYHS Ground Mount R2- Net Metering Credits DYRSD 0.00% 

 Yarmouth 100.00% 

 Total 100.00% 
 

Lease Only 
Certain projects have a lease agreement between a Host and the 

developer instead of a PPA between CVEC and the developer.  The Host 

receives a monthly lease payment over the life of the solar PV system.  

CVEC provides project oversight through an  Intergovernmental Agreement 

in which there is an annual fee in place of an adder.  This lease-only 

agreement falls outside of CVEC’s regular procurement model.  

 

Third-party Power Purchase Agreements 
With the goal of managing a diversified portfolio of distributed renewable energy projects, CVEC purchases energy 

from third-party operators of solar PV and wind projects.  CVEC purchases net metering credits and in turn resells 

them to certain CVEC members and participants as offtakers.  These offtakers receive the cash value of the net 

metering credits less the developer’s cost and less CVEC’s operational adder per kWh of production each month.  

Future Generation Wind. Agreement effective November 20, 2014, for participation in (up to four) wind 
energy generation facilities, with an aggregate generating capacity of 8 MW located in Buzzards Bay, MA. 
 
Syncarpha Capital, Marie’s Way Solar I, LLC. Agreement effective November 9, 2016, for participation in solar 
PV power electrical generation facility with an estimate generation capacity of 6,850,000 KWh per year 
located in Orleans, MA. 
 
Nexamp, Dartmouth Farms Solar, LLC.  Agreement effective January 15, 2015 and amended June 22, 2016 
for participation in three(3)  2,250 kW (AC)(total)  solar PV arrays located in Dartmouth, MA. 

Brewster Captains Golf Course 

 



 

 

14 | P a g e  
 

Service Agreements 
A number of CVEC’s member towns have service agreements with CVEC.  The services are either outside the scope 

of CVEC’s Administrative or Operational Adder or involve a solar PV project that the member installed on its own.  

CVEC maintained service agreement relationships in FY 23 with the following members: 

• Dennis  --  CVEC manages the distribution of the Town’s net metering credits from their capped landfill PV 

system which is not a CVEC-procured project.  

• Sandwich  –  CVEC supports the Town with administrative and transactional services relative to a  

4-megawatt PV system which is not a CVEC-procured project. 

• Yarmouth --  CVEC provides the Town with services outside for over 100 electric utility accounts, including 

electric invoice payment through the town’s MUNIS platform, review and analysis of electric charges, and 

certain Schedule Z support. 

 

CVEC invites all members and participants to discuss using CVEC’s management 

services to support existing municipal efforts. 

CVEC’s Administrative Adder 
CVEC derives its primary source of revenue by charging project participants an administrative fee or “adder” on 

the energy generated from projects in Rounds 2 through 6.  CVEC does not charge the participants an adder for 

CVEC’s original CVEC-7 and Round 1 projects (effective FY 22) which include many landfill projects.  The larger one-

plus MW projects at various landfills from Round 2 cover the bulk of CVEC’s administrative costs.   

 

 
 

 



 

 

15 | P a g e  
 

Rounds 4 and 5 
Developer Distributed Solar Development energized the carport canopy solar PV and battery energy storage 

project at the Nauset Regional Middle School on April 7, 2023 for the Nauset Regional School District.  It is an 

expansive 588.24 kW DC PV system with a 1,073 kWh Tesla battery.  By the end of the fiscal year, the net benefit to 

the school was $364,919, not including additional cash payments for battery participation on the 

ConnectedSolutions program.  Production equaled approximately 378.6 metric tons of carbon dioxide equivalent. 

 

CVEC issued an RFP for 21 Round 4 solar PV projects in 2018.  

CVEC acted as the procuring authority under MGL c. 164, s. 

137.  By the end of 2019, CVEC had completed Round 4 

contract negotiations with the developers. In December 2019, 

CVEC advertised a new Round 5 for 22 projects, of which 13 

include batteries.  Four Round 4 projects began operations in 

FY 21. In FY 21, CVEC cancelled a number of projects at the 

request of certain members.   

 

In FY 22, CVEC realized its first battery energy storage system-- a 

231.77 kilowatt (kW) solar PV system with a Tesla 58 kW/232 kWh energy storage system unit located at the Oak 

Bluffs Elementary School.  Annually, the solar array of 600 photovoltaic panels generates over 265,000 kilowatt-hours 

(kWh) of clean energy, offsetting more than 414,000 pounds of carbon dioxide. Over the next twenty years, that will 

be the equivalent of taking about 810 gas-powered cars off the road or preserving 4,440 acres of forest. (Source: US 

EPA Greenhouse Gas Calculator).   

 

Construction of the Chatham Recreation Center, Chatham Police Station, and the Yarmouth Senior Center started 

in FY 23.  CVEC, at the request of the Town of Aquinnah, cancelled two Round 5 projects. 

 

Distribution Studies for Round 4 and 5 Projects 
In FY 23, the MA Department of Public Utilities approved 

Eversource’s Marion-Fairhaven capital investment project 

proposal affecting CVEC’s Marion landfill solar PV and BESS 

project.  Construction of the Marion project will progress in 

coordination with infrastructure improvements.  At the end of FY 

23, the Cape & Islands Study was still pending DPU approval 

under the DPU’s Provisional System Planning Program.  CVEC 

submitted public comments to the DPU as part of the rate 

determination process expressing concern for delays and 

increased costs.  Eleven CVEC projects are pending under the Cape & Islands proposal.   

 

Members can review the matter at:    https://eeaonline.eea.state.ma.us/DPU/Fileroom/dockets/bynumber  

(enter “22-55”). 

Nauset Middle School Solar PV with BESS  

https://eeaonline.eea.state.ma.us/DPU/Fileroom/dockets/bynumber


 

 

16 | P a g e  
 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
. 

 



 

 

17 | P a g e  
 

 

 

  

For the full report, please go to https://cvecinc.org/wp-

content/uploads/2024/01/CVECI_6.30.23.- Financial-Statements.pdf 

 
 

https://cvecinc.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/01/CVECI_6.30.23.-%20Financial-Statements.pdf
https://cvecinc.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/01/CVECI_6.30.23.-%20Financial-Statements.pdf


  

18 | P
a

g
e

  

FY 23 PRO
JEC

T REPO
RTS- SUM

M
A

RY 
      

      

   

CVEC | Cape & Vineyard Electric Cooperative, Inc, Annual Systems Report Dated 9.30.23

NET BENEFITS BY SYSTEM

 kWh / 
Service 
Period 

Average 
NMC/kWh 

value
Total NMC 

Value PPA Rate PPA Cost
Last CVEC 

Admin Rate Admin Costs

Additional 
Project 

Costs, if any

System Net 
Revenue 

(Cost) 

Revenue 
Share to 

Host, if any

Net Benefit to 
Host for FTM 

Projects

Net Benefit 
for  BTM 
Projects

System Cost IF 
no solar (Est 
$.19/kWh)

Metric 
Tons of 

CO2 

Equivalent

CVEC-7
 BTM Est. 

$0.28/kWh Estimated
RECS to 

Developer
RECS paid by 

CLC
Est. $0.28 

NMC x kWh 0.000432
Round Total 955,361         0.28$         267,501.12$  0.1345$       (128,496)$       -$                  -$               (37,125)$     101,880$       37,125$        139,005$      (181,519)$       412.7     

ROUND 1
 RE/PP Tax 

to Dev 
Round Total 20,483,220$ 0.28617$  5,830,871$     (0.0797)$      (1,596,923)$   -$                  -$               (135,054)$   4,098,893$   750,698$     4,849,591$    (3,891,812)$    8,848.8  

ROUND 2
 BTM Est. 

$0.28/kWh 
 RE/PP Tax 

to Dev 
Round Total 7,537,114      0.26908$  1,950,115$     (0.0675)$      (495,902.56)$ (0.01392)$       (87,480)$       (41,924)$     1,324,808$   9,860$          1,205,579$    401,131$      (1,432,052)$    3,256.0  

ROUND 3
 BTM Est. 

$0.28/kWh 
Round Total 1,124,779      0.2800      314,938$        0.0749$       (84,245.96)$   0.00650$         6,981             237,673$       230,692$      (213,708)$       485.9     

ROUND 4
 BTM Est. 

$0.28/kWh 
Round Total 250,575         0.28$        70,161$          (0.0775)$      (57,831.50)$   (0.0050)$         (11,875)         222,525$       228,151$      228,151$         373.6     

ROUND 5
 BTM Est. 

$0.28/kWh 
Round Total 56,488           0.28$        15,817$          0.1364$       (7,705)              0.0100$           (564.88)$       7,547$           23,522$        (10,733)$         24             

Subtotal 61,623,344   17,125,120$  (4,768,519)$   (185,879)$    (214,104)$   11,986,653$ 1,839,284$  12,110,340$  2,045,001$  (11,443,408)$ 26,911     

3RD-PARTY SYSTEMS
Subtotal 10,172,985   2,772,553$     (1,482,937)$   (0.0083)$         (85,010)$       1,204,606$   1,204,606$    (1,932,867)$    4,395     

Average Average
TOTALS for Fiscal FY 23 71,796,329   19,897,674$  0.10043 (6,251,456)$   0.0089$           (270,889)$    (214,104)$   13,191,259$ 1,839,284$  13,314,946$  2,045,001$  (13,376,275)$ 31,306   

For the full report, please go to https://cvecinc.org/wp-

 

https://cvecinc.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/01/CVEC-FY-23-SYSTEMS-REPORT-1.pdf
https://cvecinc.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/01/CVEC-FY-23-SYSTEMS-REPORT-1.pdf


 

 

19 | P a g e  
 

CVEC INFORMATION 
For all inquiries, please email office@cvecinc.org . 

 

 

 

Find us at:   www.cvecinc.org 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CVEC is a governmental entity established under MGL c. 164, s. 136 and complies with  

the MA Public Records Law. 

 

CVEC (c) 2023 

mailto:office@cvecinc.org
http://www.cvecinc.org/












2095 Main Street • Brewster, MA • 02631 
(508) 896-5170 • info@capecodalz.org 

www.alfamilysupport.org

BREWSTER HUMAN SERVICES FY24 SEMI-ANNUAL REPORTING (1st HALF)  

AFSC services are offered both in-person and virtually. 
Services offered during period: 

Virtual Groups, Caregiver 12 groups @ $100 per group    $1200 
Virtual Groups, PWD  12 groups @ $100 per group   $1200 
In-person Groups, Caregiver 12 groups @ $100 per group   $1200 
In-person Groups, PWD 12 groups @ $100 per group   $1200 
Bereavement Services  6 groups @ $100 per group  $600 
Consultations  50 hrs @ $50 per hour  $2500 
Phone support  77 hours @ $25 per hour  $1925 
Savvy Caregiver  12 hours @ $50 per hour $600 
Educational Programs  $1000 
Social/Cultural Programs $1000 
Cognitive Health Screenings  $200 
Insurance/SHINE Support 15 hours 0 

COST OF SERVICE:    $15,125 
# OF BREWSTER CLIENTS SERVED:  167 
# OF CONTACTS: 627 

BREWSTER HS GRANT FY24 SEMI-ANNUAL AMOUNT: $5500 

mailto:info@capecodalz.org


IFTS October, 2023 - December, 2023.

➢ Number of unique individuals served this quarter: 90 unique individuals served

 from 20 different Towns and States

➢ Nights of stay provided in emergency motel housing:  739 nights

Towns where individual became unhoused.
Barnstable 39 Peabody 1

Bourne 3 Pittsfield 1

Dennis 4 Pocasset 1

Dorchester 1 Provincetown 2

Falmouth 22 Sandwich 1

Fitchburg 1 Wareham 2

Framingham 1 Westwood 1

Mashpee 2 Yarmouth 4

New Bedford 1 Unknown 1

States

New York 1

North Carolina 1

Towns where individuals currently stays at.
Barnstable 48

Bourne 6

Dennis 2

Falmouth 30

Mashpee 1

Provincetown 3



NTWC Expenses and Attendance Report for 
YAS Programming (Youth After School)  

Second Quarter FY 2024 

Oct 1-Dec 31, 2023 

Total number of afternoon Sign-Ins:                                                    55 

Total number of afternoon Sign-Ins by Brewster Residents:             12 

Total Expenditures for 2nd Quarter: $5,846

Average Cost per afternoon:                                                             $106.29 



Customer

Name Town of Brewster

Address 2198 Main Street

City Brewster State MA Zip 02631

Phone

DESCRIPTION

Quarterly Payment

Services provided for period 7/1/2023 to 12/31/2023

Total Clients Served for Brewster 1,075

Number of  Uninsured or Underinsured 235

Brewster residents seen at OCHS







Town of Brewster
2198 Main Street 

Brewster, MA 02631-1898 
Phone: (508) 896-3701 
www.brewster-ma.gov 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Select Board 
FROM: Donna J. Kalinick, Assistant Town Manager 
CC: Griffin Ryder- Public Works Director, Ed Barber-CCSC Property Manager 
RE: Bay Property Shooting Range Remediation Contract 
DATE: January 18, 2024 

The Town of Brewster, working with our engineer, Riverhawk Environmental, went out 
to bid for the remediation of the Shooting Range at the Former CCSC Bay property and 
contracted with Brighter Horizons Environmental. The project is slated to begin the last 
week of January. As part of the project, the two small buildings at the former shooting 
range site are to be demolished. The demolition requires building permits of $100 each, 
$200 total. Town Administration approved this waiver in accordance with Select Board 
policy #5 in order to keep the project moving. Town projects are exempt from town 
permit fees.   

Office of: 

Town Manager 
Select Board 



Archived: Thursday, January 18, 2024 1:35:30 PM
From: Griffin Ryder 
Sent: Thursday, January 18, 2024 10:21:19 AM
To: Erika Mawn 
Cc: Peter Lombardi Donna Kalinick 
Subject: Fee Waivers for Minor Stormwater Permit Application & Request for Determination of Applicability Filing
Importance: Normal
Sensitivity: None

Hi Erika-
 
The DPW will be submitting an application for a minor stormwater permit to construct a small parking area off of the access
drive to the former Cape Cod Sea Camps Long Pong Parcel on behalf of the Town with the Brewster Planning Board. The filing
fee of $50 will be waived in accordance with Select Board Policy #5.
 
The DPW will be submitting a Request for Determination of Applicability (RDA) for the wetland delineation and to allow for
maintenance of the access drive for the Former Cape Cod Sea Camps Long Pond Parcel on behalf of the Town with the
Brewster Conservation Commission. The filing fee of $75 will be waived in accordance with Select Board Policy #5.
 
Could you please add this information to the FYIs for the next SB meeting?
 
Please let me know if you have any questions.
 
Thank you,
 
Griffin
 
Griffin Ryder, P.E. 
Director of Public Works 
Town of Brewster 
508.896.3212 
gryder@brewster-ma.gov 
 

mailto:gryder@brewster-ma.gov
mailto:emawn@brewster-ma.gov
mailto:plombardi@brewster-ma.gov
mailto:dkalinick@brewster-ma.gov
mailto:gryder@brewster-ma.gov


Archived: Thursday, January 18, 2024 1:34:22 PM
From: Colette Williams 
Sent: Monday, January 8, 2024 4:36:01 PM
To: Erika Mawn 
Subject: Fwd: Oath 
Importance: Normal
Sensitivity: None

FYI 
Sent from my iPhone

Begin forwarded message:

From: Joseph Sullivan < >
Date: January 8, 2024 at 4:11:46 'a0PM EST
To: Colette Williams <cwilliams@brewster-ma.gov>
Subject: Fwd: Oath

Hi Collette,
Susan after many years to dedicated service has decided not to continue as a member of the committee. Does the
town have any formal recognition that it sends out to committee members with long service?

Thank you,
Joe
Joseph Sullivan

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Riseman, Susan" < >
Date: January 8, 2024 at 3:58:52 'a0PM EST
To: Joseph Sullivan < >
Subject: RE: Oath

Hi Joe,
I have not.  I've been thinking about resigning as I am involved with other things that are taking up my
time,  so I think it is best if I resign at this time.   Please accept my resignation.  
As you know I've been on the Bike and Pedestrian Committee for some time now, and think it's time
for me to move onto other matters.   You have assembled some really good members now to move
forward.
Please take this email as my resignation.
I can let town hall know as well to take me off the list.
Sincerely,
Susan Riseman

mailto:cwilliams@brewster-ma.gov
mailto:emawn@brewster-ma.gov


-----Original Message-----
From: Joseph Sullivan < > 
Sent: Monday, January 8, 2024 3:17 PM
To: Riseman, Susan < >
Subject: Oath 

NOTICE: This email is from an external sender - do not click on links or attachments unless you
recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

Hi Susan,

Happy New Year!

Have you had a chance to swear in with town hall?

Joe

Joseph Sullivan



Archived: Thursday, January 18, 2024 1:34:31 PM
From: Jayanne Monger 
Sent: Tuesday, January 16, 2024 11:54:40 AM
To: Meg Morris  
Cc: Mary Chaffee Erika Mawn 
Subject: P. Johnson resignation
Importance: Normal
Sensitivity: None

Peter Johnson was just in and has resigned from the Recycling Commission.   He wanted me to let you know and he wanted
you to know that he enjoyed his time and is leaving happy! 
 
Jayanne Monger, CMC
Assistant Town Clerk
Town of Brewster
2198 Main Street
Brewster, MA  02631
508-896-4506
 
Beginning March 21, Brewster Town Offices will be open to the public Monday through Thursday from 8:30 to 4:00pm, and by appointment on
Fridays.  For the latest updates on Town services, please visit www.brewster-ma.gov
 
*The Commonwealth of Massachusetts Secretary of State
has determined that e-mail  is a public record
 
 

mailto:jmonger@brewster-ma.gov
mailto:mchaffee@brewster-ma.gov
mailto:emawn@brewster-ma.gov
http://www.brewster-ma.gov/


FINAL Select Bd Appt Policy; version Oct. 28 

 

Appendix C 
 

SELECT BOARD COMMITTEE APPLICATION SCREENING FORM 
 

Applicant Name           Requested Committee       
 

 
1. TOWN CLERK REVIEW 

a. Applicant is a registered Brewster voter:     Yes   No 
b. Date confirmed         

 
 

2. SELECT BOARD LIAISON RECOMMENDATION TO SELECT BOARD 
a. Select Board Liaison Applicant Interview: 

i. Interviewer name (Select Board Liaison):       
ii. Interview date:       

 
b. Select Board Liaison Consultation with Committee Chair: 

iii. Committee Chair name:        
iv. Consultation date:       
v. Did Committee Chair also interview applicant?  Yes  No 

 
c. Was at least 1 Brewster reference contacted:  Yes  No        N/A 

 
d. Select Board Liaison Recommendation: 

i.  Recommend appointment. 
 

ii.  Recommend appointment to other committee that is a better fit for 
applicant qualifications. 
 

iii.  Recommend holding application for future opening.  
 

iv.  Not recommended.  
 
3. SELECT BOARD ACTION 

a. At a Select Board meeting held      , the Applicant was appointed to       
for a term ending       year term. 
 

4. NOTIFICATION OF APPOINTEE AND TOWN CLERK 
a. Date notification of appointment sent to appointee and Town Clerk:       

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 








	Town Manager's Report
	Consent Agenda
	2024 Community Development Block Grant (CDBG)
	Proposed Child Care Subsidy Pilot Program
	2024 Annual Licenses- Brewster Inn Inc. d/b/a The Woodshed
	Proposed 2024 Captains Golf Course Membership Rates
	Vesper Pond Road Betterment Project
	Fire Department Staffing Study
	Draft Letter regarding Regional School Agreement
	For Your Information


{"type":"Form","isBackSide":false,"languages":["en-us"],"usedOnDeviceOCR":false}



{"type":"Document","isBackSide":false,"languages":["en-us"],"usedOnDeviceOCR":false}



{"type":"Document","isBackSide":false,"languages":["en-us"],"usedOnDeviceOCR":false}



{"type":"Document","isBackSide":false,"languages":["en-us"],"usedOnDeviceOCR":false}



{"type":"Document","isBackSide":false,"languages":["en-us"],"usedOnDeviceOCR":false}



{"type":"Document","isBackSide":false,"languages":["en-us"],"usedOnDeviceOCR":false}



{"type":"Document","isBackSide":false,"languages":["en-us"],"usedOnDeviceOCR":false}



{"type":"Document","isBackSide":false,"languages":["en-us"],"usedOnDeviceOCR":false}



{"type":"Document","isBackSide":false,"languages":["en-us"],"usedOnDeviceOCR":false}



{"type":"Document","isBackSide":false,"languages":["en-us"],"usedOnDeviceOCR":false}



{"type":"Document","isBackSide":false,"languages":["en-us"],"usedOnDeviceOCR":false}


	APPLICANT INFORMATION: 
	Applicant Name: Second Summer Cycle, Inc
	Phone: (508) 280-7903
	Applicant Address: PO Box 2017, Cotuit, MA, 02635
	Business Name: Second Summer Cycle
	Email: info@goldensummerenterprises.com
	EVENT INFORMATION: 
	Type of Event: Distant cycling event
	Location of Event: From Mashpee to Provincetown, through Brewster
	Date and Hours requested of proposed event Dates: September 15, 2024
	Times: 8:30 am - 12:30 pm
	Maximum  of guests anticipated: 500
	Estimated  of vehiclesbicycles at one time: 50
	Is this event open to the public Yes: X
	No: 
	ADDITIONAL DETAILS: 
	Yes: X
	No-0: 
	Yes-0: 
	No-1: X
	Textfield: See attached

The ride will be going through Brewster to include Nickerson State Park. There will be a hydration and Nutrition Stop in the main parking lot of the park. We are getting permission from the Department of Parks and Recreation to ride though the park as we did last year.

The link to the route through Brewster is as follows:

https://ridewithgps.com/routes/45011555
	Applicant Signature: W. Patrick Lentell
	Date: 12/21/2023
	Signature: 
	Signature-0: 
	Title: 
	Title-0: 
	Date-0: 
	Date-1: 
	Signature-1: 
	Signature-2: 
	Title-1: 
	Title-2: 
	Date-2: 
	Date-3: 
	Office Use Only: 
	Notices Sent: 
	Meeting Date: 
	Date Approved: 
	_RB: Off
	a Applicant is a registered Brewster voterb Date c: a Applicant is a registered Brewster voterb Date c_Yes_On
	v Did Committee Chair also interview applicant: v Did Committee Chair also interview applicant_Yes_On
	c Was at least 1 Brewster reference contacted: c Was at least 1 Brewster reference contacted_Yes_On
	Recommend appointment: On
	Recommend appointment to other committee that is a: Off
	Recommend holding application for future opening: Off
	Not recommended: Off
	Text1: Dru Lindgren
	Text2: Recycling Center Commission
	Text4: 1/17/2024
	Text5: Mary Chaffee
	Text6: Jan. 18, 2024
	Text7: Margretta Morris
	Text8: Jan. 8, 2024
	Text9: 
	Text10: 
	Text11: 
	Text12: 


